


- 1is even more vicious.

Reagan pretends that the minor le-
adership upheaval last week in Gren-
ada was Jjustification for military
invasion and occupation "to restcre

law and order".
The armed intervention has reduced

Grenada to destructive chaos where
none existed before. And the USA not
only rushes to support cocup govern-
ments elsewhere, it has organised
scores of them itself, most recently

in Guatemala where Reagan's ambass-
ador actually took part in the cver-
throw of Rios Montt;-and most notor-
iously and bloodily before than in
installing the Pinochet fascist rei-
gn of terror in Chile, the Shah's
bloodthirsty regime in Iran, Mobutus
tyranny in Zaire, - and an endless
1ist of tyrant dictatorships in Cen-
tral and southern America for nearly
a century of domineering.

On top of that, the leadership up-
heavals in Grenada were only an ex-
cuse anyway. Plans to overthrow Gre-
nada's socialist system were first
drawn up more than a year ago. And
a full-scale rehearsal, attended by
the same reactionary capitalist re-
gimes which are sharing responsibil-
ity for the invasion, was held in
June at an island off Puerto Rico,
another UJS imperialist colony.

Even as this latest imperialist
aggression was getting underway over
the weekend, Reagan was loudmouthing
it about "evil terrorism”,"intoler-
able thuggery", and "undemocratic

violence which must be resisted",etc,

etc, in connection with Lebanon. But
once agaln, it is US imperialism it-
self which launched the Lebanon in-
tervention,-currently by four NATO

aggressors, previously by the Zionist
-imperialist occupiers, and 20 years

ago by the US marines once more.

And only last week, it was CIA-
trained and financed fascist mercen-
aries who destroyed Nicaragua's main

Pacific coast port,furthering its aim

to restore by armed coup the former
Somoza fascist regime, {deposed by re-
volutionary struggle after being in-
stalled and propped up for 50 years
by Washington.)

Reagan himself is the world's No 1
terrorist and armed thug. And That-
cher and the British capitalist Par-
liament are his chief accomplices.

And what vicious cowardly fascism
for such giant imperialist forces
to pick on tiny socialist Grenada,
no bigger than the Isle of Wight, as
the latest savage step towards a
worldwide military diktat against
mankind's socialist aspirations.

But the world imperialist bourge-
zoisie are playing with fire.....

The forces for turning the tables

on capitalist reaction are mounting
all the time,-inevitably so due to
the insoluble slump and economic cr-
1sis, and the unconcealable example
of successful soclalist planning in
Cuba, Nlicaragua, and elsewhere, in
spite of the barbaric destruction of
soclalist Grenada.

Once the momentum of US imperialist

invasions has petered out, the scene
will be set for a turning of the ta-
bles on a grand scale, helping revol-

utionaries to return to the remain-
ing tottering capitalist tyrannies

to overthrow them. The reactionary
monsters who locally approved the
butchery of independent socialist
Grenada will get their come-uppance
before much longer, in one way or
another.

The perpetrators, US imperialism,
will get its desserts in the longer
term with the worldwide triumph of
the soclalist trevolution.
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The new international Nazism is
systematically rounding up the Gre-
nadan communist movement which br-
ought the island its first-ever lit-
eracy, full-employment, skilled tr-
aining 8 expanding economic plans and
prospects, and democratic control

over the workplace and the community,
World imperialism cannot stand

such brilliant soclalist examples
being set "in its own back yard" of
monopcly-capitalist control, such as
the Caribbean/Central American area.
Cuba has been invaded once, and
subjected to vicious blockade and
harassment, with several assassinat-
ion plots against Castro by the CIA.
Thne elected socialist-~leaning gover-
nment of Arbenz was overthrown by

the CIA in Guatemala in 1954,In 1965
a progressive regime was butchered

by a US Marines invasion in Domini-
can Republic. In 1973 in Chile, the
CIA installed the Pinochet fascist
dictatorship to replace by blood-
shed the elected socialist-leaning
government of Allende. Since 1952,
the Pentagon and the CIA have been
financing and organising fascist-
mercenary counter-revolutionary
subversion against the Sandinista
socialist government in Nicaragua.
Now comes the slaughter of Grenada's
soclalist experiment by a fullscale
15,000-strong air,naval and land-
torces invasion by rabid US-milita-
rist-imperialist circles with the

silent collusion of the rest of NATO.
This eriminal butchery and repr-

ession, in defiance of internation-
al law and an emergency UN resolut-
ion denouncing it, is inflicted by

"the world's greatest democracy" in
league with "the mother of Parliam-
ents" which at Vestminster refused

to do anything to stop this NAZI bl-
itzkrieg, and 1s now s0 eager to

benefit from it by helping shore up
the old Grenadan bourgeoisie back in
power again, with all the comforting
links to old-style capitalist rule
in the rich Caribbean area.

Rabid nationalist-militarism ("our
American interests were threatened")
and warmongering bullying are the

hallmark of fascism, last unleashed
by capitalism on a mass scale in

the 1930s to save the system from
the massive incurable economic slump
which was undermining it then with
revolutionary socialist movemerts
everywhere. The even more massive,-
and even less soluble,economic slump
of the capitalist system in the
1980s has made the new Cold War and
the return to fascist aggression by
imperialism's strongest power nece-
ssary, doing the Job German, Japan-
ese, and Italian imperialism perfor-
med in the 1930s.

But the dominant world monopoly-
capitalist powers are all in this
warmongering drive together,- in the
Lebanon, Chad, the Falklands, El Sa-
lvador, Irak-Iran, or subverting the
frontiers of socialist regimes as in
Kampuchea, Afghanistan, Ethiopia,
Mozambique, Angola, Nicaragua, etc.

The imperialist rival groupings
act in varying combinations in diff-
erest special-interest areas, always
on the look out to cut each others
throats buseinesswise,as well as the

physical throats of the revolution-
ary socialist and national liberat-

ion struggles.

But the essential plan is to back
each other up in the general drift
to warmongering aggression. Hence
Thatcher's main point remains that
the broad 'alliance' with US imper-
ialism is the bedrock of British
capitalist foreign policy. And the
cowardly Labourite reformists@econd
Eleven for capitalism's management
in this country) would not dare cha-
llenge this fundamental.

The splits in the Washington-Lon-
don axis are nonetheless interesting
They reveal the chasms of doubt un-
dermining the bourgeoisie about the
terrifying dangers of the whole war-
mongering enterprise and the cut-
throat sudden-death phase of the
capltalist crisis. One false move
and a revolutionary floodtide could
be unleashed which would sweep
their entire international finance-
capital class away. Apter World War
I, one sixth of the planet was lost
forever to capitalism. After World
War II, another third went over irr-



evocably to socialism. In the long
slow-burning World War III which
began with the Cold War as soon as
WWII was over, imperialism’s disast-
ers, failures and crimes have lost
a further large number of territor-
ies to the socialist revolution. If
imperialism plays its cards wrong,
all will be lost, is the fear. The
Reaganite fascist hardliners answer:
'All is being slowly lost anyway.'
But the Grenada blitzkrieg is a
hopeless perspective. A 15,000 task-
force was needed to halt socialism
on tiny Grenada. At that rate, half
a million men would be needed to in-
vade relatively tiny Nicaragua succ-
essfully - with enormous losses to
the USA, - worse than Vietnam. To
halt Cuban socialism, 1} million in-
vasion force would be needed,- an
impossibility even for the USA., And
to halt soclalist progress in the
Soviet Union, an invasioen force of
45 million would not be enough. And
they would still get beaten. The wo-

rld sccialist revolution is here to
stay. Its growth is relentless,-

in spite of the foul internation-
al fascist-imperialist conspiracy
to crush Grenada. Build the [LWP.

3. November 3,1983
(Bulletin 213)

The capitalist press (the CIA/BBC/ITV/
Fleet Street lie  machine) has been working
overtime to put faward ludicrous lying ‘ex-
cuses' fa imperialism's Nazi blitzkrieg on
tiny socialist Grenada, and to cover up the
slaughter and savage repression going on th-
ere every minute of the US invasion,

There have been hundreds of repeated TV
and press references to the allegedly "huge
mystericus airport" built by Cuba. But the
statement from the British multinational firm
Plessey which bhas a major contract and sev-
eral score of its employees there too, has
been virtually ignored.

Also build ers of military airport installat-
ions for NATO, Plessey declared that the ab-
gence of any parallel taxiway, radar facilit-
ies, dispersed parking arrangements, bomb-
proof underground fuel tanks, aircraft engin-
eering shops, perimeter security, bomb sh-
elters, defence missile sites or anti-aircraft
artillery sites, and above all the absence of
any fortifications at all on the crucial contr-
ol tower complex, which Plessey built, ma-
de use of Point Salines for any canbative
military use totally unthinkable.

The 1, 900 -foot runway Plessey also helped
to design was exactly suitable for the air-
port's purpcse - to receive present-day wide-
hodied tourist jets on direct international
flights, - an essential for a thriving tourist
industry. Comparable runways already exist
in similar tourist islands, some smaller than
Grenada, - including on Antigua, St Lucia,
Barbados, and Jamaica. Any tourist wishing

to go to Grenada till now has had to transfer
to small feeder airlines from one of these
bigger airports.

The greatest flood of lies is abaut an alleg-
ed "breakdown of public order on Grenada
during the leadership upheavals". There was
na the slightest breakdown in Grenada's daily
routines for the entire population, The lead-
ership upheaval affected a tiny group of New
Jewel Movement top leaders anly. No me
else suffered anything.

The " fears" that the accomplished liar
Sir Paul Scoon is now parrotting m be -
half of his US imperialist paymasters, supp-

osedly voiced by "many" people calling for
imperialist intervention, are nothing but the
longstanding seditious whingeing of the de-
psed wealthy capitalist class of Grenada,

The mistake the revolutionary government
made was not in squabbling violently but in
generously allowing the deposed capitalist
class to live on in Grenada unmolested, in-
cluding the joke"Queen's representative Go-~
vernor General", now treacherously repaying
that leniency by handing Grenada over to
fascist dictatorship.

These faded joke bourgedis figures like
Scoon and the deposed fascist idiot Sir Eric
Gairy, likewise knighted by the Queen, are
no joke at all in class war reality. Gairy but-
chered dozens before he was overthrown, in-
cluding Maurice Bishop's owu father. His

belief in witchcraft and his annual speech
at the United Nations demanding a world-

wide investigation of UFOs (unidentified f1-
ying objects) were good for a laugh, but his
cancentration camps where hundreds langui-
shed in chains, including Bishop & most o
the New Jewel Movement, were far from
funny.

Scoon may also be a stocge for big business
interests. But his threat on behalf of the US
military dictatorship that all Grenadan mili-
tiamen must surrender by Friday or face the
cansequences (i.e. be shot) is grimly serious,

The demand for unconditional capitulation
by the entire revdutionary movement,numb-
ering thousands, to one man, Scoon,
backed by a handful of Grenadan capitalist
mobsters like Gairy plus the entire US imper-
ialist armed forces - is the essence of capit-
alist didatorship to be reimposed on Grenada,
regardless of all the garbage talked about
"democratic elections".

The entire revd utimary socialist movem-
ent is being systematically hunted down,
shot or bound and gagged, and thrown into
concentration camps for possible subsequent
slaughter,{if Gairy gets back in,or the business
groups which backed him),} or long incarcer-
ation.

The most degenerate hypocrisy of all being
peddled non-stop by the 'free' press is the
Goebbels-sized humbug about socialist Gren-
ada's "security paranoia. Why did a small
tourist island need an armed militia and mil -
itary links with Cuba?".

The brutal massacre o socialist Grenada by
a huge invasion force from the world's largest
imperialist power proves to any but sick fasc-
ist minds that Grenada was not well-armed

enough, and did not have strong enough links
with socialist Cuba.

The handful of tame petty bourgeois "typi-
cal Grenadans" shown on TV "welcaning the
imperialist invasion" are the foulest deception,
A collection of half-wits, religious freaks,
and bourgeois crooks, these handfuls are sw-
amped by the advanced elements on Grenada
who totally supported the socialist revaution
and still do Sick degenerate traitors like Sc-
om and whoever follows him will be ous-
ted by the socialist revolution again before
much longer. The press fantasies about'Cub-
an"resistance, miraculously mushrooming
from 750 to several thousand overnight, will
soon be proved to be nonsense. It is revolut-
inary Grenada which is resisting, and will
catinue to resist, in one way or another,
this barbaric throwback to deposed cutdateds
capitalism at the point of US imperialist guns.

The murderous bloodbath being inflicted on
tiny Grenada has been totally suppressed by
the vicious US imperialist press censorship.
But a tiny flavour of the reality is at
last getting througk , in spite of the military
dictatorship.

"The arrogance with which the Americans
are using this new -found asset (the progress-
ive developments on Grenada) is somewhat
alarming, " one correspondent managed to
get out,

"For several hours 1 watched cabs arriving
from all parts of the island, fleeing from the
destruction caused by the war, There were
mothers with young children clinging to th-
eir breast, the old, the scared, and the in-
firm.

"These refugees seeking to depart in safe -
ty were left contemptuocusly in the heat of
the day, without water or supplies, while the
Americans completed their transfer of troops.
Fa the military, the welfare of Grenadan
refugees was subordinate to the Pentagon's
redeployment plans....

"At a small waterfront restaurant, three
American soldiers brandishing autamatic
weapons marched in, They walked menac-
ingly past cur table, searched the kitchen
and toilets, and adered us into a jeep for
an armed escort home....

"It is easy to observe the island as one un-
der occupation, The natives go through road
blocks and car searches....

"How did the country lose this beuevolent
revolution which has produced a 97% literate
Third World natim without destroying the na-
tural joyfulness and hospitality of the Cari-
bbean? How is it that the Americans... have
effectively turned an island paradise into
a military base?" (Guardian Nov 2).

An ITN interview (owtside Grenada, of
couse) showed a teacher fromn the medical
schod where the "endangered"” American st -
udents were resident, an Englishman named
Bourne, admitting that the institute's princ -
ipal had been asked to return from the USA
(where he was on holiday) to fictitiously re -
quest US help from neighbouring Barbados
in order to give the imperialist forces cause
to invade.

A Panorama interview showed Sally Shel - 3



ton, America's famer ambassador on Gren-
ada, admitting that huge CIA subversion and
destabilisation campaigns had been unleash
ed inside Grenada by imperialist agents
right from the 1979 start of the socialist re-
volution, which she herself discussed secret-
ly as ambassador on Grenada.

But the overwhelming majority of 'free’
press coverage continues concealing the ca-
sualties and carnage, and pouring out utter

lies about "Cuban takeover" "military ter-
rorism against the region", "out-of-control

murderous chaos", etc, for which there is
not one single scrap of evidence, nor could
there be, nor will there be.

The blatant bias of the capitalist media is

scarecely credible, reeking of 1984 thought -
control over the 'free' world. The UN Secur-
ity Council votes 11 to 1 to condemn the
US invasion. But only the US's Goebbels-
sized lies and justification are reported, plus
the wretched UK abstention whimper. But
the views of the 11 nations' condemnation
is totally unreported. The corrupt mobster
Eugenia Charles is allowed to rant on for
minutes on end on all channels about non-

existent "invasion threats" to her crooked
regime. But no one from New Jewel is all-

owed to reply, exposing this nonsense. A be-
lated BBC TV admission that Bernard Coard,
Phyllis Coard, and other New Jewel minist -
ers have been brutalised in captivity by the
NAZI military occupation got just 10 seconds
on the 5.40 news yesterda y.

Meantime the Labour Party quietly limits
itself to feeble unheard 'protests' at this fas-
cist barbarism by the 'major ally', while in
reality helping imperialism get on with pre -
paring a sanitized "Commamwealth security
presence" to police the results of US military
hdocaust once the slaughter has gone far en-
ough to guarantee capitalism's reinstallation,

And the 'free' press dwells droolingly on
the ugly jingoist US public opinion 'support’
far Reagan's butchery, or even, inthe ult-
imate depravity, expresses "understanding"’
for the imperialist warmonger lashing aut at
"somebody" after his "frustration" over the
Beirut barracks bambings.

This is the language o the NAZI death ch-
anbers, and fascist blitzkrieg - - unrestrained
arbitrary, rabid -nationalist, murderous,big po-
wer military aggression.

4. November 3%,1983
(Bulletin 213)

The anti-Leninist *left! in Britain quickly
disowned the Grenadan socialist revolution
upon its leadership upheavals, thus assisting
imperialist intervention.

Immediately taking Maurice Bishop's side in
the internal New Jewel dispute (as the CIA al-

50 laughably did after having tried four times

to assassinate Bishop since power was taken
in 1979), the IMG/Socialist League treacher-
ously regurgitate "some reports" that Bishop
had been "starved under arrest for six days",
had been™put against a wall and sha® and
that there had been“further killings of Bishop
suppaters,” implying some fascist bloadbath.,
Armed with lavish funds, CIA disinformatim
agents have been hard at work on Grenada for
four years, stirring up endless destabilising
rumours and hysteria. In the absence of any
firm evidence whatever of exactly howthe le-
adership dispute unfdded on Grenada, or even
of any firm detailed knowledge of precisely
what issues split New Jewel,or step-by-step
how these differences escalated into organis-
ational factionalism, it is criminal light-
mindedness for supposed 'revolutionaries' to
help bourgeois propaganda pile murky suspic-
ion upon slanderous innuendo the way IMG/
Socialist Acticn did. '
Playing right along with stock CIA anti-
communist propaganda prejudices, IMG was
writing before Reagan's blitzkrieg that the
anti-Bishop faction had staged a“putsch®,
that Bernard Coard may in turn have been
Ypushed aside by the army leader " that"the
shooting of revolutionary leaders is totally un-
acceptable®, and that“despite the paraphern-
alia of alleged participatory democracy in
Grenada, in reality the revolution has been
led by a small group of leaders of the New
Jewel Movement. This movement has never

bad a cangress; it does not possess the structures

of internal democracy in which political dis-
putes can be settled" '
This attitude is close to Reagan's "gang of
leftist thugs" slanders and reeks of the same
petty -baurgeois ‘democracy’ humbug. It is par-
ticularly outrageaus hypocrisy coming from

the IMG whose middle class "Marxist' oppart -
unists have contentedly liquidated them-

selves into the Labouwr Party which was an
infamous imperialist toe-rag 4nd riddled
with Mafia-level corruption and anti-
democratic bureaucratism even in Lenin's
day, and has deteriarated considerably
since then, (as a study of rightwing leader-
ship collusion with SDP renegades and TUC
barons to wreck Benn's deputy leadership
chances and then Labour's Foot-led gener-
al election chances would show, e.g.)

The New Jewel Movement actually made
a socialist revolution, overthrowing Gairy
fascism in a bitter murderous struggle to do
it. That could never have been achieved
withaut extraordinarily high levels of revol-
utionary consciousness, responsibility, sac-

The IMG Trotskyite entrists into the Labour rifice, and discipline, qualities inseparable
Party are typical of these middle class 'revol- from a deep Leninist grasp of what Bolshev-
utionaries'. Their 'Socialist Action' rag decl- ik democracy is all about, - a_preparedness
ared the New Jewel revolutionary movement bdah to give and to support correct leader-

on Grenada 'untouchable' and 'beymd the

pale', virtually setting it up for the internat-

jonal ostracism and extermination that the
‘free' world has been itching to impose for
four years.

ship.

ﬁe IMG, on the other hand, has no ach-
jevements to its name except a long hist-
ory of sardid sectarian witch-hunts ag-
ginst its own 'dissidents', an appalling opp-

ortunist liquidatim into the Labour Party,
and a philistine unwillingness and in-
capacity for even the remaest acquaintance
with Leninist revolutionary theory, typified

in their fawning support for the CIA-Vatican
counter-revolutio in Poland behind Walesa,
-the apostle of peasant capitalism, anti-
communism, religicus obscurantism, and
caruptio.
After a lifetime's shallow anti-Sovietism

“which makes even Thatcher seem broad -

minded, the IMG Trots and their American
co-thinkers have recently tried an adaptat-

ion to the dbviously hugely successful and
internationally popular Cuban Revolution

despite its firm and principled Leninist pro -
Sovietism. What a nauseatingly hollow fra-
ud this belated 'conversion' was can now be
seen from the IMG's hysterical abuse against
the New Jewel Movement just because there
has been a tragic leadership split.

Sneeringly dismissing the Grenadan revol -
ution's aganisation of local Soviet democr-
acy, € an infinitely more developed form
of civilisation than British Labour Party rac-
keteering and general election hustling, -)
the IMG capitalist-Parliament stooges jeer:
"Once a leadership starts to rely on the pro-
fessimal army, rather than mass democracy,
and an armed people's militia, the road be-
comes open to Bonapartism and
dictatorship....

"These events will make it much more
difficult to build solidarity with the revol-
ution in the whole of the Caribbean and
Central America, "

These treacherous opportunists fiow trying
to build a 'left' sanitising cover for one of
warmongering imperialism's foulest prctag-
onists, - the murderous British Labour Party
which postwar helped US imperialism launch
the nuclear Cold War and counter -revolut -
ionary crusade against communism and the
national-liberatim struggle in Greece, Mal-
aya, etc, - offered volunteer troops to Viet -
nam, - helped fascist South Karea in the Kor-
ean War, - sold Diego Garcia to the US Air
Face,-and reimposed British imperialist po-
lice-military dictataship m the occupied

north of Ireland, - etc, etc, etc, etc, etc,)-
- help push Grenada onto US imperialism's
c hopping block with this slanderous capitul -
atory hysteria.

Just like all the petty -bourgeois 'left’,
punch-drunk from CIA anti-communist pou-
nding, the real confused horra of these mon.
strous ‘Marxist' muddle-heads is for the dic-
tatorship of the prdetariat. For Lenin it was ;
the essence of Marxism. For these cringing ;
IMG opportunists, it is the nightmare of ho-|
stility from their middle class friends, fam-:
ily, colleagues, and neighbours if the dict-
atorship of the proletariat is so much as
mentioned.

It is the central theme of Lenin's greatest
and most prolific creativity (vols 24 to 33)
and the sole key to understanding the com-
plexities of the intermational class struggle
and the world socialist revolution since Len~
in, But these IMG philistines epitomise the

military



hastility to revolutionary theory of the Labour
movement aristocracy, and cannot even
bear contemplating the international balance
of class forces from the wvantage point of
proletarian dictatorship versus counter-rev-

olution, Lenin's understanding.

The IMG's hopelessly loose, slipshod, and
pretentious bandying of terms like 'profess-
ional army', 'mass democracy', 'Bmapart-
ism', and 'military dictataship’, without
any attempt to prove or even describe what
class characterisation they wish to attach to
these categories,is criminally irresponsible
and dangerously shallow-minded.

Their confused defeatist hysteria about the
revolution in the entire Central American
region is no less a cowardly ideological re-
treat from proletarian dictatorship merely
because IMG/Socialist Action can now cl-
aim 'how right we were to warn of the inc-
reased dangers of imperialist intervention'.

Not even half-wits cauld have been unaw-
are of the hugely increased dangers of US
imperialist intervention after the Grenadan
leadership dispute led to violent upheaval.
But tragic as the split was, and even more
tragically handled, the Grenadan canrades
did fall out. And even if CIA subversion
within New Jewel is proved, the last thing
todo is turn one's back on the Grenadan
revolutionary leadership in general, the way
the intimidated Trotskyists have done in
Britain, betraying the revolution, as Trotsky
betrayed the Soviet Union.

Socialist Action's shallow ignorant petty
bourgeois hysteria about "killings", "shoot-
ings as a policy", "military dictatorship",
and "Bonapartism" etc, dovetailed perfectly
with the 'free' wald's Goebbels techniques

of complete fabrications about "a tctal bre-
akdown of law and ader on Grenada with

murdercus lawlessness terraising the island".

Nothing of the sort happened. All of the
important revolutionary socialist develop-
ments which have transformed Grenada econ-
onically, politically, and socially,remained
fully functioning. The progressive develop-
ment of the island was continuing as usual.
The casualties of the leadership upheaval
were all borne by the New Jewel Movement
itself. No me else suffered, not even the
tiny handful of pditical prisoners, - bourgeois
enemies of socialist progress.

What Socialist Action was really turning
away from, stampeded by the slanderous pr-
opaganda in the 'free' press (the CIA/BBC/
ITV/Fleet Street lie machine), isthe nat-
ure of class power itself, - the dictatorship
of the proletariat,

The fatal mistake of all these Trotskyist
fake 'revoluticaries' is their ridiculous illus-
jon that errors and crimes committed by pro-
letarian dictatorship regimes can be best
avoided by having no proletarian dictatorship
at all.

But this treacherous anti-Marxist imbecil-
ity is exactly the idealist poison which leads
the Labour Party to have always been an int-
egral part of the murderous anti-communist
Western alliance throughout its bloady hist -

ory; and leads the IMG/Socialist League to
be a left cover for that continuing Labour

Party imperialist role, loyally cooperating
with a NATO fascist warmongering machine
and a British capitalist Parliament which acc-
-epts the butchery of socialist Grenada, the
subversion of Nicaragua, the Nazification of
El Salvador, the fascist crushing of Chile,
the maintenance of scores of other tyrannies
like Pinochet's, - and 50 on.

Just 'protesting' for a 'change' in the system

‘which is the jailer of mankind and the war-
mongering assassin of all socialist progress
on the planet,is idiot pretension.

The IMG's hasty denunciatian of the entire
revolutionary process in Grenada(just because
of a violent leadership upheaval)is their real
class position, - petty bourgeois democrats
totally hostile to the very notion of the dict-
atorship of the proletariat.

Never mind that thousands of Grenadans
are now being baund and gagged at gun po-
int, with hundreds already butchered by the
savage imperialist warmongering assault; and
never mind that the real daily_living exist -
ense of the entire population of Grenada of
building socialistn is now being systematic -
ally dismantled by the US military dictata-
ship; - the real horrar fa the Socialist Action
is that the New Jewel Movement had too li-
ttle formal bourgeois democracy.

"However valid the debate, and whoever

was more correct, there is no justification
whatever for the methads of army putsch,
The effects can only be to demoralise the
Grenadan masses, "' Socialist Action goes on,
slandercusly heaping up the worldwide bourg-
eois propaganda preparations for the US mil-
itary blitzkrieg.

"The effects can only be to demoralise
the Grenadan masses. Since the political de.
bate had nat been taken through any of the
mass organisations, it appears very likely
that the masses were at least confused about
the issues....

"The truth is that the revolution is now in
grave danger., Popular confidence in the
New Jewel Movement and the People's Rev -
olutionary Government is bound to be sha-
ken. The role of the army creates major
dangers of a military dictatorship being im -
psed, or at least of the army developing
autonomy from the political leadership. "

It is self-evidently a pity that the Grenad -

an socialist revolutionary movement was
nat better developed, wiser, more talented,
more experienced, etc, etc, etc, in a th-
ousand different ways. Perfection in revol-
utionary leadership would indeed be desira -
ble.

But it is by these empty pronouncements
that Socialist Action gives the game away.
The difficult reality of revolutionary sccial-
ist struggle within the obvious limitatims of
the Grenadan movement (a any other, incl-
uding Lenin's own Bdshevik Party, - includ-
ing while Lenin hmself was alive) - is some -
thing these Labour Party stooges want to

wash their hands of,immediately something
goes wrong.

It is no use the IMG tacking onto the end
of their anti-proletarian-dictatorship bleat
the pious wish that "defence of the Gr-
enadan revolution against any imperialist
provocation, or anytemptation to use these
events to irter vene, is now a number one

task for all socialists".
The effective tdleration of US imperialist

slaughter of the Grenadan socialist revdution
by the 'free' world is already cemented by
the confused anti-Marxist drivel of this Sac-
ialist Action article, - as it has previously
been built up in a thousand earlier articles
hostile to the dictatorship of the prdgariat

in the USSR and the socialist camp,

The ideological hold on the Western wor-
kers of reformist, trade union, bourgeois
cansciousness is what enables warmongering
'free' world imperialisnto continue to get
away with its bloady crimes in Grenada, Ni-
caragua, Chile, Chad, and else-
where. One line of Socialist Action calls
for sacialists to resist the imperialist diktat.
But the whde article effectively continues
prejudicing people against the clearcut Ma-
rxist understanding: - Either the dictatorship
of the proletariat; or the dictatorship of the
bourgeoisie; there is no third road.

The IMG pretends that New Jewel ‘crimes*
were responsible for the US imperialist inv-
asion. But that is exactly the line of the CIA
and the capitalist press, and it is nonsense.

The military blitzkrieg was coming anyway-

-long prepared by Washington, and even re-
hearsed at an island off Puerto Rico in
front of Eugenia Charles, Edward Seaga, and
the cther capitalist Caribbean mobsters, -
long before there was even any thought of
Maurice Bishop being toppled in a leader-
ship upheaval on Grenada.

Imperialism's drive to war and fascism is
unavoidable ,and inseparablv linked to the
incurable capitalist economic slump. The
only answer to it is  socialist revdution-
ary overthrow of every capitalist state, es-

pecially the so-called 'great democracies',
whether governed at the time by Tory or
Labour{which has never made any difference
to British capitalism's participation in inter-
national imperialist diktat.)

And the only main guideline for success-
ful sacialist development to prevent imper-
ialist counter-revolution is the_strongest pro -
letarian dictatorship possible.

Gestures o "nice restraint" towards the de-
feated international bourgeoisie,such as Sal-

vador Allende repeatedly insisted upon, —
(r_ld: arming the waking class when they de-
manded it, not dismantling the capitalist
state military and secret police hierarchy
nd even after the first failed June 1973 coup
attempt, etc) - and such as the Grenadan
revolution offered by leaving the baurgeois
Sir Paul Scoon as Governor-General, - are
only taken murderous advantage of by imp-
erialist counta-revolutim.

The inevitability o armed imperialist co-
unter-revolution is a2 different question ent -

irely, of course, from the success o warm-
ongering intervention. That is prevented m



an overall world scale by the professional
armed might o the Soviet state o proletar-
ian dictatorship and the rest of the socialist
camp. It is prevented in specific local

circumstances by the widest possible involv-
enent of the armed masses in a people's de-

fence militia, and by a determined party
of revolutimary leadership.

The 'mass democracy* is the aim d comm-
unism, not the way it can be achieved. A
plebiscite at any time Lenin was in power
would have seen the Bolshevik Party easily
defeated, asthe Constituent Assembly el-
ectims at the end of 1917 in fact did. But
Marxist proletarian dictatorship needed only
a majority of the advanced working class in
the major industrial and pditical centres to
work successfully, as Lenin demonstra -
ted both in theory and practice.

Those who don't want such a transformation
of history as has happened since 1917 don't
want the world transformed to communism
at all. For Reagan's guns will prevent it
happening any other way. Allende yesterday;
Grenada today; Nicaragua tomorrow; and a
'left' Labour Government next week, But the
superior armed might and firmer prdetarian
dictatorship of the Soviet Union and the soc -
ialist camp will finally smash the capitalist
states' world warmongering course; and the
international Leninist movement will over-
throw them. Build the ILWP.

5. November 10,1983
(Bulletin 214)

Reagan's blitzkrieg preparations
against pro-socialist forces in the
Lebanon confirm the ILWP Bulletin's
analysis of imperialism's fascist
warmongering.

Internatioral finance capital's
ruling circles know that their 'free
world system is collapsing. Economlc
crisis 1is incurable. Poverty and
mass unemployment are driving every
Third World country towards revolut-
ion rapidly. Western society is sick
with class exploitation, drink,
drugs and crime. The soclalist sta-
tes, by comparison, set irresistible
examples of educational, social, cul-
tural, economic, and scientific pro-
gress, - particularly attractive in
backward Central America and the Ca-
ribbean, for example, where Cuba's
astonishing transformation into an
advanced country in the past 25 ye-
ars of soclalist revolution is the
envy and aspiration of the entire
region.

New countries following the social-
ist camp's example have to be stopp-
ed quickly, in Washington's thinking,
before the rot sets in irrevocably.

And brute force is the only weapon
imperialism has left, exactly repea-
ting capitalism's degenerate decline
in the 1930s when the system's three
most energetic powers - Japan, Germ-

any, and Italy - were encouraged to
whip up rabid nationalist military
aggression, - fascism, - to prevent
the drift to socialist revolution
everywhere (brought on by the incur-
able slump then.)

But in the repeat worldwide slump
conditions of the 1980s, with a far
more widespread revolutionary socia-
list movement affecting the entire
capitalist system,- only US imperi-
alism iteelf, - the most dominant
power in world history,- is any lon-
ger capable of halting socialist ad-
vance by military-fascist aggression

The Soviet Union, and the social-
ist camp in general, is now far too
widespread and well-developed for
any of the lesser imperialist pow-
ers tc stage their own maverick fas-

cist divergemnce as a 'cover' for ca-
pitalism's warmongering solution to

its problems, - as Germany, Japan
and Italy did in the 1930s. These
lesser powers will never again be in
a position to match the USSR and the
socialist camp either economically
or militarily. The socialist system

forges further ahead every day. The
Zionists, South Africa, and other

tinpot fascist gangsters can get
away with minor blitzkrieg aggress-
ions against neighbouring pro-soci-
alist and national liberation forces
all the time that the Soviet leader-
ship 1s concerned to avoid giving
washington the excuse it is looking
for to unleash a worldwide NAZI hol-
ocaust against the socialist camp.

But these aggressions are relative
pinpricks on the international hist-
orical scale, and only survive bec-
ause the US warmongering machine st-
ands right behird them. And even
then, these pinpricks cannot even
resolve the local difficulties for
capitalism successfully,- as Wash-
ington!s preparations to blitz the
Lebanon are now proving, (Begin's
occupation having degenerated into
a disastrous political and economic
tailure.)

So when US imperialism decided to
annihilate the Grenadan socialist
revolution with sickening brutality,
as vicious as anything Hitler ever
perpetrated, it was the capitalist
system's last fascist card that was
beginning to be played.

The assaults,-possibly against Sy-
ria next, Nicaragua, or El1 Salvador;
- can certainly get even bloodier
and nastier.

But with Grenada's invasion, the
essence has been revealed of what

hand imperialism has left to play.
The other counter-revolutionary

methods will continue elsewhere, of
course,- economic subversion, merc-
enary infiltration, political brib-
ery, military invasion by stooge re-

gimes, destadlisation internally by
agents provocateurs,etc,- as used
against Cuba, Chile's Allende regime
Nicaragua, Ethiopia, Afghanistan,
Kampuchea, Poland, etc, etc, ete.
But despite the billions of doll-
ars poured into all of these, the
revolutionary socialist tide could

still only finally be stemmed on Gr-
enada by the"world's greatest dem-

ocracyY slaughtering the place with
naked fascist-military aggression.

The fast-deteriorating world bal-
ance of class forces (from capital-
ism's point of view) imposed this
drastic solution on US imperialism;—
which means that a new pattern for
the future has unavoidably been set
at once. The blitzkrieg Preparations
against Lebanon merely confirm this
to the hilt.

But no sooner has this new path
of imperialist counter-revolutionary
degeneration been established thran
it also becomes immediately clear
that the warmongering system 1is on
a hiding to nothing.

For even the whole might of US im-
perialism itself, with all its fire-
power, 1s already insufficient to
stop the socialist revolution. Ind-
eed 1t has already twice been either
defeated or held to a military stale-
mate in all-out war,- neutralised
by the North Koreans and Chinese re-
volutionaries in the Korean War, and
then comprehensively routed by the
magnificent Indo-Chinese revolution-
aries 1in the titanic Vietnam Wwar.

Certainly there were historical
and psychological differences then
in that US imperialism was still pre-

tending to be merely "assisting" 1its
client puppet regimes in South Korea

and South Vietnam from "invasion";

- and direct, all-out destruction
attacks on the "enemy" were not the
immediate or persistent pattern of
the ccnflicts (though widely enough
used later on by the USA to convince
Washington 1t could not win by any
means); nor were nuclear weapons_;?
mass destruction used,

But nevertheless, these were all-
out wars fought with the greatest
financial, peclitical, and military
commitment and expertise that US im-
perialism could muster, determined
to win at all costs. And US imperia-
lism failed. All that the new openly
fascist phase of warmongering degen-
eration by counter-revolutionary im-
verialism can add 1s extra deceit,
treachery, surprise, and viciousness.
But US capitalism's powers to wage
war, relative to the socialist camp,
have not improved at all since the
19505 and 1960s. Just the opposite.
The capitalist system's historical
position politically, socially, and
economically can only have deterior-



ated decisively since then, relative
to the world socialist system.

Proof of this is to be found in
Washington's very need itself to
resort to naked fascist aggression
against tiny Grenada; and its equally
berserk plans to wipe out pro-social-
ist forces in Lebanon and Syria; and
then to crush the socialist revolut-
ions in Nicaragua and El1 Salvador.

Even better proof is found in the
fact that this NAZI 'New Order!, to
be imposed on any tiny country dar-
ing to get rid of the capitalist sy-
stem;will not even stop the social-
ist transformation even in these few
states. The triumphant guerrilla-
war struggles to liberate Nicaragua

and El1 Salvador, as Cuba before them,
will never be quenched now that in-

dependent socilalist organisation
has been achieved in such long dr-
awn-out conflict., Even on
tiny Grenada, resistance will break
the fascist traitor Scoon's neck
the moment Reagan's NAZI gangsters
have moved on.

All specific battles in this rev-
olutionary.socialist national-liber-
ation struggle against imperialist
domination are now transformed by
the international balance of class
forces, now overwhelmingly in favour
of socialism on the planet.

These worldwlde class struggle ci-
rcumstances are an irresistible in-
spiration to revolutionary commun-
ists everywhere. International Len-
inist consciousness is an unstopp-
able historical force, based firmly
on the unalterable conditions of
capitalist economic, social and po-
1itical collapse. The Leninist par-
ties must multiply and triumph,- in
every country ultimately.

It is an inkling of this which
makes the West European bourgeoisie,
-Thatcher included,- so nervously
hesitant about Reagan's all-or-noth-
ing fascist aggression.

Unlike the world-dominant US imp-
erialist bourgeoisie, the West Eur-
opean capitalists do not risk losing
leverything!,- because they do not
have 'everything' to start with.
They have long had to play embitt~
ered second fiddle to their US pay-
masters and military 'guardians'.
Many of them see some kind of future,
at least, in detente collaboration
with the socialist camp;which might
not be much more painful, nor as
short-lived, as playing rocket sites
and unemployment centres to US imp-
erialism's warmongering slump is
likely to prove.

Trade and detente with the social-
ist camp at least offers something.
Trade war and nuclear holocaust with
US imperialism offers nothing at all,

The best possible way,-the vital

need of the working class in Brit-
ain,- to drive even deeper wedges
between US imperialism and the West
European bourgeoisie, is to rapidly
build the Leninist movement here,
insisting on the socialist revolut-

ion as the only possible way out of

capitalist crisis for this and ev-
ery other country. The stronger in

favour of the world socialist revo-
lution the international balance of

class forces seems to the bourgeoi-
sie, the more will West Europe split

off from Reagan's warmongering fasc-
ist crusade against communism, fear-
ing 1t to be a hopelessly doomed
and dangerous venture.

The Moscow-backed (shamefully)
Communist parties are an embarrass-
ing joke against Leninism with their
class-collaborationist !popular fr-
ont' approaches to bourgeois parties
all over West Europe {and beyond),
to achieve detente by class harmony.
This is treacherous idealist anti-
Marxist nonsense. Detente can only
be achieved,-to the extent that it
can be achieved,- by the superior
class strength of the international
socialist revolution, - and the fear
of some weaker sections of the bour-
geoisie that even what little posit-
ion they have left will be holocaus-
ted by Reagan's insane, hopeless war-

mongering crusade against communism.
The deleriously powerful and weal-

thy US imperialist ruling circles,
on the other hand,-deranged by del-
usions of invincible might and om-
nipotence,-are unlikely to behave
remotely rationally, faced as they
are with the end of the richest and
nightiest empire in all human hist-
ory. Their aggressive fascist coun-
ter-revolutionary degeneracy can
only be met by superior force. Soo-
ner or later, Reagan's NAZI warmon-
gering must be taken on and stopped
in its tracks, the sooner the better.
Only the international revolutionary
communist movement will achieve this.
Build the Leninist party.

6. November 10,1983
(Bulletin 214)

The comrades in Havana have made a nu-
mber of mistakes in assessing the events on
Grenada prior to US imperialism's NAZI bl -
itzkrieg, wrongly putting the blame on the
New Jewel Movement leadership when prime
minister Maurice Bishop was clearly chiefly
responsible for the tragedy.

The self-justifying words of Bishop's own
supporters, reading between the lines, now
make it obvious that Bishop and his faction
tried to impose a2 military putsch in defiance
of the considered decision of the revolution-
ary party's central committee to replace him
as leader by his deputy Bernard Coard.

Perpetually in a minaity for more than a
year on a whole variety of issues facing the
Grenadan revolution, Bishop increasingly de-
fied the party's decisions and tried to use
his office as prime minister to impose his
own line on the island anyway.

It was this strike -breaking factionalism,-

reaching a head in the middle of October
and immediately spilling over into outright
counter-revolutionary intriguing with out-
siders and enemies of the Grenadan revolu-
tion, —which finally forced the New Jewel
leadership to reluctantly place Bishop under
"amateurish house arrest"(even in the words
of critics hostile to the NJM.)

Proof of the Bishop faction's guilt in illeg-
ally plotting with outside forces is irrefutably
provided by their own words. Responsibility
of the Bishop faction for the violence which
tragically ended the struggle seems equally

clear.
Bishop's arbitrary and adventurist determ -

~ination to use his "popularity” @&s the revd-
utionary government's figurehead)to chall-
enge the undoubted authority of the revolut-
fonary party's national leadership,made some
kind of discipline inevitable;-first making
Coard(instead of Bishop)the official leader

of the New Jewel Movement; then suspend -
ing Bishop from the Central Committee; and
finally placing Bishop under easy house arrest

If there was a mistake in this disciplining,
it was that the NJM was not firm enough,
that it far too leniently issued a fairly mild
rebuke to their old comrade for what in fact
was an extremely dangerous and provocative
political course that Bishop was following.

It was a 15 -hour meeting of the NJM's 13 -
man central committee on or about October
14 that finally decided to confine Bishop to
his home after reaching a conclusion that
Bishop himself was responsible for rumours
being spread around the island that Bernard
Coard was plotting to murder Bishop. At me
stage, Coard and his wife Phyllis, herself a
junior minister in the government, had res-
igned in protest at these rumours. That mee-
ting also concluded that Bishop "lacked gr-

eat depth in ideological clarity" and lacked
the necessary Leninist qualities for leadership

The previous month, the Central Committ-
ee had reviewed Bishop's conduct over the
past year, finding him guilty of "one -manism
and weak chairmanship and leadership" and
characterising Bishop's policies generally as
“the easy-to -follow petty bourgeois reute".

Bishop was provocatively and illegally
freed fram house arrest by a crowd of suppor-
ters. The myth is deliberately being fostered
by the capitalist press (the CIA/BBC/ITV/
Fleet Street lie machine) that this was a pi-
ece of purely harmless exhuberance by ‘'in-
nccent islanders' without a care in the wor-
1d who were then viciously and sinisterly
fired upon by the 'mad Marxist ideologues'.

The reality is vastly different. The Bishop
faction was taking ruthless advantage of the
relaxed politics of revolutionary Grenada to
set in motion a criminal betrayal of the N]M
regime at the hands of international counter-



revolution, The Bishop faction's action were
very far from a joke.

First, Bishop's press secretary, Don Rojas,
on his own later admission, went to the inter-
national cable office "m Bishop's instructions"
to prepare "appeals for internatimal support”
for Bishop against the revolutionary party lea-
dership.

Unison Whiteman, Bishop's clsest ally, at
the head of the mob, explained to the press
that night: "We feel that we have to disassoc-
iate ourselves from this government and that
we have to explain to the people of the caun-
try and the world the serious situation and the
refusal d the government to deal with it, "

Observing this attempt at mob rule, NJM
supporters told the press that Bishop was trying
"to set up a one-man show'". Major Leon Cor-
nwall, Grenada's ambassador to Cuba, angri-

ly told Bishop and the surging mob: "We will
get you wherever you go", Rojas admits,

Where the mob did go is the most signifi-
cant thing of all. Bishop, Whiteman, Rojas,
and ather factionalising minorityites, - incl-
uding farmers leader Fitzroy Bain, labour ch-
ief Vincent Noel, educatim minister Jacque-
line Creft (Bishop's mistress), housing minis-
ter Norris Bain, quartermaster to the army
Osborn Alexander, and agriculture minister
George Louison, - led  the crowd strai-
ght to the Fort Rupert armowry, where the
soldiers were believed to be sympathetic to
Bishop. Their families and other supporters
joined the coup leaders there.

On Osborn Alexander's admission, the guns
were taken off the guards at Fort Rupert. He
claims: "The soldiers on the fort were in full
sympathy with the people. They were just
there. They didn't do anything."

It is also admitted that "doctors and nurses
were summoned from the nearby hospital", -
allegedly to "look after Bishop" although th-
ere is no evidence whatever that he was ill.

Alexander admits that Bishop then rang
round various senior army officers. Again no
explanation is given. The reasonable assu-
mption is that Bishop was hoping to stage a
fullscale armed coup with forces friendly to
him, and was preparing Fort Rupert as his
headquarters, including medical personnel
to deal with the casualties.

Louison admits that the revolutionary party
central committee was still in full command
of the situation, and called an emergency
meeting at Fort Frederick headquarters to
deal with the situation, "The rest of the cen-
tral committee was under Bernard Coard's
canplete control", he admits further,
trying to put a nasty slant on the clear-
thinking, patient, and united ma jority.

Rojas also admitted that Coard was "the
most developed left ideologue in the Grenada

revolution, a brilliant man",
Who started the final shoot-out at Fort

Rupert, or why, is still not definite from
available evidence. But the revolutionary
leadership's Military Revdutionary Council
which assumed martial law powers to deal
with the Bishop coup attempt, stated unequ-
ivocally that the Bishop mob was in the pro-

cess of seizing the Fort and handing out
weapons to its faction, The Bishop faction
make no attempt to hide the fact that they
broke down the gates of Bishop's house to re-
lease him initially - fran guards who refused
to fire on them. And that they then disarm-
ed the guards at Fort Rupert.
Bishop's state of mind is also a curiosity.
Although not reported ill, and althcugh rest-
ing at home unmolested for a week, his su-
pporters admit that as he emerged from the
hause to meet them, he fell over. And An-
nie Bain, wife of the housing minister, off-
ered this curious description of the scene
she saw when she went to Fort Rupert to join
the rest of the Bishop faction there. "I saw
Maurice. And Naris was there, and a bottle
of alcohol was up in his hand. ... Unison Wh-
iteman and my husband and Maurice were
talking. What I did hear Unison say was that
they were waiting on the PA system (loud-
speakers) so that Maurice should address the
crowd. "

In addition to admitting that the Bishop
faction was preparing to appeal "to the wor-~
1d" over the heads of the NJM leadership,
Unism Whiteman also admits he confided in
the East Caribbean's worst Uncle Tom just
hours before their caup attempt, - Washing-
ton's chief stooge who let his island be used
fa the NAZI blitzkrieg invasion, Barbados
prime minister Tom Adams. Rushing back
from the United Nations on hearing of Bish-

op's house arrest, Whiteman was advised
to "wait a while" by Adams, and offered
pditical asylum.

Another dubious feature of Bishop's antics
was his insistence on formal bourgedis elect-

ions on Grenada, rejected by the revolutim-
ary leadership in favour of the vastly super-
ior Soviet democracy in the peoples counc-
ils which ran everything on Grenada.
Capitalist press comments claim Bishop
wanted elections merely to refute the CIA
propaganda campaign against Grenada. But

since Bishop's unilateral determination on
this cowrse, it must be suspected that he was

interested (as prime minister and the most
visible NJM leader) in getting a "popular"

mandate to use factionally against the NJM
majaity.

The Observer reportedfran Grenada during
the emergency, one of the few reporters on
the island from the capitalist press: "In
recent weeks, Bishop had been telling any
Western journalists he encountered that no-
thing was more important to him than im-
proving his ties with the Americans. "

It also reported: "Coard had little time

for fuddy-duddy relics like Sir Paul Scoon.
Maurice Bishop with his wider vision, knew
better. There was advantage in keeping a

conventional figleaf in front of their polit-
ical passions, and Sir Paul Scoon (governor
general and Queen's representative) was it.

"What was more, Government House had a
fine tennis court, and Scom was a keen pl-
ayer. So was Bishop, who lived nearby. At
weekends the Marxist prime minister and
his carefully non-political Governor-Gener-
al regularly played a couple of sets together.

Bishop often brought almmg his education mi-
nister Jacqueline Creft who lived with him. "

Scoon is now administering the Quisling
NAZI dictatorship on behalf of Reagan's
fascist military invasion, which is continu-
ing the butchery of scores more revolution-
aries every week, with a possible death
toll already approaching 1% of the Grenadan
population, -(an equivalent of 2 million dead
if applied, say, to the US population,)- a
truly massive scale of slaughter. Scoon is
about as "non-pditical" as Adolf Hitler.

The Cuban leadership's Octcber 20 denun-
ciation of the New Jewel Movement, a bad
enough move in itself whatever had been
understood abaut the row in Grenada, is a
disastrous mistake in the light of the evid-
ence.

Immediately taking Bishop's side without
any attempt at establishing the rights and
wrongs of the internal struggle or who started

the violence, it declared: "No doctrine, no
principle, no opinion calling itself revolut-
ionary, and no internal split can justify such
atrocious acts as the physical elimination of
Bishop and the prominent group of honest
and dignified leaders who died yesterday.
"Bishop was one of the pditical leaders
most admired by our people for his talent,
simplicity, sincerity, revdutionary honesty
and his proved friendship with our cowntry.
He also had a great international reputatim.
"We hope that the painful events which
have occurred will make all the revolution-
aries of Grenada and the world think very
deeply and induce the concept that no cr-
ime whatsoever may be committed in the
name of the Revolut ion and Freedom. "
Dismay at the bloodshed is natural, Tot-
ally unjustified is the accusation, - without
offering any evidence, - that the Coard fac-
tion started the violence. Certainly the Bi-
shop faction obviously got the wast of the
violent exchanges, with his street mob f1-
eeing in panic fram shooting inside Fort Ru-
pert. But there is still no evidence at all
who started firing first, or what were the
aims of each faction in the immediate str-
uggle. And the above evidence makes it
overwhelmingly clear that in general terms,
the Bishop faction was wholly in the wrong
in its provocative and illegal behaviowr in
occupying Fort Rupert in the first place, and
in all the other counter-revolutimary acts

which accompanied this dangerous move.
Cuba's statement adds, concemning the pre-

caup leadership struggle : " The situation re-
mained in a state of deadlock for some days;
sometimes it looked as though it could be
resolved in an honest, intelligent and peace-
ful way." But who was guilty of the change
of tone?

And then the Cuban statement adds ama -
zingly: "It was clear that the people were
behind Bishop and wanted his recall. "

This is an astonishing capitulation to the
values of bourgeois democracy.

In the first place, who was this "clear"
to, and how was this instant view of the
whole of Grenadan opinion so quickly estab-



lished? Secondly, which "people" were be-
hind Bishop. Sir Paul Scom, for example?
Did the "people" on the revolutionary mo-
vement's central leadership not count? And
if the street mob was the decisive factor in
Havana's eyes, would the NJM majority
putting a bigger mob onto the streets have
been deemed more convincing? Since when
have plebiscites been so highly regarded by
the Leninist movement of revolutionary
leadership?

On top of all this, the Cuban statement
is clogged with other no-Leninist remarks
about how "dignity and respect" prevented
them discussing the Grenadan leadership's
difficulties prior to the bust-up. This is nm-
sense. If political struggles affect the con-
duct and outcome of the world socialist re-
volution and the understanding of it by the

international mass movement, then it is
the absolute duty of any self-respecting

Leninist to try to form an opinion about wh-
ich conflicting line is correct, and to help

fight for its triumph,
To take a different example, the move-

ment in Chile is currently under appalling
misunderstandings and repeating disastrous
blunders concerning the role o Allende in
the 1973 catastrophe. It would be criminal
for international Leninists who can see the
dangers of the movement's cantinued fail-
ure to expose the treacherous mistakes and
illusions of Allendeism not to speak up, re-
gardless of whether they are Chileans or not.

Similarly, if Bishop's tactics were as out-
ragecusly wrong and factional as they now
seem, and if the Cuban comrades were in a
pcsition to find this cut, it is hopelessly mis-
taken for them na to have done so.

What is worse, there seems to be an ele-
ment of hypocrisy in this "dignity and re-
spect” malarky because it certainly did not
inhibit the Cubans from speaking out stro-
ngly condemning the NJM majority in this
October 20 statement.,

Worst of all, when Havana did finally
speak out, it seems to have got its facts
and political judgments hopelessly wrong.

Revolutionary parties of leadership make
revolutions, winning the support of the ma-
sses to win the power, as Castro himself
proved, and then guiding the masses to the
construction of socialism and communism.
Leninists should have suppated the NJM le-
adership in the absence of any evidence
that it had got things badly wrong, not the
undisciplined illegally-behaving defeated

faction,
And if Fidel Castro's real reasm for not

sending reinforcements to Grenada to meet
the impending US NAZI blitzkrieg was bec-
ause it was "impossible and unthinkable af-
ter the things that had happened", - as qu-
oted in the capitalist press, - then Havana's
mistakes over the Grenadan split were inf-
initely compounded.

It is fair to quote one last document capt-
ured from the New Jewel Movement head-
quarters by the CIA and released in Wash-
ington, - some unattributed nctes dated Oct -

ober 21, two days after Bishop's attempted
caup, which declared:

"It is clear that the Cuban leadership does
na know of the dishmesty and lying of MB
as well as his wickedness. The Cuban posit-
ion creates an atmosphere for speedy imper-
ialist intervention, "

It would be reassuring and a great service
to Leninism if the Cuban comrades would
comment again am all these matters.

7. November 17,1983
(Bulletin 215)

The essence of the international class st-
ruggle is its inevitable breaking out into
violent conflict periodically.
While always seeking to minimise the vio-
lence and maximise the pditical pressure, -
cansistent with actually achieving the over-
throw of the ruling capitalist class, Marx-
ism-Leninism is a totally revolutionary

movement, willing to seize power,and to
smash_counter-revolution wherever possible,
by the dictatorship of the proletariat.

The circumstances for such violent conf-

lict are always created by the still-domin-
ant world capitalist system, -the ruling-class
international bourgeoisie.

Either it uses its power to impose incurable
economic slump conditions via military di-
ctatorship o fascist tyranny, -thus provdking
communist revolution as the anly way cut of
their suffering and misery for the proletar-

ian masses, -as happened in Cuba and Nic-
aragua, for example, and as is now happen-
ing in Guatemala, Honduras, and El Salv-
ador as well as other Latin American coun-
tries. Or else it organises counter-revdution
around deposed reactionary elements such as
the rightwing civil war of intervention infl-
icted on Nicaragua now by the Somocista
fascists and mercenaries; and on Afghanistan

by the deposed tribal and feudal khans and
mullahs plus their benighted followers; and

on Pdand by religious backwardness, anti-

Soviet fascist-nationalism, and pro-Western
fanaticism.

But whenever the endless class war press-
ures spill over into actual violence, the Tr-
otkyist and CP-centrist 'lefts', -all formally
cammitted to the world socialist revolution's
side against international imperialism's anti-
communist Cold War crusade, - almost invar-
iably capitulate to bowgeds propaganda,
and undermine any militant response to re -
actionary provocations.

This middle class treachery is characterised
by a variety of opportunist features from anti
-Soviet prejudice and Labourite Parliament -

ary careerism to bourgeois pacifism.
When Maurice Bishop staged his counter-

revolutionary putsch against being voted out
of his leading positian in the New Jewel rev -
olutionary movement leadership by the NJM
central committee{after more than a year's
unsuccessful efforts to correct his Menshevik
weaknesses and rejection of majority decis~
ions), nearly all the anti-Leninist 'left’ in Br-
itain fram the IMG to the CP immediately

adopted a revisimist -compromise position
suppating Bishop, capitulating to the pressure
of bourgeois propaganda against the Coard
faction. The fact that the Cuban leadership
initially made similar mistakes can in no
way soften the criticism (see Bulletin 214),
The New Communist Party {the most mil-
itant -sounding rightwing revisionists, pret-
ending to be pro-Soviet but in reality com -
=pletely reformist), typify this capitulation
to Bishop's rightwing provocation behind a

phony bourgeois 'horror of violence' decl-
aring: "With a young revolutionary movem-

ent under intense US pressure, the immature
attitudes that might otherwise have been
overcome led to the ireesponsible act of fdly
in the killing of Bishop and Whiteman, and
the almost inevitable consequence o the US
invasion, " and quoting with approval Cuba's
disastrous error of judgment which wrongly
backed the Bishop faction against the Coard
faction, wrongly blamed the Coard faction
for the violence, and wallowed in hopelessly
idealist-demccratic illusims about the real-
ity of class struggle in claiming: "No doctr-
ine, principle,or proclaimed revolutionary
position,and no internal split,could justify
such brutal procedures as the physical elimin-
ation of Bishop and the outstanding group of
honest and dignified leaders who were killed."
Bishop was tragically killed in mob violence
which he, Bishop, started by having the
gates stamed where he was under house arr-
est, and then by storming Fort Rupert,
disarming the guards in both cases, simult-
aneously sending off international cables to

get help from "world opinion" (an invitation
for an invasion of Grenada), and ringing round
selected army officers Bishop thought he
ceuld win over to his attempted coup.(Ses 1)
The Cuban statement slithers deceptively
from an astonishing automatic assumption:

that Bishop must be the innocent party in the
. NJM feuding, to a hypocritical bourgeois-
idealist generalisation that "violence can

never be justified",which has nothing in it
but maximum petty -bourgeois prejudice.
Castro's latest reported remarks (if true)
that the defeat of Bishop's attempted coup/
reseizure of political leadership had "destro-~
yed the revolution",and that the US invasion
had anly "killed a corpse",show up a sad retr-
eat from Leninism's understanding o the vi-
tal rde played by the leading cadres of the
revolutionary party. Revolutionary ideas and

leadership, - however skilled the role of one
or two individuals, - are useless unless a re -

vdutionary party leadership of great strength,
breadth, and depth, has been convinced and
trained by years of experience to fight for th-
ose ideas among the masses. To contemptu-
ously write off the majority of the New Jewel
Movement leadership in this way, (many of
them with just as good credentials as Bishop
in struggling long for socialism on Grenada,)
is the most amazing blinkered subjectivism
and nothing to do with Marxism-Leninism, -
especially in view of the year-long recorded
struggle by the NJM leadership to get Bishop
to correct his weaknesses and to quit arbitr-
arily and dangerously defying the majority



views of the revolution's central committee.
For the NCP to immediately fall in with
Castro's blind spot on this matter reveals th-
eir weak middle -class inabilities to fully gr-
asp Leninism, placing them in the same ‘'left!

swamp with every revisionist tendency.
The Sotidarnosc "peaceful free trade union"

fraud exposed the revisionist 'left' humbug
from the Trots to the cenrist-Stalinists even
more decisively.

The latest comic 'phony war' between the
McLennan majority and Costello minority
wings of the Communist Party, where the
'Euroccommunist' majority claim they merely
suppat “the right" fa "free"and "inde pendent”
trade unions in East Europe rather than suppo-

rting Solidarnesc as such, while the "pro-
Moscow" minaity "merely" oppse martial
law in Poland while also claiming not to

suppat Solidarnosc, - cdncides with a reveals
ing admission in the Observer by Fleet Streets
chief 'leftie' champion of Solidarnosc, Neal
Aschersa, whose 'breathtaking' on-the -spot
accounts of the "heroic revolutionary social-
ist" revdt by Walesa and company kept the
pro -Solidarity lobby on the British 'left' key-
ed up for months in 1980-1981 -1982,

These tame capitalist press 'lefts' were al-
ways careful on the one hand to conceal the
rightwing reactionary class content of Wal-
esa's movement, and on the other careful to
deny there was any real intention to overth-
row the Polish workers state.

Now the mask is off in Aschersm's careless
review o a new book by TG Ash on Solidarn-
osc. "He is obviously very tempted to say,”
writes Ascherson, "that Sdidarity should
have gone ahead with the general strike and
full-dress confrontation in March 1981, at a
moment when the regime's repressive forces
were not yet organised. This is what many
Poles now believe. But Garton Ash wisely

stops short of saying so. Although Solidarity
in March was at the peak of its own unity
and mass support, it was not politically pre-
pared. The aim o supervising the existing
regime still held. "

So now we know. The real aim of Solidar-
ity all along, out of the mouths of its own

'leftie' supporters in the West, was the over-
throw of the Polish socialist state; - Ex-
actly as the ILWP was saying right from

the start of Solidarnosc in August 1980 in de-
manding the firmest reassertion of the Polish
dictatorship of the proletariat to crush this
counter-revolution as scon as possible.

Ascherson reveals more: "Confrontation re-
ally meant forcing the replacement of that
regime by something else. It was only later
that year, as the spreading econamic catas-
trophe and a campaign of government prov-
ocation made Solidarity more desperate (and
less united) that the union's leadership began
to accept that it would have to act asan ac-
tive political force."

The baurgeoisie was ousted from power in
Pdand in 1945-46 by the Red Army and the
Polish communist movement. Only the wak-
ing class can provide an alternative power
base. Like every state m the planet, Poland

can aly be either a bourgeois dictatorship or
a proletarian dictatorship. Poland's socialist
state structure and its endless conflicts with
the capitalist peasantry and the anti-Marxist
Catholic intelligentsia and deposed landed
gentry and capitalists, - plus the fervent sup-
pat for Walesa from the Pope to Reagan and
Thatcher, plus the billions for Solidarity act-
ivities supplied by the Vatican and the CIA,
- make it abundantly clear that Poland was
(and isj a proletarian dictatorship, - and that
Walesa and company would have overthrown
it in a bloady counter-revdution if given
half a chance, and re-established a dic-
tatorship of bourgeois 'parliamentary democ-

racy' capitalism in Poland.
Those who oppse martial law in Poland,

just as those who are for the "rights" of So-
lidarity, are equally on the side of imperia-
list counter-revolutionzand against the dic-
tatorship of the proletariat;the moment that
the fat is really in the fire, violence is br-
eaking out, and "anti-violence'" bourgeois
propaganda is lashing the feeble 'lefts' of
the British labour movement,-(humiliatingly
forcing them to turn tail on their supposed
"support' for the world socialist revolution
at the very vital moment when it is most
needed(to stem the CIA -imperialist inter-
ventionist bandwaggon effect in the West.)
The same treacherous bottling out from
forthright approval of strong action by the
socialist camp's defenders was observable
throughout the revisionist 'left ' when the
Soviet air defences correctly shot down the
Korean spy plane, deliberately sent into
the USSR's mast sensitive region in the hope
of a "Russians-shoot-down-passenger-plane”
sensation to be exploited by the CIA -contr-
olled ‘'free' press. Only the ILWP commend-
ed the Soviet action as being of benefit to
the strengtheningof the world socialist revo-

lution. All the rest either denounced it or
offered lame regrets, apologies, excuses

etc, for the 'disaster'. The innocent deaths
were certainly tragic. They always are.

But the incident was no 'disaster', but a well
-deserved and correctly firm rebuff to more
imperialist provocations.

Behind all this nervousness about revolut-
ionary violence lies the most appalling de-
ceitfulness by the entire 'left' swamp outside
the Leninist movement. They kid themsel -
ves that vidence is 'unnecessary', that an
insistence an 'democratic’ progress can fin-
ally disarm the imperialist bourgeoisie and
force through a 'peaceful’ road to socialism.
Or alternatively they accept in words that
there must be a revolutionary overthrow of
capitalist state violence and a firm dictator-
ship of the proletariat to put down counter -
reoolution and help spread the sccialist camp
until dominant world imperialist power is
finally overwhelmed, - but in practice deny
to the Soviet Union and the sccialist camp
any support at all for building powerful wer-
kers states precisely to withstand imperialist
subv;io_n, economic sabtage, and counter-
revolutimary intrigue.

And in reality, the entire 'left' swamp

swallows buckets of counter-revolutionary

violence, both actual and potential, with-
out batting an eyelid.

Solidarnosc again provides unmistakable
proof of this. To this day, these 'lefts' from
the 'Militant' and WRP to the CP refuse to
expose the warmamgering -fascist nature of
Solidarnosc with its desecration of Lenin
statues and Soviet war memorials, its racist
hatred o the Russians, its contempt for the
anti-imperialist movement in the West, and
its worship of Poland's pogrom -ridden Pilsud-
ski-fascist past. The murderous putsch plan-
ned by Solidarnosc leaders against the Polish

workers state and revealed in the Radom
tape recordings are ignaed (see ILWP Books

vaume 3), as is the significant emigration
of most Solidarnosc refugees to fascist South
Africa to join the white master race there.
Ascherson is again revealing, admitting
that "popular Polish views (i.e. Solidarn-
osc's) of the outside world are frankly Tha-
tcherite, - except that so many Poles now
regard the invasim of Grenada as a victory
in the struggle of light against darkness" -
(i. e. they are to the right even of Thatcher),
The "Support Sdidarity" spokesman in
Landm, Roman Napets, who approved the
US fascist-military wiping out of the Gren-
adan socialist revolution as being "the rem-
oval of a small clique which blocked the
progress towards democracy”, and regards
people who shout "What about El Salvador"
(to American imperialists hypocrisy about the
'suppression of Solidarnosc')as a "lunatic
fringe", confirms that it is anti -Ccommunisn
which is the essence of violence, not comm-

unist revolutim.
In reality, however, the 'left' swamp is

perfectly capable of waking out itself that
the world -domineering imperialist system
and its bourgeois ideology cannot possibly
continue withaut inevitably caning into vio-
lent conflict with the unavoidable progress
of the world sccialist revolutim.

They turn a blind eye to the actual or po-
tential counter -revolutionary violence of
the Vatican-CIA-Solidarncsc attempt to ov-
erthrow the Polish workers state because
they are intimidated by the bourgeois prop-
aganda hullabaloo against proletarian dict-
atorship vidence in support of that state.

This 'left' opportunist swamp despicably
takes advantage of the mistakes, difficult-
ies, and weaknesses of, say, the Polish wo-
rkers state (or the 1978 Afghan revolution;
or the majority NJM faction against Bishop
in Grenada; or the propaganda clumsiness
of the USSR over the Korean spy plane inc-
ident; etc, etc) to wash its hands of any re-
sponsibility for the world socialist revaut -
ion's struggle in those issues. Having never
come anywhere near carrying out a social-
ist revolution of their own, nor with the re-
motest chance that they ever will, the 'left!
swamp, in classic armchair-socialist style,
feigns a belief only in 'perfect’ transitions
to socialism.

But their real concern is solely to avoid
the lash of hostile criticism and ridicule



from bourgeois-manipulated public opinion
in this country. The one thing all the Trots
and centrist -Stalinists agree upon is that ne-
ver will they put themselves in the firing
line defending the Soviet Union and the so-
cialist camp over issues like Hungary, Cze-
choslovakia, Afghanistan, and Solidarnosc.
Imperialist violence goes on year in and
year out all round the world, staging coun-

ter-revolutions, fascist coups, and openly
NAZI blitzkriegs,as on tiny socialist Grenada.

The 'left' swamp prctests noisily - but stays
firmly within the 'free' world charade and has
no intention of ever denouncing it and declar-
ing allegiance to the one real wald socialist
revolution, - the Soviet-led socialist camp.
But let there be the slightest brief policing
skirmishes carried out by the dictatarship o
the proletariat against counter-revolutionary
dissidence and disruption, - which is all that
the Solidarnosc, Afghanistan, Czechoslovakia
and Hungary incidents have amounted to, -
and the 'left' swamp disowns any responsibil-

ity whatever for the world socialist revolution.

Their terror of the bourgeois propaganda
backlash is now so great, - their cringing
fear of making a really revolutionary chall -
enge to their comfortable 'democratic’ env-
ironment, - that they rush in screamingly to
denounce "violence" the instant that the CIA
propaganda machine distorts some rightwing
move such as the Kcrean spy plane stunt, or
the Maurice Bishop coup attempt, into a hor-

ror story against "communist evil".
The swamp of fake 'lefts' is rotten with

anti-communism. They cannot take up a
single issuesfran Solidarnosc to the vicious
rightwing censorship now operating in British
capitalism's 'free' press, radio and television,
-without treacherously backing off from the

only real choice ,~ dictatorship of the bourg -
eoisie or dictatorship of the proletariat, -
into a fantasy world of their own imagining
where there is 'perfect democratic accountab-
ility' and 'perfect freedom for all opinions'
in the dishmest and treacherous way that
Bemn and Loach, etc, put it over.

These 'parliamentary democracy' cretins
are fooling themselves and the working class.
And their only real achievement is to help
the one reality fof bourgeois dictatorial power,
hedged round with a few trimmings of 'dem-
ocratic rights', etc,) - go on ruling unchall-
enged, - unchallenged except by the Lenin-
ist movement. Build the ILWP,

8. November 24,1983
(Bulletin 216)

The Cuban comrades are now suggesting
that the Coard-Austin majority faction
in the leadership of the New Jewel revolut -
jonary movement were fake ultra -lefts, -

agents of US imperialism.

"Look at the history of the revolutionary
movement and you will find more than one
canection between imperialism and those
who take positions that appear to be on the
extreme left, Aren't Pol Pot and Ieng Sary, -
the mes responsible for the genocide in Ka-

mpuchea, - the most loyal allies Yankee im-
perialism has in South-East Asia at present?
In Cuba ever since the Grenadian crisis be-
gan, we have called Ccard's group, - to give
it a name, - the 'Pol Pot' group," Fidel Ca-
stro told the huge Havana funeral rally on
November 14,

The most glaring of many incansistencies
about this line is to explain why US imper-
ialism took the enormous gamble of staging
an extremely costly (in political terms inter-
natimally) wrecking invasion against the
Grenadan socialist revolution if they had
just got their own internal wrecking agents
installed? And having 'staged' an invasion
to oust their own men, why has US imperial-
ism then detained and brutalised its Coard-
Austin 'agents'?. Even stranger, why has US
imperialism unleashed a NAZI-psychological
warfare campaign on the island with lurid
posters everywhere vilifying Coard and Austin
as "the evil canmunists who tried to kidnap
Grenada" while allowing their suppwsed 'real
enemy' Maurice Bishop to be turned into a
baurgeois natiamal hero?

Ancther curicsity is what does Havana know
about the Coard-Austin political line? And
if it does know something, why does it not
discuss this pditical essence of the Granadan
problem, and expose what it thinks were the
Leninist errors in this line?

The odd thing is that Havana has repeat-
edly insisted, with misplaced sanctimony,
that it had never 'stooped so low' as to dis-
cuss Grenada's internal problems in the cou-
rse of its frequent, and recent, meetings

with Bishop. If true, this was a piece of
non-Leninist nonsense, If not, it is point-

less pretence.
Castro stressed again in his November 14

speech the "very close and affectimate links
and the many friendly fraternal hours" spent
with Bishop, including as recently as October
7, - but again stressing that "nothing was
said about the internal dissentions".

Castro then admitted: "Coard's group never
had such relations nor such intimacy and tr-
ust with us. Actually we did not even know
that group existed. "

But in that case, firstly, how does Castro
know anything about Coard and Austin's 'Pol
Pct plans'?

As already exhaustively analysed in Bulletin

214, the obvious beginnings o needless opp-
ortunist violence on Grenada (as little en-

ough as there was of it in any case, - limited
toone brief skirmish) - was_entirely due to
Bishop, and noone else. Bishop tried arbitr-
arily to use his power as the well-known pri-
me-minister-figurehead to_resist the properly
arrived-at ma jority decisions of the revol-
utionary movement's leadership for a long
period of time, finally necessitating his house
arrest. And then the Bishop faction lawlessly
raised a counter-revolutionary mob to storm
the guards at Bishop's house where he was
under easy-going 'arrest'. And that same
Bishop mob, then with Bishop at its head,
lawlessly stormed Fort Rupert, once again
disarming the guards there. For staging this

Bonapartist putsch, the Bishop mob was put
dovn, And there,all violence ceased; and
Grenada was quickly back to normal after a
few days martial law. Every eye-witness ag-
rees that the country was back to normal im-
mediately pricr tothe US imperialist invasion.
Spreading this 'Pd Pot' rumour about Coard
and Austin's political intentions merely plays
into the hands of Washington's 'justification'
propaganda, just as the anti-Leninist swamp
in Britain has done (see Bulletins 213, 214,
215).

There is much more equally inflaimmatory
(and totally unsubstantiated) language in
Castro’s speech against the Coard-Austin ma-
jority, {(many with as long standing in the
New Jewel Movement as Bishop,) - such as
"hyenas. . egged on by imperialism.. . using
the dagger of divisionism. . .conspirators,
tools of imperialism. ..the new government
of Grenada was morally indefensible", etc.

Castro's only concrete charges are precisely
the issues which the NJM majority insistently
properly discussed with Bishop inside the cen-
tral committee, urging him for over a year
to heed their criticism. These matters dem-~
and discussion, not sneers.

"Allegedly {7) revolutionary arguments
were used, " Castro admits, "Invoking the
purest principles of Marxism-Leninism and
charging Bishop with practising a cult of per-
sonality and drawing away from the Leninist
nams and methods of leadership, "

To which Castro tries two equally unsatis-
factay replies. First he baldly declares, des-
pite the evidence of a year’s constant compl-
aints fran the ma jority of the NJM leadersh-
-ip, mostly hardened revolutionaries of very
long standing who had known Bishop intim-
ately for nearly 20 years, - that "nothing
could be more absurd than to attribute such
tendencies to Bishop., It was impossible to
imagine anyone more noble, madest and un-
selfish. He could never have been guilty
being autharitarian, If he had any defect, it

was his excessive tolerance and trust, "
Circumstantial evidence is all against Cas-

tro on this. Why would anyone truly 'modest

and unselfish! never have mentioned in hours
of 'intimate' discussions with the Cubans such
an extremely serious matter of a lack of

confidence in his leadership by the majority
of the NJM central committee? Surely this

smacks of someone who was arrogantly cont-
emptuous o his party's feelings and opinims.

And why did these curiously close relations
exist between Bishop and the Cubans, but the
deputy leader of the NJM,and deputy prime-
minister, Bernard Coard, and the majority of
the NJM leadership were almost totally
unknown in Havana? Did Bishop in fact re -
ally keep everything to himself, in a one-
man leadership, as his comrades accused him
of? If true (and Castro gives no evidence to
the contrary), this reflects as badly on Castro
as on Bishop. It was very short-sighted for
Castro not to insist m getting to know the
whole of the NJM leadership. Did they refuse,
strangely, to become known? Castro does not
say so, and it seems scarecely credible.



On smaller circumstantial points, which co-
mma language did Castro (Spanish-speaking)
and Bishop (English-speaking)} know sufficien-
tly well for them to have talked long enough
without interpreters to get to know each other
so well; and what leadership work inside the
Grenadan government and party did Castro
observe so as to form a judgment about Bish-
op's relationships with his colleagues?

Castro's second reply to the NJM criticisms
of Bishop is to charge the majority with being
""a group of extremists drunk m political th~
ecxy'". This is an extraordinary allegation
which casts far more doubt on Castro than it
does on the NJM majority.

If Coard's ma jority had "extremist political
theories", let us hear about them. And then
let us hear those theories being subject to
withering Leninist criticism (see Lenin vol-
unes 1 to 45), The essence of Marxism-Lenin-
ism is to defeat revisionism by correct revol -
utionary theory. The mere jibe "extremists
drunk on pditical theory" would indicate

anti-Leninism on the part of the jiber.
What is required from the Cuban comrades,

{who have had, and still have, incomparable
facilities for presenting some mae facts ab-
out Grenadan political differences,) is their
views on Bishop and Coard's attitudes towards
the NJM's continued membership of the Sec-
ond (pro-imperialist) International; Grenada's
alliance to the Commonwealth; the continu-
ation of Sir Paul Scoon as Governor-Generals
relations to US imperialism and the IMF; the
mixed economy; the question of parliament-
ary elections and opposition parties and the
dictatorship of the proletariat; etc, etc.

Best of all would have been a Cuban contr-
ibution to these discussions before disagree-
ments about them drove the NJM into factio-
nal conflict. But a contribution now would
be better late than never. It is still important
to learn some lessons from the different NJM

attitudes to these questions, and fran how
and why it led to such violent factimalising.

Lenin's Third International discussions with
new young communist parties and their fact-
ional problems are a model for this kind of
work. It is vitally necessary for the world
revolutionary movement toreturn to a Lenin-
ist line and Leninist standards in revolutim-
ary theory.

Castro and the Cuban Revolution have al-
ready rendered priceless service to overcom-
ing centrist canservatism in the development
of the world sacialist revolution by Moncada
and the capture of power in Cuba, arms in
hand, and by the selfless support to the int-
ernational movement, defying the most vic-
ious US imperialist threats, pressures, subv-
ersion, and blockade.

But for overcoming the deadly divisive con-
fusion-mongering by scores of revisionist gr-
oups within the oldest capitalist countries in
order to spread the socialist revolution there
to complete the vanquishing of world imper-

ialism, far more Leninist thinking and und -

erstanding is required from Moscow, Havana
2 and everywhere else than has yet been forth-
caming with their confusions over Allendeism,

CP revisionism (rife in West Europe and Latin
America, e. g. ), popular frontism, etc, etc
(see countless past Bulletins), of which the
confusia over Grenadan issues is a continu-
ation. It will certainly be impossible for the
revolutionary party to grow in Britain, (e.gJ),
withaut such a Leninist development in revo-
lutionary theory. And first responsibility for
supplying it rests on the comrades struggl-
ing with the fight here. Build the ILWP,

9. December 1,1983%
(Bulletin 217)

Castro's mistake in approving Maurice Bi-
shop's attempted mob-coup against the leg-
itimate New Jewel Movement ma jority wh-
ich had voted him out o the party's leader-
ship, looks even worse in the light of
new internal NJM documents seized by the
CIA during the US imperialist blitzkrieg on
Grenada)and selectively leaked aut to chosen

some

anti-communist journalists in Washington.
These reports, especially in view of their
vicious bias against the ma jority NJM fact~
ion led by Bernard Coard, show that far from
Coard and Austin being "imperialist agents"
and "Pol Pot extremists drunk on theory" as
accused by the Cuban comrades, the main
faults and the main blame in Grenada's di-
fficulties rested squarely with Bishop.

‘Bishop decided last June to try to mend
his broken fences with the White House. He
flew to Washington uninvited. He did not
get to the President, but he did talk to sev -
eral top American officials, including the
then National Security Adviser, William
Clark (Reagan's closest reactionary political
ally). After Bishop got back to Grenada, his
anti-imperialist rhetoric grew noticeably
milder, 9 goes the Sunday Telegraph's ver-

sion of these NJM documents.
$From now on, the captured records of his

party's discussions tell a story which is no
less dramatic for being couched, alm-

ost entirely, in Marxist gobbledegook as im-
perfectly digested by semi-educated Carib-

b%an zealots, ¥ it continues.
The attack by the hard-liners on Bishop's

leadership was mounted slowly but steadily.
The first meeting of the NJM after his Wash-
ington foray lasted for 54 hours, spread over
6% days between July 13 and 19, 1983. It
reeks with self-criticism in the approved
Marxist - Leninist fashion. What is recorded
as the 'main feature' for debate can be read
as an oblique reference to Bishop himself.
The party is taken to task for its failure 'to
transform itself ideologically and organis-
ationally and to exercise firm leadership

along a Leninist path’ ¢
The ST records that by the August 26 me -

eting of the Central Committee:€the omin-
ous charge of 'right opportunism' is levell-
ed against part of the CC. For the first time
Maurice Bishop is attacked by name, with
'the quality of his leadership' being called
into questimn. A new system of jdint contrd,
sharing power between him and his estran-

ged deputy Bernard Coard, is proposed..,.
€CC minutes for September 14-16 cont-

ain a clear dig at the dangers of his prag-
matic American policy: they declare that
the Grenadian people are 'getting their
lines from the Voice of America' over the
Korean plane incident. A vote was then
taken on the joint leadership issue. It was
approved by 9 for, 1 against, and 3 (includ-
ing Bishop) abstaining.$

It was apparently decided not to make the
leadership discussions public because of the

weakened idedogical position the NJM had
sunk to.

By an equally clear majority, " the Tel-
egraph repat puts it, "Grenada's Communist
bosses decided against 'informing the mass-
es'. The minutes add:

'The situation is that there is great dispir-
itiveness and dissatisfaction among the peo-
ple... The state of the party is the lowest it
has ever been.. .We all agree that the Army
is in a state of rut and demoralisation, along
with a sericus ideological drift. .. Canrades
are saying we are talking of imperialism too
much when there are so much problems in
the camps. Ministers are buying new arms
when soldiers cannot get food to eat..."?

Earlier at the August 26 CC meeting, bef-
ore the leadership change had been agreed
upon, some unattributed notes commented:

A war of discontent with the work of the
CC to the point where sane members
were questioning the leadership, Some Com-
rades called fa the removal of sane CC
members; others for the change of the ent-
ire team... At present the revolution is fac-
ing its worst crisis ever and most serious
danger in 4% years. The mood of the masses
is characterised at worst by open dissatisfac -
tion and cynicism, and at best by serious
demoralisation. %

And the Telegraph's report says of that
same August 26 meeting(at which Coard
was not present in protest against
rumours that he was planning Bishop's
assassination (rumours spread by Bishop
himself, a latter CC meeting decided)), -
and where ‘Bishop, who called the meeting
(an emergency sessim), seems to be still
on top’) that, according to formal minutes:

‘Nonetheless, it was agreed that 'some
canclusions of the CC are not correct', and
even mae ominously, that some Central
Committee comrades were not functioning
properly, having fallen into what is pictures-
quely described as 'a state of rut'. Everyone
agrees that the party was going downhill

and that'the CC is facing a confidence crisis'?
The Telegraph's summary, desp-

ite its bilious anti-Coard bias, then admits

that the NJM majority trusted Bishop (who

was preparing to send himself off on a trip

to East Europe) to help implement the leader-

ship changes, following the Sept 14 meeting.

But on October 12, a maoth after the lead-
ership changes had been overwhelmingly ag-
reed, Bishop returned home €and informed
his colleagues that (to quote a hand-written
record of a joint Politburo/Central Commi-



ttee meeting) he still *wanted time to refl-
ect' on the dual leadership issue. 9

In ¢ther words, Bishop was contemptuously
belittling the September 14 central commi-
ttee 9 to 1 majority decision for a new joint
party leadership.

The minutes of the October 12 CC meet-
ing then record the following decisions:

é1, Confine MB indefinitely (long appl-
ause); 2, Phones of MB cut off (applause);

3. Disarmed for his own safety (applause).
The situation demands Bolshevik staunchness

.+..Even though we are badering on disint -
egration, it is not irreversible....We have
to learn from other fraternal parties...?

The Telegraph's anti-Coard vitriol then
admits: ®On October 19 a crowd of some
3, 000 (?)Bishop supporters overran the guard
outside his residence and freed him. Emb-
oldened by this, they marched on Fort Rup-
ert, General Austin's headquarters. They

~ tried to stam it but were repulsed after a
brief and bloody struggle.?

Once again (see Bulletins 213 - 216), con-
vincing proof has been provided by the bitt -
erest anti-communist haters of Bernard Coard
and the Grenadan socialist revolution that it
was Bishop's faction, in fact, which started
the outrageous, unnecessary violence, trying
an armed coup in orderto frustrate an over-
whelming majority ruling party decision ab-
out a change of leadership after a lmg per-
iod of dissatisfaction and criticism o errors
in the previous Bishop leadership.

Unwittingly, the Telegraph's anti-comm -
unist muck-raking throws a new light on
CIA lie-mmgering against Coard as a "Mar-
xist fanatic" by proving the alternative per-
spective on Bishop's differences with Coard.

éCastro's Cuba, " it claims "also seems to
have provided riotous night life for the hot-
blooded members of the New Jewel Movem~

ent. Among the captured papers is a formal
letter. .. . written by one Gemma Jones who

had been disciplined by the party for an all-

night sex orgy while passing through Havana
It caused her to miss her flight to Bulgaria
the next morning. 'At no time was I told or

given the impression' she writes defiantly
'that sisters were supposed to isolate them-

selves from the opposite sex'.

“"Anyway, Gemma explains, it was a male
camrade who was to blame, for 'he walked
into the room where I was at the time and
started undressing in my presence and told
me, let's go to sleep.' She signs herself,
appropriately, 'Yours in the Struggle'. ¥

One of the final tragic central committee
documents noted on October 21 'Cuba's
negative response to the issue', adding:

€ The deep persmal friendship between Fi-
del and Maurice has caused the Cuban lead-
ership totake a persamal and not a class app-
roach to developments in Grenada,..?

This charge has been proved overwhelm-
ingly, on the evidence so far available (see
also Bulletins 213 -216), and is all the more
pdgnant for being so diffidently expressed,
especially in the light o the foul (and so far

totally unjustified) accusations hurled later
at Caard by Castro about "hyenas. . extrem-

ists. . enemy agents who wanted to destroy
the Grenadan revolution. .conspiratas. . Pol
Pct..genocide. . morally indefensible" etc
(Bulletin 216).
The big question marks an Grenada have

ncthing to do with the NJM majority but are
entirely against Bishop's leadership and his
later attempted coup to hang onto it. And
the other big question mark is against
Castro's sense of leadership. From hearing
on October 12 "the surprising and unpleasant
news" (of profound divisions in the Central
Committee in Grenada, and later that day
that Bishop had been removed fran the lead-
ership and placed under house arrest") until
news of Bishop's attempted coup on October
19 gwhich Castro studiously refuses to describe
as such), Castro apparently took absolutely
no initiatives whatever to try to mediate or
offer advice in this alarming situation. His
October 20 statement even tries justifying
this ridiculous and amazing paralysed silence
with the most ludicrous bourgeois propriety.
"Wk didn't say a single word...We had thus
remained true to ouwr principle of respect for
the internal affairs of sister parties and coun-

tries. "
For Leninists, especially such internation-

ally authoritative ones as Castro, to not try
to help out a fraternal party in bad confusion
over Leninist programme and Bolshevik lea-
dership principles, - is closer to daft lunacy
than the piddling notion of 'respect'. (And
Castro has shown precious little 'respect’, or
even the equally daft 'non-interference',in
the affairs of the NJM leadership ever since
the events of October 19.) Why did Castro

at least not offer to fly to Grenada immed-
iately totry to help resolve such an appall-
ing crisis in the NJM leadership?

These considerations also put in a very bad
light the reasons Castro gave on October 25
for refusing assistance to Grenada upon the

US imperialist invasion, quoting his own
message to Cubans on Grenada: "I underst-
and how bitter it is for you, as well as for

us here, to risk compatriots in Grenada, af-
ter the gross mistakes the Grenadian Party
has made, and the tragic developments to
which they gave rise. .. It is not the new
Grenadian Government we must think of
now, but of Cuba, its honour, its pecple, its
fighting maale....We must vigarously def-
end aurselves as if we were in Cuba, in owr
campsites, in our warkplaces close by, - but
only if we are directly attacked. Irepeat:
only if we are directly attacked. We would
thus be defending ourselves, not the Govern-
ment or its deeds. "

The October 21 NJM note adds: "It is clear

that the Cuban leadership does not know of
the dishonesty and lying of MB as well as the

wickedness that he and his graup did at Fort
Rupert, including brutality and stripping
female soldiers. " Earlier evidence quoted
by the Bulletin implied drunkenness among
the Bishop mob leadership.

Most poignantly of all, the NJM Octaber

21 ncte ends by warning that Cuba's hostile
pesition "creates an atmosphere for speedy
imperialist intervention, " It came four days
later.

In the interests of the further developm-
ent o Leninism, a high.point of which is
the revolutionaries' ability to face up to
mistakes they make (as Lenin stressed in
Left-Wing Communism'), the Cuban com-
rades should reply to the criticisms raised
in the last five Bulletins,

10. January 5,1984
(Bulletin 221)

Crucial in the Bolshevik record of winning
the confidence of the masses by correctly
explaining what was happening in the confu-

sing revolutionary turmoil in Russia,-and also
what was possible as well as what was likely

to happen next, - was the party's willingness
and determination to give leadership at
every turn in every area on every issue. And
to build a conscious leadership, it is utterly
self-defeating to keep it a secret.

The simple test to discipline against mere
self-delusion in struggling to renew Leninism
is to get things right, and to constantly clo-
sely observe every other political movement
to see how they are coping with reality.

The ILWP would like nothing better than
for some largescale, well-established, star-

studded, academically-erudite, organisat-
ionally-dynamic, theoretically-powerful

party to sweep forward and carry out all the
revolutionary programme, propaganda, and
practical tasks the ILWP is battling to achie-
ve. Throughout its entire existence, the par-
ty has pursued every possible avenue,
nationally and internationally, seeking pol-

itical clarifications, liaisons, polemics of
any and every kind, towards agreements.

Only the more dynamic elements in the
world socialist camp,and the current intern-
ational revolutionary struggle most closely
associated with that camp,have come remot-
ely near demonstrating a consistent Leninist
grasp of all world events am both sides of the
international conflict of class forces, but
even then have fallen well short of what is
really required.

A natural tendency to sympathise with the
socialist camp, and a healthy hesitancy to
over-hastily criticise Moscow in view of the
way that history has made a complete fool
out of Trotskyism's pronouncement of doom
for the Russian Revdution, are inapposite
here.

In the cantemporary propaganda-
dominated, international class struggle, - it
is quick, correct, and decisive leadership on
current burning issues that is the relevant test.
The masses battling imperialism need to
know, and deserve to know, exactly what
crap the CIA is trying to disrupt the world
socialist revolution and national liberation
struggle with the very moment it happens,

At that point, Moscow's achievement (of

ma jor world historic importance) of safegu- 13



arding the triumph of the 1917 Revolution
is no substitute, for example, for their dam-
aging tongue-tied silence on the issue of the

New Jewel Movement split which US imper-
ialism so ludicrously took such criminal, sa-
vage advantage of and which Havana made
such a disastrous mess of explaining (see Bu-
letins 213 - 217),

The Bulletin's attempts to understand the
Bishop-Coard differences and how the socia-
list camp should have reacted to the split
may well prove deficient, but if Moscow is
better informed (as it ought tobe), it is dou-
bly negligent of it to have said virtually no-
thing about this crucially important matter
for revolutionary education in the national
liberation struggle.

Either through Moscow's ignorance of what
was really going on in Grenada, or through
some misguided notion of what it is diplom-
atically advantageous to reveal, the intern~
ational revolutionary movement was denied
some priceless lessons on which class attitu-
des led to which mistakes and how they mi-
ght have been avwided overthe Grenada qu-
estion.

At this point, it is relevant to add that
such failings go back a very long way into
the Soviet leadership's bureaucratic conserv-
ative period whose traces are still powerfully
at work today, to such an extent that it is
proper and necessary for the ILWP to consider,
-as it has done, - the possibility that it is the
sharp, daily, frontline, class-war inside the
imperialist countries and their satellites that
will force the renewal of Leninist standards
of political analysis and leadership, at their
highest level, - there rather than in Moscow.

The need to provide leadership in such con-
fusing, class-disorienting issues as the NJM
crisis, which hit the world revolutionary mo-
vement hard, is a matter of life and - death
for those fighting to survive under imperialist
decay, ~as in El Salvador, Nicaragua, etc.
It should be just as important for Moscow
and Havana to understand and explain corr-
ectly. But the reality is that they will prob-
ably survive anyway without maintaining an
advanced Leninist grasp of every revolution-
ary issue, as has happened throughout the
period of bureaucratic coxiservatism, frequ-
ently,

Another example demonstrates even more
graphically the vital importance of the stru-
ggle to give correct leadership when living
under the yoke of imperialism (compared to
when uneasily, temporarily coexisting with
it in a permanent state of armed truce,) - the
renewed problem of Allendeism.

The key to Chile's 1973 tragedy was the
failure of any significant group there to call
for a decisive break with Allendeism, to de-
clare "no support" for the 'Socialist Unity!
coalition as the only way to break the influ-
ence of Allende's fatal compromise with the
capitalist state.

From the bureaucratic-conservative Comm-
unist Party to the Trotskyite MIR, the cata-
strophic mistake the various groupings made

‘A'in 1973 in stopping their criticism of Allende

short of demanding "no support" for the 'Soc-
ialist Unity' government(while nevertheless
arming and organising to defeat the military,’
- is still being repeated by all of them in
the 1983 -84 renewal of revolutionary crisis.
From the CP to the MIR, they are still sniff-
ing round for a respectable way back to the
fatal class-war confusion of popular-front po-
litics, which so disarmed the working class

in 1973 and made it a sitting target for Pin-
ochet's fascism, and which could easily re-
peat its damaging disorientation in 1984 for
a new setback.

The tragedy is that Moscow's lingering bu-
reaucratic conservatism still leads it to con-
fuse the diplomatic requirements of peace-
ful coexistencefwith armed imperialism to
make the launching of World War III as diff-
icult as possible)with useless class collabor-
ationism of the Allende popular front kind
which only gives fascist warmongering circl-
es around the CIA another victory on a plate
thus increasing the drive-to-WWIII dangers.

The crucial 1917 lessons of Leninism of
withdrawing the slogan 'all power to the Me-
nshevik and SR -dominated Soviets' at the
key moments of counter-revolutionary class
collaboratim(by these middle class 'Marxists'
with military reactimn,)- even combining
"no support” for the Kerensky regime
while mobilising to defeat the Kornilov Aug-
ust putsch, which would have overthrown
Kerensky, - wauld appear to have been utter-
ly forgotten.

The catinuing traces of bureaucratic con-
servatism in Moscow go all the way
to their deliberate prolmgment of close cd-
laboration with now openly counter-revolut -
jonary CP groups in the West, - which must
cause enormous confusion to the world's
masses struggling to overthrow the 'democr-
atic' international imperialist systemf{to wh-
ich these CPs are now so committed with
such fierce reactionary determination, out-
doing the Taries in their hatred of revolut-
ionary upheaval such as martial law in Pol-
and and the IRA's national liberation war in
Ireland.) '

The revolutionary party is bound to erect
an unbridgeable barrier between itself and
these CP centrist-reformist groups, their left-
Labour co-thinkers (Trot and non-Trot), and
the incorrect and misleading sympathy Mos-
cow continues to bestow on such groups. In
the correct pursuit of peaceful -coexistence
diplomacy, Moscow is obliged to main-
tain as friendly relations as possible with all
pditical parties in the West, always seeking
to disrupt and restrict anti-communist allia -
nces as much as possible. But formally retai-
ning 'comradely communist' links with such.
reactionary middle class gangs as the British
CP, e.g., is a grotesque disservice to the
international working class and to Leninist
theory. The ILWP would itself betray Lenin-
ism if it stopped exposing or trying to corr-
ect this failing.

And it is only on this scientific Marxist

basis of always telling the truth to the work-
ing class, - the sole final guarantee of succ-

essful revolutionary leadership, - that Lenin-
ism can ever proceed. When Moscow, in
many of its formulations, presents the British
CP as the British section of the international
revolutionary communist movement, it just
is not true. The CPGB represents no such
thing. It is an entirely refarmist and there-
fore ultimately_reactionary petty -bourgeois
clique and nothing else. Moscow's powerful
role in leading the socialist camp in its bri-
lliant economic and military defiance of
imperialism's non-stop plans and subversive
intrigues for nuclear destruction and werld
military conquest will still survive,despite
these theoretical lapses in the more complex
class-struggle questions within dying capit-
alism. But any would-be . party of Lenin-
ist leadership in Britain or any capitalist
country would not survive, and would not
deserve to swrvive, if it repeated or covered
up such mistakes.

The 1LWP's independent role is made no
less necessary by the appalling record o all
the alternative groups to the CPGB's rotten
opportunist reformism.

The entire spectrum of groupings from Trot
and near-Trot to near-CP and CP fall into
one or more of a number o overlapping sec-
tarian positions which all amaunt to a retreat
from a Leninist understanding of the real
world.

Whether trying to sneak into the Labour
Party to breathe life into a dying reformist
corpse; or collapsing into pacifism or anar-
chism as opposed to a revolutionary fight to
build the dictatorship of the proletariat; or
utterly failing to correctly identify even the
simplest outlines of the towering Cold War
international class struggle between monopo-
ly-capitalist imperialism m one side and the
socialist camp and the world socialist revau-
tion and national liberation struggles on the
other side -{the overwhelmingly dominant
reality of this epoch) -;=the politics_of all
these sects (though not necessarily every ind-
ividual adherent) reveal a subjective cranki-
ness which can never hope to lead anywhere -
except round and round in ever-decreasing
circles because of being so out -of -touch with
reality.

Take even the most plausible-seeming gr-
oups like the RCG, which has quietly dropped
the barmier SWP-WRP hysteria about Moscow
being secretly in league with Washington fo
sell out the socialist revolution together,) -
but only to slither into an equally barmy and
unresolved fence -sitting which pretends that
Washington's anti-Sovietism and anti-Comm-

unism is simply not the main issue;and tries
to substitute piecemeal and single -issue que-

stions, (usually of a propagandist nature like
racialism or specific colonial freedam strugg-
les)- for the principal question of history:-
the dictatorship of the proletariat and the
world sccialist camp versus the 'free! world.
To end up arguing, as the RCG dq, that
Ireland, for example, is "more important"
than the whole issue of anti-Sovietism and
anti-communism which has dominated the
international class struggle and world politics






about Moscow!'s slowness to take the propag-
anda offensive about the 747 issue than ab-
out the possibility of unnecessary and clumsy
tactics in dealing with the incident in the
first place. Changing tactical grasp and ab-
ilities in every locality in the vast socialist
camp is the matter of slow development
over decades. Giving instant warmhearted
suppat on behalf of workers everywhere to
the Moscow leadership for being alert to
exactly what fascist-militarist plans imper-
ialism is up to,and for being ready to give
a solid rebuff to any and every adventure,is
something that can be done immediately
with far mae important results.

Imposing martial law on Solidarnosc was
a matter for instant rejoicing by communists
everywhere, not something of 'acute emb-
arrassment’ (what a revelation of dyed-in-
the-wod illusions in petty-bourgeois 'dem-
ocracy' that notim contains), The only reg-
ret was that it todk Warsaw so long to grasp
what had to be dme. The ILIWP Bulletin had
been urging this course of action for maths
previously, The move was a historic
necessity in view of the prevailing balance
of class war forces in Poland and internatio-
nally. At that mament in 1981, it was then
not just pointless to stand around hand-wrin-
ging at how 'regrettable’ it all was, - {as the
various bureauctatic -conservative CP factions
did in the West ('Leninist’ faction, etc), - and
how it was to be wished that the Polish wor-
kers state leadership had more revolutionary
suppat amag the masses so that martial law
would not have been necessary fa controlling
the Solidarnosc counter-revolutian.) All the
tut -tutting and disowning of the Polish state
move was nothing but downright backstabbing
treachery to the Polish proletarian dictator -
ship and the possibilities fa sccialism in Pol-
and (the only way a socialist state has ever, -
and can ever, - be achieved , as Allende and

tens of thousands of butchered Chilean work-
ers, misled by the reformist illusions of CP

bureaucratic conservatism, testify from
the grave).

While never abandoning the open fight for
far greater Leninist understanding among the
Pdish workers state leadership(and everywh-
ere else throughout the internatimal social-
ist revolutionary struggle),-at that critical
moment it was vital to crush the Polish coun-
ter-revdution there and then, regardless of
the temporary propaganda gain this gave to
the 'free' world's anti-communist hysteria
campaign, The CIA-Vatican counter-revol-
utionary agencies were working full blast to
pretend that there existed, -(and to help cr-
eate), - conditions of chaos and breakdown in
Poland to 'justify' direct imperialist military
intervention into Poland.

This 'justification' was used to cover US im-
perialism's destruction of socialist Grenada.
It was used against Allende's Chile by the
CIA-orchestrated Pinochet coup. Progressive
regimes in Guatemala and Dominican Rep-
ublic were crushed by US troops in 1954 and
1967 by the same fraud. The same trick was
loosely planned for Hungary in 1956 but firm

Soviet action made it impossible. Afghanistan
is being similarly destabilised from without
and within, but again Soviet action prevented
imperialist intervention, Socialist Nicaragua
will be the next target, with CIA mercenaries
already creating 'chaos' inside the country to
'justify' US invasion.

It was vitally necessary for the interests of
the whole o the working masses of the planet;-
and for the whole future of socialism which
can only be based on the defeat of imperial-
ism,~to halt the anti-socialist intrigues of
Western-inspired Solidarnosc and to prevent
imperialism going onto the offensive inside
Eastern Europe. And there was no ch-
oice but to fully support the existing Polish
workers state leadership, - with all its past
and present failings, - in reasserting the dict-
atorship of the proletariat at that moment.

The fainthearted scattered remnants of CP
bureaucratic conservatism from the NCP to
the 'Leninist' faction and 'Straight Left’,
have completely misunderstood Lenin's pe-
aceful coexistence strategy to fall helplessly
into a Labour-tailing centrist (revolutionary
in words but reformist in actual positions ta-
ken) version of democratic-reformist illusions.

They always end up servilely muting
any criticism of Moscow just when they sh-

ould not be muting it (exactly the same ser-
vile way they behave towards the established
Labour Party bureaucracy, especially at el-
ection times, etc), as was seen in the
NCP's lickspittle acceptance of Castro's out-
rageausly incorrect assessment of the New
Jewel Movement's leadership crisis 5 - but
cravenly failing to give Moscow enthusiastic
and cutspoken support precisely when it is
most needed, - as over the 747 incident,
martial law in Poland, the intervention into
Afghanistan, the overthrow of Dubcek's coun-
ter-revdution, and the suppression of the
Hungary fascist -Catholic plans in 1956.

The absolute minimum demand of the broa-
dest-possible struggle which all supposed 'so-
cialists' should support is that which makes
anti-communism the main enemy to be fou-
ght. Wherever a blind eye is turned to the
foul tentacles of insidious anti-communist
propaganda, - (imperialism's main weapon), -
the pass is sold to all the farces of capitalist
rightwing reaction. But the ILWP alone
has correctly identified the fight against
anti-Sovietism and anti-canmunism as the
real front line in the battle against imperial-
ism and for socialism.

11. February 9,1984
(Bulletin 226)

A reformist British delegation to Grenada
from Sheffield and Islington Labourite 'left!
circles (Trots and Black nationalists),who all
hate the Leninist proletarian dictatorship line
which Bernard Coard seemed close to, are
the latest unwitting proof of Maurice Bishop's
guilt in the NJM leadership debacle.

Their report, full of the most sickening,
patronising, welfare attitudes towards the
US -destroyed Grenadan revolution, - admits

that the supposed "popular mass movement"
to release from "house arrest” the "heart and
soul of the revolution", Maurice Bishop, -
was nothing of the sort.

Hitherto, the ILWP has described the self-
appointed crowd, (which released Bishop from
the legal detention had had properly been
placed under by the revolutionary leader-
ship), as a "mob", and even a "drunken
mob" from much eye-witness evidence (see
Bulletins 213 to 217, and 1LWP Books vol 6).

The Labourites innocently reveal that it
was probably even more sinister than that, -
a deliberate rightwing CIA plot.

"The motivations of business people, who
were known to be hostile to Maurice Bish-
op's government and yet were identified on
the demonstration to free him from house
arrest, "' they report, "have still to be expl-
ained.

"A businessman in Grenville, for example,
who has been circulating a petition arguing
for 'associated statehood for Grenada' (i.e.

with the USA) on the Puerto Rican model,
was among those mobilising for the demon-
stration of October 19th, " their report adds.

It was this self-appointed mob of a few
hundred or so who disarmed the couple of

guards at Bishop's house, cheered him (po-
ssibly drunk) all the way to Fort Rupert
where more guards were disarmed, and then
proceeded to prepare international telegrams
calling for "outside intervention" in Grenada
and to ring round army officers thought to
be sympathetic to Bishop.

As the Bulletin's analyses have described
all this, it amounted to a fullscale coup
attempt by the deposed Maurice Bishop.

It was the clear instigation of lawless vi-
olence on Grenada, It led directly to the
forming of hostile armed factions. Within a
few minutes, it led indirectly to the spilling
of blood as soldiers loyal to the New
Jewel Movement majority central committee
decisions arrived on the scene of the putsch.

The entire degenerate Trot and Eurocomm=«
unist CP 'left' in Britain has inevitably tried
to smear Bernard Coard as "criminally res-
ponsible" for the violence on Grenada, and
even for the US imperialist invasion (which
in fact was already on the way anyway, re-
gardless of the NJM leadership upheavals).
Shamefully for the Cuban Revolution, Fidel
Castro has lent his name to this reactionary
reformist gibberish, inspired by fear and
ignorance of Leninist theory on international

proletarian dictatorship. Castro, let it be
remembered, committed an equally-disas-

trous theoretical blunder by uncritically em-
bracing Allendeism, totally failing to warn
the Chilean working class not to trust All-
ende's fatal illusions in parliamentary dem-
ocracy,

Now these same anti-Coard vilifiers have
admitted from their own mouths that the so-
called "popular demonstration to "free the
head of the revolution™ (as they all descri-
bed it at the time, including Castro), was
in fact a very sinister rightwing stunt.

There can be no accident that this cruc-
ial "spontaneous" mob movement of “ord-



inary people" which appeared outside Bi-
shop's house without any announcement or
preparation should have contained right-
wing businessmen with no possible con-
nection to "ordinary working class support-
ers of Bishop's revolution".

It is painfully obvious that such counter-
revolutionary types would only have been
there, - and would only have been tolerat-
ed by these supposed "ordinary Bishop supp-
orters", -if this mob was nothing of the
sort but was solely a hired rightwing lumpen
gang, being used as a front to start a coun-
ter-revolution, spark off violence, and

use that as a pretext for "calling in" the US
invasion which was already on its way.

The anti-revolutionary anti-Coard cred-
entials of this Labourite delegation are im-
peccable. There can be no fear that they
or their evidence have been tampered with
by the 1ILWP or Bernard Coard.

The best advertisement of their reformist
soppiness is their failure in 14 pages of re-
port to once mention the fact that a Western
imperialist counter-revolution has wiped out
socialism on Grenada by brutal fascist-mil-
itary invasion.

Not having even recorded the enormous
historic significance of this blatant fascist
countar-revolution carried out in broad day-
light by the 'free' West, naturally these re-
formist supporters of the 'free' West cannot
possibly see their way to making the only
recommendation of any real use:~ namely
that the NJM revolutionary leadership should
get state power back as rapidly as possible.

These Labourite coverer-ups for 'free’
world counter-revolution refuse to even
touch the subject with a barge-pole, let
alone make a forthright recommendation
for the re -establishment of proletarian dict-
atorship on Grenada.

What they recommend, half-heartedly, is
aid projects to the co-ops, but with 'lefty’
doubts about "Do we want to support small
businesses which may not continue to be soc-
ialist in orientation? By giving financial su-
pport, will we unwittingly be propping up
and lending legitimacy to the present adm-

inistration?"
They resolve this agonising dilemma by

declaring: "The Maurice Bishop Memorial
Trust, if established, provides the best poss-
ibility for giving material support. ..which
promotes projects or welfare programmes. "

These Trot and reformist Black nationalist

Labourites want to worry about looking after
the poor and exploited in Sheffield and Isl-
ington first, never mind offering welfare
aid to revolutionary Grenada.

All the Grenadans need is to get the might
of Western NATO imperialism (loyally prop-
ped,( and invented), by the British Labour
Party when in office ), off their backs.

They were doing brilliantly with their own
socialist REVOLUTION, infinitely further
along the path of human achievement than
these class-collaborators from Sheffield and
Islington have ever dreamed of being.

What they need, above all, people in the
West and everywhere else to say, as loudly

as possible, is that Bishop's anti-Leninist

igmorance and opportunism (aided by the
Trot and Eurocommunist anti-communism,

and Castro's conservative anti-theoretical
innocence) compromised the Grenadan re-
volution, and that the 'free' world destroyed
it. And that Leninist proletarian dictatorship
should put the socialist revolution back in
power on Grenada again.

But these philistine British petty bourgeois
are still covering up for all those who cover
up for Allendeism. 1f Coard and the other
46 detained NJM leaders ever get out of
Richmond Hill prison torture alive, there is
a good chance that the Grenadan revolution-
ary leadership will add its voice for a deep-
ening of Leninist understanding throughout
the international socialist movement, incl-
uding inside the socialist camp itself.

12, February 23,1984
(Bulletin 228)

More confirmation of the ILWP's analysis
of the deposed Grenadan leader's counter-
revolutionary armed coup against the demo -
cratic majority of the New Jewel Movement
revolutionary leadership has come in caresp-
ondence fram a London worker whose boat
docked there from December 29 to January 5
this year.

The correspondent left Britain at the time
of the US invasion of Grenada last October.
His voyage kept him out of regular contact
with Britain, and he has no knowledge of the
ILWP's revolutionary line against Bishop's
betrayal (which is in sharp conflict with
Castro's non-Leninist confusion on this sub-
ject, and the anti-Leninist CIA-inspired ve-
nom of the Trots, Eurocommunists, and NCP
who all rushed to condemn the revolutionary
majority of the NJM central commiittee,
whitewashing Bishop's reactionary putsch
carried out with the aid of rightwing busin-
essmen hostile to the Grenadan revolution
and deliberately timed to provide a cover
for Reagan's invasion. See ILWP Books vol 6
and Bulletin 226).

After many discussions on the island "and
from what 1 have managed to obtain from
articles and minutes of meetings kept in the
local library.,.it was the Maurice Bishop
faction which were the 'split' from the NJM"
not the other way about as the anti-Leninist
'lefts' have been chorusing in Britain, and
elsewhere throughout the bourgeois West.

The minutes of a leadershi p meeting on
September 14,1983, reported that "the key
problem was the leadership style of Maurice
Bishop...He lacked the required level of
organisational discipline, ideological depth,
and character and ability to plan strategy a
and tactics. "

Leon James, Selwyn Strachan, Leon Corn-
wall, and others said Bishop was avoiding
responsibility for dealing with important iss-
ues and failed to give the required level of
guidance; that he was inhibiting the party's
ability to organise, and that as a result the
party was moving from crisis to crisis, and

that crises were becoming an everyday occ-
urrence.

Phyllis Coard said that Bishop "had been
told of his limitations on many occasions
but had failed to do anything about them",
Strachan concluded that "Bishop, while bri-
lliant (his charisma and confident style were
generally praised), did not have the ability
to push the revolution to its logical limits, "

Bishop thanked the meeting for its frank-
ness, saying: "In the past these issues have

not been raised sharply enough, perhaps for
diplomacy's sake, but this was not good. "
In the face of an overwhelming feeling

that he lacked the abilities needed to push
the revolution forward, Bishop agreed that
he had not provided adequate leadership.He
explained that one of his problems was und -
erstanding how a central committee politic-
al bureau should function (presumably in re-
lation to his duties as Prime Minister in the
official island govemment).

Bishop admitted that his 'consensus' appr-
oach had blunted the class struggle. He also
agreed that he had not maintained the same
relationship with the NJM cadres as in the
past. But he added that he had tried to ach-
ieve this, and that he had not been a fetter
on the revolution, as charged.

The meeting agreed at the insistence of
James Comwall, Ewart Layne among others,
that Bernard Coard be brought back into the
Central Committee (he had resigned earlier)
to provide more political theoretical under~
standing in a joint leadership with Bishop,
who as popular figurehead would still have
a huge leadership task to perform,

Bishop asked for more time to become cl-
earer on what was involved in such a prop-
osed change. He said that the criticisms re-
flected a lack of confidence in his leader-

ship, and that he was therefore faced with
a moral crisis, and he needed more time,
As the Bulletin has already fully documen-

ted, Bishop merely used his "more time" to
continue blatantly using his office as Prime
Minister to unilaterally repudiate NJM lea-

dership decisions which were totally bind-
ing on him. Eventually, to end these dang-
erous provocations, Bishop was removed
from office completely, and temporarily
placed under easy-going 'house arrest!, from
which the rightwing businessmen-led

mob released him to stage the armed putsch.

Subsequent docuenentary evidence amply
shows that "it is simply not true that Hudson
Auston took power in a military coup", the
comrespmdent continues.

'Maurice Bishop and Uniscn Whiteman who
had previously given assurances to the party
to resolve the crisis peacefully, attacked the
headquarters of the Ministry of Defence at
Fort Rupert, disarmed the PRA soldiers (rev-
olutionary army) and staff stationed there.
This move can only be seen as counter-rev -
olutionary, especially when Bishop states to
the PRA staff that they are quite safe but he
intends to form a new party and a new army.

"The NJM directed the motorised units of
the reserve force to intervene. They were
staticmed high up on the hilltop Fort Frederick



overlooking s St George's.

"By the time that the Fort Frederick cont~
ingent of the PRA reached St Georges, four
of their PRA comrades had been killed: -
Cadet Conrad Mayers, WO2 Raphael Mason,
Sgt Dorset Peters, and L/Cpl m Martin Simon,

It was obvious that drastic action was necess-
ary if the revolution was to be saved.

“A cwrfew was imposed by the PRA (led
by the central committee of the NJM) which
lasted until the US invasion. But during this
time the non-peaceful split caused by Mau-
rice Bishop and others had done its damage.
Bishop had so much popular following that
he had certainly been successful in turning
people against the NJM committee and esp-
ecially against the PRA

As a result "by the time of the US invasion,
the number of PRA soldiers had been signi-
ficantly reduced. Also the reserve force, the
people's militia had lost considerable
strength, " This was all as the result of the
enormous confusion caused by Bishop's split
and coup attempt.

As the Bulletin has already reported, Bi-
shop's men, on the night of the coup attempt,
succeeded in sending out international calls
*for assistance' to any who would intervene.

The US imperialist Nazi invasion force was
ready and waiting for the call. Its fascist
-military aggression took advantage of
the desertions from the PRA and militia eng-
ineered by Bishop.

13. March 15,1984
(Bulletin 231)

The latest bourgeois propaganda attempt
to justify US imperialism's fascist invasion
and crushing of the Grenadan socialist revol-
ution on the grounds that 'murdering extre-
mists' had 'usurped' power from the 'legiti-
mate' Maurice Bishop regime, - in fact pr-
oves that exactly the opposite happened.

Observer correspondent O'Shaughnessy's
book only confirms exactly the conclusion
reached by the ILWP at the time (see Octcb-
er and November Bulletins and summary in
ILWP Books vol 6), - that it was the sacked
prime minister Bishop who illegally and pro-
vocatively (almost certainly with outside
connivance) tried an armed putsch against

the legitimate leadership of the revolution-
ary movement's (NJM) central committee

majority, led by Bernard Coard, the deputy
prime minister, Finance Minister, and ack-
nowledged brains of the revolution.
O'Shaughnessy describes the CC meeting
of September 14, 1983, which after critic-
ism of Bishop's lack of leadership resolved
that "the way forward was a marrying of the
strengths of Comrade Bishop and Comrade
Coard....Coard should be given charge of
the organisation of the party, and the chair-
manship of the Organisation Committee"; the
development and formation of party progr-
amme, strategy and tactics, and control of
cadres; and chair the weekly meetings of

the Political Bureau,
These are the key power positions in every

workers state throughout the socialist camp.

"With nine of the CC's 15 members on
Coard's side, Bishop had little alternative
but to accept this division of powers," O'Sh-
aughnessy begrudges. But then he adde a
telltale admission, "But it was a conditional
acceptance, and he had still not formally
agreed when he flew off to Budapest" (on a
state visit 12 days later).

Bishop's truculent determination to use his
‘popularity’ as the highly-visible prime min-
isterial figurehead to wreck the disciplined
behaviour of the revolutionary leadership
was already obvious to his dismayed colleag-
ues. The row about Bishop's weak leadership
qualities and indiscipline had been simmering
for nearly a year. Not surprisingly, O'Shaugh-
nessy next notes that "The bleak reception
for the Prime Minister on his return was clear

evidence that matters had worsened for him, "
O'Shaughnessy then admits that on October

12, a security chief of the PRA (People's
Revolutionary Army) Major Keith Roberts

called his staff together "and told them that
there was a crisis in the party. The Prime
Minister, he said, was refusing to obey the
instructions of the Central Committee. They
like the rest of the armed forces in the service
of Grenada, had to take their orders from the
Central Committee alone and were to take
no more orders from Bishop., They were to
defend the working class as a whole and not

the life of any individual leader. "
Meetings of the politburo and the CC that

same day sacked a Bishop henchman, George
Louison, and instructed Bishop to make a ra-
dio broadcast denying rumours being spread
that Bishop was to be assassinated. O'Shaugh-
nessy fails to mention that the Bishop faction
was responsible for spreading those disruptive
rumours, a typical CIA trick. Nor does he
say why Louison was dismissed. Bishop was
placed under "house arrest' next morning,
O'Shaughnessy fails to explain the impossible
circumstances the minority Bishop faction
was deliberately creating by operating a
one-man revolt against the NJM majority
leadership.

His next admission concerns "General of
the Armed Forces Hudson Austin". "He had
a continuous record of service to the
New Jewel Movement. He had suffered his
share of beatings in the brutal days of the
island's first prime minister, the eccentric
(to say the least) Sir Eric Gairy, and he had
taken the chief role in the heroic events
that brought Bishop to power in 1979. He had
played a crucial part in building up the Pe-
ople's Revolutionary Army. Though he had
become known as a Bishop supporter, he was
now deciding to align himself with the ma-
jority in the Central Committee. "

O'Shaughnessy avoids saying that Gairy,
now restored to the island by the US imper-

ialist invaders, is an out-and-out fascist
monster, totally mad (he believes he is

in communication with UFOs and made a
speech on this to the United Nations), and
murderously brutal, holding down the island
through tortwre and concentration camps. He
also incorrectly describes "Bishop" as having
been brought to power in 1979 instead of the

New Jewel Movement revolution,

In addition, O'Shaughnessy slyly tries to
imply that Austin was being deceitful or op-
portunist in accepting the authority of the
NJM majority under Coard. Nothing of the
sort. It is the obvious principled duty of any
revolutionary socialist to abide by majority
party decisions, or else to resign from the
party publicly, and resign all public offices
held because of party position, - and try to

win the argument from below,

Interspersed with a flood of cheap lies and
CIA -type scare-hysteria about Coard, O'Sh-
aughnessy next admits that the demonstrat-
ions against Bishop's sacking were mostly by
Catholic high-school children, - privileged
kids of the reactionary bourgeoisie, - who
were stunted up by their reactionary Catholic
teachers and other religious denominations.

"Schoolchildren, encouraged perhaps by
teachers, most of whom were firmly anti-
Coard, paraded through St George's. Hearing
this, schoolchildren at Hillsborough on Gren-
ada's sister island Carriacou, turned out to
protest. . . The sporadic protests by schoolch-
ildren in various parts of the main island and
on Carriacou grew in intensity....Some were
dancing and shouting slogans against Coard
and calling "We want Mawice Bishop". Oth-
ers were carrying rough placards reading
"We don't want Communism®", , *C for Coard,
C for Communisnf*".

O'Shaughnessy mentions these anti-comm-
unist privileged highschool kids out in Gren-
ville, but fails to point out that Grenville is
a bourgeois enclave from which one prom-
inent businessman (see Bulletin 226), a bel-
ligerent counter-revolutionary, was in the
"Free Bishop" mob which started the att-
empted rightwing coup, and who has since
launched a petition for Grenada to become
the Slst state of the USA, He also fails to
point out that the anti-communist slogans
obviously had nothing whatever to do with
internal disputes within the communist NJM,
but were obviously merely using the Bishop
sacking as an excuse for a counter-revolut-
ionary disturbance.

Even more deceitfully and treacherously,
OfShaughnessy makes no mention whatever
of the well-known and well-documented
non-stop attempts by the CIA ever since the
1979 communist revolution to provoke some
internal disturbances inside Grenada in order
to justify armed intervention from outside
by the waiting US imperialist Rapid Deploy-
ment Forces. He also omits the cruc-
ial fact that the RDF was already mobilised
and waiting just off Grenada as these react-
jonary highschool students demonstrations
tried to deliberately create the impression
of breakdown and disorder on Grenada around
the Bishop dismissal. In other words, O'Sh-
aughnessy consciously ignores the obvious
implication that the High School reaction-
aries were acting in concert with the CIA, -
and the further clear implication that Bish-
op himself eventually let himself be used
too for the same reactionary purposes, out of
his bitterness and indisciplined opportunist



ambition.
O'Shaughnessy's admissions go on: "The
demonstration put the schoolchildren of the
capital into a ferment. The chief hotbed of
pro -Bishop sentiment was the Girls Anglican
High School. Shortly after 9a.m. on Wed-

nesday (October 19) emissaries were going
out from the High School to Presentation

College and St Joseph's Convent high up on
Cemetery Hill, behind the Catholic cath-
edral of St George's, and across the road
to the capital's biggest school, the Grenada
Boys Secondary School."

O'Shaughnessy describes, favourably, how
this middle class religious reaction tried to
impose mob rule and disorder on Grenada
by creating a disturbance at Bishop's place
of "house arrest”. (The capitalist press does
not show the same enthusiasm for mass mi-
ners demonstrations in Britain.)

He also retells an outright falsehood that
Bishop was tied up in his house. Not true.
Bishop was under easy "house arrest”, and not
imprisoned or confined in any way. This
lie is possibly slipped in to try to explain
away the extraordinary physical behaviour
of Bishop at the head of the middle class
mob which released him, consistent with
him being completely drunk a high on dope.

"Bishop's eyes were deeply sunken, " O'Sh-
aughn essy relates. "The crisis had taken its
tdl o his faculties and powers of concentr-
ation. He staggered for a moment until he
was caught and supported; he seemed to
have lost the power of command and inci-
siveness that marked him out in earlier days
... Bishop first opted for oned the trucks
which looked like the most suitable vehicle

for a triumphal descent on St George's.
Then he changed his mind and decided to

go in one of the waiting cars. Then he de~
cided to go back to a lorry once again; fi-
nally settling for good on a car, "

The putschists went straight to the main
armouwry in Fort Rupert.

"Wearily and confusedly he indicated that
the first priority must be to get within the

walls of the fort proper, The small PRA ga-
rrison was nonplussed. .. Seeing the crowds
and seeing that some of the Bishop support-
ers were armed, the troops opted for the se-
cond course (not to start shooting), though
one woman soldier had to be thrown to the
ground before she would give up her AK 47,
As the way lay open, Bishop moved across
into the PRA operations room, "

Why? O'Shaughnessy refuses consistently
to spell out exactly what the rightwing Bi-
shop mob is doing:- deliberately inflicting
violent conflict on otherwise peaceful Gre -
nada. And he lies that just one woman sol-
dier was thrown to the ground. Four PRA
men were butchered by the reactionary con-
spirators - - Cadet Conrad Mayers, WO2
Raphael Mason, Sgt Dorset Peters, and
L/Cpl Martin Simon, - - in the initial steps
towards seizing power.

O'Shaughnessy also deliberately conceals
the fact that the Bishop plotters rang round
all the military officers they thought might
be persuaded to join the coup, and then, -
most reacherously of all, - sent out intern~
ational telex messages calling for "outside
suppat" for the Bishop cause, - an open in-
vitation for the bogus 'East Carribbean int-
ervention' which was the guise for the RDF
5 imperialist-fascist blitzkrieg. Thus not
only was Bishop's treacheraus indiscipline
responsible for the immediate coup-attempt
bloodshed, but also for the far vaster mass-
acres and butchery inflicted by the US im-
perialist air force, navy, marines, and pa-
ratroops, which caused a death toll of many

hundreds.
Continuing the description of Bishop's in-

disciplined, murderous, and possibly drun-
ken revolt, O'Shaughnessy continues: "The
prime minister nodded absently. Grasping
fa coherence, Bishop told Thomas (an imm-
igration officer henchman) to take a vehicle

and some men and collect the weapons kept
at the immigration department on the Car-
enage quay. Thomas dashed off, returning
within quarter of an hour with automatic
rifles and light machine guns, By that time
the PRA chief of staff, who was Bishop's
only supporter in the army command, had
appeared, having broken out of the house
arrest. Bishop told him to get to the fort's
armouries and start giving out weapons to
the crowd."

O'Shaughnessy continues describing the
reactionary plotter as "prime minister" al-
though he had properly and officially been
sacked by the revolutionary NJM leadership
from that post. He also writes about "Bish-
op's Grenada was around him", deliberately
hiding the fact that just a tiny rightwing
coup was raised, which was very quickly
snuffed out by a PRA unit.

This capitalist press/CIA disinformation
book avoids the obvious questions and con-
clusions about why it took only 10 minutes
to rout this "popular mass movement" des-
pite it having been well-armed by O'Shau-
ghnessy's own admissions; and why Bishop
bhad mly one single supporter in the entire

army command, and little more in the CC,
But sick CIA propaganda inventions about

schoolboys being made to carry parcel bombs
by the PRA(to blow themselves and the
crowd up)cannot cover up the obvious facts.
Bishop was ina party minority who tumed
to the despised and overthrown rightwing
counter-revolutionary bourgeoisie for a vic-
ious armed provocation and stunt against
the Grenadan socialist revolution, opening

the door to the US imperialist-fascist inv-
asion. These tragic facts are now beyond di-

spute. It puts Castro's hotheaded and shallow
hysteria about the Coard NJM majority being
'Pol Pots, murderers, and betrayers of the re-
volution' in a very poor light. These remarks
should be repudiated by the entire world re-
volutionary movement.

I

to remove him as leader (and pr-
ime minister),

14. April 12,1984
(Bulletin 235)

ate about the treacherous role pl-

the Grenada revolution in the back.

The Castro leadership, which has
capitulated to the Washington pro-
paganda hysteria against the Coard-
Austin faction in the New Jewel
Movement (whose "crimes" were
alleged to have "justified" the US
imperialist-fascist counter-revolu-
tion which wiped out the socialist
system on Grenada), has just made
one admission.

Although still not retracting its
stupid and outrageous characteris-
ation of Coard and Austin as "Pol
Pot CIA agents for imperialism",
Cuba's 'Granma' newspaper has in
passing confirmed partially some
of the criticism of Bishop which
finally forced the NJM majority

rators.

close ties with the government of
ayed by Maurice Bishop in stabbing p ;. Gairy, "
“"From 1979 a, there occurred a

series of suspicious incidents invo-
lving the medical school, but the
Bishop government, unwisely as it
turned out, opted to allow the sch-
ool to remain. This was perhaps a New Jewel Movement that took pl-
fatal mistake of the Bishop govern-ace after July, Bishop proposed
ment; the school's presence gave that the party take a more moder-
perfect cover to intelligence offi- ate stance towards the West. The
cers (i.e, CIA) who had ample

not tone down his anti-US rhetor- adan revolution, - and towards

it wrote.

ations."

ic, Grenada could lose the school

"The St G 's Medi -and its foreign exchange earnings. orious trip to Washington
e St George's Medical School So much for the private nature of

was established in 1977 by Charles

: : the institution. And four months
C - . . .
Evidence continues to accumul Modica and formed ediate and

later, of course, the school bec~
-ame the excuse for the invasion."

The rightwing American maga -

zine Time's reconstruction of the
counter-revolution confirmed:

"According to a series of mostly
handwritten minutes of the Central
Committee meetings of Grenada's

the end had made his not-

to prepare the way for even
greater capitulations,

It was at this point, after his
repeated refusals to accept the
autharity of the Central Committ-
ee majority which by now was
consistently against his line, that
the NJM leadership voted over-
whelmingly to double Bishop as
leader with Bernard Coard.

Bishop was put under easy-going
"house arrest” solely to prevent him
making trouble for the Grenadan
revolutiomry regime as an emb-

idea was rejected. Warned one un- jitered but ousted leading figure
time to recruit their local collabo identified participant: 'If the rev- o the island.
olution is turmed back now, it has
"In an analysis published on Nov - regional and international implic- gid not take firmer action against
enber 23, 1983, the Washington
Post stated that during a meeting
with then National Security Advi- Bishop had been taking a much-
ser William Clark in June 1983,
Bishop was informed that if he did

The NJM tragedy was that they

Bishop in the first place, having

Once again, the proof is plain. deposed him legally.

Because of their illusions that

criticised rightwing line through- Bishop would eventually accept
-out the whole course of the Gren- regponsibly the fact that the NJM

19



ators, however, were used and do- ks gave the remotest hint of ery participant was covered in
ublecrossed by the Reagan admin- 'support® for the Kerensky regime, medals, including the filing cl-
istration. " (of Allende-type 'revolutionary' erks in the Pentagon) shows how
Grenadan revolution), Bishop was These outrageous idiocies are a compromisers and class collabor- raw America's nerves now are in
allowed to intrigue with his clos- disgrace to the world socialist rev- ators). Tragically, Moscow fell  attempting their role of world ge-
est cronies and stage the rightwing o lutionary movement, and should into the same idiotic trap as Cuba ndarmef{which is vital if capital-
mob violence which 'freed® him be publicly condemned by all in  on the Allende question, hopeless- ist exploitation is to survive any-
from house arrest, sent out calls order to try to bring the Castro le- ly abandoning Leninism. where on the planet.)

for international intervention ag- adership back to its senses immed- If Moscow has avoided falling Even then, despite the massive
ainst Grenada (i.e. the US-run iately on this question. into the same pitfall as Castro on ©verkill of the US fascist-invas-
invasion), and seized the armoury The NJM revolutionary majority the Grenada question and Bishop's ion force (and the puniness of the

ma jority no longer wanted him as
party leader (and therefore as pr-
ime-minister figurehead of the

at Fort Rupert, handing out the
wepons ready for a complete --
and illegal -- seizure of power,

were all leftwing socialists of very class-collaborating vacillations,

opposition of a few hundred Cub-

long standing, having mostly fou- the most important thing would be 37 airport construction workers

ght all their lives against British

for Moscow to declare this public- Plus handfuls of Grenadans soldi-

backed by mostly rightwing high- and world imperialism and against ly, and help give some leadership €T and militia who had not been

school and business~community
forces. (See ILWP Books vol 6).

the Gairy US-backed fascist dicta-to confused international proletar-

torship for the liberation of their

ian opinion on this crucial revolut-

Bishop's criminal negligence to- country. They have not the remot- ionary problem.
wards the suspicious American me- o5 connection to profession al fas- Without revolutionary theory,

disoriented by Maurice Bishop's
treacherous armed putsch and re-
volt against the legitimate New
Jewel Movement majority leader-

dical school, - allowing it to stay ;o military careerists in bourgeoisthere can be no successful revolut - ship), - Grenada was nearly yet

open to become a centre for CIA
spies and the final "excuse" for
Reagan's fascist invasion, - was
on a par with another dangerous

cised by the NJM revolutionary ma- ada, - backed by the entire world fore, it would be fatally com-
pounding its earlier mistakes to

Chile. The hatred that has been

whipped up against Bernard Coard, vital lessons of Leninism to be le-
still being whipped up by arned from the Grenada tragedy

and is

another disaster for the USA.
A State Department official

told Time magazine: "Grenada

came too close to our worst-

ionary practice. There are some

the CIA psychological warfare inv-(and the Allende farce). If Moscow case scenario. The top brass can
compromise, - also bitterly criti- 35 jon-occupation force on Gren- by now knows better than it did be- see how hard it would be to do

Jority, - in leaving the British im- capitalist press propaganda (and

perialist governor Sir Paul Scoon
in office.

sadly by the Cuban leadership), -
is unmistakable proof of Coard's

on a bigger scale. "
Which reveals what a further

keep silent now on cormrect revolu- massive mistake the Castro lead-
tionary understanding just to spare ership made (on top of its crim-

"He will be no trouble, " Bishop revolutionary sincerity. The facts the blushes of some badly mistak~ inal slanders against the Coard~

assured his doubting colleagues, - also show that he demonstrated far €n judgments in Havana,

and regularly played tennis at the
weekends at the Governor's luxur-
ious residence. Coard's warnings
were again arbitrarily over-ruled

by the 'figurehead' Bishop, And
Scoon it was, the 'harmless! Brit-

ish imperialist relic, who 'legiti-
mised' Reagan's fascist counter-
revolution.

But despite the now overwhelm-
ing evidence of the determined
and principled revolutionary line
throughout by the Coard-Austin
majority NJM faction, - and de-
spite the unanswerable proof that
Bishop staged an illegal putsch
(with rightwing reactionary help)
against his legal removal as lead-
er of the NJM, ~—still the Cuban
leadership is repeating its crimin-
ally stupid accusations against the
NJM revolutionaries that they we~
re really rightwing agents of the

CIA, likening them to the fascist
military stooges o Washington po-

licy who took power in Chile (led
by Pinochet.)

"In the case of Chile, " writes
Granma, "the country's military

sounder judgment of correct revol-
utionary policy than Bishop.
These foul slanders against the

Coard -Austin NJM majaity are a
tragic stain on Cuba's own heroic

revolutionary record, All true fri-
ends of Cuba will tell them so im-
mediately.

What is more, the suspicions are
mounting continuously (see the
above new evidence plus the facts
anmassed in ILWP Books vol 6 and
subsequent articles in the ILWP Bu-
lletin) that Bishop it was who had
been contaminated with bourgeois-
opportunist ideas to the point wh-
ere he became the unwitting, or
even the conscious, tool of count-
er-revolutionary treachery on Gr-
enada.

The shameful above comparison
(of the NJM correct majority) to
Chilean military-fascism also in-
cidentally perpetrates another of
Castro's tragic political misjudg-
ments, - his reformist-centrist su-
pport of the class-compromising

Allende regime in Chile which op- ey -power and fire -power must

ened the door to fascism in 1973

was used by US intelligence before and which should have been refu-

and during the overthrow of Salv-
ador Allende. In Grenada such

backing may have been the expec-

tation of at least some of the me-
mbers of the Revolutionary Milit-

sed support and approval by all
Leninists, The military coups sh-
ould have been opposed, - as Kor-
nilov was by the Bolsheviks in Au-
gust 1917, But no 'support’ at all

ary Council which plotted the coup should have been given to the tr-
against Maurice Bishop, leading to eacherous Allende hangman's re-

his brutal death. Those collabor-

gime, no more than the Bolshevi-

Austin NJM majority - see ILWP
Books vol 6 and numerous past
15. April 12 ! 1984 i:tu:: ;znisn’ga::es:c::oftiln)i’ty-t:n de
(Bulletln 235) liver a further massive blow to
The latest stunning foreign pol- world imperialism by letting the
icy disaster for Reagan over the legitimate Coard-Austin govern-
mining of Nicaragua's ports thr- ment have some military support
ows new light on how enormous against the invasion when it was
a blow against US imperialism  requested; and further in foolish-
was struck by the Indo-China ly ordering its own construction
communist revolution and natio- workers only to fire on the fasc-
nal liberation struggle.
The heroic guerrilla war in Vi-
etnam, Laos, and Kampuchea,

ist invaders if fired upon first,

It betrays crass illusions and a
total misunderstanding of Lenin's
led by the Vietnamese commun- tactics of peaceful coexistence
ist party, so shattered the Amer- with imperialism to make the im-
ican bourgeoisie's confidence by plicit assumption (in that Castro
wiping the floor with the great- order) that the fascist invaders
est expeditionary war forces ever might possibly not fire on the Cu-
bans, (thus allowing Castro to st-
ay out of a fight he did not see
ure now rule Washington. as Cuba's because of his incorr-

The pctential for vicious fascist- ect and sectarian attitude to the
military aggression by the USA  Coard-Austin majority faction).
still remains great, and the dan- They were inevitably brutally
ger of American imperialist int- attacked, - and nearly 100 of
erference, backed by huge mon- them were butchered. But they
caused the fascist invaders huge
never be underestimated, - as Problems, - and could have cau-
the Grenadan revolution has just sed them far more problems, -
bitterly learned, and as the Chil- possibly serious problems, - if
ean centrist chaos under Allende they had been allowed to shoot
leamed before that, overthrown up the paratroops and helicopters
by a CIA -fascist plot, as they first tried landing near

Washington's enormous and co- the Point Salines airport, instead
mical relief at not bungling the of letting the invaders get dug
subjugation of the tiny nascent in, and loaded, and killing Cub-
Grenadan socialist revolution (ev- ans before beginning the fight

assembled by US imperialism, -
that newrotic paralysis and fail-



back.

And if some military assistan-
ce had been sent to Grenada, the
island's own forces could have
been completely organised, and
a hugely damaging battle, - pos-
sibly a fatal one, - could have
been inflicted on the invaders.

Castro and the Cuban revolution
would thereby have inflicted a
third towering blow against US &
world imperialism following the
revolutionary overthrow of Batista,
the routing of the CIA invaders at
the Bay of Pigs, and the general
thorn in Washington's side these
triumphant revolutionary examp-~
les have continually meant, ~
particularly in Latin America.

As it is, the invincibility of
Cuba, the Bay of Pigs, and the
spirited resistance at Point Sal-
ines have been part of a contin-

uity helping to remind US imp-
erialism (as the State Departme-
nt quote reveals) of the devastat-
ing shock to the cocky capitalist
system that a material defeat al-
ways represents.

Although the bourgeoisie lives
by bullshit, it is essentially pra-
gmatic, All the Reagan hot air
and bluster in the world will not
wipe away the trauma of the thr-
ashing which the might of US im-
perialism received in the jungles

of Vietnam.
For ever afterwards, hencefor-

th, the ghost of that unpreceden-
ted defeat will haunt the Ameri-
can ruling class (and the rest of
the international imperialist bou-
rgeoisie) every time a new conf-
lict emerges, - and especially
where a spirited fight is put up
and there is the danger of anoth-
er shameful Western setback.

The Grenada fascist-invasion
atrocity was just small enough to
be got away with among the hyp-
ocritical cowards of the "free"

world bourgeoisie. But Nicaragua
looks like becoming a much me-
ssier and more dangerous affair.
International bourgeois opinion
has quickly decided that it has
become squeamish again.

The crystal clear lesson is: the
more the imperialists are kicked
(blasted out of the Lebanon, for
instance), the more quickly they
decide that perhaps there is som-
ething in peaceful coexistence
after all. Provocations forcing
imperialism to fight unnecessar-
ily must obviously be avoided,
But by not giving a firm rebuff to
clear imperialist aggression whe -
never it occurs, only greater da-

capitalist-colonial domination of revolution, (See ILWP Books vol 3)
the planet. Agitating for a much-needed

All 57 varieties of Trot and Eu- Tetwrn to Leninism in the Polish
rocommunist petty bourgeois ‘re- workers state, asthe ILWP has
volutionaries', from the Sparts to consistently done, not only does
the 'Leninist, start their politics  not interfere with urging the most
not from this reality but from an immediate and ruthless defence
idea in their heads of 'perfect re- of the Polish workers State when
volution'. . threatened by Western-inspired

Even the few brands of this mid- and financed counter-revolution;
dle class idealism which pretend - it proved to be the only reliable
to be 'pro-Soviet' instead o guarantee o such political supp-
Trotskyism and Eurocommunism 'anti-Soviet!, - (such as the RCG, ort. Several middle-class fake
offer for refusing to unite behind SParts, 'Leninist} Straight Left, etc) 'revolutionary' groups (RCG, Sp-
the world socialist camp in criti- 7€ 1o reality trapped in the same arts, Leninist, etc) limped along
cal support, -all boil down to th- bourgeois philosophical swamp as months later to change their tune
eir hatred of the dictatorship of e rest of the 57 varieties. on Solidarnosc and finally agree
the proletariat, The essence of their defeatist it was a counter-revolution after

Endlessly listing the faults and treachery to the world socialist  all (!). But their initial silence
mistakes to be found in the dev- ¢amp is their ill-concealed refus- over the CIA-Vatican reaction-
elopment of the workers states 2l to give UNCONDITIONAL sol- ary stunt (RCG); or their delighted
since 1917 cannot hide the class idarity to the ruling regimes in  support for it (Sparts); or their de~
chasm between Marxism -Leninism the workers states in the sense of 1,r41i5ed carping and hatred for
and the petty-bourgeois leader- 8iving unconditional solidarity t0 pg)and's proletarian dictatorship
ship of the British Labour move- the continuation of the dictator- (1epinist) when what was desper-
ment on this point of proletarian Ship of the proletariat(led by the i}y needed was vigorous intern-
dictatorship. party) in those states. ational support for it; - - all of

The outstandingly prominent Correct criticism of all the this initial dithering would by
feature of all Lenin's polemics = Past and continuing mistakes then have led to tens of thousands
after 1917 was demonstrating the made by the Soviet Union (and of Polish communists being hang-
impossibility of overthrowing and theother workers states) since 1917 ed from lamp posts, but for the
destroying the capitalist state wi- remains crucial, and the ILWP's firmer elements of proletarian
thout a ruthless proletarian dict- Uncompromising exposure of the  gjctatorship in Poland and in the
atorship, going so far as to decl- retreats from Leninism in the soc- gocialist camp as a whole. And
ialist states' policies (see in par- jf the Polish workers state had
ticular ILWP Books vols 3, 4, and been overthrown in chaos, Reag-
6) will prove to be the most far- an might just have found the Jus-
reaching, and the only effective gfication he yearns for to launch

polemic, helping to return the  the nuclear holocaust.
world movement eventually to Such 'mistakes' as these late-

consistent revolutionary Marxism- developing petty-bourgeois 'cri-
the recognition of the DICTAT- Leninism, tics' of Solidarnosc now all claim
ORSHIP OF THE PROLETARIAT. But establishing the only poss- they made (or mostly cover-up
This is what constitutes the most ible scientific (Marxist-Leninist) that they made, such is their dis-
profound distinction between the world outlook on unconditional  honesty such as the Sparts), - are
Marxist and the ordinary petty  Solidarity with the continuity of ~not 'mistakes’ at all, of course.
bourgeois. This is the touchstone %ate power in the socialist camp  No one can be 'mistaken’ on
on which the real understanding 15 in 00 way contradicted by the such fundamental class questions.
and recognition of Marxism shou- WOt Outspoken criticism of the Their initial opportunist retreat
1d be tested." (State and Revol- Tuling regimes'policies. from unf:onditional solidarity with
ution, September 1917). Just the opposite. The one is  the Polish v./vorkers state as a result

In defeating the counter-revol- ©nly correct or effective given ?f the hun'lcane-force' propaganda
ution in the long bloody civil the other, In the Wes.t a}aout Solidamosc's
war and war of intervention aga-  Fof example, the ILWP alone bogus ‘socialism -with'-a-human-
inst the young Soviet state, Len- denounced Castro's disastrous, face, mass character’ was the e’."
in vigorously imposed Bolshevik- COnflISEd, and un-Leninist retreat pression .Of their_fe_al class position
led working -class dictatorship ag- from giving full backing to the ~©n the dictatorship of the proletar-
ainst all who opposed the author- Coard-Austin revolutionary wing iat, and on th-e whole history of
ity of the revolutionary workers, of the New Jewd Movement after the Soviet Union and the workers
including the bogus 'Marxists' it had defeated the ousted Maur- States.
and middle-class 'revolutimnar- ice Bishop's reactionary coup att- These middle class 'left’ frauds
ies! - the Mensheviks and SRs. anpt. (See ILWP Books vol 6). do not believe for one minute

The last 67 years of the Cold But equally it was the ILWP al- that 1917 and the successful def-
War between East and West, the one which from the very begin- ence and expansion since then of
great historical phenomenon of ~ nings of Solidarnosc called for ~ a whole world system of proletar-
the 20th century, - is the irrefut- the reimposition of the dictatorsh-ian dictatorship, - is really what
able proof of proletarian dictator- ip of the proletariat in Poland to Marx explained must become the
ship's epoch-making achievem- Wwipe out that reactionary Cathol- beginnings of the 'real’ history of
ic and capitalist-peasant counter- mankind. At every counter-revol-

nger of conflict is created. The
vital basis for Lenin's peaceful
coexistence tactic was to be pre-
pared to fight imperialism with
everything, immediately it bec-
ane necessary and practicable,to
deter its aggressiveness.

16. May 31,1984

(Bulletin 242)

The excuses all 57 varieties of

are: "To confine Marxism to the

theory of the class struggle means
curtailing Marxism, distorting it,
reducing it to something accept-

able to the bourgeoisie. Only he

is a Marxist who extends the rec-
ognition of the class struggle to

ent in challenging imperialism's



utionary provocative bourgeois o5t difficult wars, etc, started
stunt exploded by the West agai- off 3 stampede among the 57 var-
nst the socialist camp (Berlin ieties to suddenly (unexplained)
1953, Hungary 1956, Prague 1968, 1epard Cuba as the'real' world
Afghanistan 1979, Poland 1980,  reyolution while still writing off
etc) these fake 'Marxxstst OPPOT™ the Soviet socialist camp (of wh-
tunistically scuttle back into the ich Castro was a key part) as still

P by th
anti-Soviet camp, roufed yt € being 'Stalinist counter-revolut-
weight of Western public opinion ion!

(with an occasional exception).
All such bogus 'pro-Soviet' gr-

oups are smart enough to avoid

the more crass Trot and Euroco-~

But when Castro himself made
one of the worst-ever 'counter-
revolutionary’ mistakes in his tr-
mmunist petty bourgeois diatri- eacherous repudiation of the Coa-
bes against the workers states of Td-Austin revolutionary new lead-
proletarian dictatorship (as "hav- ership of the New Jewel Movem-
ing nothing to do with socialism") ent, (replacing the compromising
because they can see the imposs- muddlehead Mauwrice Bishop (who
ible anti-Marxist contradictions ﬂ’ie“ immediately lt““‘ed to ﬁg*‘;

ot into by joke 'alternative' ex- Wing counter-revolutionary.putsc
ilanatio:sy f:: the socialist camp's disruption with the aid of the Gr-
power and durability (such as the enadan bourgeoisie and outside
lunatic notion of a new 'ruling anti-communist forces),)- Ehese
caste' which is not based on any anti-Marxist varleties camied

s '
property or production relations). right on backing Castro's own

So they opportunistically adapt 'Stalinism'.
like mad to the_reality of the For the Communist Party, NCP,

socialist camp's irrefutably pow- Straight Left, etc, this was noth-
erful development and colossal ing new, merely repeating their
influence on the growing Thid  long-ago leamed opportunist con-
World socialist revolution and formity to the 'big party'. The
national liberation struggle. farce for the Trot hordes in the
But deep down in their little 57 varieties was that having made

petty bourgeois soul s, these fak- one unprincipled adaptation to
' -
ers remain as unha ppy about the Castro's success and world popu

dictatorship of the proletariat as larity, they were now pr esex?ted
s es with a genuine 'Stalinist' mistake
any middle class philistine; and by Cub b Ally backed it
as defeatist and cynical about y Cuba, - but totally backed
. . instead of denouncing it, and all
really defeating imperialist war- T
sops because of CIA capitalist press
mongering,and establishing a so- e B
cialist world of peace and plenty, propaganda d?nouncmg X roard
as Western public opinion in ge- Coard (to justify Reagan's fascist
neral invasion of Grenada).
In other words, they are sick This light minded opportunist
and sceptical about real social- retreat from a scientific Lenin-
ism, and eke out a vaguely un-  ist assessment of the intemation-
comfortable perch within the re- al balance of class forces (Coard
formist labour movement, motiv- will be vindicated eventually,
ated by only a thinly -disguised and Castro rebuked for his shal-
dream of ‘ideal’ socialist revolu- low philistine subjectivism on
tion (slightly adapted to accom- staying blind to Bishop's reaction-
modate a passing gesture at acc- ary coup attempt), - is insepara-
epting Soviet reality), - not re- ble from the swamp's permanent
ally different from all the other Trot and Eurocommunist failure
57 varieties of ivory-tower, arm- tO grasp the nature of socialist

chair-socialist renegades. change.
Their hypocrisy and humbug Human nature does not change

over Castro is even more nausea- overnight. In some instances in
ting, First, to this entire multi~ the 67 years experience of strug-
form breed, he was just a 'Stal- gling to build up strong and suc-
inist hack' for backing the repr- cogsfu] workers states since 1917,
ession of the 'Prague spring' (in  jt has shown no signs of changing
reality the counter-revolution). a¢ a]l in several generations (ov-
Then the undoubted triumph of er wide areas of Poland, for ex-
the Cuban socialist revolution, ange).
plus Castro's remarkable world - The same widespread wretched
wide popularity with the national backwardness among some sect-
liberation struggle and Cuba's in- jons of British workers today (the
" spiring and brave material and  rightwing coalfield scabs, anti-
armed support for many of their  Irish ignorance, endemic racial-

ism, anti-Soviet backwardness,
etc) will be present the day after
the socialist revolution. Even
more important, the putrid phil-
istine hypocrisy of the British
petty bourgeoisie will remain al-
most totally intact the day after

the socialist revolution, - and it
will all take several generations

to wear away and be replaced by
a more objective scientific Mar-
xist-Leninist outlook. But the di-
sciplined development of a pla-
nned socialist economy to make
such transformations in human
nature possible will posssibly be
as long and slow and stubborn a
struggle (if imperialism survives
for a while longer, in the USA
for example) - as it has proved
to be in East Europe.

For anyone with the remotest
familiarity with Marxism-Lenin-
ism (and with the Soviet Union,
assessing things another way), th-
ere is not only nothing startling
about such a perspective, but on
the contrary, everything right
and reassuring with it, In the
real world, socialism, -and then
communism, - will be built by
a constant raising of general stan-
dards of responsibility, maturity,
and intelligence, But it will be
a long slow struggle, and the wi-
thering away of the state will in
fact be identical with a phenom-
enal leap inawareness of scientif-
ic objectivity and personal resp-
onsibility, And all of this could
only flow initially out of a very
disciplined class political strugg-
le, both before and especially
after the revolution.

It is the petty -bowrgeois swa-
mp's hostility to Marx's philoso-
phical grasp of freedom as being
the recognition of necessity in
law-governed society, nature,
and the universe, - that keeps
the 57 varieties so hostile to the

dictatorship of the proletariat,
Life will pass these wams by.

The British revolution will have
its own very specific character.
But it will be based on the dicta-
torship of the proletariat or not
at all, As Thatcher and the cap-
italist police-state are now dem-
onstrating, the bourgeoisie are
not giving up the Parliamentary
capitalist stlump without a fight,
especially the Labour Party. Th-
ae counter-revolutionary traitors
(every last paid-up member)
will fight to keep the working
class from joining the internatio-
nal camp of proletarian dictator-
ship as long as they have breath

in their bodies.
A mass revolutionary party will

be built in Britain, and the Len-
inist ILIWP will be at its core.All

rationalised excuse-retreats ab-
out 'starting with a bigger party'
etc, are specious demagogy.

Correct political struggle can
start nowhere else than with cor-
rect understanding and the oppor-
tunity to demonstrate the correct-
ness of this understanding in ind-
ependent political leadership.

It is useless to be correct in
one's personal world view but to

be locked inside a 'bigger party'
which insists on a2 completely dif-
ferent (and incorrect) political
analysis and programme being
put out.

The working class will only see
the anti-revolutionary political
line of the 'bigger party’, not the
privately -held un-campaigned-
for reservations of an individual
'leader’. It will have contempt
for the spineless dissembling of
such 'moles* whether inside the
Labour Party, the Communist Pa-
rty, or anywhere else. And it wo-
uld never dream of trusting any
'leadership' which admits to ped-
dling political garbage most of
the time but then suddenly ann-

ounces "Now we'll tell you what
we really believe",

At the same time, such claimed
‘privately-held, un-campaigned-
for reservations' can only be ill-
digested bits and pieces, and in-
substantial drivel.

A fully-fledged world view can
only be warked out by a political
party, and Marx and Engels's ea-
rly Communist Manifesto work
with the Communist League was
no exception. Only by being for-
ced (by the demands of leadersh-
ip) to struggle publicly (in front of
the whole class, in effect) to pr-
ovide a correct analysis of, and
guide to, complex historical deve-
lopments in the class struggle;
and bearing the harsh and relent-
less discipline of being proved ri~
ght or wrong about their outcome
(and therefore capable or incapa-
ble of giving leadership) can the
fight for understanding bear fruit,
winning the confidence of work-
ers, and thus expanding the pract-

ical basis for still wider e labora-
tion of theory.

Theory cannot be turned into
practice and therefore back into
even mae accurate theory (and
so on) inside 'privately-reserved'
heads inside the 'bigger party',
not even when it is on the scale






Leninist conclusions over Grenada

tragedy are still being avoided

Widespread republication &
comment on Castro's inter-
view with US politicians Dy-
mally & Elliot can only wor-
gen the bitterness & confus~
ion over the socialist camps
feebleness in passively wat-
ching Reagan's fascist blit-
zkrieg wipe out socialist
construction on the former
British West Indian colony.

Savage new accusations ag-
ainet Bernard Coard,the lea-
der of the majority grouping
in the New Jewel Movement,
8till conflict glaringly wi-
th known facts,conflict even
more glaringly with newly
available material evidence
on the revolution's difficu-
lties,still fail to offer a
remotely responeible scient-
ific Leninist analysis of
the NJM's growing pains,and
worst of all flatly contrad-
ict different positions ta~-
ken by Havana at the time.

In addition,the suspicion
must now be raised after
such astonishing,lengthy,and
stubborn obtuseness on this
whole subject by Bavana that
the Cubans,far from being
'totally uninvolved' in the

NJM conflict as they keep on
curiously protesting so lou-
dly,-were in fact very heav-
ily & partially backing Mau-
rice Bishop,~despite Castros
even more curious claimed
ignorance of what was going
on. On top of the socialist
camp's non-leninist approach
to problems of theory & tac-
tics on Grenada must now be
queried the possibility of
interference,abandonment,&
then covex-up.

First,the lie given to Ca~
stro's latest apologetics by
a declared opponent of the
ILWPs campaign over Grenada,
~Richard Hart,responsible
for Attorney General work in
the Bishop government,who
takes a non-Leninist line of
trying to silence criticism
and theoretical polemics in
order *'not to rock the boat!
-exactly the disaster the
NJM fell into in the first
place,~by Hart's own admiss-
ions (in his introduction to
the memorial volume of Bish-
op's speeches), incomplete &
partly inaccurate but unan-
swerably damaging to Havanas
lies.

© Sometimes Bishop found it difficult to make decisions. I experienced this
on occasion when | needed instructions in the performance of my respon-
sibilities. He described his style of leadership of the party as being ‘by con-
sensus’.* 1t was his practice to cngage in the widest possible informal con-
sultations with his comrades before making up his mind. There is, of course,
much to be said for this method; it is always better to proceed by agreement,
resolving differences which are not fundamental by compromise. But this
works best as a prelude or supplement to discussion within the formal com-
mittec structure, not as an alternative to it as appears all too often to have
been the case in the NJM.} Also, when an urgent or early decision is required,
there comes a point when the attempt to arrive at a consensus must be
abandoned.t Good chairmanship involves knowing when to temiinate dis-
cussion and resolve outstanding differences by majority vote.

* Minutes of the NJM Central Committee, September 14-16, 1983

t That the practice of making decisions informally outside the appropriate party com-
mittees had developed was acknowledged by Bishop at a Central Committee meeting
held on August 26, 1983, the Minutes of which record him as saying:

‘There Is reasonable basis to share the concern that many key decisions of the party,
if not the majority, have been made informally outside of higher organs’.

17. April 22,1987 (Bulletin 390)

tasks and keep a constant check on the fulfilment of those tasks. It must
ensure that its members do not attempt to do all that needs to be done by
themselves. They must constantly encourage the masses to participate in
improving their work, their work-places, their residential districts and the
economy of the country. The success of such a party ultimately depends
upon the extent to which it can insplre the people to take their future into

their own hands. . .., In a vanguard party which practises Leninist

principles, active participation in the making and exccution of decisions is
a requirement of membership.

In or about September 1982 the problem of how to maintain the internal
efficiency of the party led to an uncxpected development. Bernard Coard
resigned as a member of the Central Committee of the NJM and of its sub-
committees — the Political Bureau and the Organising Committee. As his
resignation had to do with his dissatisfaction with the internal workings of
the party, the Central Conunittee et from October 12-15, 1982. to look
into the whole matter. The Minutes of this meeting are very interesting. They
show that the party had held several meetings over the past year to try and
improve its efficiency, but little or no improvement had in fact been
achieved.

Among Coard’s reasons for resigning was a complaint about the slackness
of the Central Committce and the failure of members to speak out frankly
when things went wrong. He had always been outspoken on such occasions
while other members had remained silent. As a result he had been suspected
of secking to discredit the leadership and been accused of seeking power.
As he was not prepared to have personality clashes with the Chairman
(Bishop), he had decided to resign. This, he had argued, would also have the
effect of forcing members to make their own criticisms when they thought
something was wrong, as he would no longer be there to voice their criticisms
for them. He offered the rationalisation that this would help them to develop.

Having decided to accept Coard’s resignation, the Central Commiittee went
on to discuss ways and means of improving their efficiency. They collectively
assessed their respective individual performances and as a result. decided to
remove one veteran member from the Political Bureau and Central
Committee because of his ‘lack of political work, extremely bad attitude to
study and deep seated individualism and petty bourgeois opportunist attitude
to criticism’. But the Committee also decided to conceal from the other
members of the party the fact that Coard had resigned and the reason why
the veteran member had been removed — a concealment which was to cause
a storm of resentment when it leaked out nine months later. Throughout
this period Coard co-operated in not disclosing the fact that he had resigned
and continued to discharge his state functions as if nothing had happened.? It
was, indeed, remarkable that the secret was so well kept for so long. Working
closely on numerous occasions with both Bishop and Coard, I did not know
that Coard was not still in the party leadership, nor were the leading members
of any of the fraternal parties in other countries aware of this development.

Over the following nine months the continuing deficiencies in the work of
the leading organs of the NJM began to have their cffect on the morale of the
party members and affected the quality of the party’s work among the masses.
This was clearly recognised by all members of the Central Committee and can
be perhaps best summed up by reproducing from the Minutes of meetings of
the Central Committce of the NJM some of the conclusions stated by Bishop.

At the CC meeting on 26th August, 1983 Bishop is recorded as saying that
he was ‘in agrecment . . . that we are faced with the threat of disintegration’

% The vital decision to attempt the seizure of power at 4 am on March 13, 1979, was and ‘agrees also with the analysis that comrades of the party are afraid to
taken on a majority vote. The four members entrusted with deciding whether or not the o500 criticisms. Ile felt that the Central Committee members ‘should reflect
insurrection should be launched (Bishop, Bernard Coard, Hudson Austin and another) he individual st i d K f all CC bers’ and ‘should
being equally divided, a fifth member (George Louison) was added to their number, ON “c_ individual strengths and weaknesses ol a members: and ‘shou

Voting with Coard and Austin, Louison resolved the deadlock in favour of launching the also think about the specific responsibilities of CC comrades both at the party

attack,
To place the events of 1983 in context it is necessary to appreciate that

whilst revolutionary Grenada was achicving reasonable economic progress,
popular expectations were nevertheless running somewhat ahead of what was
being achieved. Despite the spectacular growth of the economy and the
reduction of unemployment from allegedly 49% of the adult population In
1979 to 14% at the end of 1982, the latter figure is still indicative of the
fact that many people were without work. Also, despite improvements in
wages and social services, the great majority were still enduring a very low
standard of living. Indeced, the NJM leaders themselves acknowledged that
they were to blame for not emphasising sufficicntly what a long slow climb
the ascent out of poverty would be and the fact that, while the foundations
for future prosperity were being laid, a low standard of living would have to
be endured for a long time to come.

It is also important to appreciate that, inevitably, in such a small and
underdeveloped society, the level of efficiency was appallingly low. Thus,
the best laid schemes for improvement could easily fail to realise anticipated
results. The fact that the party is composed of the most dedicated revolution-
aries who are willing to devote themselves to the service of the community
and to act in unity, is not in itsclf a guarantee of success. Its capacity to lcad
and inspire the masses will be seriously impaired if it fails to operate

Mefﬁcicnlly. Such a party is obliged to set itself and its members realisable

and state levels — this should be in writing’.*

At the mecting of the Central Committee held in the middle of the follow-
ing month Bishop spoke even more frankly about the inefficiency and
incffective leadership given to the masses by the party. Though the Minute-
taker's command of the English language on this occasion lcaves sometling to
be desired, the meaning is clear. He records Bishop as concurring with the
view expressed by other speakers that ‘the main problems lies in the Central

Committee’, and saying:

The lack of proper application of strategy and tactics has led to our
party paying no significant attention to the views of the party and the
masses; there is clearly no channels for communications which has led
to a brecakdown of collective leadership ... Deccisions were taken
outside of the CC, we have not set up systems for implementation and
verification ... The CC has made a number of mistakes over the past
18 months because of weak links with the masses we became bureau-
cratic and too formalistic in our approach. Visits to work places have
disappeared, increasing non attendance at zonal councils and parish
meetings, visit to communities to meet the people at an informal level,
decrease in the number of discussion and meetings with people in ali
arcas of work, failure to participate in public activities, village meetings



have disappeared. We have not paid sufficient regard to the material
base in the country. Changes in the economy, changes in social wages
and the predominant Pb [petty bourgeois] character of the masses and
society as a whole. Our propaganda positions have consistently fed
economism [a term used in Marxist literature to describe being con-
cerned entirely with securing material improvements within the exist-
ing system). We have failed to point out to the masses that this period
requircs a number of sacrifices and if we are not prepared to build the
economy through hard work we will not make it. We have to take the
blaine for the over economic expectations of the people . ..

(Minutes of the NJM Central Committee, September 14-16, 1983)

The Minutes show that Bishop went on to refer to the mood among the
farmers and agricultural workers as ‘very low’. Summarising the state of
affairs, after further discussion, Bishop is recorded as drawing the following
conclusions:

1. There is a state of deep crisis in the party and revolution.

2. The main reason for these weaknesses is the functioning of the CC.
3. The crisis has also become a major contributing factor to the crisis
in the country and the revolution and the low mood of the masses.
The crisis has also bcen compounded by the weakness in the material
base, electrical block cuts, bad roads, retrenchments and jobs as
an issue.

4.

However, although in agreement with other members of the Central Com-
mittee concerning the low state of morale in the party and among the masses,
and willing to concede that the main reason for these weaknesses was the
inefficient functioning of and poor lcadership given by the Central Committee
itself, Bishop was uneasy at this meeting when he heard the solution proposed
by a member of the Committee, a solution which a substantial majority of
the Committee favoured.

This proposal, put forward by Liam James, was premised on a criticism of
the quality of the leadership which Maurice Bishop himsell was providing as
sole leader of the Party and Chairman of the Central Committee, and its two
main sub-committees: the Political Bureau and the Organising Commiittee.
Jaines is recorded as saying:

The most fundamental problem is the quality of leadership of the
Central Committee and the party provided by Cde. Maurice Bishop.
In his view the Cde has great strength, his ability to inspire and develop
cdes, his ability to raise the regional and international respect for the
party and the revolution; he has the charisma to build the confidence
of the people both in and out of the country and to put forward clearly
the positions of the party. Today these strengths alone cannot put the
party any further in this period. The qualities he lacks is what is necded
to push the revolution forward at this tine.

James went on to list the qualities he felt that Bishop lacked:

1. A Leninist level of organisation and discipline;
2. Great depth in ideological clarity;
3. Brilliance in strategy and tactics.

The discussion sparked off by these criticisms seems to have come as quite
a surprise to Maurice Bishop. No one had hitherto criticised him personally,
except Bernard Coard, and Coard was no longer on the Committee. Following
the lead given by James, no less than 9 others of the 13 members present
[there were 17 Central Committee members in Scptember 1983] voiced
similar criticisms. Basically, what they were saying amounted to this: the
comrade lcader is an outstandingly good mobiliser. inspirer and articulator
but he is a poor organiser. Unison Whiteman. the Minister of Foreign Affairs
(who had himself been criticised at the mecting in October 1982) is recorded
as putting it in this way:

... the weaknesses mention[ed] of the Cde. lcader arc correct. Since
October there have been some improvements in scheduling and study
but these improvements are not fundamcntal enough. He said that the
Cde. Leader had not [given] enough time to the fundamental but we
have to be careful that we don’t shift too inuch blame from the CC
collectively. We need to have a commitment on the CC to new norms,
prioritisation, greater reflection, better style of work. We have to build
up Comtades, e.g. Cde. Leader, we have to assist [insist?] on higher
standards from him which he is capable of.

Bishop's reaction to these criticisms, as recorded in the Minutes, is inter-
esting:

Cde. Leader thanked the Cdes. for their frankness in their criticisins.
l1e said that Cdes. in the past have given scrious thought to the question
of leadership and failed to raise it for diplomatic reasons which was not

good. He is dissatisficd over the fact that CC Cdes. have not raised these
points before with him frankly, though a couple of non CC Cdes. have
done it. He picked up an overwhelming sentiment that the qualities
required are not possessed by him. He agreed that the points are correct,
especially correct application of strategy and tactics which cannot be
achieved except the other qualities are fulfil[led). He had found diffi-
culties in finding a relevant material to study the question of the
functioning of the PB [Political Bureau) and CC which reflects a weak-
ness, he don't think that he had given adequate leadership to bodies.
He had several problems over the years especially the style that entails
consensus, and unity at all costs which can result in blunting class
struggle. He had tried to keep a certain kind of relationship with Cdes.
cven though it is not what it used to be before. He also questioned his
approach as regards to collective leadership, he said that there is not
enough participation and discussion. Too much decisions are taken by
smaller and smaller organs which affect collective leadership. On the
question of crisis and problems it is correct as the maximum leader to
take the full responsibilities. He needs time to think of his own role
and to give a more precise response to the problem addressed . . .

After a break for lunch Bishop put forward some Ideas as to how the
problems could be overcome:

To develop and maintain links with the masses the leadership must
personally get on the ground among the people, step up participation
in zonal and parish councils, visit schools, monitor and push produc-
tion. The role of the CC must be worked out in this regard. Develop

mnechanism for accountability, and to review constant feedback from
the membership and to ensure channels of communication with them.

The CC must do a constant evaluation of the progress by mcmbers,
receive rcports from the OC [Organising Committee] on the re-ration-
alisation of the work, prioritise the work of Cdes. on the CC and set
targets to be achieved on a weekly monthly and ycarly basis.

As the debate procceded, however, it became clear that what James had
in mind was a far more fundamental solution to the problems created by the
leader’s generally acknowledged weaknesses. James' proposal went further
than simply helping Bishop to overcome these weaknesses. What he proposed
was joint leadership of the party:

Cde. James . . . proposed a modle [modcl] of joint leadership, marrying

the strengths of Cdes. Bishop and Coard. He went on to define the
responsibilities of the two cdes.

Cde. Maurice Bishop
(i) Direct work among the masses, focus on production and propaganda.
(ii) Particular attention to the organs of popular democracy, working
class, youth masses, visits to urban and rural work places;
(iii) Militia mobilisation;
(iv) Regional and International Work.
Cde. Bernard Coard
(i) Party organisation work;
Chairman of the OC [Organising Commiittee] ;
(ii) Party organisational development and formnation of cdes.;
(iii) Strategy and tactics.

(Duxing the period he was out of the Party leadership, Coard continued to perform his
state functions as Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Planning, Finance & Trade.
He also played a leading part in the Party’s educational work. The same meeting of
the Central Committee which accepted his resignation decided that he should con-
duct an cight-week crash course in Marxisin for leading conrades (including White-
man and Austin) whose grasp of theory was weak.

At a meeting of the Central Cominittee on September 30 1983, before word that
Bishop had changed his mind had got back to Grenada, a proposal by Coard was
adopted to endcavour to recruit to membesship of the Party 500 women from the

NWO, 3-400 youths from thc NYO and 4-500 workers from the Party Support
Groups. Minutes NJM Central Committee, Scptember 30 1983.)

The CC must discuss and ratify all proposals and decisions sought by
the Cdes. CC meetings must be monthly, chaired by Cde. Maurice
Bishop. PB |[Political Bureau] weekly chaired by Cde. Bernard Coard.
The both Cdes. will write quarterly reports to the CC for review. Fhe
membership must be told of this decision.

Later in the debate Jammes made it clear that his proposal was confined to the
internal working of the Party and did not involve alteration in the state func-
tions of the comrades: ‘Cde. Bishop will be Prime Minister and Commander
in Chief, he will sign all documents of the CC'. lle made the further point
that he was not proposing that Coard’s authority in the areas of strategy and
tactics should be unlimited:

this does not mean that he will decide strategy and tactics all by him-
self. However, he will chair all commissions to determiine strategy and
tactics. The CC will discuss and ratify all proposals brought forward . . .



This proposal for joint leadership of the party was a novel one. Everyone
recognised that Coard was the most ¢fficient and vrganised member of the

party and welcomed the idea that he should be required to return to the Central
Committee and its principal sub-committees. But the suggestion of joint leader-
ship instead of sole leadership did not have unanimous approval at this nect-
ing of the Central Committce. George Louison, the Minister of Agriculture,
heatedly opposed it. Whiteman had reservations. So too, obviously, did Bishop.
‘It did, however, have the approval of a substantial majority of those present.
Bishop's cautious reactions indicate fears on his part that the comrades had
lost confidence in him. He acknowledged that:

The party must utilise all strengths and talents of Cdes. in the party . ..
He has never had any problem with sharing power, or even a bad atti-
tude to criticisms. He had worked very well with Cde. Bernard over the
years from school days, they sharc a lot of policy decisions, they both
wrote the manifesto [of the NJM proclaimed in 1973 and published in
1974], the peoples congress enditement [indictment]} of Gairy.* He
referred to 1977 when Cde. Bernard was accused for aggressiveness and
wanting to grab power,} he had defended him. His position is that he
or [neither he nor?) anybody has the right to be leader for life, he
favours cooperation over competition. IHe feels that Bernard can come
back to the PB because of his skills and intelligence. Cde. James’
breakdown of responsibility is very useful, however his concerns is
the operationalisation of strategy and tactics. His own idea of his role
falls into what Cde. James had outlined. He feels that school visits

should have been included under his responsibilities.
t When Coard. in 1977, successfully proposed the establishment in the NJM of the

*Organising Conumittee’ some persons had accused Coard and others, including George

Louison. of wanting to establish a rival power base. 7
Bishop then stated somc of his rescrvations. Ile said ‘lle would like to know
what is Cde. Bernard’s view of the situation and response’, and posed the
question ‘If he do not agree what will be the views of the CC?" He also
nceded ‘to get some answers on the operationalisation’ of joint leadership,
and he wanted to know ‘how we will articulate this to the party and the
masses.” le said: ‘His personal concerns are; image of leadership, power
struggle. imminent collapse of the revolution.’

Bishop went on to say: ‘The formulation of Cdes. criticisms have indicated
a clear note of no confidence’ and that ‘he cannot inspire the masses when he
have to look over his back or fecl that he does not have the full confidence
of his comrades.’

This last reaction caused considerable disquiet in the Committee. One
member expressed this in the following way:

Cdes. were very frank, they criticised themselves for not being brave
enough to do so before. This frankness is critical for the development

of an ML [Marxist-Leninist] party. It will be sad if the mecting con-
cluded that this was a vote of no confidence. This was done in the The Ce
interest of the party and revolution, what we are solving here is a prob-

3. Were other options examine[d], what were these options and why
were they rejected.
4. Why was not this meeting schedule{d] so that Cde. Bishop could
be present.

Having heard what the members present had to say about the proceedings
of the past three days, the Minutes record that Coard:

reminded Cdes. of his reasons for resigning last year. .. He said that he
was tired and sick of being the only hatchet man and critique [critic].
The failure of CC comrades was to speak up freely, as a result he con-
cluded that he was the main fetter to development of the CC because
everyone was depending on him for everything, especially in the arca of
the economy ... He said he had detected a feeling of wanting him to
undermine the Comrade Leader’s position. He would not like to return
to the CC and PB, any tasks given to him he will do it. He even used
the struggle of the formation of the OC [Organising Commniittee].
Cdes. Louison, Strachan and himself was accused for organising another
scat of power in the party ... He was scriously affected by the accus-
ation of wanting to undermine the leadership so he resigned from the
ocC.

Though Coard was frankly critical of Bishop’s shortcomings, he expressed
‘his reluctance to return to the leadership. This is what he is recorded as
saying:

The Cde. Leader found himself vacillating between the ML [Marxist-
Leninist) trend and the petit bourgeois trend on the party. This
worsened as the CC was not aware what was going on and the situation
was slipping and because Comrades were not thinking, thercfore the
severe drift and disintegration was not seen ... [If] he was an ordinary
member he would have manners* the Cde. leader years ago. Because of
his position as deputy leader and the extent that Cdes. will think that
he is fighting for leadership, if he comes back and Cde. Bishop falter
he would be afraid to criticise him and will resign again. For it to be left
for him to manners the leader, he is not prepared to deal with this. He
admit that this is on his part a Pb [petty-bourgeois] conduct.

However, he had tried to give the party his best support in strategy
and tactics, he would prefer to operate as in the past year. He also is
prepared to take all responsibilities the CC offers him, but off the CC.
He cannot take emotional conflict situation that saps his energies. He
wants this to be clearly put to the party.

® ‘Mannesrs', used as a verb in this way, is an expression, originally popularised in
Jamaica, meaning to discipline someone — to put them under manners.

ntral Committee, however, showed no disposition to go back on its

decision of the previous day. On September 25, 1983 a meeting of the Tull
members of the NJM was convened to consider the Central Committee's

Another member said: ‘the meeting was one of unprecedented frankness and decision. The meFtlng got. off to a bad start because Bishop. who said he had
boldness by all Cdes., it was done through the spirit of great love for the MOt completed his reflections, was reluctant to attend. Coard. too, cxpressed

revolution and Cde. Leader.’ i

lem that we experienced for ycars.

his own reluctance to be present if Bishop was not there. Eventually. how-

There is, however, no avoiding the conclusion, after studying the Minutes, €¥eTs the mm'nbers having required the attendance of both, they both arrived
that Bishop's initial reaction to the proposal for joint leadership was one of and the meeting proceeded. .
resentment and suspicion. But that was not how the Committee saw things. At this meeting of full members on September 25 the proposal for joint
When the vote was finally taken as to whether or not to adopt the joint leadership, which had been so cxhaustively discussed by the (:'entral Com-
leadership proposal, nine members voted in favour, one (Louison) opposed Mittec, was debated all over again. Bishop participated in the discussion but
and three abstained. Those abstaining were Bishop and Whiteman and also Coard refrained from speaking until after the matter had been amicably
Hudson Austin, General of the Army, who gave the fact that he had come in fesolved. At the end of 15 hours of debate a resolution approving the
late and missed the greater part of the discussion as his reason for abstaining. proposal for joint leadership was unanimously adopted. Only two members

Following the vote, which was taken on Scptember 16, one of the of the Central Committec had been absent {out of the country): George
members proposed that they take a break and ‘ask Cde. Coard to come to Louison who had voted against it and another member who had voted in
the meeting for the decision to be put to him’. Bishop opposed this. as the favour. The Minutes record an emotional ending to this meeting:

Minutes record, ‘because of the fact that he has to make a personal reflection
on the issue.’ He proposed that the CC meet with Cde. Coard in his abscnce.
He suggested that the CC mect Cde. Bernard tomorrow while he will be
leaving for St Kitts’ [independence celebrations}. In answer to the argument
that it was important for both of them to be present. Bishop said that ‘based

The meinbers then called on Cdes. Coard and Bishop to speak.

Cde. Bernard Coard said that today is indecd a historic day in the
life of the party (applause). He said that the CC mcetings he attended
from Monday 19th September surprised him because unlike the past

‘on his personal position to sit down with Coard for productive discussion,
it will have no uscfulness, it will be counter-productive.’ He said it was critical
for him to know ‘Bernard’s position” (how Bernard felt about the proposal).
“This will even help him in his own reflection’. The Minutes record that ‘Sister
Phyllis Coard* then questioned what will the CC say to Cde. Bernard in the
absence of Cde. Bishop’. This, however, was not addressed.

The Committee adjourned until the following day, as Bishop had suggested.
to ascertain Coard’s response to the decision. In the light of persistent alle-
gations in the media and elsewhere that there was a struggle by a group led
by Coard to obtain control of the party, Coard’s reactions to the proposal
are of the utmost intcrest. Informed of the decision of the previous day, the
Minutes record that Bernard Coard raised four points:

26 I. He would like to see the minutes of the meeting.
2. The position of those opposed or abstain and what arc the reasons.

every CC member was putting forward well thought-out, clear and
reasoned positions on the way forward for building the party and trans-
forming it into a genuine Marxist-Leninist party. e said that in the
past most CC members would be silent in CC meetings and scewin not
to have ideas on how the party and revolution is to be buiit. llowever,
now he witness a qualitative difference . . . lc said that in his opinion
the members have spoken from both their heads and their hearts. Their
words have been sincere and it shows a genuine commitment by the
members to struggle for socialism and lay the basis for the eventual
building of communism. He repeated that a qualitative lift has taken
place in the CC as well as among the membership, thus he is deeply
confident in the future of building socialism and communism
(applause). He pledged to the party that he would put every ounce of
effort in building the process and that he knows that Cde. Bishop



would do the same. He said he had known and work together with

Cde. Bishop and that they both owe it to the party, revolution and the

Grenadian working people to do all that is possible to build the revo-

lution (applause).

Cde. Bishop stands and embraces Cde. Coard. Cde. Bishop said that
it was correct for him to come to the GM and stay and hear the views
of the party membersip. He said that reflecting in isolation would not
have been correct for him since he would have seen things in a lopsided
manner. He said that the entire GM had accepted the CC analysis and
decision and this has satisfied his concern. He admitted to the GM that
his response to the CC criticism and decision was petit bourgeois. He
said that the GM has rammed home that the criticisin was correct and
so too was the decision. He said, ‘] sincerely accept the criticism and
will fulfil the decision in practice’.

Cde. Bishop went on to say that his whole life is for the party and
revolution and the difficulty he had was because so many things were
going through his mind. He said that he agreed with Cde. Moses Jeffrey
that he had not shown confidence in the party. But all these things are
now behind his back. He said that the party comrades are maturing and
are capable of taking strong positions. He said that his desire now is
to use the criticisin positively and march along with the entire party to
build a Marxist-Leninist Party that can lead the people to socialism and
communism. He pledged to the party that he would do everything to
erode his petit bourgeois traits. He.said that he never had difficulties
‘in working with Cde. Coard and joint leadership would help push the
party and revolution forward (applause).

At the end of Cde. Bishop's speech the entire GM broke into singing
the Internationale and members filed past to embrace Cdes. Bishop
and Coard.

On the following day Bishop left for Hungary and Czechoslovakia. He left
behind him a happy band of party members, confident that they were well on
their way to solving every difficulty, reviving morale and regaining the entire
confidence of the masses.

However, not many days were to pass before the members of the Central
Cominittee still in Grenada began to suspect that all was not well.

Whilst he was out of Grenada Bishop had had second thoughts about
accepting joint leadership and had decided to reopen the matter. What
exactly it was that brought about this change of heart may never be known.
All that can be said with certainty is that before his return home from
Czechoslovakia, via Cuba, on October 8, and for whatever reason, Bishop had
changed his mind and was no longer prepared to accept the new form of
party leadership. This may have been formally announced to the Central
Committee at its meeting on October 12. No Minutes of that meeting (if
indeed Minutes were prepared) have as yet been found, but the Minute-
taker’s copious hand-written notes of what took place on the following day
at a meeting of all party members (full, candidate and applicant) are avail-
able. These notes disclose an atmosphere of widespread distrust and hostility
towards Bishop, very different to the atmosphere of concern and comradely
criticism apparent at the meetings of September 14-17 and September 25.
What had happened to poison the atmosphere?

My own analysis of these events suggests that, having ascertained the
unwillingness of the Central Committee to reopen the matter, Bishop had
decided to employ a strategy — go directly to the masses over their
heads and rally them to his support.* But what appears to have enraged the
membership of the party was the disclosure of the bizarre tactics Bishop had

final decision on the matter was left to the Central Committee.

Over the ncxt few days the Central Committee, no doubt conscious of an
upsurge of mass support for Bishop, endeavoured to work out a compromise
with him whereby he would have resumed the exercise of his state functions
and remained a member of the party. Four members of the Committee met
with him directly and at their request a trade union leader from Trinidad
came-to Grenada to act as a conciliator...the morning of October 19, Bishop
had not given his answer to the proposals put to him. proposals which he
had told the Trinidad intermediary he would ‘slecp on’.*

* Many persons have asked why, since I had worked closcly with and had the confidence
of both Bishop and Coard, I was not asked to assist in the process of conciliation. The
only cxplanation that I can think of is that my position nust have been compromised
by the fact that my name appeared on the list, approved by Bishop, of persons who were
to be informed of the alleged plot to kill him. This may have created the suspicion that
§ was conspiring with Bishop to overturn the decision of the party.

Bishop.................. setinmotion events which were to lcad
to his being killed at the Army headquarters at Fort Rupert. which he had
taken over with the assistance of thecrowd,, ... ... ... .._._.To what
extent the American Central Intelligence Agency participated in the events
leading up to the killing of Bishop is not yet clear. That ‘agents provocateurs’
were at work in Grenada is evident from the sudden and well organised
appecarance among the crowd of anti-communist placards. Some read: ‘C is
for Coard. Cuba, Communism’. The involvement of the CIA in the removal
of political leaders disliked by the US Government is too well established for
the probability that its agents had a hand in the events leading to Bishop's
death to be discounted, but at what level it is difficult to determine.

When Bishop changed his mind about accepting the party’s decision on
joint leadership, he was violating a fundamental principle of the NIM —
democratic centralism. This principle committed every party member to
accept majority decisions, whether or not he or she agreed with them. The
disappointment and resentment of party members is, therefore, understand-

able.
An aspect of the Grenada situation to which insufficient consideration

has becn given is what would have happencd if Bishop had succeeded in
rousing the masses against the Central Committee and the party, and had
established personal control. Without the support of the party he would have
had to rely heavily on the support of petty bourgeois elements. Without a
Marxist-Leninist party to guide and lead the Revolution what orientation
would it have taken? However sincerely Bishop may have believed that the
survival of the Revolution depended on his maintaining his position as sole
top leader, would it not, without the guidance and direction of a Marxist-
Leninist party, have lost its working-class socialist orientation? Did Bishop
take this problem into account when he decided to defy and, if necessary,
destroy the party? 9

Despite this prodigious himself concludes,either th~-

proof of Bishop's duplicity
and opportunist ambition,-
directly challenging Castros
imbecilic new ftheory! that
Coard had given up his party
leadership positions as a
tsubtle fifth column' to pr-
epare a 'cunning sectarian
conapiracy' based on the
tpurity of ideas',-the legal
sophist Hart nevertheless

rough astonishing naiveness
or astonishing dishonesty,-
that Bishop's petulant anar-
chy should have been capit-
ulated to.

And yet it was Coard(aga-
in by Hart's own admissions
-see above)who called for
the revolution in the first
place,--against the vote of
Bishop.

decided to employ. This plan, which had bcgun to be put into effect on 6 A characteristic feature of party organisations based on the Leninist model
October 12, was disclosed by one of Bishop's two personal security guards is their ‘democratic centralism’, a concept which, in the context of the cvents
upon whom he had relied in part to put it in motion. which occurred in Grenada, deserves discussion. The democratic aspect of
This sccurity guard had given a statemeat to his superiors to the effect this concept is that. at all levels of the party, decisions should be taken after
that Bishop had informed him that Bernard and Phyllis Coard were plotting fyj] discussion in which all the participants enjoy equality of status and every-
to kill him (Bishop). Bishop, he said, had given instructions for a list to be gne agrees to be bound by majority decisions. The centralism of the concept
drawn up of persons to be informed of this plot and had personally approved implies that the lower organisms of the party are bound by decisions arrived
the list. This, the security guard now repeated orally on October 13, in 5 by the higher organisms.
Bishop’s presence, to all the members of the party. This structure, designed to ensure equality of status in the decision making
On October 12 word was in circulation concerning the alleged plot. One processes to all who have been admitted to membership, does not however
immediate effect had been that a group of persons, led by an insurance agent detract from the degree of influence exercised by leadir'lg members of the
from the St Paul’s district where Bishop's mother lived, collected fircarms party. Nor does it preclude the party from projecting the personality of an
at the local Militia headquarters and set off to defend the Prime Minister. jndividual leader, should it decide to do so. Most political parties, whether or
Having been alerted by the sccurity guard, the sccurity forces intercepled no( structured on the Leninist model. have considered it a,dvisable in
them. The other security guard was also taken into custody and interrogated. response to the expectations of the pul;lic to project the personalit :)f a
Whatever the merits or denerits of the decision to seek a reopening of the party leader. In this respect the situation 'in Grenada was zot exce )tlional
decision of Scptember 25, the spreading of such a rumour was a particularly 314t was to be expected that the NJM would follow the usual racticep
desperate and dangerous course which could have endangered the life of the 1, Maurice Bishop the NJM had a party leader who also adpmimb] .ﬁlled
man chosen by the party members to be their joint leader. At the meeting (e role of a national leader. By any standards he was a remarkabl)c, man
of party menbers on the night of chqbcr 13 Bishop denied responsibility for 4 lawyer by profession from a comfortable middle-class background hi;
the rumour, speaking at length in his own defence. But having heard the gynipathies were nevertheless with the underprivileged masses. The initial
evidence given to the meeting by the sccurity guard, the overwhelming emotional stimulus which he had received from the Black Power movement
majority of the members believed that Bishop was guilty. of the 1960s had ripened and matured during the 1970s on a more secure
Though the overwhelming majority of thosejntellectual basis as he familiarised himself with Marxist-Leninist theory.
present had applauded demands that Bishop be expelled from the party, aSentiment, theory and practice had combined to mould him into a dcdicalcd'r’



revolutionary. He possessed to an extraordinary degrec the ability to arti-
culate clearly the objectives of the Revolution and to inspire support for it
internally and regionally, His analytical mind and capacity for simple explan-
ation helped the people to understand and share his convictions. 1lis
personality was magnetic.

One aspect of the situation, which the Central Committee does not appear
to have taken sufficiently into account, is that such was Bishop's popularity
and personal influence that if he would not abide by the party’s decision and
was determined to take the matter to the masscs. the masses would support
him rather than the party. Given Bishop's determination not to implement
the joint leadership decision. the prudent course for the Central Committee
to adopt, their disappointment and resentment notwithstanding, was to ex-
plore other options for improving the structure and quality of the leadership
of the party until a compromise formula had been found which both Bishop
and other members of the Central Committee could accept. There was no
sensible alternative. Any other course was bound to bring the party into

as a faction. Very quietly, and gradually, he placed his
sworn followers in key positions in the army, as political
instructors, in the Ministry of Security, and in some posi-
tions in the party. He had even resigned his position as a
member of the Bureau a year earlier as a gesture of selfless-
ness. He went off to a small island and was there playing
the role of an isolated man, self-isolated, but he continued
being the spiritual guide. That was his style. So, this de-
veloped very subtly, very quietly. And Coard gradually
gained a majority on the Central Committee — and always
in the name of principles.

These methods are always somewhat effective
whenever someone gains a kind of priesthood of the doc-

conflict with the masses.

This mystical,populist,
anti-scientific drivel is
right up Castro's street as

far as Havana's blind spot
on this particular subject
is concerned.

¢ Mervyn M. Dymally: Given your close relationship with
Maurice Bishop — it’s said that you looked to him as a
brother — why did you not know about the intrigue that
went on while Bishop was out of the country? Where did
Cuban intelligence break down?

Fidel Castro: I'll explain. It's even more surprising.

Of course we never practice intelligence methods with
friendly countries, countries with which we have close re-
lations.

Mervyn M. Dymally: I mean intelligence not in the
sense of the CIA, but in the sense of communication.
Where did your communication break down?

Fidel Castro: Your question is quite logical; it's abso-
lutely justified. First of all, we do not employ an intelli-
gence apparatus, intelligence bodies, or intelligence
methods to gather information about what may be hap-
pening in a country with whom we have relations of trust
and friendship. There’s no methodical and systematic col-
lection of information. We always depend upon the con-
scious cooperation among revolutionary people, friends,
and sympathizers who can explain what's happening
within a leadership group, a council of ministers, a central
committee. In fact, it’s logical for us to have known what
was happening in Grenada, since we had very close rela-
tions with Bishop and other leaders. In addition to work-
ing relations, we were assisting in agriculture, industry,
health, education, the army, and even in the Ministry of
the Interior. Our ambassador enjoyed excellent relations;
so did the party representative, the representative of the
Cooperation Committee, the advisers in the army, in the
militias, and in the Ministry of the Interior. The truth is, we
didn’t know about the process that was evolving, and that
has been one of our harshest criticisms of those in charge
of cooperation with Grenada and our diplomatic represen-
tation there. )

During that entire period, only one woman comrade
from the Federation of Cuban Women — who had been
there for a few days on an exchange visit — had written a
brief report to her organization on the problems she per-

ceived there. I didn’t even hear about the report. It seems-

no one paid any attention to it.

The wild idea of a split in the country’s leadership was
inconcejvable. What really did happen? The party was
made up of a small group of members — some 200. The
leadership group was quite small. Coard worked with
great subtlety. He did not work openly. He started placing
cadre — that is, people from the group that had joined
28 Bishop’s party. He did not dissolve that group; he kept it

trine, guardian of the doctrine, theoretician of the doc-
trine, philosopher of the doctrine — the one who knows
the most about revolutionary doctrine. Although Bishop
was an educated man — with great preparation — he
was not a professor of Marxism. I tell you this so you will
be on your guard with scholars, because they have pre-
stige. [Laughter] Let us say: Coard — with Professor El-
liot’s pardon — was the scholar of politics, the professor
of political science; while Bishop was the man who
worked with the masses, worked with the people,
worked with the administration, and was active interna-
tionally. In other words, Coard’s conspiracy was carried
out quite covertly and subtly. It was not easy to perceive
what was in the making.

Now then, there’s no doubt that Bishop was very noble
and, I'd say more, naive, because he never gave much
thought to the problem. He never imagined that a ten-
dency of this type, aimed at isolating him, could develop,
and I believe he underestimated the importance of Coard’s
activities. We have proof of this: several weeks before the
events, some questions were being discussed — not the
conspiracy, of course. But there had been meetings to
analyze the work being done with the workers, the eco-
nomic work, the work with mass organizations, and the
work of the party. These were the matters under discus-
sion. They even made some criticisms of Bishop — they
made some critical remarks — but they seemed normal,
logical, and even healthy criticisms, which is how Bishop
saw them.

We learned some of these things later from the papers
published by the U.S. government, which were greatly

.manipulated. Every day they publish a paper to prove

something in a demagogical and dishonest fashion. The in-
vaders seized the records of these meetings. Naturally, we
didn’t have those records; no party, no political organiza-
tion, gives the records of its meetings to another organiza-
tion, no matter how close their ties may be. We keep the
records of our party meetings to ourselves. The records of
any revolutionary, Marxist, left, or any kind of party are
logically not handed over to another party. Besides, these
discussions seemed harmless.

The fact is, when Bishop stopped in Cuba on his way to
Europe, he spoke with me in the house where he was stay-
ing. We talked a lot about the airport under construction,
the economic situation, the way projects were going, and
ideas for the future. Then Bishop — who had had a meet-
ing several days before his trip — spoke to me self-crjti-
cally. Sometimes we told him — because we knew it was
so — “not enough attention is being paid to the militia —
the organization and preparation of the militia.” The advis-
ers told us; they explained these things to us. I'talked with
him about these problems, and he said: “Yes, I've given lit-
tle attention to the militia. I've given little attention to the



work of the party. When I return, I will give more attention
to the work of the party and the mass organizations.”

The day before he left, we gave an
intimate reception in his honor, to which I invited all the
comrades in the Political Bureau, the comrade vice presi-
dents of the executive committee of the government, and
the ministers who had to do with cooperation in Grenada.
This was all due to the fact that everyone loved Bishop. He
was, as you said, a brother — pleasant, friendly, intelli-
gent. People liked meeting him, and we stayed about two
or three hours. Almost all the members of the Political Bu-
reau who were at this reception spoke to him.

While Bishop was abroad, those people worked actively
in Grenada. A member of Bishop’s personal security team
even turned out to be one of Coard’s sworn men, who in-
formed on the details of the trip. Now, since those prob-
lems were already present, they took advantage of
Bishop’s absence.

When Bishop returned to Cuba, he didn’t say a single
word about this problem. As I see it, this was for two
reasons. First, he underestimated the problem and, sec-
ond, he may have been embarrassed by the idea of raising
an internal problem of his party.

Now, I wonder: if we had known at that time of the dis-
cussions which had taken place, could we have done
something? Could we have helped to prevent what hap-
pened there? Perhaps not. Had he told us that there were
problems, he would have conveyed his impression and re-
duced the issue to something unimportant. We would
have listened to him, but nothing more. He himself was
not aware of the importance and the potential gravity of
the charges, in the form of criticism, that were being ad-
dressed to him. But the fact is he went back, and by that
time, Coard and his group — who by then had gained con-
trol of the majority of the leadership bodies — had already
made some major decisions. They decided to leave him as
head of the government, but relieve him of his responsibil-

ities as head of the party. .. .. A
short time later — within a few days — there was a meet-
ing, and he was now in an obvious minority. He was al-
ready in a minority in the party leadership! Events rushed

ahead,
It might have been possible to do something if the grav-

ity of the problem had been known two months earlier —
perhaps a month before the events — and some delegation
of ours could have talked with them. It's possible that we
might have been able to do something to avert the catas-
trophic outcome. But no one can guarantee this. Coard’s
conspiracy, his intrigues, and his demagogic behavior had
already undermined Bishop’s authority within the party
almost irreversibly. But Bishop was a noble man who was
capable of any sacrifice to help his country. The new
majority must have known that it needed at least his coop-
eration to move forward. Nevertheless, nothing that fox

Coard did was sane, sensible, or reasonable. _ _ __ A
few days later, Bishop went to our embassy in Grenada

and explained that there were problems — he said clearly
then that there were problems. He said he feared, he was
worried, that they might even attempt to assassinate him.
But he said he thought he would solve the difficulties, that

he could solve them.
Almost immediately, the conspirators launched another

charge against Bishop..They accused him of slandering
Coard, of gross defamation, of spreading the rumor that
Coard wanted to assassinate him, That was the most seri-
ous charge against him, and the events were triggered al-

most immediately. As a matter of fact, Bishop did consider
the possibility that there might be an attempt to eliminate
him physically.......

Bishop may have mentioned his concerns to sev-
eral people. A meeting took place to analyze the charge of
slandering Coard. One of Bishop’s personal security
guards — actually, one of Coard’s men — testified that
Bishop had given him instructions to spread that rumor.
---Now then, the situation for us was delicate. We couldn’t
meddle in the problem. First, as a rule, we adopt the prin-
ciple of noninterference in the internal affairs of any coun-
try with which we are cooperating. This rule is strictly ob-
served. We contribute to unity and help resolve this type
of problem if the parties involved request our cooperation.
No matter how much we liked Bishop, we couldn’t have
violated this principle. In fact, it was Bishop who asked
that the Cuban construction personnel have weapons.

. .=~ -.The Cuban con-
struction personnel had only infantry weapons; they were
not supposed to fight against the U.S. Army. They didn’t
even have an “Arrow” [an antiaircraft rocket launcher] to
shoot down the airplanes and helicopters. It was on
Bishop’s request and insistence that the airport construc-
tion personnel received weapons. But Bishop wasn’t con-
templating a U.S. invasion . _ . ........._.._.. To fight
against U.S. troops would have called for a different type
of personnel, different weapons, and a different kind of
war. Above all, there would have had to be a government
worth defending, one supported by the people.

When the internal conflicts erupted, we adopted a policy
of not getting involved in any way.. ...

..... there was no legal basis to
justify giving support to Bishop. A decision to relieve him
of his position in the leadership of the party could not be
challenged, because it had been adopted by a majority. In
this case, the conspiracy assumed “democratic forms”;
they had achieved a majority within the leadership group.
Third, any action on our part would have provoked armed
clashes between the Cuban personnel and the Grenadan
soldiers, whose command was controlled by the Coard
group. That would certainly have given the United States a
perfect pretext for its intervention: a war between Cuban
and Grenadan personnel.

Whenthe . ... _. uprising took place,. ... . . ......
______________ one of Bishop’s comrades went to the
embassy to seek our support. A wire was sent to Havana
saying that Bishop was asking for support from the armed
Cuban personnel in the construction brigade. - - - ...
Frankly, it would have been a serious political mistake to
have authorized the Cuban personnel to become involved
in the Grenadan revolutionaries’ domestic troubles.
Bloody combat would have ensued, and, even if things
had turned out in Bishop’s favor and the U.S. intervention
hadn’t occurred, Bishop would have had to rule the coun-
try without his party, without the army, without the police
and Security units, and without the revolutionary cadres.
Coard had gained control of those institutions, and many
of their members believed — almost blindly — that they
were serving the revolution. It was an absurd situation. I
would never, under any circumstances, have authorized
the Cuban personnel to have become involved. Of that you
can be sure. Our answer would have been “No.” But there
wasn’t even time to answer; there was no need to answer.
Our relations with the coupfllgroup were very bad
throughout the crisis.. . ... .. When we learned that they
had made those accusations against Bishop, I immediately



made it clear that Bishop hadn’t said anything at all to us
concerning the existing problems when he stopped over in
Cuba. And I also made it clear that we hadn’t interfered —
nor ever would — in their domestic affairs. Several mes-
sages were exchanged. Ours were quite harsh and critical.
We were really indignant. We hadn’t even issued an offi-
cial statement, as we were waiting for the situation to be-
come clear. When Bishop's assassination was reported, we
issued a very harsh statement, making it clear that our po-
litical relations with the new leaders of Grenada would
have to undergo profound and serious analysis.. ...

In Grenada, however, I don't believe it was an extremist
policy on Coard’s part. Rather, I think, personal ambition
was Coard’s basic motivation and what really confused
many people in whom he inculcated extremist ideas from
supposedly revolutionary positions, as a means of gaining
support. In the name of the purity of Marxist-Leninist prin-
ciples, he portrayed Bishop as a man insufficiently pre-
pared to lead the country. Very subtly, he did it very sub-
tly. He worked in the rank and file of the party, the armed
forces, the Ministry of the Interior — always presenting
himself as an apostle of the purity of ideas — and astutely,
little by little, he created the image of a vacillating, refor-
mist Bishop. Thus, he confused many people of good faith
in the revolutionary ranks.

Bishop had great popular support and was well liked by
the population. But Coard and his group — who belonged
to one of the organizations that joined with Bishop to form
the New Jewel Movement — didn’t work with the masses.
That is, the Coard group didn’t work with the masses; it
worked among the party members — who were a small
group of about 200 — and with the cadres of the army and
the Ministry of the Interior. This fifth column, this under-
mining of Bishop’s authority, coalesced at a moment when
Bishop — though he had the support of the immense
majority of the people — lost the majority within the party,
both in the Central Committee and among the member-
ship. This was the fruit of the conspiracy led by Coard and
his group. .

The government could not have endured. We wouldn’t
have offered any support to that government after it mur-
dered Bishop and fired on the people. After we had as-
sumed that attitude, it would have been difficult for any
other socialist or progressive country to support that

rou
& As%oon as we had finished the airport, we would have

left Grenada. . ) ]
Somewhere around here are the dispatches and confi-

dential documents that show everything that happened,
as well as the tense relations between us and that group.
All cooperation was broken off. Any united defense plan
became morally impossible for us. Of course, work on the
airport continued. But the messages exchanged, which ex-
press our attitude with regard to the events, are in our
files..., .

What I'm telling you is really our assessment of what
happened there. The international dispatches confirm that
when the Cuban doctors departed, the country was left
without medical care. What purpose has the invasion

served? )
The whole infamous action was surrounded by all sorts

of lies, with no scruples whatever, because the U.S. stu-
dents on the island never ran any risk. The first thing the
coup group did was to give assurances of safety to every-
one, and particularly the medical college. The safest
people in Grenada were the U.S. students.
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Just a short time ago — one could say a few years — Gre-
nada had attained independence. There was still no really
solid national spirit; that sense of homeland, of nationality,
was still in the making. In addition, for people who had
been educated in the British traditions of respect for the
law, who saw the brutal violations of lawfulness and wit-
nessed the unprecedented events of firing upon the people
and the assassination of Bishop, it was logical not to realize
what an invasion of their territory by the United States
meant for the independence and sovereignty of their coun-
try — much less what it entailed for the rest of the Carib-
bean and for the independence of other peoples. Had this
been a country with a strong national awareness, a na-
tional spirit already developed, the reaction would have
been different, despite their profound outrage over what
had happened. With the trauma and the pain left by
Bishop’s death, the loss of the chief, and the brutality of
those involved in the coup, the Grenadan people were in
no position to judge the invasion.

Situations such as these show the value of patriotic and
national feelings. I believe, for instance, that the people of
the United States would not have been pleased with an in-
vasion by a foreign army to rid them of Nixon during the
Watergate days. There are many examples of peoples with
a strong national awareness. The Saharan people have a
strong nationalist, patriotic spirit; the Irish have a high na-
tional spirit; the Mexicans have a patriotic and national
spirit, which is also very strong; Cuba has it. But you
couldn’t expect such a spirit from the Grenadans. How-
ever, many Grenadan soldiers died fighting heroically
against the invaders. Therefore, this argument that the in-
vasion was welcomed with applause is trivial — a really
weak and simplistic argument.__._?

«---- - --We fully endorsed Bishop’s policies...

ir supporters into key posts
The contradictions in this without anyone else noticing,

-especially in such a relat-
ively continuing closed cir-
cle where subjective person-
al relations were still so
difficult?

Also,what should be made
of Castro's apparently 'im-
partial!' stand on October 15
1983 in the light of his ad-
missions now that they were
not going to support the Gr—
enadan revolution without
Bishop.

And why this continuing
anti-Leninist,unscientific
imprecision about 'the peo-
Ple's anger!','the people's
resistance',and 'the people’s
uprising' when much of the
continuing confusion about
what exactly happened on
Grenada rests precisely in
which groupings did what,and
why? (See in particular Co-
ard's detailed statement to
the US imperialist kangaroo
court,next week's Bulletin).
Comrade Fidel sent a message

drivel are hilarious.Confes~
sing hopeless misinformation
and ignorance from his legi-
timate reporters on Grenada;
claiming no other intellig-
ence sources;claiming that
there are no reliable minut-
es available of NJM develop-
ments;--nevertheless Castro-
suddenly announces to the
world,out of the blue,-that
he knows the details of how
Coard over years placed this
friend in one position ins-
ide this tiny party of only
68 full members,and another
in that key post,-while Coa~
rd himself totally abandoned
the crucial positions on the
Organisational Committee and
Politbureau.

And how in such a tiny gr-
oup of only 68 full members
and only 500,in total,candi-
date & applicant members,-
could anyone secretly have
been for years slipping the-

é

On Saturday, October 15,

to the Central Committee of the New Jewel clearly expressing
the Cuban position of total noninterference in the internal
affairs of the Party and country. He also expressed his deep
concern over the fact that the split which had developed could
considerably damage the image of the revolutionary process
in Grenada within the country and abroad; that even in Cuba,
where Bishop was very well regarded, it would not be easy
to explain .the events; and that he harbored the hope that
the difficulties could be overcome with the greatest wisdom,
calmness, loyalty to principles and generosity.

Essentially, Cuba’s concern was centered around prevent-






From Bernard Coard's court statement. !8.
(See ILWP Bulletins 391-394) me wn mnitesto of 197

was un'ccgn in the summer of 1973. Over 80t of that was jointly written by
Cde. Maurice Bishop and mysel( at Beverly Flats. 1 was particularly
responsible for writing the econanic sections. My responsibility before

and thoog!rmr. the Revolution was the economy - the formulation and imple-
mentation of econamic policy. Some of the problems and the decisions taken
are very impbrtant to lay to rest. 1he pcopaganda campaign of the U.S.,

the propaganda campaign vhich still pounds away even after 2 3/4 years.

It is important in order to get an understanding of my particular
outlook in the context of the lies of the propaganda campaign and the liea
and slander, to look at some of these decisjons which T took.

When Macch 13, 1979 took place, the early days of the Revolution were

The firat six days I remember clearly. HNeither Maurice nor I
operated-from any office. We were on the go trying to hold things toge-
ther. His office was a suitcase. I remember going to the Ministry of
Finance to see the situation. My task was to prevent economic disastec,
then to get development going to transform the country for the people.

buring Gairy's time freqbently different categories of public workers
got late sflary; a number of international organizations could not get
thelr subscriptions paid. At one stage Grenada faced expulsion from the
U.N. because wo didn't pay. So we had to do a juggling act from day to day
vith money coming in and money to be paid out.

At this time there were many patriotic Grenadians vho,. eager to see
the economic transformation of our country, took the position that now the
Ravolution has come, there are a number of things that must be done and
done quickly. One of the problems we were faced with and conacious of and,
I particularly, is that left governments, progresasive and soclalist govern~
menta in many parts of the third world have been subjected to a lot of pro-
paganda, sometimes correctly, sometimes not, failing to manage the econamy

properly, trying to move too fast - all with good intentions, but making
We saw this in country after country and we were

very hectic.

the situation worse.
careful about thia.

I received letters from citizens and I remember being stopped in the
streets and asked in preas conferences also, "Why don't we ban the impor—
tation of luxury and semi-luxury goods vhich cost millions of dollars of
foreign exchange? The country can't afford this.® A very attractive argu-
ment. Even many middle class Grenadians vho over the years imported or
bought such goods were raising this. But we did not ban these luxuries and
semi-luxuries, because, as it was my duty to explain at the time, if you
suddenly inherit an economy with a certain structure, in which government's
revenue depends on imports including imports of luxury and semi-luxucy
items, then if you ban them overnight all this would lead to the collapse

of government revenues.

Karl Hudson-phillipa, 0.C.: {intecrupting} M'Lud.

C.J. Byron {louwdly. emphatically, and with manifest hostility}: Yea, do I
have to listen to this?

Hudson-Phillips: Archibold, paragraph 555, says that defence statements
must be relevant to the issues being tried.

C.J. Byron {to Bernard Ooard}: Your statement must be relevant to the
indicutmentl

Bernard Coard: I will determine what is relevant.

T intend my statements at all times to be relevant to the indictment
in all its dimensions, including why it is that 1 have been indicted in the

first place, and the natucre and character of the evidence. 1 don't intend
to please Karl Hudson-Phillips. T will siy what I wish to say and T will
establish ita relevance. 1 am saying that confronted with difficult
decisions' ...

Let me tell you this: regardless of what you say I would have

C.J. BH‘-:
to detecmipe what is relevant.

Bernard Coard: Your Lordship, I will determine in the first instance what
Ta relevant, you will rule on Tt. I am the one to judge what i3 best
defence for me.

I am saying that when faced with a problem - and we have a problem

hare... It is my understanding that a defendant making an unsworm: statdment

should ndt be interrupted; and 1f I am {nterrupted all the time it will

become a farce.
I have to establish several things.

Things were said about me on the

level headed approach to dealing with the economy.
The same applied to the importation of most vehicles, because you
d?n't ban the importation of vehicles unless you increase public transport
ffrst 80 people can get around. Otherwise you damage the econamy. This
kind of crazy man, ultra-left image the Americans tried to paint of me and
others is refuted by the way 1 went about solving pcoblems. There were
also people raising the question of wvhy don't you have stringent foreign
exchanje restrictions? (Even Jamaica, Guyana and Trinidad had such
restrictions) - because we needed to conserve foreign exchange. But before
taking any steps - because this sounded vecy good - so we can conserve
foreign éxchange ~ I went to speak to the hecads of the Central Bank of
Guyana and Jamaica on their experience. I told them, we want to learn from
your experience on this. Those officials sald that their experience {s
that when you place very strict foreign exchange controls, what happens is
that many nationals living abroad vho send back money, stop doing 80. Psy-
chologically they want to know if they want to take the money out of the
country, they can do that; thusif we restrict, the remittances they send
hame would dry up. It would be counter-productive. For that reason we
left the forelgn exchange situation as it was. Grenadians were able to
send money abroad. And because of this and other factors remittances went
fram $16 million to $42 million in the first year of the Revolution and
every year it remained in the 40's. It was important - that's one reason
vhy we were able to do 8o much. We didn't jump and take action. We
checked others first, and we were guided by what we learmed.
It is interesting that in the formation of the NCB and GDB and Grenada
Bank of Commerce the approach that was used was this. Not to wake up some
morning and pass a law nationalizing any bank and busineases. You will
never believe this if you hear the propaganda and you would never believe

this was my responsibility.

“The documents of the Revolution will show my own position on the queation
of the pace of bullding the Revolution™

In August 1983, I gave a speech in London to Caribbean teachers in
Britain., The Prosecution has the book with that speech. I made the poiat
there that there are some pecple who believe that a Revolution must be
built like a house, brick by brick. I condemned in that speech those who
believed in Instant Nescafe Revolution. Tony Buxo pcinted the line in The
Torchlight years before, that "Goard is & hard-line Communist.” And in
October 1983 that line suddenly surfaced on the streets, That book I
r?ferred to, as well as the question of the pace of building the Revolu—
tion. My statements on RFG in answer to journalists' questions also show a
consistent pattern in respect to all of these mattera.

All the propaganda says a different thing. And they manipulate people
to push a differeat line on the streets, None of this is accidental. ‘

"Pile on the pressure until the system cracksl®

I made the point at the outset, that to understand this case we have
to see how the U.S. and certain CARICCM govermments reacted to the growth
and development of the Crenada Revolution. Actions they took to turn back
t!)c Grenada Revolutijon and crush all its leaders, especially Ode. Maurice
Bishop. The pattern of destabilization right through and including October
19. Who were the agents and vhat were the concrete methods used: only in
this way can we understand the following:

=~ the nature and basis of the crisla.

- the motivation of Barbadian policemen sent by Tom Adams to inves-

tigate the case. why we were tortured and why they came to Grenada

with a particular concocted story.
~ why the pacticulac people in the dock are here, and vhy others ace

not.

When the ‘Revolution took place four actions were taken immediately by
vhat {3 now known as the OECS states, as well as by Barbados, in one case.
The four actions were hostile and oppresive.

(1) They stopped LIAT flights into Grenada - the only airline secving
Grenada - with the consequences for the economy, and our links with the
outside world.

(2) They cemoved the Supreme Court from Grenada. They met in Antigua
and took that decision. They ordered the judges to leave Grenadal That is

how Grenada the PRG was forced to saet up its own court, not through choice
but forced by tha exigencies of tha situation.

(3) The other OECS states held up and refused to release Grenada's
currency fram BECCA. If you don't replace worn dollar bills, the econamy
will in time collapse, will grind to a halt., It was a serious crisis.’
Money belonging to us under the treaty, they ware refuaing to hand overt
It was an acute crisis based on a political decision of the other OECS

streets of St. Georges, including in the demonstrations and that is in evi-

dence in this triall
faced with difficult problems, this is the beat way to establish my

defence. To esee how October 1983 came about we have to look at tha poli-
tical and econamic problems we faced. If even my statement fram the dock

under dureas ia going to be stopped with cries of “relevance®, then pleasa

advise me that you don't want me to establish even an indicative defence.
Just tell me, and I will take my seat.

show how 1983 came about.

George Louison talks about a "so-called crisis®, giving the impreasion
I vant to know where I stand, so please tell

that the crisis was made up.
A dafandant

me. I have spent my time proposing an indicative defence.
should not be arbitrarily interrupted.

order to establish whether vhat has been said in this trial is so or not.
So please tell me {f I would be allowed to present even an indicative

defence and I would abide by your ruling even under protest.

C.J. Byron: Did you understand vhat I said?

Bernard Coard: I think I understood, I am not sure.
of what you said, if accurate, greatly disturbs me.

I trust you will guide yourself accordingly.

Cc.J. B H
ruling. I have stated a pcinciple.

But my understanding

1 have made no

Bernard Coard: So confronted with this problem, I took the decision which

was supported by the govermment and vas explained to those who ingquired..
that such a decision, vhile good in principle, to save foreign exchange

apparently, the immediate consequences wuld be damaging to the country.

While it is attractive to ban things and use the immediate funds for devel-

opment, however, the consequences wuld be the collapse of govermment reve-
You can only move to ban and restrict

imports after a nuuber of structural steps have been taken over a period of
s0 as to provide different sources of reve-
This is just one example shouving caution, a

nue and inability to pay bills, etc.

3 time to transform the econamy,
nue, so you don't cause chaos.

To eatablish my character, to show how I respond when

I am showing the pcoblems so as to

I have a right to establish my character and how 1 tackle problems in

atates.

(4) The other OECS states owed Grenada $800,000 for various debts and
were refusing to hand it over. HNearly one million dollars! Those were
days of real pcessurel

On top of those problems faced by Grenada, our Party and leadership,
tha U.S. government embarked on a number of concrete actions aimed at also
turning back the Revolution — a pattecn that has become world famous - a

process the U.S. Oongress called destabilization.
Jack Anderson exposed-it in tha The Washington Post. The NSC of the

U.S. govertment wns debating whether to take a decision to place warships
right around Grenada, to blockade Grenada so as to have immediate restora-
tion of Eric Gairy. They decided that other measures were preferable
because of poasible intemational and Anerican outrage.

S0 instead of open blockade they started destabilization against tha
economy and political process of Grenada. In that early period an American
‘academic, a writer of books, visited Grenada and spoke to Ode. Maurice
Bishop and myself outlining what he knew as the pyramidal crack! That was

the strategy he deacribed.

“The U.S. government will not tolerate your having relations with Cuba ...
remember, Grenada's economy depends on tourlem.”

One of the firat thingcs they did was to send {n Frank octiz. I met
him i{n my office. He saw Ode. Maurice Bishop in his office. And we met
him together too. We asked him to get assistance from the U.S. government
to develop the country. His response was to say that “We can organise for
you to get some projects for $5,000 each.” That was the kind of aid they
were prepared to give ust Ode. Maurice Bishop made all of this public in
speeches to the nation. Ortiz said that the U.S. government will not
tolerate us having relations with Cuba and having close relations with
Quba. We will have to remember that Grenada depends on tourism,” he said.

The distinct, repeated impcession he gave was that the U.S. government
could mash up our econany by mashing up our tourist industry as they did to
Jamajica under Michael Manley and to other countries, through propaganda,
through paying criminal elements to stir up crime 30 as to discourage







entitled to speak of them. And do not represent my position for mel

{appealing to the judge)}: He said you were not avakel
This is highly

Hudson-Phillips Y
Bernard Coard: lie put away his books, and closed his eyes!
pcejudicial conduct towards an unrepcesented defendant making 2 statement

in froat of a juryl!

{changing tack}: The relevance of this statement is

Hudson-Phillips i
escaping me. The relevance of the action of any govermment to this case

escapes me.
Bernard Coard: Listen, settle this in chambers and give me the ruling!

12. How serious was the crisis?
13. What were all the causes of it? Including the causes as seen and

analysed by the leadership at the time in question? What did Cde. Maurice
Bishop and others say at the time? What was the state of mind of all
involved? What did they say about {t? Grenadians want to know.

14. What was the fear of the leadership at the time 1n question in
September/October 1983, if the crisis was not resolved? What were they
3saying? What was uppermost in the minds of all if the crisis was not
resolved? Grenadians want to know.

15. What concrete measures were proposed for dealing with the crisis
by all those involved at the time? What solutions to the crisis were
pcoposed by different people? what was my view? What did I say at the
time? Not what I say today, but vhat I said at the time.

Hudson-phillips: He speaks of his character - that's relevant, thoujh
self-secving. tie is secking to prove or disprove what's not on record too!
The parts about an ideological split or not, he's saying the crown's case

sceks to give him a motive, and he must say certain things to negate that.

But I can sece no rolevance in a political tiradet
the peinciple of relevance will be applied,

C.J. Byron: Once more, I say,
That's all I will say at this time., We will take the adjournment now,
Call back the jury.

ADJOURN FOR THE DAY
THURSDAY, 14TH AUGUST 1986

Bernard Coard; There are a number of points I would like to make in order
ace into total context the statement of my indicative defence. I

would like 4o state In broad cutline that my indicative defence is as
follows:
*“This is my indicative defence.®

picratly, I am innocent of all chargea in respect of this case 119 of
1984 brought by the U.S. govermment using black face cards.

Secondly, the events of October 19th and thae tragic death of Ode.
Maurice Bishop and others waas the culmination of the result of a grand
conspiracy by the U.S. govermment and its agencies, stretching over the 4
1/2 years of the Revolution, with the clear objective of overthrowing tha
Grenada Revolution utilizing both the genuine objective problems facing the
Revolution and the Party, the NJM, combined with the conscious activity of
dantabilization of myriad kinds by the U.S. government and its agencies.

Thirdly, the statement I am making from the dock is not of my choosing
but has been imposed on me, and I am consatrained to give only an indicative
defence - check Blackstone's commentaries. Were this a free and fair trial
wvhich I contend it is not, where I could have cross-examined witnesses as a
result of being provided with the necessary facilities, could call wit-
nesses to testify and put into evidence many documents which the U.S. gov-
ermment is holding and is refusing to hand over after more than two and a
half years of requests:

Were I able to do these things, then not oaly would I be able to
destroy the pathetic pack of lies masquerading as 'evidence' vhich the
pcosecution has presented and taken eleven weeks to do so, but I would also
have been able to eatablish beyond doubt the guilt of the real culgrita who
deliberately provoked the incident on October 19th which resulted in thd
tragic death of (de. Maurice Bishop and othera; which incidents these same
culprits have here used as an excuse to invade and occupy our country; to
strip Grenada of its sovereignty and national independence and, to boot,
lay charges against myself and the remainder of the leadership of the Revo-
lution, 80 as to complete their aim, to eliminate the entire leadership of
the Revolution, as they tried to do in the Queen's Park bambing on June 19,
1960, as they tried to do in October and November 1979, and in the April
1980 plot to assassinate the leadership of the Party and Revolution, and as
they tried on many other occasions unsuccessfully. That is the main out-
line of my defence. Those wvho wish me to pcoduce a different deferice, let

them do so when they are put on trial. .
Those who wish to close their notcbooks and their eyes and so preju-

dice the jury, I'Wwill simply note it, and take it up elsevhere.

“The Americans are responsible for every aspect of this case, and yet are

invisible.™

One.of the most aignificant aspects of this case ia how the Americans
are responsible for every aspect of this case, and yet are invisible.
Phillip Agec's book shows that this {s standard operating procedure. When
C.I.A. has a pcoject, Headquarters has to appcove all arranjoments to

ensure that as far as possible that the entire source of their destabilf-
zation, mischief and crimes are hidden. They operate thopugh other people.
They investigate, but use Uncle Toms.

Thay idtervogate through Bajana.
They hire certain people to practice the law for them - while the u,s.

repragentative is sitting in the pceas box. He makes a report to his
govermmeht every nightl

“Those who aslander the name of the Grenada Revolution and of Cde. Bishop
are now crylng crocodlle tears, while those who feel his loss the most are

those on trlal.®

We used to run a government for 4 1/2 yeara, no one could undereati-
mate our capacity for knowing what is happening in this country. Those who
meat with State Department officiala in their offices must know that we
know. Wa are obsarving their actions and conduct. Those who slandered the
name of the Grenada Revolution including Gde. Maurice Bishop, and tried
tricks to assaasinate Ode. Maurice Bishop are now crying crocodile tears -
vhile tha people wvho feelthia loss the most are those on trial. Those who
send a famous calypsoman ot two occasjons to talk to us at the NCB buil-
ding, to ask us to pcovida them with assistance to overthrow a govermment
and we say no — Maurice Bishop and I said no - have good reason for wanting
us off the scenae. That information is on ita way to the relevant CARACOY
government. Wa refused to interfere in other countries' affaira. We said
we will not help you in overthrowing any other Caribbean govermment.

"Grenadians want to know, the world wants to know.®

I wvant the following clearly grasped in the outline of my indicative

defence:
f1. Was there a crisis in the party in September/October 1983? George

Louison talks about a “so-called crisis,* giving the Impression that we
What did Ode. Maurice Bishop, Unison Whiteman, George Louison

make it up.

and defendants here have to say in September/October in those meetings

George Loulson described? What did they say at the time in question,
3j‘_teoorded while it was being said? Grenadians vant to know, the world

wants to know.

That is vhy the Amcricans just can't afford to turn over those docu-

ments, because think of this: can you imagine, the minutes of all NJM CC
meetings were always taken by a recording secretary while the meetings were

taking place.
rolled off.

of each page.
could know whose cqpy it was.
original, in-a sensec.

They were always typed on stencils and a precise nunber
Each copy was distinctively macrked with a felt pen in the body
That way, if any agent stole one and we discovered it, we
It vas a security measure. Every copy is an
Some of these documents could be secen in the U.S.
book, Grenada Documents. Some additional copies were kept_'at Ode. Maurice
Bishop'a home and the rest in the Party Secretariat.

Therefore the American government has 20 original copies of each vital
document, of a political nature, yet they can't provide one fram the 20 for
this trlal. why? It gives off a stench. They could do nothing to asasist
the cause of justice and truth. But you see, the documents do not serve
their interest and ends.

16. What role did objective factors unfolding in the natural process
of building a poor country have, in the unfolding of the crisis of Septen—
bec/October 19837

§7. what role did U.S. agents play in fomenting, escalating and
exploiting the crisis? Certain people fidget when you mention the U.S. and
their role. Dr. Williams once said he would return to government because
the parson taking over was in the pay of the U.S.!

€8. What role did George Louison and one or two other specific
elaments wvho I will name play in fomenting and escalating the crisis also?

*when_tha documents start leaking out of the building in Washington, people
would remenber the words 1 said here, and judge for themselvea.™

. #9. How did the coanvergence of (a) objective problems, (b) the acti-
vities of George Louison and campany, (c} U.S. government and C.I.A.
activity and that of their regional puppets: how did the convergence of
these three factors lead to moving the situation initially from one of
crisis (January to end of August ‘83) culminating in the CC meeting on
Auguat 26, 1983; the growing gravity of the crisis in the Party, and how it
was affecting © programmes and mass organizationa of the Revolution? The
fact is that the minutes of August 26 would show that Cde. Maurice Bishop
pointed cut that the Party faced disintegration, unless measures were
taken. This is before the September meeting to propose solutions. Then a
situation of the crisis resolved on or on the way to being resolved.
(September 25 General Meeting of members of NIM, a meeting the Prosecution
has not talked about.) However, Cletus St. Paul in order to push a propa-—
ganda line trying to make mischief from the witness box, unwittingly talks
about the atmosphere of joy and happiness of all, including Cde. Maurice
Bishop, Unison Whiteman and others at Cde. Maurice Bishop's home on
September 25.

The Ode. Maurice Bishop leaves the next day, September 26. He meets
George [ouison here and also out there are Cletus St. Paul and Don Rojas
(you will hear more about his activities, including his activities on
October 19th) and then there is the return of those three elements who
acoampanied Gde. Maurice Bishop and then the crisis is back to square onc.
Why? Who was responsible? what causes that? Then another stage - the
crisis escalates. Wwho escalates it? Why? With vhat objective? Who
stands to gain and who stands to lose?

There is something I have given a lot of thought to, and that is the
very strange conduct of George Louison on October 18th, which was a very
important day. Soqetimes you just look at October 19, and you don't put
all the pieces together. But one of the legal counsel I met, after he
spent some time speaking to people. The first question he asked me was
“"what happened on October 18th?" It was a time of heightened activity by
everyone ~ those in the dock and others - to solve the crisis. October
18th was the high point of that. I proposed the meeting with George
Louison, Unison wWhiteman, Selwyn Strachan and myself to find a solution.

In the trial George admitted this but said I wvas returning his calll

fpart from my {hitiating a serics of meetings, to solve the crisis, CC

comrades went ,to meet with Gde. Maurice Bishop, Caribbean personalities
came in to assist us and one met with Cde. Maurice and the rest of the
Central Conmittee on October 18, and was due to meet with us again on
October 19. And meanvhile Cdes. Hudson Austin, Bwart Layne, Dave Batholo-
maw and Liam James met with Ode. Maurice Bishop also. Other OC men met
vith party comrades on the night of October 18, also in an attempt towards
resolving the problems.

Cde, Hudson Austin told Ode. nison and others, "don't resign, they're
about to be solved.® Yet that same afternocon on all radio stations, there
are the announcements of the teaignations of Ode. nison whiteman, George
Louison, Lylen Ramadhanny, Jacqueline Creft and Norris Bain. Were some
people upset because it looked like a solution was about to be reached, the
crisis about to be solved? were precipitate actions taken to ensure that
tho crisia was not solved? Who took those actions? what did they do?
With a meeting scheduled for 10 a.m. on the 19th October, plus with Carib-
bean persons there. Thae outline of the agreement verbally discussed and
about to be agreed to, and then a crowd is led up to Mt. Weldale, takes
ode, Maurice Bishop - there is a crowd in the Market Square with micro-
phones, but instead they went up to Fort Rupert, disarmed soldiers and
armed certain civilians, .

And this crowd had *God Bless America® placards. Are we supposed to
believe that all of this ia accidental? Wasn't it that some people tried
to ensure that there was no solution, so that the Revolution can be
overthrown? October 18th is key.

All I have to say here, I don't expect Grenadians to understand,
appreciate and accept now, but I say so for the historic record so that
when the documents atart leaking out of the buildings in Washingtoa, so
that when people worldwide get here, they would remember the words I said
here and judge for themselves. I 3o not say anything for short-term advan-
tage, but for history. I apeak from my heart. I am a very blunt person.
I say things as I see them. I don't take nonsense, and I am not going to
curty favour with jduge, prosecution or jury. Who vex, vex. I'll let

history judge me.
110. Who, which persons, vhich forces, which governments, had a vested



interest in the crisis not being resolved, but instead getting worse and
leading to catastrophe? we need to examine that.

111. What was the position as recorded in black and vhite at the time
in question, of all the leaders of the Party presently facing trial, wvith
regards to the fundamental importance of Ode. Maurice Bishop to the Party,
govermment and Revolution? Not something we say now, because he is dead,
but wvhat was said at the time? What did those on trial have to say on this
question of the fundamental importance of (de. Maurice Bishop to the Party,
govermment and Revolution oa the 14, 15 and 16 September? wWhat were the
poaitions of people on September 17, on this question? what were theic
positions, expcessed in relation to this at the very General Meeting on
September 25th? what were the positions of comrades at the General Meeting

on September 26 on this question of Ode. Maurice Bishop's fundamental
lutiond? All this was recorded

importance to the Party, government and Revo
What was the position of leaders of

vhile the debates were taking place.
the Party on the question of Ode. Maurice Bishop on October 13th, at the

Party General Meeting at Butler House - a meeting George Louison spoke of
but left out a number of things and told lies that did not take place.

What w3 the position of Selwyn Strachan and Bernard Coard at the meeting

of October 15, 16 and 17 at my house with Unison Whiteman and George

Louison on the fundamental importance of Maurice Bishop to Party, govern-
ment and Revolution? When George Loui t that meeting on two occasions
peoposed the removal of Ode. Maurice Bishop from leadership of the Party,
the response of all the other members of the leadership now in the

wvhat vas
dock?

where Ode. Maurice Bishop himself as reflected in minutes of several
meatings of OC from as far back as 1982 and including vital meetings of
1983, when Ode. Maurice Bishop raised questions concerning his ability to
lead the Party because of his acknowledgement of weaknesses, vhat was the
response Qf other pacty leadera now in the dock?

That {s why T say this case starts vhen it's done, because when
documents start being published, people would find out the truth., We must
examine the gcoacerns, fears and motivations of the leadership, especially
those in the dock at this time. Not frame up a case to kill people and

call it justice!

*There waa absolutely no uag this ocountry could be defended succesafully
Wl presence al active 1nvoivement O. - urice Bisi N

#12. How did the leaderyof the Party presently in tha dock see the
in the context

role of Qde. Maurice Bishop in September and October 1983,

of the impending U.S. invasion of the country? We must be under no {llu-
sion. The U.S. was planning to invade Grenada, there vas abundant ‘evidence
of this, and a nunber of different pieces of concrete information then
available to the leadership will be resolved.

Because uppermost in the minds of all the leaders now in the dock and
those not in tha dock was the impending invasion of Grenada by U.S. And {t
was clear that there was absolutely no way this country could be defended
in the context of disunity, and without resolving the criais. There was
absolutely no way this country could be defended successfully without the
presence and active involvement in that defence of Cde. Maurice Bishop.
way in temms of rallying the people, the militia, and this was determined
by.the amity and morale of the people, and the active involvement of Qde.
Maurice Bishop was absolutely necessary for that. He sas unparalleled in
that, none could touch him in articulating the desires and asplrations of
the people. His charisma, the love of the people for him; no one could
touch him in that. Mo one therefore in this dock was under any illusion in
relation to the capacity of the Revolution to defend itself without Ode.

If we don't understand that, we don't understand October 19th. Some
people don't want October 19 to be understood! I am trying to show clearly
therefore all the factors which led to and determined the thinking and
moderation of the Party leadership in their deliberations in all the
meetings ~ at the September 14 ~ 16, September 17 CC meetings, the Septem-
ber 25 General Meeting, the September 26 General Meeting, the October 13
General Meeting and all other bilateral and snall meetings between the 14 -
18 October, such as the ones between Selwyn Strachan, Unison Whiteman,
George Louison and myself, all aimed at finding a solution. Not the lies
George Louison and Cletus St. Paul would like people to believe, but the
real reasons, the real thinking. What was said and done at the time? TO
Jamonatrate conclusively that there was no motive to murder Cde. Maurice
Bishop, and that there could not have been any;
case; the entire leadership was clear that there could be no solution to

the crisis without Gde. Maurice Bishop. Anyone who knows the Revolution
knows this is true.

No

Haurice Bishop.

Without an amicable solution, given the high level of consciousness on
the part of the leadership of the role and motivation of the U.S. to invade

the country, the whole Revolution was bound to be overthrown by imperi— .
alists if we didn't go all out to resolve the pcoblems. This was the main

peeoccupation of everyone at the time.

It is in the above context we must appreciate my personally initiating

the series of dialoguea between Selwyn Strachan, Unison Whiteman, George
Louison and myself, Not the lies George Louison says took placel What

George Louison said took place are lies.
text we must underatand the attempts by other CC comrades, including the

four CC comrades who met with Cde, Maurice Bishop on October 18th, It is
in the above context also that we must see the two OC members who went to
speak to many members of the Party on the evening of October 18th, all in

tling the criais.

attompts at set
it is in the above context that we must see all of the Party

Fourthly,
Jeaders including Ode. Maurice Bishop accepting Caribbean left leaders

caming into Grenada to help in settling the crisis. 1In fact their having

played a coastructive and useful role and reaching far in amicably settling
the criais.
I will now deal separataely with Cletus St. Paul's hide and seek melo-

drama of how he tried to reach me, etc. Its objective is prejudice,
slander, and innuendo. Onoe I lay out a few facts, people would see the

absurdity.

"Cde. Maurice Bishop going to Fort Rupert on October 18 was
there Is no

in fact the opposite is the

Secondly it is in the above con-

complately out

My view is also based on informatjon that Unison Whiteman and others
wre almost certainly expecting Ode. Maurice Bishop to go to the Market
Square and address the people there. Microphones were there and Cde.
Unison tWhiteman had spoken to people earlier that morning on those same
mi crof e3. That was the reallty of the situation, and that is my view
on my personal knowledge and relations with Cde. Maurice Bishop goimg
back to secondary school days, he at Presentation Boys College and I at the
GBSS. There waa a strong tradition in those days vhere GBSS boys didn't
talk to ollege boys. One of the things that Ode. Maurice Bishop and I
were proud of {3 the starting of the pcocess of the breaking down of that
unnecessary and somevhat unhealthy tradition of young men of the same age
not talking to each other! We were together the founders while in 6th form
of the Grenada Assembly of Youth After Truth in the early 60's. Hhen I was
studying In the U.S.A. and Maurice ln the U.K., he would come to New York,
I would go across fram Boston to New York, and we would spend time together
and talk. We would discuss the future of the country. We were extremely
close socially and politically.

then I went to the United Kingdom to do my post graduite studies, he
was thea living in Tulse Hill, I worked in Deptford.

. The book on education which I wrote while I was living in London - the

idea was cordceived at a fete at his house. I remember we used to go toge-

ther to libraries - to the London University library, to the Weat India

Comnittee Libraty - researching together the life of Fedon, the man who
struggled against the British to free the slaves in Grenada. Maurice wote
a forty page paper on the history and life of Fedon.

“We wrote the manifesto for the development of our country.”

I rémember in 1973 going with Ode. Maurice Bishop and other comrades,
same of those in the dock, and some of those vho are not, to meetings of
MAP [Movément for Assemblica of the People), meetings in River Sallee, and

on the West (oast,
1 remember after the formation of the NJM in 1973, along with other

canrades bul mainly the work was carried by the two of us, we wrote the

manifesto for the development of pur country. About 80% of that manifesto
was weitten by Ode. Maurice Bishop and mmyself at Beverly Flats, in quaran-
tine ... Grenadians who know the area will know that's where the BSC night-
club always used to ba, I don't know if it'a still there, but that's where

it wvas for many yeara,

“Meaningful, not meaningless independence®

I remember NM's mobilizing for the May 6, 1973, People's Conveatioa

on_Independence. Our main slogan was *meaningful, not meaningleas e—
pendence™ - we meant independence with jobs, with housing, with decent
education and health services for the people. We explained to the pecple

that Gairy's independence was meaningless.
The Conatitution talks were held in London. Galry and the opposition,

then headed by Herbert Blaize, went to the talks. I was invited to go. At
those talks we worked together; I was on the inside, and Maurice on the

outside, talking with Grenadians, tryhing to persuade them to support a
programme for meaningful independence.

“The 27 crimes of Galry ... a historic document ... we wvrote it together.”

I remember the People's ress of November 4th, 1973. I remember
vividly, in the &yaﬁ%&?{%reu there were attempts by Gairy to
arrest the NJM leadership, and so to prevent us holding the Congress. I
remember when I came in to Pearls Alrport fram Trinidad, there were polige
witing for me, but they were drinking in a bar - I made a quick dash into
a taxi, and gave ther the slipt

The 27 crimes of the Gairy government which vas presented at that Con—
greas at Seamoon, Ode. Maurice Bishop and I wrote it together. The RJM as
part of the People‘s Alliance gave a very creditable performance. Even
with massive rigging by Gairy — ve came within 250 votes of winning that
Yet we did not win, and so the pressure on the people, the

election.
suffering of the people, continued.

"With the limited means at our disposal, we had to make the Revolution.”

At around 3 o'clock

And I remember Saturday, the 10th of March, 1979.
the Party wvas

in the afterncon 4 were in a building on Lucas Street,
holding a meeting there, and we got news that Gairy had sent out his police
to round up the leadership of the NJM. At that time we learned that we
faced possible liquidation. Gairy had had constructed cight special
underground cells for the cight members of the Political Bureau of NJM.
During this present trial, throujtout the Prosecution case I was placed in
one of those cells prepared by Gairy for the KM leadership in 1979. They
are the only cells in the prison without light. That's a historic iroay!
On that day, March 10, 1979, the police had gone to nab us at our
homea.
{n different locations all over St. George's so that it wolld not be appac-
ent that we were in that building, because our cars were right outside the
building on Lucas Street. Then wo - Maurice and myself - went into a .
vehicle we had never travelled in before; because when you have a security
problem 6f any kind you do not use a vehicle which is well ‘known, what's
called a *marked car'. You use a vehicle which is not known, an unmarked
car. This i3 a basic pcecautign, and later on I am going to invite all
those whose minds are not totally and icrredeemably prejudiced by the propa-
ganda, I am §0ing to ask them to consider whether on October 19th, 1983,
wvith hundreds of people in the streeta chanting and shouting for the blood
of Bernard (oard, whether my security would have chosen to put myself and
my wife into Maurice Bishop'a car, parhaps the best known car in Grenada,
And 8o, we went into hiding on March 10th, 1979. Ode. Maurice Biahop,
Ode. Unison Whiteman and myself were together. Ode. Hudson Austin went
into hiding separately, with other comrades. I remember vividly which
house we went to, in Green Street, to hide until it was dark. Then we
moved and we were moving, moving, from Saturday the 10th to Honday the
12th. One of our hiding places was only a few yards from Gairy's residence
at Mount Royal - it was a little scary! That was a dangerous and perilous
soeriod ~ but we were in hiding together, discussing how to respond. HWith

of character for him, and for NJH as a barty ... on his om,
way he wuld have taken such a decision.”

I wish to say also, and plan to argve further, that Ode. Haurice
Bishop going to Fort Rupert on October 19 was coupletely out of character

for him and for NJH as a Party.
and relationship with Ode. Maurice Bishop over the years from secondary

school, and my knowledge of NJM.
taken such a decision.

"My personal knowledge and relatioas with Cde. Maurice Bishop go back to

I say this based on my intimate knowledge

On his own, thare is no way he would have

PB
the limited means at our disposal, we knew we had to make the Revolution.

"One was facing history rather directly.®

Hudson Austin joined us oa the 12th. At Freedam Hill that night we
were joined by 42 others. We were 46 in all. Half of us had something in
our hand, and the other half had nothing. We were facing Gairy's ammy of
200, and his police force of 600 in 36 police atations throughout the

island.
That was an assault on Gairy's Green Beast [Army] Barracks in which

secondary school days.™

We got word of this and asked some comrades to patk our cars for us

3%



eleven of those now in the dock took part. That's why they are here in the

dock.
At 4:10 a.m. when we moved out, that was quite a moment. One was

facing histocy rather directly. We would either make the Revolution or we
us:uld be dead. We had a careful plan i{nvolving maximun noise and confu- ’
sion, to create a fire with Molotov cocktails, and to create confusion ...
when we attacked, Gaicy's army rushed out in underpants and in no
pants - not one Gairy soldier or oae of ours lost their lives. Two people

died later, but not then, not in that assault.

"We vere insisteant that it could be done without bloodshed, because Grenada
13 a small society.”

I will never focrget, there was one individual who was not a member of
the Party but we {nvolved him because he had had militacy training. He
presented us vith real problems. I think he had been trained in the
m_'xtlsh army. Hig training was "killl killt killt® He kept saying in
dlsqusc! "Coard wants us to take Gairy's army with a Bible in one hand and
a rope in the otherl”™ (We had rope to tie up the soldiers.) You can ask
any of the 46 persons who were there that day ... because Grenada is a
small society, everybody is related to everybody - everybody is some-
body*s uncle, aunt, and so on. Although they were Green Beasts, although
they had brutalized people, had killed Alister Strachan, we were insistent
tha_t ;t could be done without bloodshed. Bacause Grenada is a small
society.
ynnnediutely after the attack, Cde. Maurice Bishop and I, with Ode.
Unison Whiteman, were going to Radio Grenada - Radio Free Grenada as it was
aftervards christened. This was within minutes of the atfack. We had
borr 3 a white Ford car from a friend. We had problema of transport that
night - same comrades were on foot, When the fire atarted at the..barracks
va Bay tha fire brigade coming, then a black car license number 10; {in it
was Sergeant Bidoux, later during the Revolution he was pravoted and I
think he is now an Assistant superintendent - he and another police offi-
cer, and after our cars passed each other they looked backl - “What are
Maurice Bispop and pernard Ooard and Unison Whiteman doing together at 4
o' clock in the morningl® - Then they saw the fire and they decided to go to
investigate it. It was a close shavel

auhen the U.S. ls shouting *‘Bloodthicrsty killersi' let us remember that

historical recood.™

Six of us had to hold the radio station for 1 1/2 hours, because other
comrades ~ Lester Redhead here and others - had to round up the Mongoose
Gang. The Mongoose Gang were armed, they were shooting: yet our Party went
to great lengths to capture the Mongoose Gang alive and unacathed. These
are facts of history. When the U.S. is shouting 'Bloodthirsty killers!®
let us remember that historical record.

At the radio atation that morning we had to be getting the radio
working, so we could put out a call to the people, and at the same time ve
had to be defending the station. There were police at the nearby police
station, and they decided to come over and investigate, and there vere only
six of us there! Fortunately just at that mament our wnits arrived.

These are just a few of the times that Cde. Maurice Bishop and I went
into hiding together, and operated as a team together. From school days,
to college days, abroad, in the pre-NIM political work, the 1973-74 strug-
gle, the 1976 elections, to the glorious March 13 Revolution — which the
Bajan torturers have Redhead refer to as a ‘coup' in his torture statement!
Really! They must do their dirty work better next timel

"It was never part of the method of functioning of our Party to do vhat
that Jemonstration did on October ISth.”

From all that experience I can say fram my knowledge of him - and
other Grenadians T am sure will agree if they think about it - that it a3
completely out of character, both for him and for NJM as a Party - that it
‘as never part of the method of functioning of our Party to do what that
demonatration did on October 19th. On his own, there is no way Ode.
Maurice Bishop would have taken such a decision. It was canpletely out of

character, both for him personally and for NJM.

“A crowd is not like a boy scout troop, moving in a disciplined fashion:
there are different elements.”

And to move-on to another dimension. We have to understand _che dyna-
mics of a crowd, especially a huge crowd, especially one being whipped up

and agitated by certain elements.
Think about it. Consider this example. Suppose there is a fire at a

store, citizens will gathec and they will stacre at the store.

one or two persons break a showcase window., This will trigger a few other

eloments to do likewise. And if a couple people then, sceing some nice

goods in the showcase window start to take one or two things home - other-

wise known as looting - you would be surprised how many other law-abiding

citizens, who have never in their lives stolen anything, will do likevisel
people one to one can be reasoned with. It's different with a lacge

There ia a 'herd psychology.’

crovd.
Itta very important to understand crowd psyctology if we are‘really to

understangd October 19, 1983, There were many different leadera and sub-
leaders leading the crowd in different directions - “let's go there® ...
“nah, let's go there.” A crowd is not like a boy scout troop, moving in a
disciplined fashion. There are different elements.
ation on Octgber 1Sth.

“rhere were three main elements in the crowd on Octobec 19th.*

What we can deduce from all the facta available is that there ware
three main elements in the crowd on October 19th.

Firstly, and I call this category A, there was the vast majority who
simply wanted to hear the leader,” and vhose aspiration and intention was
to head for the Market Square vhere microphones were sot up, to hold a mass
rally, and so on. This was in keeping with Ode. Maurice Bishop's personal-
ity and that of the vast majority of the people.

This vast majority found themselves split into three sections as the
demonstration unfolded. This is the kind of thing for vhich I want to call
actwal witnesses in a free and fair trial.

I know an individual and through him I can locate another man, who
lives in Fontenoy. After October 19 he said to me °I was in the crowd.” I
would call him as a witness. I wouldn‘t ask him to agree with me in
everything, but just to be honest. When that decision was taken, when
people sald "let's go to the Fort® - just vhen the actual decision was
taken it would not evea be easy to know. But this man said to me that when

3¢ people said "let'sa go to the Fort,” “"we going to Fort Rupert!" a number of
the demonstrators said “that look like trouble,* and they did not go to

Suppose then

and thia was the situ—

Fort Rupert with the crowd. They just don't find that sounds right. And
it is a fact that only a percentage of the enormous crowd went there.

There were many decent, law-abiding supporters of the Revolution in
that demonstration. And vhen the decision was taken to go oa to fort
Rupert, some people left and went home.

There was a seccond segment, like this individual fram Fontenoy — the
people who camprised that segment got carried away with excitement. You
kr_\ou this is true, if you are in a cinema and there is a fight, everybody
will forget the show and move across to watch ~ everybody will be diverted.
If there is a fight on a dance floor this happens too. People get carried
away. And so this guy fram Fontenoy went to Fort Rupert. The turning
point for him vas when he heard one or two people saying “all those vith
militia training step forward to be armed.”

I say there are hundreds of Grenadians vho were at Fort Rupert -
regardless of whether or not they are hostile to the defendanta because of
propaganda — there are hundreds of Grenadians who were at Fort Rupert but
were not personally involved in seizing weapons, in seizing secret army
documents, in lootThy the canteen, in abusing soldiers, hundreds who did
not personally go to get hold of a weapon - these categories are a minor-
ity, T would submit - hundreds ol ordinacy decent citizens were there, and
a_nt'mber left and went home when they heard prople say “all those with
militia training step fooward.” The man fran Fontenoy is one of those who
left and I will find him and bring him to testify in a free and fair trial.

| These are some of the kinds of witnesses I would bring in a free and
fair trial. That's vhy I can present only an indicative defence.
Then there is a third segment of that vast majority on October 19.
The third segment doesn't leave, these people stay on, but¥they don't take
pact in the violence., They don't accept weapons.

It {s no accident the Prosecution did not question Chrias Stanislaus.
she said ghe saw 25 civilians with weapons before the armoured cats

arrived.

Leade? of the Prosecution, Karl Hudson-Phillips {interrupting}: there is no
v

evidence 1n this trial...

pernard Coard {interrupting}: Rightl That evidence has been supressed! I
am glad that you said that. She said eo at the preliminacy Inquiry but the
But history will record that she

evidence you suppressed at this trial.
said that! My business is vith hiatory and with tiuth. You will get a
ph.D and a Q.C. for Kangaroos at the end of this trial. I will avard it

myself - you deserve {ti
=All that you have suppreased hare will coma out.”

At a proper Commission of Inquiry the truth will come out. You think
you could suppreas it forever? Joke you making! No matter what happens to
w3, our families and friends «ill ensure that. There will be an investi-
gation, 1f necessary outside Grenada, with some of the most emminent
jurista in the world; and all that you have suppressed bere will come outt

on the 15th april, even before this trial started, that first day when
I apoke, I said that far more important than my life is my reputation. The
same is true for the other defendants. I am concerned with ‘the truth, not

your fancy rules and regulationst

“The second category, those vith an anti-Imperialist track record.®

So some people stay, but don't take weapons.

Then there is the second category, which I call category B. This
category is canposed of Vince Noel and one or two other individuals, wvith
natural leadership qualities, and, ve must frankly acknowledge, an anti-
Imperialist track record, who are opposed to anti-Communist propaganda, o
in my personal opinion were not consciouslx acting as agents of the C.I.A.,
who were acting as they saw best for whatever their reasons were. He and
others were agitating the crowd. I saw some of this. So did some other

defendants.

"The third category, anti-social elements ... and consciously leading them,
the C.I.A. agents of the United States.”

Then there s category C. Remember, in all crowds there are different
elements., You must find a few anti-social elements, looking for an-oppor-—
tunity to break up and mash up, to take something in the process, to get
some free drinks. There are always a few of these. Among these, and con-
sciously leading them, were the C.I.A. agents which the United States had
in place for this purpose.

We must not confuse categories B and C.
dynamism operating between them, but we must not confuse them.
thece is no way vince Noel would be part of any demonstration - nor Unison
Whiteman - of any demonstration with placards saying "God Bleas Amcrica”
and “C for Ovard, C for Commnunisn." And yet, those placards were there.

There was a chemistecy and a
Because

“'God Bless America' placards — the fingerprint of the C.I.A."

People in those two categories were all vying for control. For who
will controll At ona point I saw Vince MNoel snatch a placard - there are
photos of these placards - he grabbed a placard and mashed it up! I gaw
anothetr defendant close to Vince Noel when he did that. vince Hoel was not
part of this anti-Communist thrust in the demonstration. - He waa hostile to
Some agent was holding such a placard, and Vince Noel mashed it up.

If Grenadians stop and think and reflect, they will know that even
under Gairy we never saw such placards. “God Bless America®, "We love
America™ - where America come into this? I could understand that after the
javasion perhaps, after the U.S. brought in their psychological operations
battalioa, but never during the Revolutionl. It was clearly the work of

foreign agents, the hand of the C.I.A., thair fingerpcint.

it.

“A struggle took place for supremacy and control of the actions of the
crowd. ™

For Vvince Noel — and Unison Whiteman was the same - for him to grab
that placard, indicates the heterogeneous, complex and coantradictory chac-
acter of that crowd on October 19, 1983. There were different elements,
with different objectives. Some want to go to the Market Square, some want
to go to Fort Rupert. These latter want to go there because they want
bloodshed -~ that's their orderst

So, some want a rally in the Market Square; others went to capture the
Headquartera of the Armed Forces. Some want the Revolution: others want
the United States. Some want Revolution; others want counter-revolution.

That incident with Vince Noel was part of the struggle taking place
for supcemacy and control of the actions of the crowd. The struggle was
won by those who said "let's capture the Headquarters of the Armed Forces.®



An Armed Forces, mind you, which throughout the crisis was off the streets
in their barracks — every Grenadian knows that! There was no water—cannoqa,
tear gas, butu and so on brought to mash up the crowd in any of the
demonstrations. Anyone who says that is lyingl

"There was no attempt by the army to disperse the crowd, so you provoke it.

The enemy provokes bloodshed.™

So how does this enemy of the Revolution achieve bloodshed? How do
they get to kill some of the leaders of the Revolution, and then now come
and kill the others on the grounds that we killed the firsat set?!

They achieve all this by storming the Headquarters of the Armed
There has been no attempt by the army to disperse the crowd s0
You provoke violence.

Forces.
far, so you provoke it.

“On October 19th, Tom Adams expected something to occur.”

Tom Adams gave the game away, when he spoke about the decisions
Barbados took, with the U.S., on the morning of the 19th October. They

expected something. They cancelled one operation to send troops to ‘to
rescue Maurice Bishop fram House Arrest,” and were “waiting for other
developments. ™

Part of a proper Commission of Inguiry has to be getting certain

Cabinet documents from the Barbados Government, and also the records of
certain cammunications between the U.S. and Barbados govermments.

LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

This question of crowd psychology and dymanica especlally of a large
undamental importance

crowd, an emotionally charged excited crowd, is of £
to grasp fully in all its dimenajons, to fully understand and appreciate
T3 is by no

October 19th and the sequence of events which unfolded,
meana the only dimension, but it is indispensable in understanding the

events,

Two examples exiat that can give people an insight into the dangers,
the problems, of large crowds concentrated in limited areas, in excitable
states., O 1s the incident which occurred just a few months ago in
Belgiun in a football match, vhan a amall segment of the crowd in one area
of the crowd bbroke down part of the partition and engaged in a melee. In
a matter of mfnutes 38 people lost their liv.es, and hundreds were injured
due to fighting between small segments of rival supporters, and the col-
lapse of structures. This vas reported worldwide.

With the speed and rapidity with wvhich the eventa took place from the
activities of a few dozen - not the majority — a few dozen of the most
bolaterous and lumpen persons amongat the crowd; before anyone knew it

there was disaster and calamity.

“The C.I.A. manipulated a demonstration to overthrow Mossadety, in 1953."

The second example of how a crowd can be engineered and manipulated is

tha example of Iran. The year ia 1953, and the Mossadel, government is in
C.
E:ns.ean end to foreign control. It vas elected to office.
Shah, a feudal lord, had left the country in the wake of this national
damocratic Revolution.
The C.I.A. was formed by an act of €ongress in 1947.
itors of the 0SS, which served the U.S. in the var. The first successful
overthrow by the C.I.A., officially acknowledged by the U.S. govermment in
the records of the U.S. Congress, is the overthrow of the tMossadelyygovern-—
ment in 1953. The first success in destabjlization reaching overthrow.
They brought back the Shah. There are British and American T.V. documen—
tary films. It is uncanny, same of the documents of that demonstration.
recanmend to all Grenadians to see that film, so as to understand October
19. There was a buildup of demonstrations like.in Grenada. Then the big

one.

The autocratic

The demonstration started with the chanting of anti-U.S., pro-

Hossadeeq, slogans.
*Qut with mssadeq,"
govermment had to flee.

country. The issue was, who or what to blame? The government said the
U.S., because of its policies. The U.S. was engaged in destabilizing, in
destabilization, they admit it now. The U.S. paid lumpen elcments led by

C.I.A. agents.
with the crowd. You see it in the film; the camera actually shous the

chanting of the people, and the U.S. agents in the crowd, dishing out
dollar billst

and started to swash up the country. And the Mossad

"In any serious inwestigation there must be an examination of all the films

spontaneity of the masses with the planning of U.S. imperialism and its
regional puppets - they had planned to ensure a shootout, to ensure
violence and bloodshed between the civilian population and the Army, and
the atoming of the Army's Headquarters.

No one except coaspirators — the U.S., Tom Adams and Edward Seaga —
would have thought that the Headquarters of the PRAF would be stormed or
even forsee the amashing down of the barriers at Mt, Weldale. The storming
of the Headquarters, taking of weapons, military documents dealing with the
defence of the country and the provocative and illegal acts of a nation
highly dangerous to national security,I say in retrospect,was calculated to
provoke a response fraw theArmy. That's the only way I can interpcet thoge

events.
"When Cde. Maurice Bishop left Grenada the crisis was solved. So what

A revolutionary democratic government seeking national independence

They were inher-
I

By the time the demonstration ended, they were shouting

There were econcmic and political problems in the

In the film, they zocmed the camera lens to show the agents

happened 1n Eastern Europe?”

Then there is the highly significant behaviour of a particular indivi-
dual, Don Rojas, who in October 1973 was the Press Secretary of the Prime
Minister - his highly suspicious behaviour which went beyond suspicion to
certainty as to its agent character after the invasion.

Don Rojas is Vincentian by birth, but his father lived in Grenada. He
worked in the U.S. in the black community including as a journalist in New
York, and at one stage being a member of the editorial staff of the
Amsterdam News.

As soon as the Revolution took place, Don Rojas shows up in Grenada.
He is speaking the languige of the Grenada Revolution, all the right
phrasea. He canes with recommendations fran other journalists well
respected by the leaders of the Grenada Revolution. He comes with needed
journalistic skills. He also has experience in radio broadcasting, all
skills vitally needed. He offers his service to the Grenada Revolution.

At first he works with the Free West Indian, then he becomes editor, then

managing editor.
and giving reports on how the trip was going - very gripping reports, well

done journalistically. He knows his stuff. He gives a sense of how the
trip is going.
As a result of his work pecrformance and travelling closely with Qde,

Bishop to many countries, Don Rojas is able to move out more to gain the
confidencne of the leaders of the Revolution. He fooled me, tool I must

admit it. [No matter how many books you read, in real life it is different.
It is significant that the people who accanpanied Qde. Bishop - George

Louison said a 17-man delegationfamong the people who accampanied de.

Maurice on hia trip to Hungary and Czechoslovakia, apart from the technical
personnel and one or two Party members, it Is very significant, some of the

othera who were on the trip.
It is significant because when Ode. Maurice Bishop leaves Grenada the

criais was solved, at the General Meeting on September 25 for 15 hours, at
vhich Qdes. Maurice Bishop, Unison Whiteman and myself had been present.
George Louison is the only one not present. That meeting comes to certain
decisions, there are frank discussions - everything is recorded in the

minutes. The meeting ends on a high note, everybody goes to Maurice

Bishop's home and has drinks.
context. I will deal with that later. But he mentions it.

So everyone except George Louison is at that General #eeting.
Ode. Bishop departs for Eastern Europe. So what happened in Eastern
Burope? And who is with Ode. Maurice Bishop throughout? — George Louison,
Cletus St. Paul, Shahiba Strong (another one who shoved up after the
Revolution like Don Rojas), and Don Rojas.

What is extremely asignificant is that while the crowd in the streets
on October 19, 1983 reaches Ode. Maurice Bishop's residence and bursts in
and removes him and is taking him down as it turns out to Fort Rupert,
while that is happening, two other events are happening simultaneously or
almost simultanecusly. There are specific people who can attest to this,

namely the telephone workers on duty who were stuck up by Don Rojas with
He stuck up the workers at qun—point and had a list of telephone

Then

AK's.
numbers of Army camps and political and military leaders whose phones must

be disconnected. Some of the weapons that were there as part of weapons
belonging to the workers' militia were seized by him.
was a list shows that while the crowd was acting spontaneously, Don Rojas

was not acting spontaneously.
For the people, events were unfolding with genuine spontaneity and

chaos, but to the U.S. and their conspirators and agents in the country, it
At the same time as this is happening

is a different ball game altogether.
at the telephone company, a particular businessman with one or two other
persons were sticking up police at Immigration Department and taking away
weapons. This businessman is now acutely embarrassed by this. te was

nobody's agent, he was unwitting in his actions.
we were in jail, he sent us some footballs, clothes, cigarettes. It was
his way of saying, "how did I get mixed up in this thing?® I am sure he

of October 19th.”

In Grenada there were two sets of chants - pco-Maurice Bishop and pro-

Revolution; anti—Communist and pramoting counter-Revolution. There are
people who took camera photos and video films of the demoastration.

Ati-U.S., pro Cde. Bishop, pro-Revolution; and God Bless Amnerica, We Love

America, anti-Communist slogans and chanting and placards. They admitted
in Congreas how much money they spent to bribe peogle in Iran.
of Iran they show you the actual faces of agents,

people.

When people are whipped up, emotionally aroused, and when some start
to do it already, they are most vulnerable, most sujgestible, most open to
chaos, confusion, destructiveness. They are at their weakest and most vul-
nerable, S0 if people in their midat are inciting “Let's go here, let's go
there,* many paople get carried avay. This was brilliantly documented in
Iran. The C.I.A. adnitted that they manipulated the crowd.

In any serious inquiry there must be an examination of all the films
of October 19th., I saw a leading secret police in the crowd jostling for

He was one who beat up Selwyn Strachan, Maurice Bishop, Unison

position.
whiteman with axe handles in 1973. Are we supposed to believe that on
October 19th he was the greatest champion of Maurice Bishop? I saw known

hostile opponents of the Revolution mixed among stxrong supporters of the
Revolution who were the majority in the crowd. Anyone in or observing the
demonstration would have to admit that while there were strong supporters
who were the vast majority, there were also counters, Galry-ite secret
police, and lumpen elements, although they were in the minority. These are
things to be investigated, through checking people, and films taken at the

time.
“U.S. Imperialism had planned to ensure a shoot-out.”

I wish also to say that the U.S. govermment and its agencles, with the
open knowledge and connivance of Tom Adams, based on his own statements
since the invasion, had planned - and here wa can see and contrast the

In the fi)
ribing people, agitatin;

knows vho put the idea in his head. This can be found out in a serious
investigation. Inspector Raymond was in charge that morning at that time
vhen weapons were seized at the Immigration Department.

out.

will undertake the investigation!
"pon Rojas gets VIP treatment from the Americans.”

Don Rojas puta out a statement from the telephone company to the
region that morning. wWhat he says and doesn't say must be cacefully

He starts accompanying the Prime Minister on trips abroad

Cletus St. Paul mentions this, in a sinister

The fact that there

In the first weeks, when

He can be checked

Since there is now no law in this country, perhaps foreign journalists

astudied. When the invasion took place the Americans were grabbing every-
body - the U.S. govermment admits to the press that at a certain point they
had taken to the concentration camp 2,800 Grenadians, as well as Caribbean
citizens workirfy for the Revolution. A sister from Guyana, who was perma-
nent secretary in the Ministry of Housing, a German doctor, Dr. Fuchs, all
were treated soyexcept two I know of: Shahiba Strong and Don Rojas.

Here is the Preess Secretary of the Prime Minister, travelling all over
the wrld with him cight at the heart of things in terms of knowing many
things. He is not detained but flown out in a U.S. milita?y aircraft to
Barbados, vhere they set up a press conference for him., This Is a report
from CANA by Alister Bughes, dated %9 October - the day I was kidnapped by
two Yankees - "Bridgetown CANA in English,” it says, “"Rojas flown here by
military transport.® Sticking up workers at the telephone company on the
19th! And VIP treatment from the Americans on the 29thl
I wonder vhether any prosecution witness said in the trial like in the
P.E. that there was an attempt to have the telephones reconnected at Fort
Rupert? Don Rojas had all the phones cut including the phone at my house
and that was before the crowd reached Fort Rupert. It is poasible that
this was done before the crowd reached Mt. Weldale. That needs to be
investigated! The Press Secretary of the Prime Minister doesn't get
detained like everybody working closely with the Revolution - and is even
put on a military transport plane - VIP treatment! — Even Miss Hylton (DPP]
had to travel by Liat. And then he gets press conferences! This is out of
character for the U.S. The U.S. would want to interrogate him for daysi
They held people in less sensitive jobs and interrogated them.
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C.J. Byron {interrupting hastily}: That is not evidence in this trialt

military plane and hold press conferences?
When we analyse real life, we must approach real life with maturity,

with sophistication and sobriety, and not be led astray by propaganda and
appearances.
“The only thing the U.S. didn't do was to pull the trigger.*

The only thing the U.S. govermment and its agents didn't do on October
19 was to pull the trigger. They did everything else. That i{s why I spent
time yesterday showing a pattern of destabilization. The Holiday Inn fire,
sabotage of Grenada‘s electricity machines, the Grenada Intermational
Travel Service (GITS) and Carifta (ottage firea, the tremendous campaign to
stop us getting loans for the International Airport, and loans to develop

Sernard Coard: She testified to that under cath at the Prelimina

My concern 13 for the truth.

C.J. Byron: You had the opportunity to cross-cxamine the witness!

Bernard Coard:
Tacilities to cross-examine witnesses.
cell without a light-bulb and without a copy of the P.I. depositions until

after the Prosecution closed its casel
Prosecution witnesses still, {f the conditions for 80 doing are given.

cy Inquiry.

I did not have the opportunity, I was denied all the
cami I vas even kept in an underground

I am willing to croas-examine the

In any case without saying vhat Chris Stanislaus said at the P.I. and

on cath, I draw the attention of the court to the fact that a prosecution
witnesa in this case can provide serious information as to the ntities

the country. Propaganda showing pictures of barbed wire, propaganda about

of 81l civilians armed with automatic weapona, machine and submachine guns

a sumarine base at Grand Etang, etc. - propaganda about the Airport as a

pclor to the arrival of the APC'a.

With a serious Investigation and a free

Soviet airbase.
! We have to see the buildup in the threats by Ortiz and Sheltoa, then
in all the things which happened - the propaganda, military, econcmic and
political destabilization so that the system would break under pressure.
want to explain that the only thing the U.S. did not do on October 19 was
to pull the trigger. They did everything else. I'll give two examples of
One is of an Alfred Hitchcock

what T mean, and same facts to back them up.
film, in which a man wishes to kill another and he discovered that the man

had a bad heart. So he worked out a plan of psychological measures which
led to the death by heart failure of the individual. The death certificate
said heart failure but in reality the man was murdered. This is the

difference between outward appearance and inner reality.

"I don't expect Grenadians would immediately understand all aspects of the
U.S. role in the October events ... but I apeak for History."

I

_Another example - a man is seen knocking down a child with a car - a
tragic accident - and he is charged for manalaughter. But the man who
loosened the screws on the car's brakes, or cut the steering, is not even
on the scene of the incident when the child is killed. That is the U.S.'s
role in all the events, up to and including October 19. And by the way,
that too is the U.S.'s role - invisible, using black face cards in this
trial. I don't expect Grenadians would immediately understand all aspects
9( the U.S. role in the October events, because of how the C.I.A. operates
its mask and hides its actiona. Tt is very hard for most people to see.
But when I speak of the events I speak not just for the present audience,
but for History. As more and more facts are revealed, the things I say
would take on more significance, and one day people would understand the
full picture.

That is why ] wish to try to link together the pieces of the jigsaw
puzzle I outlined yesterday with those today to start the process of seeing
how they fit togethec.

Apart from all the forms of economic pressure - blockade and sabotage

throughout the 4 1/2 years, many many times helicopters, warships and mili-
tary aircraft invaded our airspace and territorial waters as a form of mil-
The number of times states of

itary, political and paychological preassure.
alert were called, and the effects of this on the economy, for tourism for

instance, and on the psychological states of the troops being on alert so
often must be conaidered. Their belng always confined, their guard must
fall; it's a constant pressure. AMd the results wvere to frequently divert
the leadership Qf the Party, government and army from the main tasks, as
well as to affect the psychological state of the leadership.

FRIDAY, 15 AUGUST 1986

"The soldiers from the armoured car did not commit suicide.. How did they

die?"

There is a Grenadian, unemployed, whom I know well. It is my informa-
tion that he was on Fort Rupert on October 19. More 80, he was one who was
persmaded to take one of the weapons being distributed. Having received
this information through a mutual friend, I raised the matter with three
defendants who confirmed this. At one point he actually had that weapon
pointed at them, being one of the civilians who was in and out of the

Cperations Room.

This individual is acutely embarassed by his role that day. He now
realises that he was duped, manipulated. He sent messages to me about six
months ago for a visit and to come and see me. This ias not possible at
that time duve to taloney. I saw him in court one day. I spoke to him

briefly from this dock. He was acutely embarassed. He was one of those
It is significant, he said, vhy

swept up on Cctober 19 by the propaganda.
He said that he was swept up by the propaganda

he found himself therve.
that Qde. Bishop wanted Socialism and Gde. Coard wented Communism. That he

was for Soclalism, but was afraid of Communisu. That is vhy he joined the
demonstration. And the next thing he finds himself with gun in hand,
sticking up officersof the General Staff in their own headquacters!

This individial would definitely know the names of other civilians who
were also armed on the verandah of the Operations Room and may be able to
to identify those who were at the back of the Operations Room as described
by Capt. Lester Redhead. whichever individuals he names, when they are
questioned, could provide the names of others there and could say vhat
actually happened. This is how a serious investigation would take place if
the objective were the truth, rather than political persecution.

There has been talk amongst some Grenadiana who were on Fort Rupert on

October 19 as far back as before the P.I. as to the identity of civilians

vho they claimed first opened fire and alledgedly killed W.O. Raphael Mason

at the bottom of Fort Rupert. There has been talk and it is my under-
standing that statements were given to police officers about an Indiam or

Indian—i{sh individual {Jaswant Kapur's son} - the son of a prominent person

in St. Georges - who first opened fire. This may or may not be accurate

but it ought to be investigated. How did the four soldiers vho died there
- Mason, Mayers, Nathan and Peters - how did they die? How did it happen?
tiow did the battle start? This is a snall country. A serious investiga-
tion wuld turn up the names of all or nearly all those civilians vho had

weapons on Fort Rupert before the APC arrived, and who opened fire on the
Those soldiers

soldiers. Who opened fire, who took part in the battle?
did not commit suicide. And it has been ascertained and can be checked,

that all but 2 of the soldiers on the 1st ARC were either killed or wounded

oa October 19. That couldn't happen by magic. It needa to be explained,
investigated if we are interested in truth and not scapegoating, but this

area ot investigation is taboo to the prosecution! They don't want
Grenadians to think of this at all.

*A prosecution witness can provide serious information as to the identi-
Tties of all civillians who were a -

and faic trall to follow, witnesses would be called to testify to the

following:
1) The slogans, chants and placards of what I yesterday referred to

as “the Vinceat Noel Group® in the massive crowd on October 19.

2) The slogans, chants and placards of the "God Bless America®, "He
Love Averica® anti-Communist elements in the crowd, who these people were
precisely, There are photos here that could help. And witnesses could
describe the conflict which arose between the 2 groups seeking to ‘control
and direct this huge crowd., What would the crowd do? Would {t go to the
market aquare where microphones are set up, or storm the Headquacters of
the PRA? What slogans and chants would predaninate? What would be the
main thrust and focus of the demonstration? The conflict and interaction
between these 2 groupings struggling for hegemony can be investigated and

determined by those who were there.
3) Precisely who smashed down the security barriers at Mt. Weldale?

which individual, which elements?
4) who atormed Fort Rupert and took the weapons away from the sol-

diers at the entrance? The real facts of this should be ascertained.

$) Exactly who beat up and stripped women solders, some down to their
pantles and bras on Fort Rupert on October 19?7 One was thrown to the
ground and trampled and has had to get medical attention for her breast
even since that time. Medical documents can show that. Who did that can

be identified, discovered. This is a tiny country.
6) The identity of those who ransacked the secret military docunents

qealirg vith national security and plan of national defence of the country
in various rocms, in particular the Operations Room and Fort Rupert - who

read these and who took some away?
7) Those who took weapons on Fort Rupoert that day -~ exactly where

were they located when the ARC's approached and vhich of them opened fire?
8) Teleptone workers who could testify to Don Rojas arriving at the

telephone canpany and ordecring them to cut Off certain phones, and his

making overseas calls.
9) Immigration and police personnel on duty at the Fire Station that

moming who can identify and relate all the circunstances involved in the
seizing of*their weapons,

10) Soldiers as well as civilians who can testify as to how these
four solders died — Mason, Mayers, Nathan and Peters - and how the other
aoldiers were injured on October 19; and exactly how Ode. Maurice Bishop
and others really met their deaths, because a serious investigation is yet

to be done.
11} The names of all civilians vho left Fort Rupert with weapons for

destinations unkown.
"Who wanted to hold a rally, and who wanted an armed confrontation?”

12) #ho set up the microphones in the Market Square? Who asked them
to set up these microphones and for what purpose? Because that would tell
us vhether Qde. Unison Whiteman or Ode. Vincent Noel gave instructions to

individuals or themselves set them up. That would give us an idea as to
the thinking and plans of a segment of the demonstration who vanted to hold

a rally at the Market Square, instead of storming Fort Rupert and seeking
corifrontation and bloodshed.

Also vhich individuals actually spoke on that microphone that morning?
My information is that Cde. nison vas one such. That too would give us an
indication as to which elementa are seeking to operate in a peaceful way

and vhich had other objectives.
To try to discover who in the crowd said “let's take Fort Rupert.

13)
Let's seize 1t1™ or words to that effect. Those who deeply wanted armed

confrontationn and bloodshed., wWho were they?
These are matters vhich would give us great insight into what really

happened that day.
14) Identify and bring to testify
(a} some of the Grenadian demonstrators who dropped away and

refused to participate in the storming of Fort Rupert and what were
their reasons for s doing at that time?
(b) those who went on Fort Rupert but left wvhen weapons were

being distributed.
(c) those who stayed on even after that, but did not take up

weapons or brutalize soldiers, but who sav these activities and could
describe them, and perhaps even name certain individuvals involved.
(d) those who actually took up a weapon. Such people would be

important in any inquiry.
15) Soldiers who were based at Fort Rupert that day and could

describe what really happened. And I doa't mean lumpen elements, those
that you can buy for two cents!

16) Soldiers who arrived on the APC's and wvhat they experienced. All
we are hearing is American propaganda on this! Let's hear from those who
were there!

“Who vas really in control of the rapidly unfolding events?”

17) o were the "national leaders”™ who emerjed and really took
charge or control of events in the streets and at Fort Rupert that fateful

and tragic day? Which elements were really in control of the rapidly

unfolding eventa?
18) what precisely did Don Rojas send out to the wrld media by tele-
plone that morning at the time he seized the telephone company, in the
heart of things) and vhat did he send out to the media after the invasion?
There are records of this and what do they tell us about the activities of

Don Rojas prior to, during and after the {nvasion?
*pid the U.S., Jamaican and Barbadian governments have a hand in tha pie on

October 157%

3



1) The actual texts of the speeches, official atatements béfore Par-
1i{ament and press conferences of Tom Aams, Bduard Seaga, Ronald Reagan and
senlor U.S. govermment officials for two speclfic time periods.

(a) For this point I am not concerned about what they said after

October 19 and about the thagedy, but what they sald before October 19

up to and including on the morning of October 19, before the tragedy.

Does this show for example when looked at, that they had a hand in the

pie? Those I have seen, made by these people, smell.

{b) Statements they made on or after october 19, but dealing
with events prior to and up to the moments of the tragedy. Analyse

these in the context of what actually happened on the streets and at

Fort Rupert on October 19. I know that there are journalists,

academics, and historians who will do thia work and will discover the

truth, no matter who may wish to hide it.

I wish the day will came when it wuld be poasible for the Cabinet
documents of certain Caribbean governments, for exanple of Barbados and
Jamaica, for the months before the October events to be made availablel
Also the records of discussions between tarbadian and Jamaican officials
and U.S. government officials before October 19 and up to the time of

October 19.
All such documents would be invaluable for serious investigation,
including:
the instructions given to the Barbadian tor—

22) what precisely were
turers before they left Barbados for Grenada

Jike Don Rojas, avare of what was planned for that day?”

acrutiny to the phencmenon known as
but I got some information from

and who gave them thelr codes?

"Has Tony Buxo,

I have given a lot of thought and
Tony Buxo. I didn't hear his testimoay,
the newspapers about what he said in this trial. Tony Buxo is an optician
with an office {n St. Georges on the Esplanade. On a normal weekday, &
vorking day, Wedneaday October 19, I understand that when he reaches the
teleplone canpany on the Carenage he sees a demonstration on the Carenage;
turns on to Tyrrel St. and Green St. There is a traffic jam. And it just

80 happens that Tony Buxo, based on this explanation - put it under a tele-
t the only house that commands a

acope! ~ just happens to find himself a

viev of the homes of Cde. Maurice Bishop and myself, and _Fort Rupect, with
a telescope conveniently available at that home, and even binoculars! - a
location far from where he works.

I have scen Tony Buxo in many demonstrations. There are books with
plctures of Buxo, he is always in the froat of tha demonstrations, alvays
observing; including the demonstration on June 20, 1980, after the June 19
bombing. He is always there as a spectator over the years. That is his
track record - and there are photos that can prove itl

And so suddenly, of all days, including demonstrations on peevious

days in St. Georges, but on October 19, just that day, a wWednesday, Tony

Buxo is in a location he 3ays, fran vhich it juat so happens he can sce
Ad with a tele-

into my home, Cde. Maurice's house, and Fort Rupert.

scope available - just by accident! and this is on a morming that a crowd

of demonstrators choose to come to Mt. Weldale, a thing wvhich had never,

ever happened before! It was the first time, ever, but he knows that would
happen! He says he saw a crowd of demonstrators come up to Mt. Weldale.
S0 he was there alreadyl Walting!
~ he i3 on timel The crowd didn't reach there yet,
they reach.

This is not an ordinacy situation vhere people going up there every
day, you know that, 80 you go there. They never went there before, onl
October 19. OK, this is a new development,
and you go up to Dc. Blerzinski's house, so you
But no, ha'a thare already, stationed on duty.

There are not many locations where you can

Maurice Bishop's house and Fort Rupert. I think Dr.
be the oaly such location. And with a telescopa conveniently avail- able.
, we are supposed to believe.

but he's there before

only aee the final end?

see Bornard Coard's house,

ad all of this s acccidental
ical exparts would say about the law of coin-~

I wonder what the statist

cidences in relation to Tony Buxo? The law of coincidence i{s being grossly

Ooincidences do take place, but these are just too many.

violated!
the demonatrators never went to

Firstly, it vas a Wedneaday: secondly,
Mount Waeldale before; thirdly, he goes

see Ode. Bishop's house, my housa, and Fort Rupect; fourthly, there is a
teleacope coaveniently available; and fifthly, he is there before the
demonstrators arrivel

Now Tony Buxo was not brought as a witness in the P.I. The prosecu-
tion and the Yankeea thought of him aftervards. They maka it up after!
Lit us note, he is a Grenadian, he livea here, he is not an overseas per-
oon, I made that point at the time he was called.
about Tony Buxo is this: was he, like Don Rojas, aware of vhat U.S.
imperialism had planned for that day?

Conslder thesa factors: 1) it's a weekday, 2) he can see both houses,
and Fort Rupert, 3) he is far from his work place, 4) has teleacpoe at the
ready, 5) October 19 is unlike nocmal pattern of previous demonstrations,
6) he i3 there before the crowd comes, 7) Tony Buxo is the same {ndividual

who was part of the anti—Communist, anti-NJM propaganda before the Revolu-
he form of car—

tion, especially attacking Bernard and Phyllis Ooard in t
A atrong and known

Torchlight, using
show that Tony

toons in the Torchlight in 1978, before the Revolution.
opponent of the NJM, to the point of attacking us in the
the pen-name 'the Rat'? The archives of the Torchlight w1
Buxo's house was searched by PRA during the Revolution, in 1982, based on
information that there was an unlicensed weapon there, vhich sas found and

confiscated. There would be records of that too, unless the Yankees take
nti-NaM activity

that also! Plug in the fact that despite his record of a
offering to train

he tried to suck up to NJM leaders after the Revolution,
the PRA. He lied if he said he trained them but he did offer. We turned

hgs'oﬁer down, because we didn't trust him. So Buxo is not exactly a
disinterested party in relation to NJM and its leadership and in par

myself - that is known. These matters all require very careful reflection,

and investigation, to find out what really weat on.
In relation to other aspects of the case, I am dealing now with the
question of vitnesses who could be called in a free and fair trial. with
respect to George Louison, there are two points I wish to make. Firstly,
let us hear from several of the other people who were at the meetings
George Louison talks about and let us hear from them also about the
meetings he does not talk about. Secondly, let us have all the docu-

meats, the minutes of meetings, the reports, so we can get teo the bottom to

find out the truth. At some meetings there were hundreds of people pre—
sent. Then there ace the relevant documents, minutes and reports.

Can you imagine the time, funds and pecsonnel needed for me as a
defendant to do all this research to undertake a serious Investigation of
this case? And the only way to seriously defend myself is if I do this
investigation, given that after three years of propaganda onslaught any

o
jury wouldcome with their minds already made up.

Like any good Sandhurst-trained soldier2nd a falr triar.

8o maybe you see that happening

Bierzinski's house may

to the only house fram which one can

The quesation we must ask

ticular

sonable doubt. The secret

imperialian to kill me and others is to do the job long before I
And meanvhile people are only

I can't talk to the press.
“ooard and Austin did that!® People's

1 have to prove my innocence beyond rea

method of
am behind bars.
hearing "Ooard and them did thist®,
minds must be made up in advance. It isa like elections - they are won or
lost long before election day. They have tried and convicted me in the
mass media. They have done this because their case is flimsy, pathetic,
circumstantial, uncorroborated; based on slander, prejudice, innuendo, and
torture, with so—called ‘witnesses' with axes to grind. It is in this con-
text that a defendant must be in a position to be able to oall a wide range
of witnesses who have to be identified through others. A tremendous amount
of work would be involved, and on top of all that our documents vhich
record wvhat everyone said at meetings, they are refusing to hand them over
for the trial. And I and others are supposed to believe this is a free and

fajc triall
“All we want is justice and a fair trial; but if we get that they would

have no casel™

In respect to Cletus St. Paul on the question of witnesses; Firstly
let the Prosecution call the soldiers guarding St. Paul on Fort Frederick
on October 19. He was under arvest, under close guard. Where are those
guarding him? They see and hear the things he sees and hears? Where are
those soldiers? IE there had been a serious investigation or inquity some
1f not all of them would be here, and when they come they wuld tell us
vhen they were holding St. Paul at the time in question, and whether they
saw and heard the things St. Paul said he saw and heard. There were also
over 100 soldiers at Fort Frederick at the time in question.
those over 100 soldiers, including the guards, see Liam James arrive and
say that "the CC arriving to take a serious decision?® Then Bermard Coard
and Phyllis Ooad arrive in Ode. Maurice Bishop's car: then the rest of the
oC arrive (if Kojo was in Grenada St. Paul would have called his name too).

Then they chant slogans.

Then Leon Cormwall brea
Bishop and "go and liquidate them.™
none saw and heard any of this?

Let us put one more plece into the equation. Cletus St. Paul is scen
by Ali.ster Hughes on October 20th, 1983, and they talk about the crisis.
And Alister Hughes sends a report to Cana. And if St. Paul sav a CC
meeting taking decision to kill Ode. Maurice Bishop he wouldn't have told
Alister Hughes about that? And that wouldn't have been world news at the
time? I can't do the kind of invyestigation I speak of: that 1s vhy I have
Fo indicate, raise questions people have not been asking, lines of inquicy,
indicate how this case ought to be lnvestigated. If St. Paul saw those
things he must have told Alister Hughes. Ad it's not two pieces of news
Alister Hughes sent out, including all kinds of uncorrobor- ated
information. That would have been the hottest nevs all over the world!

Because observe this: Take Cletus St. paul out of this case and there

is no case against the leadership of the part and Grenada Revolution,
including myself. The magistrate made that cfear:, Hiss Hylton asked him,
comitting me and my wife, because St. Paul

and he agreed that's wvhy he s
s3id he saw us acrive in Ode. Maurice Bishop's car. All we want is justice
But if we get that they would have no case. It's not
hout the presentation of the prosecution's case I am
the prosecution can closel
we wouldn't need lawyera to

pid any of

ks away and makes a speech about Cde. Maurice
All these soldiers around, you mean

accidental that throuj
in a dock cell without light, and moved when
a case based on justice and the rule of faw,
deal with Karl mudson Phillipt
Let us call Cletus St. Paul‘s security chief ~ his boss. The Chief of
Personal Security for the entire leadership of the Party and Revolutioa.
he? He would have a lot to say - and not

He lives in Grenada. Where is
etus St. Paul and his role in spreading the

only he - to say about CL

rumour; about Cletus St. Paul's claiming that for 3 - 4 days he was
searching for Liam James, Selwyn Strachan and Bernard (oard and couldn't
locate us, all of vhich can be destroyed by the Chief of Personal Security
and the Personal Security men attached to us.

In looking at the Prosecution case, we must examine not only who they
but who they did not bring. Let us call Security officers
including two police officers who witnessed St. Paul's written statement
regarding his role in the spreading of the rumour and also the taped
statement he gave. Let us get them, and also the letter he wrote to the
leadership. All are in the hands of the Yankees., Apart from this other
Grenadians have saen them.

In

brought,

*The evidence of Errol George completely contradicts that of Cletus St.
Paul,*

It is aignificant that Cletus St. Paul is the only Personal Security
ice Bishop's own Personal Security

OJtficer called, not only fram Cde. Mauri
wnit (of 16 — 20 officera) but of the Personal Security unit as a whole, of

all the leadership. Not one apart from St. Paul has been called in this
Trial. The only other one vho was attached to de. Blshop's personal
security uwnit, and was a prosecution witness at the P.I., that is, Exrol
George, the Prosecution have not called him at this trial. They called him
in the P.I. Now they say we can call him as a defence witnesst I will
drau attention as to what my understanding is in relation to the law on
that; about witnessas vhose names are to be found on the back of the
indictment and who are not called for cross-examination. Archibold, which
we could not get, has something to say on this, which I will deal with
later. Exrol George's evidence completely coatradicts the evidence of
Cletus St. Paul. That 1s why he didn't get called. It would mash up their
case {f they called him! But Exrol George is a Grenadian. People are
going to check Exrol George. They are going to ask him, “Listen, you went

with Liam James to Fort Frederick. You heard any of this?”
then Cletus St. Paul says Chris Linton drove Bernard Ooard and phyllis

Ooard in Ode. Maurice Bioshop's car, this is a total lie, and Crenadians
are going to ask Chris Linton, he lives in Tyrrel Street in St. Georges,

not in New York.

"The thing that hurts me the most is their contempt for Grenadians.*”

. The thing that hurts me the most about this case is the total contempt
with vhich they view Grenadians. They see Grenadians as being stupid, they
can't think, they can't use their heads. It hurts my national pride. What
they using to pull it off is the blaze of pcopaganda and playing on the
people's love for Ode. Maurice Bishop, the anti-Coard propaganda, and the
anti-Communist propaganda - three years of uninterrupted propaganda to

pcevent people from thinking maturely, sobecly.
Put aside what people think about Bernard Coard, Phyllis Coacd, oc

Hudsoa Austin and see vhat c‘\héee people are tring to do to us as a people.
What they are trying to do is trampling on our national pcide, our dignity,

self respect and intelligence.
LUNCH ADJOURNMENT



"people are going to check - you can't hide the truth for all time.”

I meotiohed the security officers including two police officers who
witnessed St. Paul's statement as yell as the tape recording regacding his
cole In spceading the rumours, and the letter he wrote to the leadership of
the Party.

[ecyus hear fram the soldiers who fed him at Camp Fedon where he said
he was not fed. But Alister Hughes sees him on October 20th and sees no
sign of this. When he sees him, he is "nattily dressed.” It is
significant in teoms of assessing the honesty and credibility of st. Paul

as a vitness,

Let us hear from Personal Security officers and soldiers fram the
guard company assigned to Selwyn strachan's house and at my house. Not one
of them i3 called in this case. Why? Let us hear vhat they have to say as
fegards St. Paul's story of golng to Selwyn Strachan's house on October 9

and my car being there.
I will deal with the details of St. Paul's testimony later. I will
St. Bernacrd's

deaf with the specifics of Georgé Louison's, and Joseph
testimony later. I am focussing now only on the number of diffecent
persons and categories of witnesses vho they have failed to call. You

don't call these other persons who would have been present. Inastead you

bring up as your main prosecution witnesses someone not only with an axe to
who another prosecution

grind, someone highly suspicious in conduct.
witness said under cath spread the rumour oh October 12th, and that other
witness, Errol George, you choose not to call, although he is on the back

of the indictment!
That vitness sald St. Paul told him to spread the rumouc, but you
didn't bring him in the trial. The only other personal security man the

prosecution had and then didn't bring him. Why? i
his court who knew Errol George and Chris

There are Grenadians in tl
Linton and would ask them questions highly embarassing to the pcosecul.:ion!
What about all the Personal security officers assigned to me by Security as
well as the many soldiers on duty at my house? The Personal security
What about

officers who are in any car that I am in, they were there too.
on Fort Frederick or go anywhere else

that? Does not one see myself arrive

in Qde. Bishop's car? If this anansi story took place there are over 159

Grenadians who would know about this. Where are they? They are living in
story and the

Grenada now!
But you bring a man who tells Alister Hughes one anansi
There is so

court another, and goodness knows who else he tells what tol
much in this case that smells!

"Every time we investigated, the hand of the U.S. wa3s behind events.”

We have the task of trying to understand the events of October 1983 as
the culmination of a number of phenomena that I stacrted to outline
yesterday. I pointed out that it is my position and contention and pact of
my indicative defence that the U.S. government played a decisive role in
laying the foundations and building the walls, the roof, windows and door
of the tragedy of October 1983. That is my analysis, based on the
examination of data available to me, although a thorough investigation is
needed. We have to examine closaly the real possibility that on october 19
the 1ink between the Vincent Noel group in the demonstration and the “God
Bless America”, “We love America”, C,I.A. group. could be an individual
working on the one hand for the C.I.A., - Don Rojas - and ingratiating

himself with the Party and Revolution. lie may vecy well be the chemistry
that led to the attack and seizure of Fort Rupecrt. It is worth careful
atudy and investigation.

In addition, different f
the Auericans fram the early days throughout
up every. year,
to time would enter the terr
diverting the leadership from the tas
there was also the massive and growing propaganda war fran the earl
days and throught, led and orchestrated by the U.S.

Ode. Maurice Bishop, e
a famous speegh “Beat back destabilization.”
all the evidence of the U.S. destabilization including photocopies of
newspapers, 18 Sept. 1979, detailing what the U.S.
area of propaganda destabilization which got worse and worse every year.

puring the 1980 election presidential campaign for the U.S.

Reagan and George Bush running for President and Vice President,

respectively - in their speeches not only launched direct attacks on the

CGrenada Revolution but used the phrase many times that they would *teach
Grenada a lesson.® There are radio and T.V. reports to show this. They

{torial waters and airspace of Grenada..
fest

talked about teaching the Grenada Revolution a lesson and openly prouised

They said that in different words.
for a nuuber of years.
and pressure on the

to smash the Revolution,
When

George Bush was the head of the C.I.A.

they took over they atepped up the destabilization
Then we had a critical

Revolution — on the government, Party and people. ;
point. Historians looking back would have to pause to examine their
operation Ambar and the Amberines. Does this sound like Grenada and the

Grenadines? This military manouver took place in Vieques off Puerto Rico.

They chose a location and scenario virtually identical to what would be
requived for Grenada and the Grenadines. We published all the docunents
they put out on this, and citizens of Puerto Rico reacting to what was

happening protested at the time.
discovered that not far from the International Adrport,

called Amber.
It is significant that in the invasion the U.S. was to land and seize
Aber and the Anberines was seen by independent

the International Airport.
In addition to

observers as dreas rehearsal foc Grenada and Grenadines.

that we also saw a number of other phenomena — in which any time we
I refer to the October

investigated we discovered the hand of the C.I.A.

1979 plot to assassinate the leadership of the Revolution and seize power;
the November 1979 plot which was part of the same plot - the de Raveniere

plot - he was cought red-handed with explosives and when questioned he

revealed certain information in relation to the role and support from U.S.

craft carrying mercenaries. The April 26, 1980 olot and, involving the

17-18, 1980 killing of five Grenadians in St. pPatricks. .
weeks following, there were a number of shootings and bombings in the

countryside by the Duck and Ayub gang. L.
All of these manifestations of violent intermal counter-Revolution

directed by the C.I.A. waa the counterpart to other phenomena like Amber

and the Amberines, like economic destabilization, propaganda destabili-

zation, etc. Then in the last 18 months before the invasion, the C.I.A.

began to bring together groups of Grenadian counters in Kew York. Hashing-

ton, Florida and Trinidad and Tobago. One of the groups that met in.

Trinidad and Tobago took upon itself to contact ex—PRA soldiers to sticr up
A U:S. diplomat (rom the embassy used to chair those meetings and

one of the leading parsonalities in that group, in that Trinidad and Tobago

tcrouble.

group, was the Acting Registrar who drew up the array of jurocrs for this
case and who was x%u?ely prior Yo that a membet of EF]\'E prosecution
There are secret files on that individual's role. We have files on
that. There is more that will be sald about this in a different location.
Then plug into all of this the three speeches of President Ronald Reagan of
10 March, later in Macch, then April. In April we held & large military
mancauvie — the "Jeremiah Richardson Manoeuvre® - as a direct response to
the U.S. threat to invade Grenada. Sanchez, Shultz, Bush, Weinburger and
Ronald Reagan all between January - 20 April made a series of statements
about the Grenada Revolutjon, claiming that Grenada is a threat to the
national security of the U.S. When a country says that one is a threat to
its national security, it is a declaration of swari

Then we have the stockpiling of medicines in Barbados in August 1983
which the then leadera of the oppoaition of Barbados attacked in parlia-
nt, saying that the volume of medicine brought in there was several times
more than what was required for the Barbados Army. He wanted to know why?

Wa know vhy now.
All of this was before October 1983.

team.

What ware they preparing for?

"tho gained from the tragedy of October 19th?"

Because wa have to always ask ourselves: countries all over the world
fave at one time or another experieacned serious tragedy. The question is
who then invaded to take advantage of that tragedy? Who arrested those
presently in the dock illegally? Kidnapped them? Who “investigated® this
so-called case? Who put us on trial? Who is paylng foc it? Who is with-
1ding our documents 8o that we cannot establish our innocence? Who gained
fran the invasion? Who gained fram the death of Gde. Maurice Bishopg? Who
gains from killing us now, the remainder of the party leadership?

*The invasion had to be timed for when the country vas in a state of crisis

orms of aconamic destabllizatjon unleashed by
the 4 1/2 years: atepping it

but apart from helicoptecs, submarines, etc., that from time
k of economic and mocial construction;
xactly 6 months 5 days into the Revolution, made

This book was produced, with
had already done in the

- Ronald

and when we looked at Grenada's map, we
there is a tiny bay

same elaments, the June 19 bombing that killed three persons. The November
In the days and

and tragedy.”

Look at the number of attempts made to assassinate Ode. Maurice Bishop
and the rest of the leaders ln different plots and bambings. Wa have to
bear in mind that the fouc main methods oc models for over-throwing a Revo—
tion were all employed in overthrowing the Revolution:

a) The policy of comprehensive, many sided destabilization - propa-
ganda, econoomics, military. That was used successfully in Jamaica
and Chile. It was also used in Grenada.
Mercenary invasions like Bay of Pigs, 1961 in Cuba. Oomoros
Islands is a recent example of mercenary. The Seychelles off
Africa was a dramatic attempt led by South African troops backed by
the C.I.A., troops jailed as well. They were going to try this in

tha deRaviniere plot.

c) Assassination of leaders of Revolution. We have to see the Octo-
ber 19 plots, June 19, Nov.-Dec. 1980 period. We have to remember
the assassination of Lumunba, the seventeen assassination attempts
by the C.T.A., admitted under cath, to assassinate Fidel Castco;
the aasassihation of Marien N'Guabe in Congo Brazaville; the
assassination of Eduirdo Modlane in Mozambique of Amelcar Cabral of
Guinea Bisseau, lst leader of that country; of Mantola tohammed of
Nigeria - several leaders of other countries were killed by
Imperialism, sometimes using South Africa, the Portujuese, and

b

others.
It is in that context we must sce the cracking of the concrete

under the PRG leadership on June 19 and that those who did it are
now valking the streets fcee — pardoned.
d

-~

past 150 yeara ~ in Haiti, Dominican Republic, Oiba, Nicaragua,
1840 the U.S, seized half of Mexico. They have a track record.
150 military invasions, incursions, interventions in 150 yeara.
Grehada is part of a pattern. When Haiti didn't pay its debt the
U.S. sent in Marines and grabbed the Customs and collected the
money for years - in some casas they spent 20 years in the coun-
tries they {nvaded.
The line was "protect the lives and propecty of American citi-
Does that sound like Grenada?

zens.”
But since the Second World War and with every passing decade since, it

has became harder and harder to accept military invasion of other count

tries, especially after the fiasco of the Vietnam Warc.
were 80 afraid of their government after Vietnam, that they foroced thair

congreasmen to forbid the U.S. government to intervene in Angola in 1975,
and they forced through the War Powers Act to restrict the government
waging war without the consent of Congress. The govermment invented the
Gulf of Tonkin to invade and the American people lost confidence in their
government. As a result, the U.S. govermment {s in a situation that they
have to prepare the ground well to justify an invaaion.
aGtion involving minimuu U.S. lives, This was admitted in an official
rdlease form from Weinburger. Seven conditions for war he talks about -

all because of the vietnam syndrome.

One problem the Grenada Revolution posed for them for 4 1/2 years was

that as long as the Grenada Revolution had a powerful militia fully orga-
n}zed and mobilized involving ordinary citizens with that many people
fighting back, the cost of an invasion in U.S. lives would be too high

politically.

late one of the seven principles of the Pentagon. Therefor the invasion
had to be timed when the country was in a state of crisis and tragedy.

destabilization over a period of years, with the cumulative effect this
would have.

Mercenary invasion was not only seriously considered but persons were
But a mercenary type invasion would have been a fiasco
A mercenary invasion of a few hundred

trained in the U.S.
like the Bay of Pigs or Seychelles.
could not succeed. It took 20,000 troops, and they had to ensure they

would not meet the full might of the people‘s militia.

could pounce to "teach Grenada a lesson,* turn back the Revolution.
they had to combine various methods.
L?ct that a number of different dimensions of the activities of the U.S.
vis.a.vis the Revolution only take on meaning within that context? Has

anyone ever thought of the fact that the U.5. hated Cde. Maurice Bishop and
wanted him dead at all costs and tried several times to kill him including
on June 19, 19807 -Ooes the U.S. want justice in Grenada, or to consolidate

its hold on the country by eliminating the leadecrship?

“The U.S. penctrated its agents.”
_The U.S. penetrated two kinds of agents into Grenada. Some were
specialists, others versatile. We can identify them in some cases.

Direct military {nvasion using U.S. troops - done 150 times in the
In

1966 Dominican Republic - 30,000 U.S. troops.

The Anerican People

It has to be quick

I am not saying that they can't bomb the place to the ground,
but the tremendous loss of U.S. lives would be unacceptable and would vio-

The

lr.w:uders wuld therefore need only a small army and a very small number of
militia. Military intervention had to be cambined with systematic, massive

They had to sow many seeds and wait for the right moment, before they
el
Has anyone ever given thought to the

The
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wck, along with Ode. Strachan and other comrades. We reached a faicly

high level, between March 1977-79 and before the Revolution we were able to

operate at a peak, at the level necessary for taking power from the Gairy
I remember vividly in the six months before March 1979, when a

in the hospital in Crenada under Dr. Annette Alexis and the Cuban doctocs;
then, on their recammendation, several days in a hospital in Cuba for the
same thing.
. A nunber of people in the dock had the same aituation. Cdes.
Whiteman, Fitzroy Bain, Evart Layne had a number of operations for respira-
tory problems. Cde. Maurice Bishop himself, was under tremendous strain.

nison

regime.
campaign wvas launched against us by the QP and UPP and Gairy, and we put
out a pamphlet in response. Part of our answer was Lo list all the
different struggles NIM was engaged in right then in defending the intec-
ests of the people. We discovered to our amazement, in conpiling that 1ist,
that simultanaously, NM was involved in 22 different struggles. No wonder
we were ready for power! My task, my work In the Party, was to coordinate
those strugglea. That waa my work in the Pacty.
Por all the years up till 13 wonths before the invasion, I wvas Chair-
man of tha-Organizing Committee of the Party, and Selwyn Strachan was vice
chainman. Gaeocrge Louison was a member too. That's the basis’ on vhich we
must understand and not ba fooled by the ridiculous slander and lies that
Joint Leadership had anything to'do with the govertment. It was vithin the
pacty, internally. It had nothing to do with who was Prime Minister,
leader of the Revolution and Oommander in Chief of the Armed Forces.
George Louison can only say these lies because the Yankees won't petwit us

to have our Party docunents.

“Joint leadership has nothing to do with the Government. It was an inter—
nal NUH Pacty arrangemenf. 3ﬁy JId everybody vote for it? _That's uhy
thece 1a no way those who want to kill us can afford to release our Party
documents. ¥

There haa been tramandous propaganda to fool people, to confuse pacty
and state, Although it was the Party aa Party that charged the True Blue
Barracks and called out tha people to make the Revolution in 1979, when all
the membaca of the NJH met in the big stulfo in the early days following
the Revolution and we asked the Party membership to vote by secret ballot
to choose who would form the PRG, the government, wa said wa must choose a
substantial number of non-Party people too. It was important to have

patriotic Grenadiana in the PRG. That's why there were members of the
So you can't confusa Party and

Cabinet who were. not Party members.
Government. Obviously members of govermment have a relation to the Party
vhich forms the govermment, but the Party and Govermment are diffecent both
legally and politically. For instance, among the persons in Cabinet who
were not NJM members was a former President of the Chamber of Commerce, Mr.
Lyden Ramdhanny, So Georye Louison is a mischief maker and an ally of the
U.S. propaganda when he seeks to coanfuse Party and State. In every country
there is a relation between the Party that forms the govermment and the
government itself, but the two are different both legally and politically.
In NCNP right now the deputy leader does not act as Prime Minister vhen the:
Prime Minister is out of the country; a different person does. Because
Party and Government are separate.

Those who confuse joint leadership of the NJM Party with that of the
govermment, when it was exclusively an internal Party matter, they talk
about joint Prime Ministers, tw Prime Ministeral Yet this matter is
clearly set out in the minutes of variQus Pacty meetings. And those min-
utes also show that those who proposed it did 30 to pull the Party out of a
serious organizational crisis. Cdes. Maurice Bishop, Unison Whiteman,
Fitzroy Bain, as well as all the comrades here in the dock, described the
Party as facing disintegration, organizational collapse, within a matter of

At

months.
In meetings going back over moaths, this crisis is spoken about.

the OC, the Sept. 14-16 CC; the Party General Meeting of September 25 -
everyone described the crisis and everyone invovled, though they disagreed
on other things, they all agreed on the nature of the crisis and they
described “a party facing disintegration within months." There is no vay
those wvho want to kill us can afford to release those Party docuneats.

The U.S. laughs at the Gulf of Tonkin incident
now, the incident they invented as a fcetext to bonb Vietnam. They can
kick and laugh now about their other lie that worked - that the Interna-
tional Airport was 4 Soviet airbase; because the Revolution is overthcown.
They now control the airport, an aicport whose cocrect name is the Maurice

Latec on they will do so.

Bishop Intecnational Airport - that's the only thing we agree with the MBpM
Those who made cartain renarks at the opening, it was real cheek; they

oni
don't know how the airport come therei(Mawke Bishop Patrictic Movement),
Unlesa I waved a magic wand and brainuashed every member of the Party,

how do these lies explain how every member of the NJM voted for Joint

Leadership as an internal organizational matter? Everything everybody said

at the Sept. 25 GM i3 in the mingtes. And the Yaakees have 20 copies at
minimun of each set of minutes, and yet we can't get one? wWhy?
minutes had arffything that they could have used against us, does anyone

think they would not have provided them immediately?

If the

"In 1983 we faced a new crisis: how to become a Party capable of using
pover _£o build the country?™
So by tha time we reached the stage of 22 atrujgles w2 were organiza-

tionally ready to take power. When we take power all the people in the
various Miniatries have been placed there by Galcy and most have no

training — only two economists, a few engineers in the vhole civil secvice.

Not enough doctors; the aschools in a deplorable state; the cost of books
and school uniforms sky high; health services dreadful, in some areas no
wer; massive unemployment, 49% of the workforce, 79% among women and
youth.

build programmes, ministries and departments; new building projects; raise
handceds of millions of dollars -~ and all of this have to be led by the
Party. 1t doesn't do itself. It happens because there is a Party and we
have reached a qualitatively new state - to move fram a party in opposi-
tion, one able to take power, but now having the responsibility for agri-
culture and health, housing, roads, education, every project. The Party
has the responsibility in the eyes of the masses for evecything, morally
gnd politicallly. And this stretched our resources thin. It's like a
juggler juggling 2, 10, 25 balls. In a sense that's what all membecrs of
the Party were saying in July to September 1985, when they said the Pacty
faced disintegration in a matter of moaths. Too many projects and pro-
grammes. Every single member of the Party juggling too many balls. Too
many tasks. One thicrd of the members of the Party were on sick leave at
the same time by 1983. All of them had collapsed from the sheer strain of
the wrk. Nearly all women in the Party were threatening to reaign. They
can't get their housework done, no time for their children. There are
letters, records of all of this that show this. It was a major crisis.

Caribbean political leaders who were here in Grenada for August 1983 Carmi-

val told us "But look, everyone is sicki®
You know the nunber of CC membera who were themselves hospitalized in

19837 The tir.?t time in my life, on the 10 August 1944, when 1 was born
was the only time I ever went to hospital up until the Revolution! The

first time after that that I went to hospital was in 1982 when my eyes col-

A film came down; I couldn't see. 1 had to spend 48 hours

lapsed on me,

Masaive tasks, you have to now deliver the goods to the people - to

1n addition to the strains of Party and govermment probleas, he had prob-
lems with his child. He was in the middle of a personal crisis.

It is not easy to spend almost three years behind bars, heacing all
these l1ies and slandec - in the P.I. and now in this trial. To have to sit

through this masque. Meanvhile those who have all the backihg of the state
- police, clerks, lawyara at their disposal, know that vhat they are pre-
t take them two minutes to check out vhat T am

senting i{s lies. It wouldn'

saying., T am a patriot, I get very amgry when I see that it's a pack of
foreigners trying me and framing me. T always speak my mind. People
always know where they stand with me. I'ma plain speaker. 1 don't shu
shu and I don't like gosaip. T gan't take tay bay. And there are some
Ph.D.'s in tay bay in this courtroam! They deal with slander, innuendo,

tay bay, as their 'evidence'; not facts.
So after the Revolution we have a situation where we take power and

suddenly there are tremendous demands made on us. We can now no longer go
around, just going and meeting with fisheonen; talking about removing
taxes, saying “when we're in power.” We have to implement it! Wa could
not just talk to farmers about cheaper fertilizer, we had to do it!

The party now was faced with a new crisis. Moving from a Party able
to take power to one that was capable of using that power to build the
country. There were three overriding tasks. And the work had to be

organized around these.

Brief Adjournment. Defendants are abruptly handcuffed
and made to sit out in the bus outside the court, to
prevent their conversing with their families and friends.

Resumption, 4:20 p.m.

Bernard Coard: We saw tha building of the Revolution as involving three
main dimensions fundamental to the entire proceas. And vhile the process
could not advance without them, those dimensions in themselves helped to
create some serious problems. We couldn't develop the process without
them, yet with them the strain increased. These are the tasks:

a) The developgment of the productive capacity of the country, the
econamic capacity on all fronts - agriculture, tourism, fisheries.
Econcnic development in the narrow sense, the more restricted
sense.

Ensuring the delivery of all the points of that economic develop-
ment in the foom of better wages, better wrking conditions, better
health care, educational facilities, welfare services for people,
better housing and more housing, for the vast majority of the
people, foc the poor, and the working people. The wealth pcoduced
must go to all, not just to a few at the top.

The mobilization and organization of all the working people of the
country — workers, facmers, youth, students, women, fishermen,
small shopkeepers and small businesspeople - in order to achieve
(a) and (b). wWe saw clearly throughout the process that (a) and
(b) could not be achieved without succeeding in the mobilization
and organization of the people. The history of all develogment in

third world.countries pcoves this.

b)

c

“Two vital skills were required.*

. This required two vital skills. Enormously importaant to this process,
indispensable to it, were the particular qualities and abilities of (de.

He was unparalleled in the Party for his ability to

to explain vhat we ware trying to achieve,

and to motivate the people to vant to work harder to achieve the goals, and
to distribute the fruits fairly. The minutes of the September/October '83
meetings Will show that a number of CC comradesa here in this dock made just
those particular points about the absolute indispensability of Ode.
Mauricie Btshop to the process, and why this was so.

This was said in 1983, not 19861 The actual words of CC members in
this dock and their making them forcefully in the meetings, can be seen in
those minutes® That is how everyone in the Party saw it then and now. It
was a fact of life. Anyone would have been blind not to see it.

Equally important, in the view of the entire leadership, to achieve
(a), (b) and (c), was the enormous amount of organizational work wvhich was
required in order to translate (a), (b) and (c) into a reality. In other
words, that was the rationale behind Joint Leadership for those wvho pro-
posed it. I had my own personal position oa.thia, vhich I will come to.
But that was the rationale for the proposal, that was what was said at the
time. The outlook and strategy of the Party was people'a involvement,
people's participation, people's democracy. It is in this context that we
must see the tremendous work done by the Party in establishing the maay
mass organizations of women, youth, and so on, and secondly the formation
oY the embryonic organs of people's power — in the form of parish and zonal
councilas during the 4 1/2 years, as well as the tremendous popular pactici-
pation of people in discussions as well as the decision to move to the
establishment of a new Consatitution to reflect tha develogment of struc-
ture, vhich was taking place.

However, we have to recognize the tremendous strains on the Party as
an organiam and on each individual, such that it led to a largae number
wanting to resign, and othera falling sick, including top leadership being
hospitalized in the final year. We have to see that we were trying to do
too much too fast, and failing to rationalize and prioritize. It's nice to
do ten projects, but maybe only seven are objectively possible, otherwise
all may fall down. This pcoblem was getting progressively worse each year.
The records are clear on this. This started with the problem of the NIM
Party members having to assist in the running of many Ministries. Party
camrades had to be distributed thinly in the Ministries, to get certain
projects going, to stamp on corruption which vas there from before the
kevolution, to make sure necessacy ec;uipnenr. was purchased, and cared for.
Party comrades were placed one here, one there, and because of their total
dedication, because they were prepared to work tonday to Sunday, they were
able to motivate and stimulate many traditional civil servants to cap- tuce
the dream of the Party and work that little bit hardec.

On top of that came a number of specific projects, new programmes,
vhich we decided to undertake. I want to stress, our Party is not like
most others where members just pay dues and turn up for voting or to public
meetings. Those kind of members are no use for building this kind of pro-
cess. It needs Monday to Sunday work, mobilizing and motivating people.
It needs long hourg of persistent work to make sure that things get done;
it needs people prepared to do the donkey work. One has to be clear that

Maurice Bishop.
explain things to the people,
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criticiams directly to Ministers, and seek to get action taken on them.

Undecstand the enormous organizational steps i{nvolved! With 20 to 30
zones, on any one night there might be 5 to 9 20nal councils taking place
simultaneously in any pact of the country. Party members had to do follow
up, and work therefore had to be done in between meetings to handle the
iasves raised. If one considers this, one gets an idea as to the energetic
organizational work which had to be done.

“The NTS was the direct consequence of a Workera' Parish Council.”

. The National Transport Sysatem (NTS) is the product of an off-shoot of
thx? phenamenon, the specialised workers' parish councils, and specialized
parish councils for farmers, women and youths also. This involved more

organizational work and more strain, of course., In the case of a workers'

pacish council at Butler House at vhich I was present, a mmber of wockers

raised the need for a aserious transport asystem. They sald hou when
touriast boats came, the private bus drivers would forget the paople and go

mot!:ing some crazy men get up, and - boam!! But there were genuine problems
o.( a.non—simster character, causing other problems, and genuine attempts
within the leadership and rank and file of our Party to grapple and find

solutions.

"The 1983 crisis: Any organization in which one—third of its membership is

3ick at the same time, you have to know that something is seriously wrongt®

.SO: the growth of these organizational problems, this problem of enor-
mous ‘system overload', combined with U.S. destabilization, leads to cec-
tain things. The concrete forms which the crisis takes now - I am refer-
ring to the last 15 - 18 months before the U.S. invasion - were as follows:
Firatly, the increasing illness of Pacty members and leadera, inclu-
ding many cases of hospitalization. In thia regard, the minutes of the
Ocganizing Qommittee of the Party, and other committees, which are how in
the U.S., will provide detajled information of a number of members and
leaders whose physical aystem collapsed as a result of the workload, the
strains and pressures. This is significant {n the context of the Central
committee and Party General Mectings of Scptember 1983.

One-third of the entire NOM membership ~ one in every three members -
during 1983 were on enforced sick leave, were in such a state of collapse
that they had to either stay home, take a holiday, or viait the hospital,
It was extraordinary! Any organization in wvhich one-third of its member-
ship is sick at the same time, you have to know something ia seriously

wrong! It ia symptomatic of system breakdown.

We can't understand why Cde. Blshop says, at the August CC meeting,
and repeats at the September CC meeting, and wvhy it is said by George
Louison and othera, that the N Party faced disintegration, unleas we

understand all thia.

T am going to give some examples. Of the 16 persons who were members
of the CC at some stage during 1983, let us take first Dave Bartholomew.
He spent two months in two different hospitals, during the period April to
July 1983. The hospital records of all of this can be organized in a seri-
ous trial. He had an operation for damaged ligaments, treatment for stresas
and strain, and for his eyes. In addition, in October 1983 itself - a
aunber of liars see him in all sorts of locationst - he spent ten days in
the General Hospital, St. Georges. He collapsed at a seminar, he had

The same Dave Bartholomew was given leave on

attacks of fever, and 8o on.
four occasions to rest because of overwork, between July 1982 and October

1983. On coming home from the General Hospital in October, he was given
two weeks' rest, which he spent in Carriacou.

Tan St. Bernmard, who was here in the dock with us, and he is not here
now because St. Paul made one mistake, in his rehearsal of his evidence he
forgot to call his namel The next day he said “oh yes! I saw him directing
the BJR's.* This i3 the kind of thing that leads people to be on murder
charges! Complete frame up, complete make upl
Ian St. Bermard spent one month in hospital on two occasions, in 1982,
with serious eye problems. After each period, he was given sick leave at
home on hia release. Again, he was sick during the September-October
period of 1983. He also spent five days in Carricou in October 1983. All
of this due to the tremendous build-up of stress.

Kamau MacBarnette: he spent two months in hospital during April to
June 1983, despite one month's enforced sick leave in Novembewr 1982.

Hudson Austin: sick in June, July and August 1983, including for a
broken instep. In early to mid October two weeks sick leave for overwork,
stressa and strain.

John Ventour: we used to tease him. With all hia illnesses in the
jail, he is vastly improved in health compared with that period! Septem-
ber-Octoer 1982 - exhaustion, two weeks complete rest. October-November
1982 - exhaustion, two weecks complete rest again. February-March 1983 - a
virus liver infection. May-June 1983 - specialist medical care, a special
diet, and a regime of four hours work daily prescribed for him. August-
Septamber, 1983 - two weeks' sick leave for tremendous stress and strain,
because of the enormous volume of workk he was responsible for.

Pwart Layne: June 1983 - 1-2 weeks in the General Hospital, St.

for the tourists alone. They raised how there are so many times they can't
get a bus at all, that the buses mostly don't run in the evenings and on
weekends, and the effects of this transport pcoblem on the development of
the country. The matter was raised at Cabinet, and four weeks later we
were able to report that the cabinet had agreed that there wuld be a
natjonal transport system set up, and that orders vere already placed in
Japan for buses, and 80 on. It was a direct consequence of the workers'
Many programmes and laws emerged from these councils -

parish council.
pro—worker legislation, laws dealing with the rights of workers to join the

trade union of their choice - all of these arose out of the specific
conplaints or proposals of workera, women, youth, farmers, and 80 on.

aaln, remember the number of Party people needed to mobilize people ~
to prepare slips, to mimeo them, to physically distribute them, to organize
transport for people to go to the meetings, to be there to take notes, to
organize a public address system, chalirs and so on - that {sa, single things
we taka for granted, but it all requires somebody to do it.

And remember, this is not one shot. Almost constantly the 4 week
cycle is up in various areas — there are several zonal or parish councils
taking place in various areas, every night, all throughout the year. Thia

is conatant work.
“To involve the people in economic planning, in the national budget and
w

plan.

Then there was another phase of these parish and zonal councila. It
waa to organize the people to shape the econcmic development of the country
- the national budget plan for the country. Nine hundred to one thousand
delegates chosen by workers in their trade unions, by women and youth in
their organizations, would gather at the Dome to examine the entire pro-
posed budget and plan, to discuss it in workshops and plenary, with Party
comrades and technocrats, to give their positions and opinions with respect
to all issues — taxation measures, new projects and programmes proposed,’
The head of the workshop would read out all the coaclusions of
the delegates. A good bit would be put on radioc and T.V., and other bits
wuld be published. The zonal councils would be held to get the views of
more people. After that, Cabinet would meet, and would examine the feed-
back. When the final budget was presented, I would report on which of
these proposals had been accepted, which had not been accepted, where they
were not accepted, why not, and vhat had happened during the last year, in
terms of the proposals previously made.

So we didn't just wake up one morning and pass VAT* - I hear that's
vhat people are even calling the flu that's going around (anile). The sys-
tem we had was not a perfect system - it was still being developed - but
its aim was to involve the people in econamic planning, and to demonstrate
that econamics is not a mysterious process which ordinary people can't
I can't emphasize enough the enormous work to mobilize people

and s0 on.

understand.

vhich was involved. An 8 a.m. to 4 p.m. civil sccvant can't do this. Pacty

manbers had to carry this work. Georges. He had and etill has a serious sinus pcoblem. And for six months
he had to have weekly injections i{n the nose for that problem. In August

* VAT: value Added Tax, paased by the NNP government as part of the 1986
budget, caused -sharp pcice increases in Grenada, adding greatly to the

econamic hardships being suffered by the people.
#premendous successes ... but the other side of the coin vas the tremendous

Pressures on the party..

So, to get all the programmes done, and to mobilize funds, too, inclu-
ding funds for the International Mrport and housing and other projects -
while all of this waa being done successfully, simultanecuely the other
side of the coin was the tremendous pressures on the Party that had to con-
ceptunlize, organize, and monitor these programmes.

and each year, more and more programmes vere caning on atream, and
there were expansions in the older ones. All this was the natural result
of a r ocoun trying to develop.

%.1: Partycsgumrznr: which the U.5. has will glve details of all this,
including the atrenjths and weakneases of the various programmes. The min-
utea of the Party's Ocganizing Comuittee, the nerve centre for the organi-
zational work for all the projects, programmes and mass organizations.

“Phe combination of an extraordina work-1load combined with the active,
orchestrated, many-si 3 1lization acts the U.S. ... creat
tnbearable strain. It was in this context that the whole American oper—

ation unfolded.”

1962 he apent four weeks in hospital vhere he had a nasal operation and
treatment for ulcers, which as is known, are frequently caused by overwork,
He was ordered by the doctor to sleep eight hours a night - an amazing
thing in the Revolutiont Party canrades alept four hours a night if, they.
wera lucky. * He was never completely cuced of his serious sinua pcoblems,
and here Dr. Gopaul says he has no respiratory pcoblemst Those hospitali-
zations must be in the world of fantasyl

Leon Oornwall: July 1982 - one week in the General Hospital for sur-

December 1982 - enforced sick leave arising out of complications
March 1983 - hospitalized in Cuba for surgery.

gery.
arising from that surgery.

ne week's recuperation aftecvards.
Bernard Ooard: mid to late 1982 - General Hospital St. George's for

two days of testa. Upon the recommendation of Dr. Annette Alexis here,
flown immediately to Cuba, to an eye hospital for four days additional
tests, and two weeks rest and recuperation. In late 1962 and throughout
1983 T was seeing a doctor and physiotherapist for severe back pain, diag-
nosed as resulting from gross overweight — I have done something about
that! My present weight is the result of Lionel Maloney's starvation
policyt (smile) — and stress and strain from overwork.

Now note — with all of us, these illnesses are the first time in our
And observe, all of us are young. All

liyes we are ever {11 in this way!

but four of us are even now under 40 years.
And this series of {llnesses starts in 1982. For myself, in 1983, I

had to wear a special brace several hours dailyl I had to do a lot of my
work lying flat on my back. I had acute bronchitis in December 1981 and
pec. 1982, leading on occasion to suspected but never confirmed pneunonia.

Cde. Maurice Bishop: On six occasions between May 1982 and October
1983 he had to take one week's total rest as a result of overwork, and for
a serious back injury requiring special treatment.

GCde. Unison Whiteman: serious {lleness several times for stress and
atrain associated with overwork and concrete medical complaints. I am not
sure of the precise nature of the medical complaints, but it was serious.
Ode. Whiteman collapsed in Cuba and was hospitalized there between May and
June 1983.

Phyllis Ooard: December 1982, hospitalized and recuperating for one
month aftecvards following emergency surgery. May — June 1983: chronic
bronchitis. July 1983: exhaustion and bronchitis, one month's rest.
August 1983: two infections.

Twelve of the sixteen CC members - three—quarters of us - were ill.
This was the pattern throughoutthe Party. But while the entire Party vas
experiencing this phenomenon, it had graver consequences vhen experienced
by the leadership. Because of the role of leadership in building a pco-

cess, it must have grave coasequences for the process.
And the U.S. and its agencies would have been well avare of all this. 45
g

we had, as well, the active,
plots, arson, tampering wvith

In addition to all the stress and strain,
military incursions

orchestrated and many-asided acta of the U.S. -
the shipments of our crops, blocking loans to Grenada,
into our airspace, threats, and assassination attempts and plans, for
instance, the June 19th, 1580 bomb attack, and the November-December

attempts to bamb the leadership when we were passing over a bridge in st.

patrick's.
All this put unbearable strain on the leadership of the Revolution, aa
well as making it necessary to spend more time in organizing the defence of
part of the leadership with the defence

the country, preoccupation on the
of the country. This was an unbearable strain ... and it was in this con-

text that the whole American operation unfolded.
And so, we have to see this pattern of more and more work, more and

more atress, falling on relatively few people - just about 500.

After the first three years of this flat out, seven days a waek, 24¢
hours a day performance on the part of extremely dedicated people, the
combination of an extraordinary work-load combined with destabilization;
this combined to create within the Party certain specific phenamena, wvhich

culminated in the internal crisis of July to October, 1983.
All this needs to be looked at by anyone who seriously vants to under-
‘stand the crisis, to delve below the surface. This is not a case that one







“premendous dissatisfaction and disaffection among Party members”

Fifthly, there was more and more loss of respect by rank and file mem—
bers for the Party's leadership. It is painful, embarassing to admit. But
if we are to get to the bottom of things we have to face these matters. If
Party members are overburdened, and the leadership is not responding, if
there are many words but no actions, you lose respect for that leadership.
And 30, there was tremendous dissatisfaction and disaffection among Party

members.
Let us bear this in mind, when the Bajan torturers come here and tor-,
I have madka list of the thinga they have made them say. and

propaganda will change that:
On September 17th the following persons were present as members of the

CC. When there are minutes of an NJM meeting, at the top of the page will
De stated the names of those who are present as members of the particular
committee. The names of any persons who attend the meeting not as a

member, those names will be present in the body of the minutes.
So when some-day in the future the minutes of that Sept. 17th meeting

ace examined, it will be seen that Bernard Coard‘s name is not even listed
as being a member of the Central Comuittee, but as being in attendance. I
was not even a member of the CC then, much less joint leader of the Party.
Bernard Coard's name is there in the body of the minutes, as being in
attendance at the meeting., No amount of lles will change that.

ture people.
vhen we have Cletus St. Paul saying the same thing. Because the records
will show that in August, September and October 1983, Cdes. Maurice Bishop,
Unison Whiteman, Fitzroy Bain, Selwyn Strachan and others - George Louison
too - we can see in the minutes where they are all saying that there is a
growing disrespect and loss of prestige and respect for the CC of the
Party, and increasingly a failure to carry out the guidance, ‘tasks, and
instructions given by the leadership. Very often, Party mambera were
saying "we're not doing it!" All members of the CC are on record in black
and vhite making these points at the OC and General Meetings of August to
October 1983. So when Cletus St. Paul says that Lt. Andreus says to him
*this is a OC matter, you must not question it!" or that he hears a chant
“The OC orders, we obey, we obey"; the records themselves will show that
this is nonsense! khy can't they give us our documents? For nobody ain't

taking what the COC says just so, especially not in that periodt

*In July 1983, the CC blamed the rank and file meabership ... this was
intellectual dishonesty.™

A sixth factor; In July a Plenary Meeting of the CC was held,
by a General Meeting of membership in late July or early August.
i3 painful to admit but it i{s truthful, it did happen, in July the CC in

analysing the severe crisis came to a nunber of analytical conclusions, and
to be frank and honest, and in hindsight because it was not seen at the

the CC was in certain respects dishonest and later had to admit this,

time,
and the General Membership criticized the OC strongly for this,
whera projects and s0 on had

while showing all the different areas
of the crisis, the OC proceeded to blame

collapsed - all’the manifestations
the rank and file membership for not working hard enough, for being too

undisciplined. At the same time the CC claimed that its own work perfor-
mance had improved! This was clearly hypocrisy and intellectual dishon-
esty; not being willing to admit to ourselves our own weaknesses and
ervors, and blaming it all on others.

and following the General Meeting of July

Thia approach was dishonest,
or early Auguat, the Party manbership became incensed, annoyed at the

eatire CC for its failure to face up to its own responaibility for the

followed
Again it

situation.. This contributed to a further loas of respact. So thia "CC
orders, we obeyl® thing {s utter nonsense! I suspect the Prosecution would
have found a batter line if they had read our documents befora thay con-
cocted this aspect of the frame-upl They would have aeen this, about the
loss of respect and 80 on, and known that this is the very last peciod that
we would have had this "CC orders" nonsense, that had never ever happened

anyway, even in the pasatl

LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT
"The August and September 1983 CC meetings analyse the sympstoms of

collapse.”

Bernard Coard: So I have reached the stage where the OC plenary is held in
July 1383 and a General Meeting following it in late July or early August.
This was followed by tremendous dissatisfaction at the conclusions of the
OC meeting. In August, therefore, the Folitical Bureau decides to hold a
OC meeting on August 26, during which several of its membership including
Ode. Maurice Bishop state their concern at the depth of the crisis, its
effects on projects and programmes, and the growing perception of the
leadership by MM members and the disintegration of the Party.

All of this i3 recorded in the minutes of the August 26 meating, as
well as the decision for the (C meeting of September 14-16. The August
meeting also decides that the few CC members then out of the country are to
be at home for the meeting; the meeting must be 50 timed as to ensure that
that was posaible.

Then we have the actual OC meeting of 14-16 September, 1983, vhich
analysed fram early morning to late evening the state of the Party and
Revolution, analyses the many factors, the symptoms of collapse, which I
have analysed this morning, and which makes the decision for solving the
crisis vhich everyone had analysed, the crisis wvhich threatened the disin-
tegration of the Pacrty, and of the very Revolution, since the Party had a
very critical role in so many aspects of the Revolution.

On September 17th I was not even a member of the
This is on record. He would

“George Loulson has lied.
CC then, much less joint leader of the Party.

know that what he said was untrue.”

Then wa have the September 17 meeting., I was present at this meeting.

1 had received reports of the other meetings, and their minutes, and 1
received verbal .ceports of the September 14-16 meeting at the meeting on
September 17. But at that September 16 meeting the decision vas taken that
1 should be brought to a meeting the next day (it was Gde. Bishop's idea)
to discuss with me all the analysis, conclusions and proposals for dealing

with the crisis, to seek my response to the same, and also to decide on

holding a meeting of all the membership to discuss the crisis apd ways of

getting out of it.

Mow George Louison has stated that the decision for joint leadership
was implemented the tollouig; aﬁ after the decision was taken on Septem-
ber 16th, and therefore I wo
the Septamber 17th meeting in my capacity as joint leader of the Party,
while Ode. Bishop was in St. Kitts at the Independence celebrations. fThis

is what George Louison said or implied.

more importantly George Louison knows it is totally untrue. why do I say

80? He, George Louison, says that he left the country on September 17th,
So when he speaks about joint leadership being imple-

on that morning.
“the next day," meaning at that CC meeting of September 17th, it is

mented
significant. The meeting takes place while he is out of the island, and
e falt

while there is nothing to stop him speaking of it, he seems to hav:

the need not to mention also the General Meeting of September 25th. How-
ever, he received the minutes of both these meetings. Also, apart from
that, he received reports fram Cde. Bishop and Cde. Whiteman on those

meetings,

ve been (this is the inference) attending

It is not only untrue, but pechaps

The minutes of those meetings were available within seven days, and he

The names of those listed as being present on September 17th acre:
Selwyn Strachan, Hudson Austin, Liam James, Buart Layne, John Ventour,
Phyllis Coard, Kamu MacBarmette, Chris deRiggs, Leon Cormwall. The names

are very important. I will show why later on.
The following persons are also listed at the top, as being absent:

Maurice Bishop, Unison Whiteman, George louison. They are listed as absent
with an explanation, as being out of the country. Cde. Bishop and de.
Whitemman as Prime Minister and HMinister of Foreign Affairs were at the st.
Kitts independence celebrations. George Louison was out of the country
because he left as part of the advance delegation vhich Cdes. Bishop and
whiteman would join later, after the September 25th General Meeting. The
other three persons absent were: Dave Bartholomew, Fitzroy Bain, and Ian
St. Bernard, who were all sick. The minutes will showv this. (That in
itself is significant, that they were sicki} Indeed, Ian St. Bermard
missed all the meetings of Sept. 14-17, Fitzroy Bain missed some, and Dave

Bartholamew had serious problems.
Cde. Selwyn Strachan, in the absence of Cdes. Bishop and whiteman, and

with my not being even a OC member, chaired the meeting as the next most
senjor comrade. This had happened from time to time in the past.

The megting was called to discuss, primarily with myself and also to a
lgmt extent, because of his late arrival, with Cde. Hudson Austin, the
discussions of the pcévious three days.

Cde. Strachan started off as chairman, giving for my benefit, a sum-
mary of vhat had transpired between September 14-16, 1963 ~ the decisions
taken, the proposals made which were now asubject to confirwation or other-

wise by NM members at a General Meeting.
Inmediately after Gde. Strachan spoke, and before others did, I spoke

and raised four quastions, and the minutes taken by the Racording Secretary
who was present at that meeting will bear out the accuracy of what I am

saying.
Ficatly, I said I would like to seé¢ the minutes of the meeting of l4ch
~ 16th September, andsto read the detailed conclusions and analysis.
of those who

Ssecondly, I said that I would like to know the reasoni
abstained or opposed on the decisions, and in pacticular on the joint

leadership matter. What ware thelr yeasons?
Thirdly, what options other than joint leadarship were examined by the

ac, and vhy were they rejected?
fourthly, I asked why was not this meeting acheduled so that Ode.

Bishop could be present?
“pid I know I would have been on trial?*”

It 3s important to note and reflect on the composition of that
meeting, 8nd who was present. All those present, except Chris deRiggs, acre
in the dock right noow, facing eleven charges of murder placed by the U.S.,
using black face cards. And the only reason Chris deRiggs is not in the
dock and framed too, is that he was out of the fsland on the 19th October.

This is significant, because if one is to believe the hints, the innu-
endo of Geotge Louison, and the propaganda, then this meeting waa composed
entirely of conspirators and plotters. HMaybe then I asked those four
questions because I knew I'd be put on trial In 13867 Remember, thls ws
before October, before the invasion, before the further crisis and tragedy
of October. Did I know at that time that there would have been this trial

in 198627

“Cde. Bishop had spoken about the growing quantity and complexity of the
work, and had expressed the view that the party's leadership had thus far
been unable to rise to the task of dealing with this complexity.”

Qde. Austin also asked

Hy four questions were replied to in detail.
questions, I had asked for the minutes of the meetings. I was assured

that yes, I would get copies as soon as these were available. My other
three questions were answered in some detail. I was givea all the salient
details about the September 14-16th meeting, with many of the COC members
pcesent quoting from their personal notes or diaries to give me the infor-
mation until the minutes should be available. The rationale for the
pcoposals, and so on, and also sumnaries of previous CC meetings at vhich
the crisis was diascussed. I also received in due course the minutes of
those meetings.

On Sept. 17th, George Louison's conduct during the meeting of 14-16
sePt?“ber: as well as his views - the two are not the same thing - were
outlined to me, as I had asked to know everyone's positions and reasons.

Twas also told the following details, with many comrades reading from
their personal notebooks, namely that there were three matters on which
every single CC member agreed - those who voted for joint leadership, those
who opposed (that was only one person, Geroge Louison) and those who
abstained. Everyone agreed that:

Firstly, thece wag a crisis on the Farty and Revolution.

Secondly, that it was grave, and endangered the continued existence of
the Party, and ultimately of the Ravolution. This was a position which
every single member held, based on the minutes I read subsequently, and on
vhat I was informed. -

Thirdly, the ¢C itself — and this included an analysis of certain
seriocus organizational weaknesses of Ode. Maurice Bishop - the OC itself
had thus far proven unable to solve the crisis.

The area of debate and disagreement, therefore, wvas not in respect of
the crisis, but in respect of what to do about it.

I was told that at the August 26th meeting and again in September,
Qde. Maurice Bishop had stated that the Party was faced with the threat of
disintegration; that he also stated that there was a state of deep crisis
in the Party and Revolution, that the main reason for this was the poor
functioning of the CC, that the crisis in the Party waas causing a crisis in
the Revolution, and that the crisis was compounded by weaknesses in the
objective factors, such as problems with electricity, roads, and eo on.

In respect of Cde. Whiteman, his position among other things was that
he was shocked by the mood in the country. And Gde. George Louison had
talked about his deep concern over the coatinued decline of the work of the
Party. Ode. Fitzroy Bain had done the same and made the point that in his
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would therefore know that what he has said was not true. The records will
show the following — and once more, no amount of lles, slander, and

opinion the strongest suppporters of the Revolution were demoralized, and



that a number of Party members were shoowing a willingness to resign
because of the demands of overwork, and were juat going through the
motions, so exhausted and demoralized had they become.
Cde. Maurice Bishop had also spoken of the growing quantity and com-
exity of the work, and had expcessed the view that the Party's leader—

ship had thus far been unable to rise to the task of dealing with this

ccmplexity.

Cde. Unison Whiteman, and many other CC members, expressed the view
that the Party and its leadership were setting itself too many tasks and
too many unrealistic decisions. And Gde. Selwyn Strachan also spoke about
Party members being overburdened. And what ccmes out clearly from all the
statements is the Party's failure to‘deal with the complexity and the
increase of tasks, and the consequent overwork, exhaustion and demoral-
ization of members, and the effects of thia on members, and so on.

Those are, in summary, some of the positions vhich were outlined to me
and vhich I read in the minutes regarding the crisis, its effects, and the
gravity of it, and in particular the secious organizational weaknesses of
Ode. Maurice Bishop which was one of the dimensions of the crisia.

say which OC meeting, where, vhen, and with
Bishop from the CC of the partyl”

that when prose-
“the CC that", it

"I challenge George Louison to
who present, ever removed Cde.

At thia point I want to say, to place oa the record,
cution witnesses make statements about “"the CC this " and
must be clearly undersatood that George Louison and George Louison alone vas
the only person removed fram the Central Oommittee on the aftermoon of,
October 12th. I waa not at that CC meeting but the records of that meeting

will show that. No other member of the leadership of the Party vas removed
83. Therefore it must be clearly

from the OC during September — October 19
underatood that Cdes. Maurice Bishop, Unison Whiteman and Fitzroy Bain were
members throughout the crisis - three comradea who tragically met their
deaths on October 19th at Fort Rupert. They were members of the OC

And I challenge anyone, including the same George

throughout thd crisia.
Louison, to say which CC meeting, where, when, and with who present, ever

removed Cdea, Maurice Bishop, Unison Whiteman or Fitzroy Bain from the

Central Committee of the Party!
*Criticism of each other, and of ourselves, collectively, was something we

did in the Party from time to time. But George Louison was the only person
Who went so for as to state that Cde. Bishop was the number one problem’ (¥

On the question of the organziational weaknesses of Gde, Bishop,
focussing on this for a mament, I want to streas that the vaat majority of
OC membecs present on September 14-16, including those in the dock, out-
lined the outatanding qualities and strengths of Ode. Bishop, as well as
his weakneases, This wns not something new. Criticism of each other and
of ourselves collectively was something we did in the Party from time to

It helped to improve our individual and collective performance.
I should like it noted, for inatance, that on this occaaion, Sept.

14-16, Ode. Unisoa Whiteman made it clear in the meating that the criti-
ciams of the organizational weakneases of Cde. Bishop, mentioned by various
weabers of the OC, were in his view correct. He stated that unequivocally

as his position.
cde. George Louison went much further, Indeed, he is tha only person

in that meeting - and the Americans gave the MNP the minutes for the 1984
election campaign, but they can't give them to us for this triall - George
Louison stated that “the number one problem {n tha Party is the quality of
leadership given the process by Ode. Maurice Bishop.” In 1984 the MNP made
thit.a road marchl We can‘t get these same minutes for the trial, and
George Louison comes, and gives a totally different impression here, and

makes sure npot to mention that!
Ode. Liam Jones in that meeting aa the minutes would show, said that

all members of tha OC must be criticized for weakneases vhich have con-
‘tributed to the disorganization of the Party;
of both the strengths and weaknesses of Ode. Bishop.

It is very important for people to read the minutea of that meeting,
to see what people actually said at tthe time, and to compare it with what
George loulson is now saying went on.

for the first time — the first time I

Ode. Maurice Bishop stated, not
recall that he said thia was {n April 1981 — he said he accepted certain

weakneases in his performance that were outlined. be agreed that he had
not given adequate leadership to a number of Party bodies.

time.

Ode. Maurice Bishop's position on the joint leadership proposal at the

meeting of 14-16th September, vas outlined to me and on Sept. 17th. His

poaition as I understood and recall it was:

Firstly, he had no problem with the proposal for joint leadership of
the Party. He stated that the Party was founded in Macch 1973 with joint
leaders, not one leader. That based on the history of NJM as a Party as

well as generally he had no philosophical problems with joint leadership aa

a proposal.

Secondly,
Coard becausa he and Ode. Coard go back many many years, to school days.

That they had written the NJM Manifesto and the Indictment of Gairy
together, and had always worked together as a team.

He had two concerns or reservations. The first was relatively
speaking, a detail. It was, how concretely would the proposal of joint
leadership be operationalized? Hece he wanted more details and to meet
with myself to work out and finalize such details. Indeed, at the meeting

of 14-16 Sept. as a result of discussion, the question of apecific arcas of

responaibility; specific demarcation of tasks, and so on, waa gone into.

"Conrade Bishop'a concern: was thia a vote of no confidence?"

Hi

of tha CC as really a vote of no confidence in him,
to me at tha meeting of September 17th and went on to-say to ma that most

comrades had responded making it clear this was not the case and vhy it vas

not the casa, but why they felt tnat joint leadership was vital at that

critical juncture, with the party facing disintegration.
On two occaaiona at the September 14-16 meeting, George Louison put

forvard a position suggesting the complete removal of Cde, Bistop., And
this proposal was rejected by every single member of the CC with reasons

given for thair rejection.
and contribution of Ode. Bishop to the Party and Revolution was of indis-

nsable importance to tha Revolution. They pointed out the extraordlnacy

thauonshlp of Ode. Bistop with the working people, his ability to comwm-
nicate even complex ideas to the people in an easily understandable way, to

motivate and mobiliza the people, to inspire pride and a sense of self-

worth in them; that his contributjion was vital to building the economy, the

48 pecple’s militia, the parish and zonal councils. For building all the

Qde. Maurice Bishop's ability to inspire,

people was unparalleled. This is to be

thtee pillars of the Revolution,
ing but also of the Ganaral

to motivate, and to mobilize the
found in the minutes not only of the CC meet

Meetings of September 25th and 26th.
*Thia feeling of Cde. Bishop's was used as a lever by George Louison,

Cletus St. Paul, Don Rojas, and Shahiba Strong.

how to get across the ideas to the people, how

to galvanize them, mobilize them, inspire them; and yet accomplish also the
other task, to pull together the organizational tasks required to transform

the liberated energies of the people into concrete achievements, concrete

These were the two great tasks, the two dimensions of the
This was the

This was the question:

programmes.
struggle which needed to be married to build the Revolution.

basis for comrades' support for the proposal, this vwas also how they geo—
uinely felt, why the proposal did not raflect a position of no confidence.
But this was hia genuine concern. We cannot pretend it was not.

It is my view, and this ia even clearer to me today, that this feeling
of Ode. Bishop'a was a foot in the doorway vhich was used as a lever by
George Louison, Cletus St. Paul, Don Rojas, and Shahiba Strong to greatly
aggravate the aituation and turn it into a crisais of monumental propor-
tions, which it vas not, and ultimately of tragedy. They surrounded him,
they bombarded him. All but one were present on the trip with him. They
pushed plot and conapivacy lines at him coastantly. They told him the
joint leadership proposal was the first stage towards getting rid of him
altogether as leader; and I will try to pin down why I place the morning of
September 26, to October 8th, as the time this starta.

To go back to the meeting of September 17th. On September 16th Ode.
Maurice himself proposed that to save time thias meeting should take place
the next day, while he wes away, and that he would meet with me in a
bi-latecal a few days later, within about 48 hours of his return fram St.
Kitts. The minutes will show that he proposed an immedjate OC meeting with
me, and that hé would meet with me after. Even though many CC membera felt
he should bBe there and that the meeting could have been the following week,
he inajsted and said September 17 should be used to brief Ode. Bernard and
other matters he would raise directly with me ~ the questions of the opera-

and he also outlined his view

he had no problems with a joint leadership with Ode. Bernacd

3 sscond concern ~ and in my view, looking back, this was a reserva-
tion of great aignificance; I have a greater appceciation of this now than
I had at the time - he was worried about whether to interpret this positod
Comrades. reported this

Indeed, as comrades pointed out to me, the role

tionalization of joint leadership: and of whether this was really a vote of

no confidence.
There waa another matter. He, Cde. Bishop that is, wished to' taks ‘ona

week and give careful thought and reflection regarding his main concerm

over joint leadership — whether this was really a vote of no confidence,
inced by the assurances of all the membara of the CC and

He was not conv
therefore he wanted to reflect on this for saven days as wall as to use the
time to meet with myself. The other comrades all agreed, and 80 the next
formal meeting of the CC was set for one week hence at his request and pro-
posal. It waa also agreed to set a date for the next Ganeral Meating of
the Party, which would take the final decision on joint leadership.
According to George Louison this thing was settled on September 16th,
and 80 he can't afford to tell anyona about the September 25th Farty
General Meeting! But thare vas such a meeting, and thare were many persons

pcesent, who are now living in Grenada.

"5 deciaion such as joint leadership could not ba taken by tha CC.
Be approved by the General hemberahip of the Party.”

It must

Now T would like to say that the highest organ of the Party between
meetings of the General Membership was the Central Committee or Party Exe-
cutive. But the highest organ of the Party, higher than the Central Com-
mittee, ia the General Meeting of membera of the Party, Bear this in wind
In the context of George Louison's position as to when joint leadership was
decided. It is also important to remember when I go on to discuss George
Loulsonts conduct in Eastern Europe, and the fact that members of tha Party
who were with him in Fastern Burope spoke about his conduct at the Party
General Meetig of October 13th at Butler House.

Let us ¢ in mind that it was the General Meeting of the Party vhich
elected the Central Committee in the first place, and can replace it at any
time. And it was the General Meeting which elected the first PRG. The
things which George Louison said took place at the General Meeting of Octo-
ber 13th do not and cannot make sense once you understand this. A number
of things vhich he said happened could not possaibly make sense if people .
underatand that certain things could only be done by the General Meeting of
the Party, and aot by the CC. He can fool people who don't know the system
of functioning of the NJM and the fact that its highest body is the General
The CC is only the highest body between General Meetinga of the

teeting.
membecship.
A Gecision such as joint leadership and other key organizational
This 1a noasensel If the CC was

decisiona could not be taken by the CC.
to attempt something like that there would have been total rebellion!
General Meeting was neceasary and that is vhy it was held on September
25th, and a General Meeting of Candidate Members on September 26th, also to
discuss and vote on thia question.

Therefore for all these reasons it ia totally wrong, an attempt to
confuse the Court and the Grenadian people, to create mischief and out of
malice that George Louison should come here and tell people that the CC
took the decision for joint leadership and that it was implemented the
following day, the 17th Septembect

It ia further disgcaceful mischief-making and totally untrue for him
to say that the OC removed Cde. Bishop fram the leadership of the Party and
government.. This ia extraordinary! When did this meeting take place that
took such a deciafon! What is he talking about? If you vant to cause “old
maa'* among Party members, just try such a thingl He doesn't even say when
this meeting tpok place, which took such a decision — he just asserts itl

1 don't know who told him to stick it in there! Such a deglaion is
HMambershl nd there ia no

imposible without the apmroval of the Genaral D, &
way you could get even 10t of the General Memberahlp voting for that. This

Ts diagraceful mlachlef-making on the part of George Loulson, ;
Tha fourth proposal of Cda. Bishop was that I should immediately

re-join the CC and start working out a detailed plan for the implementation
of all the other CC decisions with regacd to Party’ organization. It vas
hia proposal that even while the queation of joint leadership waa still to
be resolved a little over a week later, I should rejoin the OC and meet
with the rest of the CC on those four days and draw up an organizational
plan, since there were many such broad organizational decisiona vhich had
been taken and which needed full elaboration, to get the Party out of the

A

crials.
To give four examples - and thasa other four I might add were also to
be put to the General Membership, and that waa eventually done as well:
Firstly, a decision for a masaive expansion of tha Party membership,
from 500 to 1500 members within a specified period, by drawing in 1000 new
members. One way to juggle more balls is to have more people to help with
the juggling. So the idea was to go out and discover which people fram



among the masses had the moat energy, were already taking the most respon-
aibility, had the most dynamiam, the most leadership qualities; the paople
who were natural leaders — in the N4O, the NYO, the volunteer teachers
wrking the hardest in the CPE programme, the volunteers working hardest in
the milk distribution programme, the house repair programme; those persons
who were already showing theicr willingness to work hard without pay, - and
Pacrty comrades would aprxocach these brothers and sisters, and ask them if
they were willing to join the Party,

S0, joint leadership of the Party was part of a package of organiza—
tional proposals. There were also these others which the propaganda
doesn't talk about at all. The propaganda mentions only joint leadership.
But it was part of a package.

Another proposal was to implement greater division and specialization
of labour within the KM. Rather than tw people sharing ten tasks, let
each do five. Better internal organization, in other words.

A further decision was to rationalize and prioritize each Party mem-
ber's work, cutting down the amount of work assigned so as to be more effi-

Take three tasks instead of ten and do them well, even though the

cient.
Decide which three are most

other seven have to hold off for a while.

important.
And a fourth decision was to hold back on implementing or expanding

some of the programmes of the Revolution in order to better implement the
rest., To cut down into what we could really cope with. To trcy in this way

to contain and control the magnitude of the crisias.
All the proposals of Gde. Bishop I outlined earlier were implemented

ar.\d came off as planned and were fruitful, and that includes my meeting
with him of September 21st, to discuss the isssuves I mentioned.

*I stated my position on joint leadership very frankly ... I was pecsonally

Kenrick Radix decided he would use the personal prestige of a Minister
of Govertment to by-pass the computer. When a Minister says "I guarantee
you will get your money,* a number of businesses will break the rules and
supply the goods required. And although not legally liable, it looks bad
morally for government to refuse to pay; Kenrick did this. His most famous
such eacapade was his spending tens of thousands of dollars more than
Cabinet had authorized, to set up the Crucial Factor restaurant. That's a

whole story in itself,

This obviously created strains between myself as Finance Minister -
for whom this vas an outrage! - and Kenrick Radix.

Then thecre were other problems. The figures will show that the state
enterprizes that he was Minister for lost the most money and were the worat
managed. It was an embarasswent for the Revolution. Fishing boats sank in
the Carenage. Nothing was done about it by his Ministry. There were seri-
ous management pcoblems with the agro plant. Then the fish-processing
plant had to close down because {t couldn‘t get fish because the boats were
not functioning. X

Some state industries were making $2 - 3 million dollars annually in
pcojects; his were losing. This was discussed in Cabinet, and in the
Party. His record of incampetence is well documented in Party minutes.
The U.S. gave these to the NNP and I, from my cell in Richmond Hill Prison,
heard Alexis reading out about the performance of Kenrick Radix from the
Party minutes so as to discredit him! But the very same minutes, where
there are facts at issue to be decided and 18 lives at stake, a ocourt of

law can't get theml ( Rakics phony MBPH stadin tht US-infoad baurgmis ehahinns in (LIS

"My position vas that joint leadership would play {nto the hands of the
rumour_mongecs and conspiracy theorlsts ... my concerns turned out to be

prophetically correct.*

not In favour.”

. Now on Septembec 17th, aftec the various members of the CC had out-
lined in great detail the positions of comrades at the meeting of 14th -
16th, I vas asked for my position on these matters, and I stated my posi-
tion very frankly and bluntly. I made it clear throughout the meeting that
I was personally not in favour of joint leadership or of returning to the

CC in any capacity.

I outlined my reasons at that meeting of September 17th. I reminded
the OC of the reasons why I resigned from the CC in Saptember 1982 and that
nothing had changed in my opinion, to change my position oa this question;

that the fundamental reasons and concerns which I had then, remained,

I redinded comrades that there were two types of paople in the Party,
I wasn't speaking of {deo-

especially among the leadership, historically.
There were those - the majority -~ who worked

logy but of work performance.
hacd, who put everything into their work; and then there waa a amall group

of people - I specifically mentioned Kenrick Radix, and his role over the
years - I am a blunt apeaker, and it was his activities that had led to my

resigning.

1 pointed out that there were those elements who liked to suck up, and
bring news, and make up news, and I can't deal with that, and this was
causing too much divisiveness in the Party, and that I had felt that the
best way to deal with eleménts who feel that they can oaly make it through
bad-talking others {s to withdraw and not be part of that.

“Kenrick Radix ... was a source of great concern to me.*

It is important to understand thae prob
plzation. I will be concrete regarding Kenrick Radix.
the OC, the Party executive, in October 1982 despite the fact that he vas
close to Comrade Bishop. However, he continued to have a divisive influ-
ence within the Party. He and others like him were a source of great con-

cern to me.
Kenrick had a pattern of doing little or no Party work.
have tasks to be done, nine wembers will get theirs done. He will hava a
thousand excuses but the bottom line {s that his task has not been done.
I vas in charge of Rarty organization and I had harch words for those

who brambled and didn't get tasks dona. In addition there were other prob~

lems. He would get up and say all sorts of wild things ... once he made a
statement about Innocent Belmar which caused the Party real embarassment

among the broad masses. People were mad about it!
the radio station ten times a dayt And if you tried to tell Keanrick any-

thing he would fly into a rage.

Even though Cde. Bishop and he were good friends, whenever he did
things like this Qde. Bishop would draw me aside before a meeting and say
to me "I want you to talk about him in this meetingl® This did not endear
me to him(K{.So there was personal animosity between us. Also he would get
drunk at public functions — I don't say all the time; occasionallys but it
was becaming a little too occasionally if you get my meaning - and it vas
embarassing, a top leader of the Party and Revolution doing this.

Then there were various incidents which occurred with regard to the
Departments for which he was responsible. All of these were the reasons
for my concerns about returning to the OC, even as an ordinary member,
because of Kenrick Radix and a little clique of news-carriers and rumour
mongers. I made the point again and again.

We had a striot system of control over the budget.
spent for each item vas fed into a computer, and how much was to be spent

for each item in a particular month too, for mot all moaths are necessarily

the same. For instance, under the item ‘Chief Justice,' there would be a
bulge during those months when there are assizes.

This was unique in the Caribbean.
Grenada, oaly weeks before the invasion he rang up and asked to send in
some of his bureaucrats to atudy our system. And he did so. They don't

say vhere they learned that syatem, now!

puring the Revolution, a Minister or civil secvant qouldn't just go
You had to produce a bill

into a atore and say "give me these materials.*”

with a computer stamp on {t. We informed in The Gazette that thosa atores

vhich credited materials without computer stamp authorization, government

wuld npt be liable.
In this way, the government cbuld never blow its budget. The compute

wuld say "no, you've already spent too muchl® In this woy we prevented

deficits, and even got surplusea of $3 million, $5 million, and $10 million

dollars.

1f, wvhen a claim i3 sent in, the computer said "no, you have already
overspent on this item," any Minister or Permanent Secretary could find ou
on a screen how much was spent and used. Then, if you want to break your

budgat you have to take the matter to Cabinet.
- and where the money will come from, because money doesn't grow on treest

Then, the Cabinet Secretary notifies the computer centre and you get the
additional funds. This is the oaly way you can lawfully blow your budget.
It was one of the secrets of the economic success o Grenada

Revolution.

lems one encounters in any orga-
He was removed from

If ten people

Gairy was playing it on

How much was to be

It was all computerized.
One Caribbean Prime Minister who invaded

Cabinet has to decide "yes"

Over the years Kenrick Radix was shielding himself more and more from
the critician of fellow Party leaders and rank and file members. He was
more and more seeking to be protected, more and more shu-shuing [gossiping,
whispering behind people's backs], and more and more relying oa his friend-
ship vith Cde. Bishop. Aand one question which came to a head during 1982
was that elements auch as Kenrick Radix and one or two others in senior
positions in the party, who did no work and were refusing to do tasks and
were embarassing the Party should be put on probation, given a time period
to pull up,their socks, and if thoy failed to improve they would be put

into a moce junior position in the Party, as ordinary mémbers. fThis was my
position. Because a campaign of personal abuse was Kenrick Radix's
response to my pcoposal, this led to certain strains and frictions and to
increased shu-shuing on his part. And that was one of the reasolis - thare
were others but that was an impoctant one - why I resigned fram the OC in

1982.

On Sept. 17th I made it clear that I would undertake all tasks
assigned to me by the CC, dilfgently and thoroughly, but as an ocdinary
member of the Rarty and not as a CC wember. That is also why I made {t
clear that my position was that joint leadership would play into the hands
of the news-mongers, rumour mongers, and conspiracy theorists. And just
like when the OC and Ode. Bishop wanted me to spend several months working
with him to prepare for the Caricom meatings I threw myself fully into the
wrk; just as, having made the proposal for the Constitution Commission, I
spent four montha during 1983 in the work to get this going: just as,
having proposed that Cde. Bishop should visit the U.S., I threw myself
fully into the preparatory work for that, my position was, as many tasks as
are required foc me to do, to get the Party out of this grave crisis, I
will do, but my concern was that personal animosities and rivalries could
be used to atir up confusion and divisiveness, and that the joint leader-
ship proposal was incocrrect from that perspective. On September 17th I was
not addressing the werits or demerits of the proposal in ita own right, but
how elanents like Kenrick Radix and George Louison could use it. My
concerns turned out to be prophetically cocrect.

So the second half of the Saturday 17th meeting turned out to be a
debate between myself and other comrades here wvho were critical of me, who
felt that my position was based, not on whether the proposal was correct
for the needs of the Rarty at that time, but on personal concerns based on
historical factora.

One thing I would like to make clear at this point, and that is, that
I make a particular distinction between George Louison and Kenrick Radix.
Although they joined forces in 1983 in making mischief, they must be seen
as different in certain respects. George Louison was one of those who pco-
posed that Kenrick Radix be removed from the Central Committee in October
1982. George Louison was for years critical of Kenrick Radix* lack of
wrk, and Radix in turn accused Louison of being *part of a coaspiracy*
because George was one of his staunchest critics. George Louison turned
out to be a mischief-maker but he wvas a hard worker over the years. This
must be recorded. ‘Give Jack his jacket.' {editor*s note: ‘give a man what
is his dve.'] In October 1983 they joined forces in mischief, but during
the years George worked hard.

“I saw it at the time, but dimly, that these elements would get in at the
door "and create mayhem,™

And 30, I made it clear on September 17th that if I were to return to
the OC even as an ordinary member and I heard any of this shu-shuing and
back-biting behind my back I was going to immediately resign again, so let
us instead have a situation in the Pacty wvhere we delineate areas of
responsibility and 1 will do any tasks as called upon but aa an ordinacy
member of the Party. That was my position. And the records of the meeting
reflect that.

The other canrades disagreed. They also pointed out the resecrvations
which Ode. Bishop had, especially as to whether the proposal wos really a
vote of no ocpnfidence, and that he wanted a week to reflect. The final
decision was to be taken on September 2Sth.

This further reinforced my concerna, because if Ode. Bishop had these
reservations then this was precisely the material which could be used for

serious divisiveneas,
"Cde. Bishop was distraught regarding his son, and blaming himself.®

On the 21st September - it was a Wednesday, I think - Cde. Bishop and
myself met at his yard, at his house, following his return from St. Kittas.
We rapped fpr about three to four hours. He outlined to me the salient
features ot the 14 -~ 16th September meeting as he saw {t, his own position.
He had no problems with the joint leadership proposal, he said; as well as
he said that after discussion on the 16th he was clearer as to the ocgani-
zational delineatiocns, the various areas of responsibility of each of ua.
However, he had concerns as to whether this was really a vote of no confi-
dence and vhether OC comrades were just being too diplamatic tovards him. 4-‘1

That's vhat he said to me.

T

t



I want to say further that Cde. Bishop reminded me that he had raised
the quesation in the OC meeting of October 1982 and at gther CC meetings in
1981 and 1982 as wall as on other occasions as to whether his areas of
weakness organizatiocnally - of lack of focua, prioritaization -~ on these
occasions he had raised doubts about his ability to lead the process. Then
he had done a0 In October 1982 formally. Bearing that in mind, and tha
accuracy of the criticiams regarding his organizational wealnesses, this
had contributed to re—creating self-doubts in him regarding his ability to
lead the process. He was to some degree deprassed, thinking of giving up
the struggle, because of a mixture of factors. One such factor was hia
son's illness. It was his impcession that it was a psychological condition

and that the breaking up of the marriage situation had been a critical fac-
tor in creating his son's psychological state and illness, and thias was
causing him deep concern. He vas experiencing difficulty in focuasing on
Party and government tasks. In fact, it is my understanding that this was
wvhy Dr. Mahy was in Grenada on October 12th - to discuss the matter of his
son's illness with him.

Cde. Bishop vas distraught regarding his eon and blaming himself. The
marriage break-up - this is a frequent situation in life, and these things
have effects. We have to understand how much he loved his son. He said to
me - I will never forget this — that his son who was living in Grenada
spent several weeks with him that summer, he had taken time off to take him
for drives and so on, and then when he sees him off at the airport or
shortly aftervards he discovers that Johnny has lost 40 lbs. and he hadn't
even noticed. Yet he had taken time off to try to make life joyous for his
son that summer. This shook him. It made him realize how preoccupied he
was by the burden of Party and government.

I have no doubt that all of this was the reason why Ode. Bishop
wished to reflect that week. I saw him in the middle of the week, and he

made all those points.,

“At the Party General Meeting of Sept. 25th, Cde. Bishop vas very frank ...
he bared his fcelings to the membecrship.™

Therefore, vhen Cde. Bishop went to the General Meeting of the Party
on September 25th, he was very frank and blunt in the very firat apecch he
made. He spoke for about 40 minutes. He repeated the positions he had
stated on September 16th and with me. HMost of all, he repeated his reser-
vations and concerns about whether this really reflected a vote of no con-
fidence by OC mombers, vhether they were belng too diplomatic to tell him
if ho was really up to leading the process. He bared hia feelings to the

party membership. He said that in pcinciple he had no problem with joint
leadership; that the Party had started with that; that he had a good
working relationship with me, that organizationally he was clearer on what
wuld ba entajiled. But to him the fundamental question is, whether he
still had a fundamental contribution to make to the proceas and that Party

members thought so.

And during this meeting of 15 hours almast every Pacty member apoke
and spoke freely, frankly, and fram the heact.

one thing I mention in passing, is that at that meeting Elnstein
Louison openly criticized his brother, George Louison, for opportunism and
sald vhy he did sol Quotationa from vhat he said have been published {n
The Natlonal, the ruling NNP's minutes; we can't get them for this triall

The Genaral Meeting of September 25th took the form that firat of all
members got coples of the minutes of tha 14th - 16th OC meating - enough
coples were done and thesa were each nuumbared to ensuce sacurity, so that
everyone could see the discussion and analysis of the OC. These were dis-
cussed in workshops. Then there vas open debate for several hours.

ADJOURNMENT FOR THE DAY, 3:45 P.M.
TUESDAY, 19TH AUGUST

"The Sept. 25th General Meeting lasted over a 15 hour period.”

Bernard Coard: Yesterday I had begun to epeak of the General Meeting of the
Party of Septeuber 25th, 1963. It vas a meeting attended by almost all the
full members of the Party who were in the country, and by the entire
leadership except only Gde. Chris deriggs vho was out of the country on
government business, and George Louison, vho was already in Eastern Europe
as part of the advance delegation for Cde. pishop's visit there. The vast
majority of members were there. It was a meeting that lasted over a 15
hour period, broken into workshops, a report to the General Meeting from
the Central Committee on all aspects of the pcoposed reorganization some
of which I dealt with yesterday, and then there vas a plenary session over

a period of several hours.

“Cde. Bishop deserved further reassurances.”

Up to this point in time, that is, the morning of September 25th, Ode.
Bishop had had serious concerns, serious reservations centering around the
issue of vhether the joint leadership proposal was really a vote of no con—
fidence in him, and whether comrades were really being diplomatic with him.
Up to then, despite detailed explanations from comrades regarding hia vital
and irreplaceable role in the pcocess, he was not yet convinced. Given his
entire psychological and emotional condition, he still desired further
reassurances. That is my opinion, based both on how I read the situation
then, and reinforced by more thinking over the past 2 3/4 years.

what is significant is, as member after member spoke at that meeting,
making a number of points, this had a visible and profound affect on Ode.
Bishop. At the beginning he spoke for about 40 minutes; he outlined his
concerns, his resecrvations, as well as the areas in which he had no pcob-
lems with the pcoposal. Then members spoke, making a nunber of different
points, sounding various cownon themes. There were members from all over
the country, from different backgrounds. Some of the themes they sounded
were as follows:

“The entire membership agreed that there was a serious crigis, and chided
The Central Committee for Jts tardiness in dealing with 1E.7

Firatly, severe criticisms of the CC as a vhole, including of Ode,
pishop, but of the OC aa a totality, for its {nability to qope with the

atresses and strains emerging during the Ravolution: and, much more seci-
ously, with the dishoneaty, as members saw it, as reflected in the July cC
plenary and the Party General heeting wvhich followed {t. There were criti-
cisms of the OC for ducking the question of a serious rationalization and
prioritization of the Party's work, and instead simply lambasting the Party
rank and file membera for a growth in indiscipline and for not coplng with
They said it was time to move from analysing the

the demands of the work.
problems to taking concrete ateps to ensure that the problems were dealt

5°\dth. The entire membership not only agreed that there was a sarious
criais but also chided the CC for its tardiness in dealing with it.

*I't was necessary to solve the crisis in order to prevent a u.S. invasion.*®

There were two main preoccupations which the leadership had and which
the Party rank and file shared. These were, ficstly, how to ensure that we
could continue to bulld the procass without that very process of building
leading to the very stresses and strains which were, along with the U.S.
destabilization efforts, leading to collapsa, How could we stave off Party
disintegration leading to the disintegration of the Ravolution? And fur-
ther, that it was absolutely neceasary to solve that first preoccupation in

order to prevent a U.S. invasion. I stresa, that this is the period in
sing a map of Grenada and a

which Ronald Reagan had stated unequivocally, u.
pointer, that “Grenada is a threat to tnited States' Rational Security.”
NJM members, both rank and file and leadership, were under no {1lusions
that the concrete statements and activities of Reagan, Bush, and e lnburger
were leading inexorably tovards a U.S. invasion. My own assesauent is that
the campletion of the International Airport which was due to be finished
within six montha - with all the implications for the development of
Grenada's tourism and econamy and therefore for the consolidation of the
Revolution - that the U.S. took this very seriously into consideration.

“One could feel the electricity, the profound impact, vhich the speeches
were having on Cde. Bishop.™

Another theme struck by the members — and here we must note the frank-
ness of their speeches - this was their criticisms of Qde. Bishop, which he
himself had made about himself on a number of occasions, and at the same
time the fact that they made clear their deep love, respect and admiration

of him.
And one could see, sitting close to Cde. Bishop in the meeting right

there, as member after member fram all Parishes spoke, and could feel the
electricity, the pcofound impact, which the speeches were having on him.

The members Spoke about his weaknesses - and also dealt with his
atrengtha, And they implored him to consider the results if he were to go
into a mood of depression and throw in the towel. They said this directly
to him - at a certain point they stopped addressing the Chair, and apoke
directly to him, and they said "you must not see these criticismns of you,
and this proposal for joint leadership, as a vote of no confidence in you."
They approached the problem frontally.

All parties, no matter in what country, must have rules and regula-
tions. After frank, thorough and open discussion a democratic decision
must be taker, and every member has a duty to carry it out.

"Why was George Louison cursing?®

At that meeting concerns and criticiens were aexpressed, congetning
George [ouison‘s behavior in the meeting September 14-16. (Questions were
askad by the membership: vhy was he cursing? Why did he pick up hia brief-
case to leave the meeting, until he had to be asked by Qle, Blahop to

resune his seat?

"rhe General Heeti;g voted almost unanimously for joint leadership, Cde.
Blehop sa would work to ensure its implemantation.

I have stressed, that with respesct to Gde. Maurice Bishop and his
role and contribution to the struggle, the contributions of members were
vital, They said it would be a disaster, were ho to give up the struggle.
Tha depth of members' feeling and emotions had a viaible, profound
impact on Cde. Blshop. At the end of the weeting be spoke again. He wade
{t clear how moved he was by all that the comrades — the rank and file

party members — had had to say: and that he wvas deeply reassuced. He pac-
ticularly admired the frankness and bluntneas with which comrades spoke,
the fact that they did not shirk from discussing his areas of waaknaeas but
he was also moved by the fact that the entire membership alao spoke and
supported all the organizational proposals including the proposal for jolint
leadership, but also made it clear that they were appalled to think he
might interpcet this as a no confidence vote. He said he would work to
ensure implementation of all the meeting‘s decisiona.

In keeping with the principle that the General Meeting of the Party
the General

has to take the final decision on all important mattecs,
Heeting voted ~ and everyone voted wtanimously except for one member who
abstained, and this included Cdes. Maurice Bishop, Unison wWhiteman and
fitzroy Bain — all voted for a joint leadership of the Party. This is a

record, in the minutes of the meeting.
"The General Meeting of September 25th is a highly incoavenient meeting for

George Louison.”

It is because it i3 necessary for George Louison's entire fabric of
lies, and those who put him up to it or aided and abetted him in it - it is
because it is important for him to lie and say that joint leadership vas
implemented from the 17th September,, that is vhy he astudiously avoided
mentioning the General Meeting of September 25th. It is a highly incoaven-
ient meeting for him. He can't mention it, because it doesn't fit in with

their conspiracy theory.

Immediately after the September 25th General Meeting, a nuuber of
party members went with Ode. Maurice Bishop to his home for drinks - vhat
Cletus St. Paul refers to as a semi-function. Later I will deal with why
he refera to this. In fact, the mood was a high one as members now see the
organizational pcoblems as being basically solved and so everyone is in
good spirits, Cde. Maurice Bishop included.

In fact, the meeting had ended with singing, and with Cde. Bishop
So a nunber of members, myself included, went home

embracing everyone.
with him aftervards.

"The real queation is: what happened out there in Easterm Europe?”

very early the’next morning, myself and Cde. Strachan travelled to the
alrport with Cde. Bishop to see him off for Eaatetm Europe. Indeed, myself
and do. Bial{ap travelled in the samec car, which wma a scrious breach of
We sometimes did this and the Personal Security Officers ware
repeatedly threatening, tvhenever we did this to discuss matters, or get
work done, to report us to the Defence and Security Committee! In late
1980 there had been an attempt to put a bomb under a bridge in St. Patricks
over which tha leadership were expected to travel — this vas in the Duck
and Ayoub perfod - 80 whenever we did this they would get into a flap and
{insist. that we must not travel in the same car.

So this 1s the mood, the high mood, in vhich Ode. Biship leaves. This
is important because the objective of those who pcimed Cletus St. Paul and
put him up to his dirty work - they say "look, there was a high mood before
Ode. Bishop's departure, and look how he {s received when he returnst®

But the question I want to ask, the real quetion, is this: given all

security.



*Cde. Bishop was at hia most vulnerable.”

those meetings, and the position of Maurice Bishop in the meeting of Sept.
25th, and his vote, and the spirit with wvhich he leaves, the real queation

{s, what happened out there in Eastern Europe?

“This ia vhy the Prosecution could not bring Errol George.”

This ia yet another reason why the Prosecution could not bring Exrol
Georga, even though his name appears on the back of the indictment, even
Yhough he was the very first prosecution witness called at the Prelimi-

flary Inquiry. Because Exrol George talks about that period in Eastern
Europe and says that during all that period George Louison was at Ode.
Bishop ... at him, at him, at him, trying to sow seeds of confusion between
Ode. Bishop and the rest of the leadership. Extol George said that in his
Preliminary Inquiry testimony, under cath. The Prosecution has raefused to

being him to testify in this trial. But Exrol George will be checked by
He i3 a Grenadian, and a number of other Grenadians were also on

people.
that trip and know of the activities of George Louison on that teip, and of
the activities of Don Rojas, Shahiba STrong, and Cletus St. Paul.

Cbserve what I have previously said about those same people. Remem—
ber, Don Rojas was not jailed like the other Caribbean workers in Grenada.
He vas flown out of Grenada in a military helicopter, while fighting vas
still going on, and thousands of people were being rounded up after the
invasion, while the process of the invasion was in full march, on October.
26th pon Rojas, Prime Minister Bishop's press secretary, is taken out of
Grenada in VIP style, and holds a press conference in Barbados. The CANA
release dealing with his press conference is dated October 29th. We have a

And they were
all there, day and night, with Cde. Bishop.

That's the kind Of question the Prosecution *fraidl They can't deal
with that! In any free and fair trial Errol George would be called as he
was called at the P.I. He would be asked "what did you yourself see and

hear, while in Eastern Burope?® They ‘fraid thatl

copy of it here.
Think too of Shahiba Strong, and hov she was treated.

“At the October 13th Pacrty General Meeting NJM membbers who were pact of
the delegation outlined in detail what George Louison did out there.”

The first time I hear the details, some of them, is at a Political

Bureau meeting on October 12th: and then fran NJM members who were part of
the delegation. At the October 13th Pacty General Meeting they outlined in
detail what Ggorge Louison did there and also some of what Cletus St.Paul
was obsecved doing out there.

So it is significant that George Louison talks about the October 13
General Meeting at Butler House, and makes up a pack of lies about vhat sas
0aid there, and fails to mention that several people 3poke at length about

what he did out there. And it ls because of what he did out there,
conbinéd with what he did during the few daya following his return, that he
was removed fran the Oantral Committee and Political Bureau. And at the
October 13.General Meeting dozena of membera got up and insisted that he
should be-expelled from the Party, and not just from the CC'and P8, the
pParty executive.

Their reasoning when they spoke was, that “here is a man, a leader of
the Party; Ode. Bishop and Ode. Whiteman join him {n Eastern Europe after
the 25th Sepbember and they informed him of the decisions of the 25th (this
came out at the PB meeting of October 12th and the General Meeting of
October 13th; and on October 12th George Louison lied about this and Cde.
Bishop had to point out that what he sajd was not truve and George admitted
that Ode. Bishop did tell him); and what George Louison then proceeds to do
is to call a meeting of all Party members on the delegation who were with
him and therefore not at the September 25th General Meeting,as well as some
Party members who were students out there at tha time, and - this is their
report held on September 25th; he told them the Party had not yet taken a
decision on the matter - {Cde. Bishop's back, Cde. Bishop ias not present)-
he implies to them that Ode. Bishop is really opposed to joint leadership,
and that this is a consplracy of some of the party leaders to get rid of
cde. Biahop as leader, ,and that thay must fight against it. Note: this is
all done behind Cde. Bishop'a back.

All of this came out on October 13th. So when George Louison tried to
lie, several members of the Party who wera out in Eastetn Burope with him
and wvho were in Butler House got up and said “this is aimply not sot® And
then they outlined in detail what actually occurred!

After this, dozens of membera sald he should be expelled from tha
party, for lying to Party members, for trylng to create havoc, and at a
time when the Party was facing mounting pressures from Imperialisua.

I already mentioned vhat tremendous stress and strain Cde. Bishop was
under, like all the other members of the leadership; and also specific and
concrete problems which Cde. Bishop had. Add to that the concerns vhich
Ode. Bishop had, regarding whether the joint leadership proposal really
repcesented a vote of no confidence, and one can understand that George
Louison and others had fertile ground to work on. Gde. Bishop vas at his
moat vulnerable; in a period of the greatest salf-doubt regarding his capa-
‘bilities, deeply worried about his son, and under the additional stress of
the U.S. threats. All of this was a crack in the door, was fertile ground
which the agents of U.S. imperialism could use to create and strengthen
doubts and confusion within Cde. Bishop. He was there, wondering whether
to throw in the towel, whether other people really think he's not capable
of leading the process. In fact,-he said so at the Political Bureau
meeting of October 12th, and he said that his concerns about whether this
was really a vote of no coafidence had re-surfaced vhile he vas in Eastemn
Europe, and he admitted that this was partly dua to discussions with George
Loulson. So, there was confirmation from (de. Maurice Bishop's own mouth
regarding the effects of George Louison and other'a work in Eastern Burope.

"George Louison has ‘forgotten' the heart and core of our discussional®

In my opinion the major form the crisls took was finding ways to pei-
suade Ode. Biship against this conspiracy obsession vhich vas belng pushed
at him, and therefore not to take the position of opting out of the strug-
gle. Not to succumb to the lies and slander of George Louison, Kenrick
Radix and company but instead to play a positive, fundamental and vital
role in the many respects in which he was most fitted, including starting
the monumental task of the reorganization of the Party at all levels to
stave off Party disintegration, and invasion. This was the number one task
as I sav it at the height of the crisis. My reason, my motives for infti-
ating discussions with Odes. George Louison, Unison Whiteman, and Selwyn
Strachan during this critical period of October 15 - 17th, was to seek to
persuade George and Uni as to what my objectives were, why it was so impor-
tant to have Ode. Maurice operating at full blast again 30 that instead of
taking an unhelpful and even destructive position they would join in per-
suading him to get back fully into the struggle in a positive way.

This was my aim. Not the lies and slander that George Louison talks,
about my trying to persuade him to join me in supporting the removal of
Maurice Bishop from Party and state. postsi

At thesé four main meetings various matters were discussed, including
firstly the effect the rumour spcead on October 12th had had on the
country, and vhat were the best ways to combat it; secondly the dangers of
wvhipping up people, using false data, and thus causing widespread divisive-

ness. This was aimed at checking the activities of George Louison and
others mobilized by him. ~

I further discussed with Odea. Louison, Whiteman and Strachan the

tance of restoring unity in the RParty - that thias was tha only basis
on which the crisis would be reaoclved, '

Ad fourthly, we diacussed concrete evidence then avaflable regarding
the serious threat of an impending invasion ~ and the need for unity in the
face of that caming U.S. invasion.

All of that discussion George Louison has forgotten - conveniently,
Just as he haa completely forgotten the September 25th General Meetingl

tie has ‘forgotten' the critical context in which all these diacussioas
wook place, as well as the heart and core of these discuasions. It vas

emphasized and %siz«! by myself to George and Uni the absolute
necesslty to put as a rsona erences in ace O ) at
from U.S. Iﬁdaﬁm — that any othar posltion would be wadnasal This was
stated over and over at these meetings at my housa. The meetings were all
held at my house because I never left my house after the October 13th
General Meeting until October 19th. The reason I did not leave my house
was because I was 80 instructed by security. Because of the rumour and the
anti-Coard propaganda being played for all it was worth, security felt it
was dangerous for me to be going about. Indeed, in an incident on October
12th in St. Paul's a nunber of people sought to seize weapons there.
Security interpreted this as a situation which could get out of hand,
because of the rumour, and the weapons thare were removed to prevent people
taking acts based on pasaions aroused by rumours. This led personal
security officera to take the position that until the situation cools I

should not leave my home.

*“Trade union and political leadera on the left offered to asaist in
Feaolving the crisia ... one met with Cde. Bishop and other mecbers of the

OC on October 18th ... discussions were to continue on the 19th ...

"In whose interest is it to have a complete breakdown in communications?*

Another feature of great significance is the total lack of contact and
coummication from Ode. Maurice Bishop and his delegation,throughout their

entire two-week period abroad,with myself and Ode. Strachan. This vas
totally unprecedented in the history of the Revolution. Rever, ever

before, in all the dozens of trips Cde. Bishop had made abroad, had we not

been in contact, usually several times. And vhen I was not in my office,
or at home — whea I was on the road - he would contact Cde. Strachan, to
let us know how things were going abroad and to find out how things were

going at home. This can be checked by talking with the many persons who
I did the same whenever

travelled abroad with him on various delegations.
I travelled. Why is this non—contact significant?

I undecstand that Cletus St. Paul and George Louison and those others

who have camnmitted perjury here are making a big song and dance that only
Cde. Strachan met Ode. Bishop on his return on October Bth.
mind how these things happen in While on a trip abroad Cde.
Bishop will turn to Cletus St. Pa
try to get B for me.* Sometimes this takes hours.
parts of the world, the telephone operators don't even know where Grenada
is! Qviously, Cde. Bishop would not personally do this. He might say
“St. P" or “Don* or "Shahiba*, "try to get B or Sello for me."
this actually happened; 1 was not there. But this is the usual pattern -
Cde. Bishop would be extremely likely to ask St. Paul, his chief personal
socurity officer, or Don Rojas, his personal pcess eecretary, or Shahiba
Strong, his chief protocol officer, to try to get through to home .
Understand the aignificance of this. Underatand who "are the three
paople I just mentioned, whom he would ask - Cletus St, Paul, Shahiba

Strong, Don Rojas - probably in that order.
doing qn Ode. Bishop - as membera confirmd when they retuxned homet

Sometimes, in some

In

whose faterest is it to have a complete breakdown in commihication between

Let us bear in

actice.
rﬁ, his chief of security, and say "St. P,

I can't say

Bear in mind the job they-are

Between 14 — 19th October, certain trade union and political leadera
on the left contacted myself and Ode. Bishop and (de. Strachan, offering to
assist in resolving the crisis, using their personal prestige in trying to
establish vnity in the face of external aggression. Ode. Bishop personally
and myself and a nuuber of other camrades including Ode. Strachan, accepted
villingly and gratefully their efforts to assist in resolving the crisis.

A couple such Caribbean personalities came into Grenada, and one in pacti-
cular actually met with Ode. Maurice Bishop and some other members of the

OC - this Caribbean left leader was fraom Trinidad and Tobago - on October

18th. It vas agreed that discussions would continue on October 19th. And
that particular Caribbean leader had just arrived at my house on the mocr—

ning of October 19th, and was waiting to go over to Gde. Bishop's together
vith a number of us, and he personally witnessed the arrival of the crowd

and was stunned and shocked by it, ahd greatly disappointed.

It is therefore for me a very sad, an extremely sad experience, when I
think of just how close we all came to campletely resolving the pcoblems
... and then this tragedy and trauma hit us like a ton of bricks. Because
1 know when one or two members of the CC came by my house on the morning of
October 19th, and the Caribbean leader came there, and these camrades told
me houv well the meetings had gone the afternoon and evening before, and
then in the midat of finding out all of this, and in the midst of a mood of
high expectations, the crowd arrives.

I remember seeing Leon Cormwall and Buart Layne going from somevhere
in the yard - pither fram Cde. Bishop'a yard or mine. They went to apeak
to the crowd. I saw Vince Noel mashing up a placard, and some people were

agitating the crowd, and then I saw the crowd smashing down the secur{t.
barriers, sweeping past an armoured car, smashing down the next aecur1t¥

barrier and the gate, and sweeping in to Cde. Biahop's house.
Now vhen one reflects on what thia means, and puts {t together with

Cde. Maurice Bishop and myself and Cde. Strachan? In whose Interest is it

to keep reporting "we're trying, but we can't get through.”

Who were these people working for?
I havetno doubt that these elecments would have seen to it that there

ware no contacts, and I cannot blame Cde. Bishop for that.

other fnformation received, including even from reading books and the press
after the invasion, certain thinga become very clear.

I rémember saying to this Caribbean person then at the house -~ some-
body made some remark with respect to Mao and Mao'a China and 30 on ~ and 1
remember making this point both to thia Caribbean person and othera there, 5|



that the main objective at this time must be to save the Revolution at all
costs and that it's a million times better to have Mio Tse Tung than Chiang
Kal Check, so I cannot accept the point. Better to have a situation where
the Revolution has a chance of survival, and that can oaly be with Mawrice
leading the process, even if it means breaking all the rules and
of the Party. Becausa the Ravolution must come first.
I had made the same point earlier, I'm not sure if it was to Leon
Oormwall. It was made to a OC member to abandon 1if necessary the proposal

of joint leadership, to enpure that the crisis is resolved.

Bisl
decls

“There were U.S. troops in Barbados before October 19th. I had deep

Soncerns when the crowds emashed through the barrlers.”

Many people don't fully appceciate that this invasion was plaaned,
decided on, bafore October 19th. People need to get hold of the speeches

of Tom Adams. Already they were taking the decision to invade Grenada
between October 12th — 19th. At that time they were already talking of
landing troops in Grenada. There were U.S. troops in Barbados before

October 19th, and in Barbados meetings were taking place between offlcials

Barbados govermment and U.S. officials.
U.S. battleships oa their way to Lebanon were diverted to Grenada.
Bafore October 19th thave were already battleshipe steaming towarda
Grenada., Decisions were taken by them, steps were taken by them, prior to
October 19th. We know of some Of these steps. Only if that is understood
would one understand my state of mind. 1 had deep concerns vhen they

smashed through the barriers.

“The spreading of the rumour, the false reports and slander of the propa-
Janda by the U.S., and the regional puppets, had a_profound effect on me.”

o

I had taken a decision to resign as Deputy Prime Minister and Minister
of Finance, Trade, and Planning, to resign from all State Offices, some
time during the evening of October 13th. It was formally announced on the
14th October. The spreading of that rumour and the effect it had in

causing mayhem and divisiveness among the people had a profound effect on
me. It is significant that I spent time discussing with George Louison and

with Ode. nison whiteman my resignation and the reasons for it. Yet
George Louison has nothing to say of it.

I was also very upset and negatively affected by the false reports and
slander of the propaganda by the U.S. and their puppets in the region which
stacted to come out between October 14 — 18. It tas becoming clearer and
clearer as those days unfolded that despite my resignation, certain people
were continuing to send out reports that Cde. 8ishop had been removed as
Prime Minister, and that I was now Prime Minister, and so on. I heard all
this on the radio. These reports came over several regional radio sta-
tions. I now have copies of the actual CANA reports vhich formed the basis
I was profoundly affected by all this, and by its

for.those newscasts,
ing of the demonstration and seeing the

effect on the people.
The final straw was the chant

placards ...
“The only way to lay to reat the wvhole propaganda campajgn, was for Bernard
Coard-to Jeave the country.”

what had been growing on me for some time, and vhich I had previously
mentioned to some other camrades .. a3 the crowd was leaving I took a deci-
sion. Having witnessed the tremendous propaganda campaign, the content and
chacactec bf the demonatration, I took the decision which had been growing
on me over the previous few days, and that vas that there was only one way
to put to rest the tremendous propaganda campaign: that was, to leave the
country. And I actually announced that decision to leave the ocountry to
cibbean who was present at my house to help us vith

the person from the Cal
the discussions, as well as to one or two other comrades.

Mot only did I take that decision and communicated it to wy wife but
also to my children. And I want to etreas that lots of people who were in
my house — personal security comradea, party comrades, the Caribbean pec-
sonality who was there - lots of people know that I was going to be leaving

the country within a matter of hours.
What I say here I say for history. There is nothing that can't be

checked.
My wife and I packed ... We packed their passports for our children ~
and that was the last time we saw them until we saw them in court last

week., Many persons observed and know all this.
One of the greatest lronles is, that the person I asked to get my

passport for me and who brought it to me at Fort fredecick 1s an official
attached to this court! It is so easy to check, by those who want to kill

me.,
That was my mood, my spirit. You have to imagine the effect on me of
the most vitriolic attacks on me, the activities of the crowd, the chant-
ing, the attacks of the crowd. The only way to lay to rest the whole cam~
paign and to prevent the invasion, to cut theic feet fram under them, wag
for Bernard Coard to leave the country. What then would be theicr propa-
ganda line? How would they proceed? They would have to build a wwle new

campaign.
“personal security officers advised me to go to the neacest secure
Tocation, at Fort Frederick, and I went there with them.”™

th me over the years and assigned to me
that morning advised me that my wife and I - remember we were the tar‘get'of
the rumour campaign - bearing in mind the mood in the country, the breaking
down of the security barriers ~ for these reasons they insisted that I
location in the opposite

should go as well as my wife to the nearest secure
They advised me to go to Fort

direction fram vhich the crowd had gone. i
Frederick and I went there with them. I was taken thece in a jeep,.snth a
car in front, and a back-up car at the back. All these people - drivers
and security officers - can attest which vehicle I went in, vhen I left Mt.
weldale, and when I arrived at Fort Frederick. No doubt, if the
Prosecution were interested, they could find out all that.

personal Security officers wi

LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT
Foct Fredecick by personal security officers

assigned to me. There was a car in froat, one behind; I was placed in back
of a jeep., None of these vehicles were ever used previously either by

myself or Ode. Bistop. 1 make that statement in the light of the statement

of Cletus St. Paul.
There were people with me;

checked out.

Bernard Coard: I was taken to

people who know all thie; all this can be
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*pMy wife travelled separately, not even in the same vehicle, much less this
fool)shness about Maurice Bishop's car.®

what is also very important, and can also be check out, is that my
wife, both because of having to make the arrangements for the children,
with the phones not working, and having to find a security officer and a
car, to send the children to a friend to stay until we could leave, and
alaso because of the usual last-minute damestic things a housawife has to do
before leaving the house, my wife did not travel with me but joined wme at
Port Frederick a minute or two after I got there. Her vehicle, her driver,
tha personal security officers who travelled with her, are also living in
Grenada., They can also be checked by anyone who wants to know the truth,
As a result she arrived a minute or two behind me, and not in the same
vehicle, much less this foolishness about Maurice Bishop's car.

"I was taken, as wvas my wife, into a tunnel, placed in a room on the right
... vhile In there I heacd shota.™

I wvas taken, as was my wife, into the Fort, into the extreme right end
of the Fort -~ if you are facing it from the road - about 200 yards fram the
mental hospital entrance in the area very close to where there are T.V.
aerials. I was taken directly there by personal security officers accom-
panying me ~ my recollection is that there were six — and there I was taken
into a tunnel. I estimate that there were either 2 or 3 rooms leading off
it. I am not sure what the arrangement on the left hand side of that tun=
nel is, but I think there were tw roams oa the right. I was placed in a
roan oan the right, a room about 10' x 12° or 12 x 12'. Chairs were
brought in. Gne or two personal security officers were outside the tunnel,
one or two were outside the roam I was in, and one or two were in the room.

Shortly after arriving I asked for a bunk bed to lie down - I was

having problems with my back — and stortly after that one or two soldiers
obllqed? they brought a bunk-bed, and it was placed there for me.
. h‘r‘ule in there I heard shots. I asked a personal security officer to
investigate. Shortly aftervards he came back. He sald something is hap-
pening at Fort Rupert. Some time later, the first I know of Cde. Bishop's
death was fram one of the personal security officers. I asked him to per-—
son«?l.ly check it out because I was stunned. What was his source of infor-
mation? I was stunned. Some time in the middle of the aftermoon I was

o't‘ﬁcially informed that Ode. Bishop and a number of other camrades had
died at Fort Rupert.

"In my opinion no event in this centu

ry has been more tragic, more deva-
stating for the development of our country, than the death of Cde. Bishop
.- NO greater blow could have been struck.”

One has to understand that the death of Cde. Bi

personal trauma for myself, but for all the c:radeisggpo:sl’:::y?n;illacm
conrades clpse to him, and to the people. In my opinion no event in this
century has been more tragic, more devastating for the development of our
;::mtry,thn the.dea!:h of Cde. Bishop. It was not only a stunning blow

riﬂlnf: ut an event which I personally have yet to recover fram, if indeed
Iw ever recover fram it. The only way to understand that is to under-
stand the depth of feeling, the electricity, between Cde. Bishop and the

vast majority of Grenadian people. Only if we underatand his ability to
conmunicate the ideas, goals and inspiration of the Revolution, only if we
understand that it was impoasible to defand the Revolution and to build the
Ravolution in the face of U.S. aggression without Qde. Bishop, only then do
wa understand tharefore that those who have suffered the sost, personally,
fran his tragic death are precisely those who supported the Revolution
most, and those who worked far it and wished to see it go fram strength to
atrength. Those who gained the most are those who wished to asmash and
crush it.

The memocies of that afterncon and evening and of the days following
are painful ones for me, tragic ones. No greater blow could have been
struck than that., Wwith it, all hopas of preventing, of repelling an

invaaion, died also.
what made that day even more of an emotional trauma was precisely

because expectations were so high that the problems and the crisis were
about to be resolved. Then this series of stunning events -~ the crowd
charging through, amashing down the security barrieras, then going not to
the Markat Square but to Fort Rupert, the disaming of soldiers there, the
aming of civilians, the sending of ammed civilians out fram Fort Rupect
.« & secies of rapidly unfolding, ahocking events, one event moving into
another in a most shocking manner, a most unpredictable manner, in a manner
no one but those who planned to smash Mt. Weldale and undertake all those
other actions, could have foreseen.
It is hard to describe the sense of paralysias, of despair, of hope-

leasness one felt that day. But it was deep.

"Let us look at the evidence. Firatly, there is a pattern of lies by

George Louison.™

It is completely untrue and distonest for St. Faul to say that it was
normal for all CC members to be at the airport to greet Cde. Maurice
Bxsi'op: The reality was that as many Cabinet Ministers as could go used to
meet him whenever possible. The people you woi see whenever Ode. Bishup
arrived were Odes. Selwyn Strachan, Bernard Ooard, Hudson Austin and also
peq?le such as Kenrick Radix, Lyden Ramdhanny and so on, specifically
Cabinet Ministers.

If it vas Political Bureau, you have to say John Ventour, Liam James,
B«?rt Layne and 30 on,and if OC, all OC members, all asixteen! The main
point is that George Louison is lying. They know better. They know the
difference between the OC and Cabinet. This is not a mistake, it is deli-
berate lying. They want people to believe that something funny sas up
because those now in the dock didn't all go to meet Cde. Bishopl

Throughout, George Louison's so-—called testimony, in particular
dealing with the P.B. meeting of October 12, he completely ignores the
September 25 meeting. He speaks of what was claimed that he did out in
Eastern Burope, without telling the court that members,vho were out there
with him, spoke on October 13 and described their personal experiences and
what he did out there.

In describing the October 13 meeting, he says it stacted after 6 p.m.,
in 'facl: it started after S p.m., a amall point. More importantly he makes
a big song and dance that the meeting was chaired by OGde. John Ventour.

Over the years Cde. Maurice Bishop never chaired General Meetings. He
uswlly spoke, he was often the main speaker, but he never chaired. George
Louison said he arrived ten minutes late and that Selwyn Strachan sos

speaking., He has Selwyn Strachan giving a rationale for the basis of
arriving at a decision on joint leadership. This ias noasensical because
the Party membership,who he was said to be addreasing, spent 15 hours op
Septemper 25 and candidate members more hours on September 26th,"'diacuasing







vhy the precipitate resignation by Unison Whiteman and Gde. George Louison
on the evening of 18th October despite.the fact that they were told what
was happening and asked not to resign, That vas pcecisely why they did
this. So by 18th October seven Cabinet membera resigned and one was out of
the country - no government - accelerating the crisis - so that all

Grenadians hearing that - it must cause more crisist

Those resignations were the surest way to accelerate the crisis and to
create maximum psychological stress and strain in the country. They occur
at the same time that George Louison gets the information that the problem

vhat he had to say - after several members of the OC pointed out that

George Louison was having difficulty running his Ministcy, the Hinistry of
AMriculture, with grass growing between tractors, etc.
hard worker, he had not been able to come to grips fully with the problems
of the Ministry of Agriculture.

political work in St. Andrews.
manage the State Enterprises work, his behaviour changed, he started

cussing, threatening to leave the meeting, and s0 oa.

Although a very

And he had previously been assigned to the
When it was pointed out that he couldn't

We have to understand George Louison's motivation. It is in that

frame of mind, that he left Grenada on September 17th for Eastern Europe,

vill be solved - to fuel the crisis and bring down the government! And

and it was then that he does his dirty work.

this happened right after I spoke to George Louison on the phone late that
evening and before he claims he was arrested some time around 5:30 to 6
p.m. that evening. I do not know whether his claim is correct, but I did
speak to him to “hold on - situation about to be resolved.* And they
resign - escalating the psychological and political unrest in the country

and region. This was done by George Louison to fuel and escalate the
crisis, becausa he feared the crisis was about to be resalved and because

his status in the Party was threatened by the resolution of the crisis. He
was earlier, on October 12th, removed fram the CC and the vast majority of
the Party members at the October 13 Genaral Meating following this had
called for his expulaion from the Party.

So pe didn't want to resolve the crisia. And I astated earlier, if you
will remember, that George Louison vas the last person known to spcak to
Cde. Maurice Bishop for about two hours before the crowd atormed Mt

Weldale and the situation deterjorated.

“Not one of those 500 persons has been brought by the Prosecution to
confirm what George Louison saysi™

George Louison claimed that he arrived at Fort Fredarick late on the
afternoon of October 19. He mentions seeing me at Fort Frederick that
time. I was at Fort Frederick at that time, but it was impossible for
George Louison to see me. why lle? Why aluays pretend you know this per-
son and that person and you don't? And George Louison says that he ia
taken into an underground tunnal which was “pitch black,® but he is able to
tell the dimensiona of the place and see a pool of watert

Specifically, in relation to the October 13 General Meeting 1983,
there were dock workers, workers from factories in St. Georges, fram com~
mercial houses; people fraom every parish and every village; farmers, small
shop keepers, teachers, workers from the International Airport; and
Personal. Security comrades present with the leadership and among those
nearly 500 people ~ not one of all those people has been brought by the
Prosecution to confirm or corroborate what George Louison says. Doesa't
that smell? Remember that George Louison has personal hatred for CC
members in the docks, because of his expulaion from the CC. He is active
politically at this time, he has a lot to gain from us being off the scene

- physically.

And not only does the prosecution not present any evidence that the CC
put Ode. Maurice Bishop under house arrest, because it is not truve. But
the only person to claim that four‘pecple say this at the October 13
meeting in the presence of OC members is George Louison! That is how they
vant to get other lies in as evidence. They don't want to bring the
minutes, because that will establish the opposite of vhat they say. They
don't want to bring disinterested vitnesses. That is why George Louison
has difficulties in explaining how a man under house arrest can come to a
meeting about a mile away from his home, and be sitting on the podium as a
QC member and be given a standing ovation at the beginning of the meeting.

But these are questions that Grenadians must ask themselves. George
Louison does not even claim that cde. Maurice Bishop said anything about
his having been removed from the Party and govermment and his being under
house arrest. Isn't that strange? For Cde. Maurice Bishop spoke for about
45 minutes. And you mean to say he had nothing to say on that subject vhen
he speaks, even to condemn it?

George Louison himself says that he spoke at the meeting of October
13, but he, George Louison, says nothing about Ode. Maurice Bishop's so-

called acrest? Isn't that strange? Can you imagine George Louison there
at that meeting, claims that these things are happening, all these things

are said and he says nothing about it at all?

Apart from Chris Stroude, he does not even state what 2 single member
of the hundreds of rank and file Party members have to say about this
question. Apart fram the lie on Chris Stroude because he is in the dock.
I find that strange.

{tzroy Bain was at the meeting as well and

He says also that (de. F:
spoke and does not say what Ode. Fitzroy Bain said. That ls also strange.

Becausa he was in the pcesence of the CC. And anyone who knows Ode.
Fitzroy Bain would know that he would have been thrown in a fit, if these
things wore saidl But the prosecution brought no one else but George
Louison with a deep axe to grind. Why no one elae?

They-need to have George Louison say these things on October 13 to
€211 {n line with the Yankee propaganda being pushed,-before October 19 and
in the last three years,- about "house arrest® and “removal fram party and

They have to say that. It is critical to their frameup.

government® .
Because if George Louison does not say that, they won't be able to say what

OC meeting took those decisiona, when, vhere, and who voted, abstained and
opposed. They know that this did not happen.

They can't even concoct another Cletus St. Paul anansi story, so they

use George Louison to just assert that it happened! Very convenient, but
they did not think about these problems, Like what do Odes. Mauxrice
Bishop, Fitzroy Bain, George Louison and other Party members have to say

about all this? But they are so deperate to frame up the CC, 80 they have

no choice but to use George Loulsoca.
In any event, they are confident that they have done so much propa~

ganda against comrades in the dock, that paople will believe anything that
is said. And they are also relying on the corruption ia the judicial pro-

cess to see this through. That paople will not see this clearly because

their minds are made up.

George Louison waa lobbying for a particular position.
Minister of State Enterprises.

He wanted to be

But it is very important to be avare of one important fact, in rela-
tion to George Louison, and the September 14 — 16 meeting of the CC, and
the previous six months. George Louison was lobbying for a pacticular

He wanted to be Minister of State Enterprises, a new Ministry.

position.
That also 43 in the

He vas lobbying with Ode. Maurice Bishop and myself.
four state enterpcises,

CC minutes of the 14 - 16 September 1983. Forty
involving tens of millions of dollars of aasets were involved ~ a “super

ministry® of tremendous prestige.
thought that someone like Mr. Lyden

job.

54

arreated by them and interrogated after the invasion.
adults spent days and wecks in the concentration camp, etc.
mentioned how Chris deRiggs was treated as opposed to George Louison. But

I personallly and a number of CC members
Ramdhanny was the person with the right

experience, to run that Ministry. But George Louison was angling for that

In fact his behaviour on September 14 - 16 changed dramatically - and

2800 Grenadians were admitted by the Yankee invaders to have been
Six in evecy 100
I have already

A nunber had their pass—

look at how ardinary Grenadians were treated.
ports seized. They were told that in order to get their paassports they

had to promise not to be involved in politics for two years. Yet an
experienced politician and organizer - a man such as George Louison who

based on what you expect his views to be - to cppose foreign occupation -
and vho you would expect to organize political resistance to occupation —

he doean't get detained. The U.S. kept him for only 20 houra, releasas him
Ha holds press conferences, visits the.U.S. and holds

with his passport.

meetinga 5th U.S. Congreasmen, also travels to the other Caribbean islands
- while other Grenadians were getting problems to visit CARICOM countries
(Jamaica, Trinidad) - to get visas,

Notice the difference in treatment of George Louison with ordinary
Grenadians. For this is someone who for several years was a member of the
QC and PB of the NJM and a full Cabinet Minister of the PRG. And when the
U.S. puts us on trial in the P.I. with occuplera survounding the court
house ~ who comes gleefully? Of course, George Louison! And who takes
pact in Yankee-rigged "Elections® under fom;gn occupation? George
Louison. All other NJM members are banned from political activities for
two years as a condition for their releass from detention. But George
Loulson and Kenrick Radix see nothing wrong with participation in those
melections.® At that same time the occupation forces refused even to put
our names on the voters list. But George Louison takes part in elections
under foreign occupation.

"What panicked George Louison and the CIA agenta on October 18th wvas the
Tear that an agreement to solve the crisis was imminent.”

And therefore in retrospact I say that what panicked George Louiaon
and the CIA agents on October 18th and forced them to escalate their acti-
vities on October 18th and 19th was the fear that an agreeement to solve
the crisis was imminent. Their actions were designed to prevent an agree-
ment on the crisis from being reached. For the first time ever a demon-
stration goes to Mt. Weldale, takes the Prime Minister, and then seizes

In the light of all the above, what did George louison say to

‘Fort Rupert.

Ode. Maurice Bishop on the morning of October 19, 19832 That remains one
of the most unanswered questions in this case.

“Cletus St. Paul's evidence: Because they have to kill us they have to have
some_anans] story to tell.”

I will now move to Cletus St. Paul. Firstly there is vhat he says
about arrangements at the airport on Ode. Bishop's return, when Cletus St.
Paul and George Louison both coanveniently failed to tell Grenadians in this
court that lack of communication and contact between the delegation and
home while in Easterm Europe was a major problem. So that no one knew for
sure except at the last minute when Cde., Maurice Bishop was returning. I
remember ringing the Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs, Mr. Jimmy Brmanuel, to inquire what route Gde. Maurice Bishop was
using to return - London or Cuba. And indeed an extra day as spent in
Cuba, that was not scheduled.

And so they came in one day late. And vhat Cletus St. Paul and George
Louison do not conveniently tell - is why it is, that on the 8th October at
the airport the following persons were also aot present to meet Cde.

Maurice Bishop - namely Kenrick Radix, Jackie Creft, Lyden Ramdhanny and
Norris Bain, who were also Cabinet Ministers. They don‘t do that because
their objective is not to speak the truth, that reception at the airport
was done by Cabinet Ministers and not CC. That's why they can't explain
why Lyden Ramdhanny, Kenrick Radix, Norris Bain, and so on weren't there.

The second reason vhy they can't tell tha truth ia they would have to
reveal that lack of communication from the delegation led to information
being sent late, so that there was no time to contact them,

Anyone working at Pearl's Airport would tell you that whenavar Ode.
Maurice Bishop returned, apart from myself and Ode, Selwyn Strachan, the
pecple who would be there would be Norris Bain, Lyden Ramdhanny, Hudson
Austin, Jacke Creft and Kenrick Radix - as many as could make it.

In addition to those problems when I finally heard (and I put it on
the record because it is the truth) about the imminent arrival of Cde.
Bishop, I received a call from security who informed me that the Chief of
Personal Security of the entire leadership, Lieutenant Ashley Folkes, had
reported to his superior about receiving a phone czll from Cletus St. Paul,
the night before, October 7th. During that phone call, Cletus St, Paul had
{ssued a nunber of threats againat Ode. Bernard Ooard personally, and
sacurity felt that until that waa carefully checked out and Cletus St. Paul
questioned, I shouldn't go to the Alrport where he would also be. The
following persons can testify to thia: both Lieutenant Folkes and his
superior officer.

When we examine the many roles and guises of Cletus St. Paul including
what Cletus St. Paul said to Alister Hughes, and Alister Hughes reported to
CAMA and the world, and what he didn't say, and what he now cames here and
says and doesn't say!

Cletus St. Paul after 8th October saild he recelved “certain informa-
tion as security chief.* when you examina what he says, you would believe
there are no structures, that he is a salatly officer operating by himselfl
Then he makes “certain phone calls to Bernard Coard and Selwyn Strachan™ on
the 9th October. At Selwyn Strachan's residence “he is not allowed to
enter.” He didn't say anything about that in the P.I.!

what kind of integrity do people have who can say completely different
things at P.I. and Trial, both times under cath, and the presiding Judge
doesn't say anything about it?

Any Personal Security comrades, or telephone workers who inatalled the
telephones, can testify that there were four different telephones between
my bedroom and Ode. Maurice Bishop's bedroom. There was a buzzer, where
you need only press a button; there was a hot line which connects all Cabi-
net Ministers' homes and offices. Then apart fram that an unlisted phone,
and finally a regular phone number. But Cletus St. Paul cannot and doesn't
say this, because the sinister plan will collapse. That's vhy they can't



bring any Personal Security comrades! The lie would be exposed. During
this very period myself and Hudson Austin were in discussion wvith Ode.
Maurice Bishop over alleged corruption at the International Airport and at
Qde. Bishop's request we set up an investigation under the Acting Permanent
Secretary of the Ministry of Construction.

Then he says that on the night of the llth October "I slept down-
stairs, Qde. Maurice Bishop's house.” when Cletus St. Paul is on duty he
aliays sleeps downstairs Cde. Maurice Bishop's housel If you have any
doubt call Errol George and ask him about that - your pcosecution you are

afraid to calll
Then on October 12th he said he went to Fort Rupert and then he saw

“certain persons” come out of the Operations Room. Not only didn't George
Louison see Einatein Louison, but Cletus St. Paul also says that he, St.

Paul, was "not invited to that meeting.®
George Louison does not mention that two members of the P8 pointed out

that they were not informed and had not received word of that Party Branch
meeting. This happened occasionally. Their complaint was recorded in the
mindtes of the October 12th PB meeting. The two people are in the dock -
one of them s Liam James who was not informed of the meeting. But Cletus
St. Paul said he sauw Liam James came out of that meetingl T was present at
the PB meeting when Liam James complained about not being Informed. He
says also that he saw Dave Batholomow come out of the meeting. The name of
the game i3, just call everybody's namel And all those who weve present at
that meeting were recorded and 80 were all thosae who algned the resolution
which George Louison has conveniently loat! And vhich the Yankees don't

want tq hand back.

Then St. Paul says that on October 19th he sav myself and my wife
arrive at Fort Frederick in car 15750, Ode. Maurice Bishop's car, driven by
Chris Linton. Not only is that a total lie but it is eaid for a purpose -
to cause immense prejudice and at the same time in the hope that people
will not delve and think further about it. That on a day like that, with
crowds shouting my name, and my wifa's — hostilely — thousands of people in
demonstrations all over St. George's ~ that the car Personal Security would
choose for me to drive in is Ode. Maurice Bishop's car? thy don't they
bring Chris Linton to corroborate this and ask h {f it is true or a lie?
All the points I make about my movements on October 19 can be checked by
security escorts, soldiers at my hame at Mt. HWeldale who
Also soldiers at Fort Frederick.

And on the basis of this
And hear their

several people -
would have seen me {f this was true,

‘None of these the Prosecution calls at all.
Concocted evidence, they want to frame people for murder.

reasons:

“pernard Coard had a gun in one hand and a briefcase in the other.
Bernard Opard had a malavor oa his side. Like Bernard Coard peeparing for
Like Ronald Reagan.® But I'm the wrong person — it doas not fit my
personality. Anybody who knows me would know that this {s not true.

Anyone who knows me will know that saveral Personal Security officers
were alwvays with me. Usually there were six - three with me and three in a
backup car - and they were always inches away from me vherever I was. What
does this mean? That if in fact the OC according to St. Faul was to hold a
public meeting for Cletus St. Paul to hear, right in front of him - because
they have to kill us and so they have to have some anansi story to telll -
if in fact, as Cletus St. Paul says “Then leon Cormvall breaks auway and
says in the hearing and pcesence of the CC, 'Businessuen and counters have
taken over Fort Rupert! Go and liquidate them!*" If he said that, if a!.l
that happened, then my six Personal Security officers must have hgar:d .thxs
also. They must have heardl But not one of them is called at this trial.
And not one of the many soldiers who were around that day. .

The first time I hear that chant: "CC orders, we obey, we obeyl" is

put he did not tell Alister
And that Bermard Coard

war,

when St. Paul said it in the P.I. that day.
Hughes that when he saw him on October 20th, 1983. B
and Phyllis Coard arrived in Cde, Bishop's car on Fort Frederick: andmwhac

But en

None of this is said to the world in 1983.
*ph fraid Kaclt™

Leon Cornwall said.
he geta together with Karl in 1984 he makes this up.
even though *ah fraid karl®, Karl fraid the truth morel

Then after this shouting he says he sees CC members on the second
level of Port Frederick. Then he has Gen. Hudson Austin leave vhere he
claims he was and comes down, to say “Miasion accomplished” and then goes
right back up. ‘The General comes down to address the Security Chiefl But
he has to come down, because Cletus St. Paul is under arrest and can't

move, and Cletus St. Paulhas to hear that, so as to be able to recount it

at this triall
"There are two different anansi stories; Joseph St. Bermard Bees and hearg

campletely different things fram Cletus St. Paul.*”

I now move to Joseph St. Bermard.
Fort Frederick by the Mental Hospital entrance.

and Bermard Ooard's wife.

Every Grenadian could identify Hudson Austin, Bernard Ooard, Selwyn

Strachan ~ you don't have to be on Fort Frederick to identify mel
could not identify *Mr., Ooard's wife.™ He pointed out a white American

woman diplomat in the P.I., then after "a long look around the court® he
finally points to Mra. Phyllis Coard, even though she was the only woman in
But now in the trial he talks about "phyllia" - not "Mr. Coard's

vife" anymore; he knows her name now! = and he says he knows her because he
He tries to solve the P.I. problem

the dockl

used to bring messages to her office!
in this vayl

When asked about Mr. Layne - at the P.I. he said at first that he got
out of a car too — he looks around and says “Mr. Layne {a a puzzle for me.”
But Lt. Col. Layne for three yeara of the Revolution was at Fort Frederick

as Regional Commanders In the trial he does not talk aobut Mr, Layne.
Because he can't identify Mr. Layne.
Hudson Austin, Selwyn Strachan, Bermard Osard. Any Grenadian could do

But

He says he saw five cars come up to
Four persons got out of

those cara wvhom he knows - Hudson Austin, Bernard Coard, Selwyn Strachan,

But he

So the only people he {dentified are
And of course, Joseph

wvards they came back dowm and then leave. That's his story. But Cletus
St. Paul talks about "meeting” of the CC near the Mental Hospital entrance

as soon as they arrive.
One has to understand how those different versions came about. Joseph
St. Bernmard was the only witness against the CC for most of the P.I.
Cl&.z!‘.us St. Faul was a later wvitness. The Bajans were harassing and threat-
ening and tervorizing people to come and say that the OC met and teok a
decision to execute Ode. Maurice Bishop. Just like how they tortured Kamau
MacBarmette to slyn a statement. And they had planned to get a witness to
talk about a meeting in a room, to fit in with MacBarnette's torture state—
ment. But when they realized that they were failing to suborn people to
fit in with Kamau MacBarnette's statement, they had to get Cletus St. Paul
to cane and say this anansi astory - 200 yeards away from whiere Joseph St.
Bernard says “the OC* was. It had to be a "public meeting” 200 yards away,
because-Cletus St. paul was under arrest that day, and couldn't move from
the bottom section of Fort Frederick. So that's why there are two differ-
ent versions, two different anansi storiea, And they hope that with the

three years of propaganda people won't question that.
WEDNESDAY, 20TH AUGUST

*rhis C.I.A. agent St. Paul wants us to believe that the CC held a public
meeting and took publicly a deciaion to kill Cde. Bishopl™

Bermard Coard {oontinues): Yesterday I waa dealing with the ‘evidence' of
I

Joseph St. Bernard, and making comparisona with that of Cletus St, Paul.
will not repeat those points but go straight on.

Joseph St. Bernard could only identify three members of the leadership
of the Grenada Revolution, three that the Yankeea wanted and atill want
very badly to kill, three leading perascnalities vhom everybody in Grenada
knows. However, he was unable to identify either Lt. Ool. Bvart Layne, or
Mra, phyllis Ooard, or in fact any other member of the CC. Therefore he is
no use in framing the OC as a whole.

The United States' aim was -~ and still {s - that eve le member
of the OC who did not die tragically at Fort Rupert or was not out of the
country - with the exception of their collaborator or colleaque George
Louison - must be killed." Every member therefore must be named. Joseph
St. Bernard can't do that job for them, that's why they need Cletus St.
Paul ~ because he knowa all the OC members.

It is to get all the CC - every last one - that the Prosecution must
place all CC members at Fort Frederick, and all there together moreover.

So all mast easentially arrive together, and the Prosecution must construct
a meeting of some sort, so that they can persuade a jury filled with 2 1/2
years of propaganda that the CC held a meeting and voted unanimously to
kill Cde. Maurice Bishop. And all of this must take place yards away from
St. Paul. How very convenient! How far can you take the law of
coincidences?

This is the essence of the entire plan to use the fig-~leaf of the
judicial process to murder the remainder of the leadership of the Grenada
Revolution. So it is important for them to frame up the entire leadership.
That's wvhy the Bajans tortured Chris Stroud for 23 hours to say that Chris
deRiggs was there - it must be a "unanimous CC decision,” you seel But you

ai

see, at this time Chris deRiggs was not interrogated yet. So the Bajans
didn't know he was out of the country on October 19th. Later on, when the
Bajans were piling licks on to Ode. Kamau MacBarmette, they say "no, no,

no!  don't make him put deRiggs name in, he was out of the country at the

time.*
And the records will show that Chris deRiggs was picked up after Chris
Stroude was tortured and shortly before Kamau MacBatrmette was tortured.
It's important to note this. It 1s pact of the pattern of frame up.

That's also why all the torture statements of different comrades say
“the OC ordered.” They know, the Prosecution knows, this {s not only
untrue, but also of no legal effect. But its prejudicial value is enormous

when combined with 2 1/2 years of propaganda.
The question must be asked again: all these thinga that Cletus St.

Paui says he hears, says he sees - people arriving together, this nodding
of heads and s0 on - all this is in contradiction to the anansi story of
Joseph St. Bernard, and also to the evidence of Exrol George, the Prosecu-
tion witness which the Prosecution has chosen not to bring back from the
Preliminary Inquiry. How come not one soldier, not one Personal Security
Officer who was there at Fort Frederick was called? How come the oaly
person who is called is one of if not the chief spreader of the rumour of
October 12th? And he ia {dentified as such by Exrcol George, Exrol George
identified St. Paul as such, at the Ganeral #Meeting of the Party on
October 13th and again on ocath at the P.I. Hence, Exrol George is not

brought at this triall
This Cletus St. Paul is a man who says one thing in court and tells

Alister Hughes quite another thing when he sees him in the early hours of

October 20th, 1983.
How come no one else, not one single person, is brought to give evi-

dence of this '‘meeting' - because it's a public meeting you talking about,
you know! That's what this C.I.A. agent St. Paul wants us to believe: that
the OC members held a at Fort Frederick and took publicly a

decision to kill ode. Bishop and other personst

And on the basia of this so-called "evidence® ~ {f you can dignify it
80 - they wish to hang ten leaders of the Revolution: Trade Union leaders,
leaders of the women's and youth movements, comrades who helped to build

the economy, the programmes of the Revolution, and 80 on.

"In real life, the way things really unfolded causes problems for the
Yankees In their frame—up: it was totally Impossible for any ¥OC meeting®
or *OC declslon™ to have taken place.®

You see, {n real life, the way things really unfolded causes problems

that, so that identification is totally meaningleas.
St. Bernard sees and hears completely different things from Cletus St.

Paul. He claims that he was close enough to hear and sea three CC members

- they say "Long live the PRA"; “Forward Ever, Backuard Never® and sold
Bu

for the Yankees, using thelr black face-cards a their frame-up. The
totally unexpected nature of events: the speed with which they unfolded;
the fact that no one had a clue as to what was golng on, what would happen
next; the nature of the huge, exclted crowd and therefore the sudden turns

iers
t

reply and right aftervards they leave and qo up to the vater—works.

and shifts in Its actions — the enemy knous that all of this makes it

Cletus St. Paul has a dlfferent version. He sees a meating take place.
Joseph St. Bernard also says that those cars came up at about 9:00 a.m.
that morning. Joseph St. Bernard differs from Cletus St. Faul {n many

apparently small but significant differences.

He claims he sees Hudson Austin, Selwyn Strachan, Bernard Ooard and
The implication is that the entire CC arxivesa

others, but only five cars.
together. Three for Bernard (oard (two cars, one jeep), leaving caly t
for the rest of the entire CC! If as Cletus St. Paul claims, Liam Jame:
arrives alone in a car, that leaves only one car for the rest of the CC
eight persons here in the dock. -

Joseph St. Bernard says he sees CC members immediately on arriving
up to the water-works section. Ten minutes later he hears a whistle bl
and soldiers run up to the water—works on Fort Frederick and shortly af

totally impossible for any "CC meeting," and "decision to murder Cde.
Bishop" to have taken place.

"They bring this cooked-up evidence to consolidate their neo-colonial
order, and to justify their invasion."

WO
3

The enemy knows also, that this is the last thing the rest of the
leadership of the Revolution would want; that it wuld spell the end of the

go Revolution.”
ow But they bring this cooked up evidence now, in crder to consolidate
ter— their neo-colonial order over Grenada.
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stion.

And this is not, of
course, a question of
merely ‘waiting patien-
tly' while people ‘'get
accustomed' to this
'new situation'.

Better leadership and
sharper understanding
is needed right now.The
insoluble imperialist
worldwide crisis driv=-
ing the 'free West' to
warmongering and milit~
ary re~conquests (Gulf,
Grenada,Nicaragua,leba-
non,Mozambique,Angola,
Chad,Kampuchea ,Afghani-
stan,Ethiopia,etc) can
only get worse,not bet-
ter, as the scale of co
mmunist revolution aga-
inst capitalism gpreads
ever wider,-now threat-
ening the loss of the
Philippines,El Salvador
South Korea,Haiti,Chile
Guatemala,Namibia,etc,
as well,

Better leadership and
sharper understanding
were needed in 1983(see
ILWP Books vol 6 on Gr-
enada). But the place
to take the next step
forward in bhetter und-
erstanding (always nee-
ded) was immediately on
the basis of learning
from the mistakes of
the Grenada tragedy,all
round.

That means,above all
else,that the cringing
embarrassment at having
Castro's role (in all
thisg) publicly challeng-
ed has got to be over—-
come. No more stifling
of debate and avoiding
of questions over Cas-
tro's infamous idiocy,
still current, of desc-
ribing Coard & Co as
"unknown Pol Pot crimi-
nals who deserved to
be put on trial".

This monstrous big-
power-chauvinist arro-
gance towards tiny Gr-
enada as though it had
no right to leadership
conflicts{inevitable
under the difficult co-
nditions of trying to
build socialism again-
st imperialist subver-
sion,as all socialist
states have discovered;
~and while regrettably
resolved in Grenada's
case,-no different fr-
om similar tragic lea-
dership-split experie-
nces in China,El Salv-
ador,USSR,East Europe,
Afghanistan,etc),-needs
exposing & denouncing.

The young black nat-
ionalists around the
British labour movem-
ent demanding that ‘r-
espect! be shown to th-
eir meetings want to
turn their attention to
the real insult to Car-

ibbean dignity in Cas-
tro's 'excuses' as to
why nothing could or
should be done about
the imperialist invas-
ion,-not pick fights
with those who seek to
challenge the retreats
& confusions of revisi-
onist defeatism in the
interests of the entire
international revolut~-
ionary struggle against
imperialism,

The people of Grenada
cannot hope to go forw-
ard again until the co-
ntinuing question of US
imperialist aggression
is resolved.There is no
way that Washington is
going to allow another
socialist revolution to
be constructed on Gren-
ada after investing so
much international pre-
stige, so much money,
and so much military
risk in getting rid of
the first one.

But neither can any
other people go forward
confidently until this

of Grenada & the Cari-
bbean that US aggress-
ion be repudiated in
Britain and elsewhere
by workers.

The question of *re-
spect' and 'decorum!
Jjust does not come in-
to it. It is a comple-
te irrelevance,

The real question is
the role of conscious
revisionist & reform-
ist labour-movement
circles which want to
keep things jogging
along as they are wi-
thout any real show-
downs on revolutionary
rerspectives & theory.
And these elements ex—
ist in every labour &
trade-union movement,-
and not just in the Br-
itish labour movement
(80 badly corrupted by
class-collaboration th~
rough 3Britain's murd-
erous-fascist imperial—
ist past).

Elements who do not
want Moscow & Havana's
apralling mistakes over

threat of re-colonising the Grenada question to

fascist reaction is de-
stroyed once and for
all. Nicaragua has been
much more living on a
knife edge following
the huge 'success' of
US imperialism's Gren-
ada invasion,and the
'popularity' it brou-
ght Reagan from back-
ward US petty-bourgeo-
is public opinion,and
from cowardly reform-
ist regimes in the Ca-
ribbean. US re~coloni-~
sation obviously thre-
atens the growing com-
munist revolution on
the Philippines, in El
Salvador,etc,etc. And
it remains a very real
potential theoretical
threat to any moves to-
wards socialist revol-
ution in Britain,too.
Warmongering imperial-
ist reaction heading
inevitably towards Wo-
rld War III has hardly
got into its stride
yet{see Perspectives
P5).

Learning of the les-
sons of the Grenada
tragedy is crucial for
all workers everywhere,
The daft revisionist
retreats and confused
perspectives must be
raised wherever the
implications of US im-
perialist aggression
are discussed., It is
as vital for people in
Britain that this inv-
asion tyranny (and the
'excuses' offered for
allowing it) be repudi-
ated by the people of
Grenada & the Caribb-
ean,as it is vital for
the socialist future

be raised publicly are
in a long line of revi-
sionist-reformist trad—
ition which has retrea-
ted a very long way fr-
om the high standards
of constant theoretical
polemic & struggle of
the Leninist era. Len-
in's 1line on the cruc-
ial importance of the
international revolut-
ionary movement public-
1y examining its mist~
akes in front of the
working class (see Left
VWing Communiem) has lo-
ng been forgotten.

And all Gorbachev's
huffing & puffing about
‘openness' has done no-
thing to remedy this
deadly revisionist def-
eatism of refusing even
to discuss the possibi-
1lity of international
policy errors. There is
much shallow posturing
'liberalism' about the
19308 crimes of Stalin-
ism,but not a scrap of
really worthwhile anal-
ysis at all (as of yet)
about the real crimes,-
the nonsense of the'po~
pular front! tail-end-
ing of Republican hope—
lessness in Spain;the
‘after Hitler,our turn'®
illusion in Gemmany;the
out-of-date and out-of-
touch policy of tall po-
wer to the General Cou-
ncil of the TUC! in Br-
itain;the later retreat
from even that nonsense
into the even barmier
and more cowardly idio-
cy of the non-existent
'peaceful road to soci-
alism'; the failure ev-
er to analyse the final

degenerate mess of that
hopeless policy in the
ruins of Allende's non-
existent 'Chilean parl-
iamentary socialism',-
i.e.opening the door to
fascismjetc,etc,etc.

On all of the real
crimes of revisionism,-
especially including
the many that Gorbachev
has directly continued
with,such as the cont-
inued anti~-Leninist at-
titude towards Allende-
ism, the cover-up of
Castro's anti-Leninist
nonsense about Grenada,
etc,etc,—-not one word
of polemic or debate
is permitted or exchan-
ged. The safe old lab-
our movement traditions
of censorship & silence
rule on undisturbed.The
safe old cowardly,decr-
epit,and utterly count—~
er-revolutionary CPGB
with all its ‘nice Lab-
our MP and trade-union
movement contacts & co-
siness is what is pref-
erred,- not Leninism,
nor even any debate ab-
out Leninism.

And there is as much
labour-movement petty-
bourgeois opportunism
around the black sect-
ions of the 'left! sc—
ene in Britain as arou-
nd any other sections.

Chairing a 'revolut-
ionary! meeting on Gr-
enada dressed for a pa-
rt in Dynasty while ke-
eping out questions em-
barrassing to the Hav-
ana, establishment is
not proof of middle~
class bureaucratic lea~
nings but it is a fair
warning sign.

Support for this att-
itude from all sections
of the British labour
movement (except Lenin-
ism) who all played th—
eir usual cowardly par-
alysed role at the time
of the Grenada invasion
and did absolutely not~
hing,~just as they have
done nothing during wh-
ole generations of cri-
minal British colonial
acts and general West-
ern imperialial tyranny
(particularly under La~
bour Govermments,which
have the worst record
of all,-——see ILWP Books
vols 6,7,and 9),— is
further evidence of the
anti-revol utionary cy-
nicism,cowardice,and
conformism which is at
the heart of this issue.

There is no way that
the 'painfulness' for
the revisionist-reform-
ist tradition(at being
challenged for its ho-
peless mishandling of
the Grenada tragedy and
of all the burning the-

oretical questions ab-
out the revolutionary
way forward arising fr—
om that US imperialist
aggression)— can be
reduced or avoided by
‘more patience!,or 'gr-
eater control!, or by
'leas arrogance!.

The proneness to agg-
ravation is inherent in
the complacent half-
truths,confusion,and
lies of the revisionist
~reformist tradition
coming into juddering
conflict with revoluti-
nary reality.Silence &
censorship just won't
get by for much longer
anywhere in the labour
movement. There is tur-
moil,upset,and challen-
ge throughout the lab-
our movement now,-and
properly so. But it is
not caused by Leninism,
or by 'awkward persona-
lities'. It springs fr-
om the deadly threat to
all revisionist-reform-—
ist tradition,however
newly-established,- by
the future of revolut-
ionary truth. (Paradox-
ically, only the lLenin-
ist movement itself can
battle through the most
exhaustive questions of
revolutionary underst-
anding & struggle,- in-
cluding the most pain-
ful correctives (in da~
maged self-esteem)when
proved 'wrong' by coll-
ective experience,- wh-
ile observing the very
strictest 'respect! &
'decorum',—because sc~
ientific enlightenment
is the aim, not subje-
ctive advancement.)

It is a daft illus-
ion that revolutionary
understanding can adv-
ance via 'clever!,cosy
sophisticated labour-
movement relations.Cl-
ass—-collaborating ref-
ormist illusions, rife
among workers, can only
be shattered in the
most painful conflict
with trade-unionist
(bourgeois) conscious-
ness., Even so,no indi-
vidual and no type of
personality within Le-
niniem could ever app-
roach any matter other
than with the aim of
pursuing !'sweet reason-
ableness', The aggrav-
ation always begins wh-
en what is rational be-
gins to disturdb the co-
mfortable illusions of
the 0ld revisionist~
reformist-Trot tradit-
ions.They all hate Le-
ninism like death.They
must so hate it. It me-
ans the end of their
role. Keep up the cha-
llenge. Spread the

ILWP Bulletin. 57






When we are reproached with having established a
dictatorship of one party and, as you have heard, a united
socialist front is proposed, we say, “Yes, it is a dictatorship
of one party! This is what we stand for and we shall not shift
from that position because it is the party that has won, in
the course of decades, the position of vanguard of the entire
factory and industrial proletariat. This party had won that
position even before the revolution of 1905. It is the party
that was at the head of the workers in 1905 and which since
then—even at the time of the reaction after 1905 when the
working-class movement was rehabilitated with such dif-
ficulty under the Stolypin Duma—merged with the working
class and it alone could lead that class to a profound, funda-
mental change in the old society.” Ay use 1aia

FIRST CONGRESS OF WORKERS IN EDUCATION

On this point there is complete unanimity on the Central
Committee, and I hope that the Congress will pay the
closest attention to it and endorse the instructions that
the Political Bureau and the Central Committee be relieved
of minor matters, and that more should be shifted to
the responsible officials. The People’s Commissars must be
responsible for their work and should not bring these
matters up first on the Council of People’s Commissars and
then on the Political Bureau. Formally, we cannot abolish
the right to lodge complaints with the Central Committee,
for our Party is the only governing party in the country.
But we must put a stop to the habit of bringing every petty
matter before the Central Committee; we must raise the
prestige of the Council of People’s Commissars.
ELEVENTH CONGRESS OF THE R.C.P.(B.)March 1421

Comrades, yesterday, November 4, several members of
the Central Committee of our Party and of the Council of
People’s Commissars—Kamenev, Zinoviev, Nogin, Rykov,
Milyutin and a few others—resigned from the Central Com-
mittee of our Party, and the three last named from the Coun-
cil of People’s Commissars. In a large party like ours, not-
withstanding the proletarian and revolutionary line of our
policy, it was inevitable that individual comrades should
have proved to be insufficiently staunch and firm in the
struggle against the enemies of the people. The tasks that
now face our Party are really immense, the difficulties are
enormous, and several members of our Party who formerly
held posts of responsibility have flinched in face of the
onslaught of the bourgeoisie and fled from our ranks. The
bourgeoisie and all its helpers are jubilant over this fact and
are maliciously rejoicing, clamouring about disintegration
and predicting the fall of the Bolshevik government.

Comrades, do not believe these lies. The comrades who
have resigned have acted as deserters, since they not only
quitted the posts entrusted to them, but violated the direct
decision of the Central Committee of our Party binding them
to delay their resignation at least until a decision was taken
by the Petrograd and Moscow Party organisations. We
strongly condemn this desertion. We are profoundly con-
vinced that all class-conscious workers, soldiers and peasants
who belong to or sympathise with our Party will condemn the
actions of the deserters with equal severity.

Novem bar 1417
FROM THE CENTRAL COMMITTEE OF THE R.S.D.L.P.(B.)

At the centre we must find about half
a score of men to exercise the functions of the central proc-
urator authority represented by the Procurator General,
the Supreme Tribunal, and the Coullegium of the People's
Commissariat of Justice (I leave aside the question as to
whether the Procurator General should be the sole authority,
or whether he should share his authority with the Supreme
Tribunal and the Collegium of the People's Commis-
sariat of Justice, for this is purely a secondary question,
and can be settled, one way or another, in accordance with
whether the Party will delegate vast authority to one per-
son, or divide that authority among the three aforesaid
bodies). These ten should work at the centre, under the
closest supervision of and in closest contact with the three
Party bodies which provide the most reliable barrier against
local and personal influences, viz., the Organising Bureau
of the Central Comniittee, the Political Bureau of the Cen-
tral Committee, and the Central Control Commission. The
latter body, i.e., the Central Control Commission, is respon-
sible only to the Party Congress, and is constructed in

such a way that no member of it can hold a position in any
People’'s Commissariat, government department, or any
organ of the Soviet government. It is clear that under these
circumstances we have the greatest guarantee so far devised
that the Party will set up a small central collegium that
will be really capable of resisting local influences and local,
and all other, bureaucracy, and which will establish real
uniformity in the application of the laws throughout the
Republic, and throughout the Federation. Hence, any mis-
take that this central legal collegium may make can be
at once rectified on the spot by the Party bodies, which
determine all the fundamental concepts and lay down all
the fundamental rules for all our Party and Soviet activities
throughout the Republic.
*DUAL" SUBORDINATION AND LEGALITY May i922

The
Party, which holds annual congresses (the most recent on
the basis of one delegate per 1,000 members), is directed
by a Central Committee of nineteen elected at the Congress,
while the current work in Moscow has to be carried on by
still smaller bodiecs, known as the Organising Bureau
and the Political Bureau, which are elected at ple-
nary meetings of the Central Committee, five members
of the Central Committee to each bureau, This, it
would appear, is a full-fledged “oligarchy”. No important
political or organisational question is decided by any state
institution in our republic without the guidance of the
Party’s Central Committee.
“LEFT-WING” COMMUNISM—AN INFANTILE DISORDER

Compromise by a section of the Bolsheviks in October-
November 1917 either meant that they feared the proletariat
seizing power or wished to share power equally, not only
with “unreliable fellow-travellers” like the Left Socialist-
Revolutionaries, but also with the enemies, with the
Chernovists and the Mensheviks, The latter would inevitab-
ly have hindered us in fundamental matters, such as the
dissolution of the Constituent Assembly, the ruthless sup-
pression of the Bogayevskys, the universal setting up of
the Soviet institutions, and in every act of confiscation.

Now power has been seized, retained and consolidated
in the hands of a single party, the party of the proletariat,
even without the “unreliable fellow-travellers”. To speak of
compromise at the present time when there is no question,
and can be none, of sharing power, of renouncing the
dictatorship of the proletariat over the bourgeoisie, is merely
to repeat, parrot-fashion, words which have been learned
by heart but not understood.

*LEFT-WING® CHILDISHNESS May 14/§

Actually all these tyran-
nised, shocked and scared bourgeois, petty bourgeois and
“those.in the service of the bourgeoisie” are frequently guided,
without reslising it, by that old, absurd, sentimental and
vulgar intellectualist idea of “introducing socialism”, which
they have acquired from hearsay and scraps of socialist
theory, repeating the distortions of this theory produced by
ignoramuses and half-scholars, and attributing to us Marx-
ists the idea, and even the plan, to “introduce” socialism.

To us Marxists these notions, to say nothing of the plans,
are alien. We have always known, said and emphasised
that socialism cannot be “introduced”, that it takes shape
in the course of the most intense, the most acute class
struggle—which reaches heights of frenzy and desperation—
and civil war; we have always said that a long period of
“birth-pangs” lies between capitalism and socialism; that
violence is always the midwife of the old society; that a
special state (that is, a special system of organised coercion
of a definite class) corresponds to the transitional period
between the bourgeois and the socialist society, namely, the
dictatorship of the proletariat. What dictatorship implies
and means is a state of simmering war, a state of military
measures of struggle against the enemies of the proletarian
power. The Commune was a dictatorship of the proletariat,
and Marx and Engels reproached it for what they considered
to be one of the causes of its downfall, namely, that the Com-
mune had not used its armed force with sufficient vigour to
suppress the resistance of the exploiters.'*"

These intellectualist howls about the suppression of capi-
talist resistance are actually nothing but an echo of the old”




“conciliation”, to put it in a “genteel” manner. Putting it
with proletarian bluntness, this means: continued kowtowing
to the money-bags is what lies behind the howls against
the present working-class coercion now being applied
(unfortunately, with insufficient pressure or vigour) against
the bourgeoisie, the saboteurs and counter-revolutionaries.
The kind Peshekhonov, one of the conciliating ministers,
proclaimed in June 1917: “The resistance of the capitalists has
been broken.” This kind soul had no inkling of the fact that
their resistance must really be broken, and it will be broken,
and that the scientific name for this breaking-up operation
is dictatorship of the proletariat; that an entire historical
period is marked by the suppression of capitalist resistance,
and, consequently, by systematic application of coercion
to an entire class (the bourgeoisie) and its accomplices.

The grasping, malicious, frenzied filthy avidity of the
money-bags, the cowed servility of their hangers-on isthe
true social source of the present wail raised by the spineless

intellectuals—{from those of Reck to those of Novaya Zhizn— -

against violence on the part of the proletariat and the revo-
lutionary peasants. Such is the objective meaning of their
howls, their pathetic speeches, their clownish cries of “free-
dom” (freedom for the capitalists to oppress the people),
etc. They would be “prepared” to recognise socialism, if
mankind could jump straight into it in one spectacular
leap, without any of the friction, the struggles, the
exploiters’ gnashing of teeth, or their diverse attempts
to preserve the old order, or smuggle it back through the
window, without the revolutionary proletariat responding
to each attempt in a violent manner. These spineless
hangers-on of the bourgeoisie with intellectualist pretensions
are quite “prepared” to wade into the water provided they
do not get their feet wet.

The drooping intellectuals are terrified when the bour-
geoisie and the civil servants, employees, doctors, engineers,
etc., who have grown accustomed to serving the bourgeoisie,
go to extremes in their resistance. They tremble and utter
even shriller cries about the need for a return to “concili-
ation”. Like all true friends of the oppressed class, we can
only derive satisfaction from the exploiters’ extreme meas-
ures of resistance, because we do not expect the proletariat
to mature for power in an atmosphere of cajoling and per-
suasion, in a school of mealy sermons or didactic declama-
tions, but in the school of life and struggle. To become the
ruling class and defeat the bourgeoisie for good the prole-
tariat must be schooled, because the skill this implies does
not come ready-made. December 1917

FEAR OF COLLAPSE OF THE OLD AND FIGHT FOR THE NEW

Compare Lenin's att-
itude on proletarian
dictatorship with Bish-
op's reformist retreat;
as freely admitted by
Bishop's SWP Trot apol-

words they falsely put
into Coard's mouth(from
the memoirs of his opp-
onents) to try to make
Coard's line look stup-
id,~a task in which th-
ogists (-even allowing ese cowardly class-coll
for the farcically dis- aborators fail miser-
torted & exaggerated ably.)

Bishop was convinced that the revolution would emerge
stronger if the PRG could avoid closing the paper down, or do so only as
alast resort. Among the PRG’s first measures had been repeal of Gairy’s
antidemocratic newspaper law — aimed at the Torchlight as well as the

NIM’s New Jewel — requiring the payment of $20,000 in order to pub-

lish. Grenadian workers and farmers treasured this and other political
freedoms that they had conquered in overthrowing the Gairy dictator-
ship. While shutting the Torchlight might have been unavoidable at
some point if its publishers aligned themselves with forces engaged in
counterrevolutionary acts, the big majority of Grenadian working
people, given the evidence, would have understood the need for such de-
fensive measures to preserve their revolution and its gains.

In line with this approach, Bishop made the following public response
to the Torchlight editor’s rejection of the PRG’s request not to publish
photographs of the prime minister’s security guards:

Because of the People’s Revolutionary Government’s well known desire to
encourage a free press, we did not prevent [the reporter] from taking photo-
graphs. We had hoped that he would have put patriotism and concern for the
safety of the leadership of the country above cheap journalism. We have cer-
tainly noted the irresponsiblity of the Acting Editor and his newspaper in pub-
lishing these pictures.36

To help raise the political consciousness of Grenada’s working

people, Bishop unmasked the reactionary aims, class exploitation, and
social inequalities that lay behind the Torchlight’s hypocritical cham-
pioning of “freedom of the press.” He pointed out that the political con-
duct of the newspaper’s owners had nothing to do with freedom of the
press, but instead with their determination to resist revolutionary change
that threatened their minority class interests. He explained that the
Torchlight's publishers were facilitating efforts by U.S. imperialism and
Grenadian and other Caribbean reactionaries to destabilize the PRG. To
these ends, these exploiters were abusing the vastly disproportionate
control over means of communications and information made possible
by their wealth.37

Bishop’s opinion on how to deal with the Torchlight, however, was
not shared by Bernard Coard, who was anxious to shut it down, the
sooner the better. He viewed Bishop’s approach as reluctance “to take
firm decisions on key issues.”38 In October 1979 Bishop traveled to New
York City to address the United Nations General Assembly. In his ab-
sence, Coard used his position as acting head of state to scuttle Bishop’s
policy.

A few days after Bishop’s departure, the Torchlight appeared with the
front-page headline: “Rastas to Protest.” The article reported plans for
an antigovernment protest announced by Ras Nang Nang, a follower of
the Rastafarian religion.....

The article in the October 10 Torchlight falsely claimed that the PRG
was barring Rastas from school and tracking them down at gunpoint
around the island. The article said that “massive numbers” of Rastas were
planning to demonstrate against the government to protest these policies.

This article fit into the Torchlight’s pattern of counterrevolutionary
provocations aimed at destabilizing the PRG. Nothing about the cir-
cumstances surrounding this one particular article, however, posed such
an emergency that action could not have been postponed until Bishop’s
return a week later. Nonetheless, Coard took advantage of his powers as
acting prime minister to order the closing of the Torchlight on October
13. When Bishop arrived back in Grenada on October 18, he was con-
fronted with the fait accompli.

Bishop then sought to make the best of the bad situation created by
Coard’s preemptive action. The front-page article on the shutdown that
appeared in the Free West Indian, Grenada’s prorevolution weekly, two
days after Bishop’s return stated:

Government sources say the Torchlight newspaper, banned last weekend by
the PRG, will return to the streets in a few weeks but with a different manage-
ment and ownership structure. Government does not plan to take over the news-
paper but will insist that its ownership structure be broadened. . . . The plan is to
‘democratise’ the paper with limits placed on the number of shares individuals or
organizations can hold and to outline guidelines that would ensure that Tor-
chlight publishes the views of all sections of the Grenadian society. It is also ex-
pected that there will be a change in the management structure.3®

On October 26, the PRG issued a new law restricting newspaper own-
ership to citizens of Grenada and barring any shareholder from owning
more than 4 percent of the total. A reorganized Torchlight was never
reopened, however.

WITH POPULAR support growing for the social and economic pro-
grams of the PRG, U.S.-backed counterrevolutionaries in Grenada
stepped up their efforts to destabilize the government. In October and
November 1979, the PRG discovered an arms cache and documents out-
lining a plot to assassinate government leaders; more than thirty people
were arrested in connection with this plot.? In the spring of 1980 a small
group of former NJM members sought to undermine support for the
PRG among Grenadian youth by stirring up opposition to the govern-
ment’s moves against marijuana growers and traders. In June 1980
counterrevolutionaries set off a bomb under the speakers’ platform at a
mass rally, killing three young women and injuring almost 100 other
people.4! Later in 1980 a soldier and a militia member were shot and
seriously wounded, a militia camp was fired on, and there were arson
and bombing incidents.

Washington was stepping up its economic sabotage and military pres-
sure against the PRG, as well. U.S. officials sought to block loans and
aid to Grenada by Washington’s European imperialist allies and interna-
tional lending institutions. As part of its Ocean Venture ‘81 war games
in the Caribbean, the U.S. Navy staged a thinly veiled mock invasion of
Grenada.

At the same time, opponents of the revolution inside and outside Gre-
nada were stepping up propaganda efforts to discredit the PRG. “In 1981
counterrevolution, fueled by the CIA, was moving in certain areas in
terms of the Rastafarians . . . business sectors . . . the dockworkers and
in the trade unions, and the church,” Kendrick Radix explained in a 1985
interview. “They were probing to destabilize the country and to over-
throw the revolution internally. The question was how we were to deal
with it.”

In this political context, Radix continued, “Coard again proposed
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1983 the NJM’s minutes never recorded votes). Nonetheless, Bishop’s
report itself refers to “some confusion” inside the NJM on the character
and tasks of the revolution. “It is extremely important for us to get a bet-
ter understanding of where we are, of what we are trying to build and of
how we will be able to build it,” Bishop stressed.3®

The Grenada revolution, Bishop said, “is a national-democratic, anti-
imperialist Revolution.” He continued:

1 did not say a socialist revolution as some comrades like to keep pretending
that we have. Obviously we do not have a socialist revolution. . . . We cannot
proceed straight away to the building of socialism but must first pass through a
stage where we lay the basis, where we create the conditions, including the
socio-economic and political conditions, for the building of socialism and the
creation of the socialist revolution, that is, for the full coming to power of the
working class.*®

The Grenada revolution, Bishop said, necessitates class alliances —
“an alliance in the first place between the working class and the petty
bourgeoisie, in particular the rural peasantry, and in the second place an
alliance with those elements of the upper petty bourgeoisie and the na-
tional bourgeoisie who, for different reasons, are willing to be involved
in building the economy and the country at this time.”%

The NJM'’s task during the national-democratic stage of the revolu-
tion, Bishop said, is to

ensure the leading role of the working class through its Marxist/Leninist Party
backed by some form of the dictatorship of the proletariat. But please note that
1 said some form of the dictatorship of the proletariat, because obviously at this
stage we cannot have the dictatorship of the proletariat or the working class, but
the form we should have at this first stage is the dictatorship of the working
people.S. _ ..

The minutes record that the October 12-15 meeting had been called by
Bishop as “an extraordinary plenary to discuss a letter of resignation
[from the CC and Political Bureau] from Cde. Bernard Coard . . . and to
examine the issues raised in the letter related to the state of the Party and
the crisis in the work of the higher organs.””?

Coard did not attend the meeting. Instead, say the minutes, NJM
leader Selwyn Strachan “was asked to summarize his discussions with
Cde. Coard in relation to the matter of his resignation.” According to
Strachan, “Cde. Coard had indicated that his decision to resign from PB
and CC was taken 6 months previously.”

Key to Coard’s decision to resign, Strachan said, was the “strain”
caused, among other things, by “the undermining of his authority” as
chairman of the party’s Organising Committee. Coard “made reference
to the slackness of the CC and its unwillingness to speak up on issues,
the lack of preparation for meetings by CC comrades, and the unwilling-
ness of the CC to study.”

“In order to take corrective action,” according to Strachan’s summary
of Coard’s views, “it would result in personality clashes” with Bishop.
So Coard instead proposed his own resignation, which he presented as
“not negotiable.” Nonetheless, according to Strachan, Coard said that,
“In the final analysis stringent Leninist measures are required” to resolve
this crisis in the party.

At the very top of Coard’s list of such “Leninist measures” was to
“change Chairmanship of CC” — that is, to remove Bishop from that
position. Coard also proposed to “chop dead weight from CC” and “ex-
pand the Political Bureau.”. ...

Following Strachan’s report, “The meeting agreed to address itself to
the issues raised by Cde. Coard in his conversation with several CC
members.” The Central Committee “concluded that the Party stood at
the crossroads,” the minutes record. One direction “would be the petty
bourgeois route which would seek to make [Bernard Coard’s] resigna-
tion the issue” — a not-too-subtle reference to Bishop, who had con-

voked the meeting to discuss that resignation and its political ramifica- -

tions. “This would only lead to temporary relief,” the minutes con-
tinued, “but would surely lead to the deterioration of the Party into a so-
cial-democratic Party and hence the degeneration of the Revolution.”

“The second route,” according to the minutes, “is the Communist
route — the road of Leninist standards and functioning, the road of dem-
ocratic centralism, of selectivity, of criticism and self-criticism and of
collective leadership.” In other words, the “Communist route” corres-
ponded to the “stringent Leninist measures” proposed by Coard.

This outcome to the October 1982 meeting shows how far the Coard
faction had already gone toward its goal of capturing control of the
NJM’s Central Committee.. ...

To justify these measures, the Coard faction pointed to the “low level
of ideological development” of those they were trying to push out of
leadership bodies. Radix was berated for his *“bad attitude to study,” and
Whiteman was among five Central Committee members singled out for
a “crash course in Marxism-Leninism.” Coard, although no longer a
Central Committee member, was assigned to teach the course.

IN EARLY 1983 Washington intensified its political and military pres-
sure against Grenada. In March the U.S. government carried out a pro-
vocative, large-scale military maneuver in the Caribbean. Over a period
of a few months, U.S. President Ronald Reagan, Vice President George
Bush, Secretary of State George Shultz, and Secretary of Defense Cas-
par Weinberger all leveled widely publicized attacks against Grenada. In
particular, they beat the drums against the international airport being
built, with Cuban help, to facilitate tourism and trade, raising the charge
that this project was in fact a military installation for Cuban and Soviet
armed forces.

The Grenadian government responded to these threats by increasing
the political mobilization and military readiness of the population. At the
same time, it sought opportunities to answer and expose the imperialist
lies about Grenada. Upon the invitation of the liberal U.S. lobbying or-
ganization TransAfrica, Bishop visited the United States in June 1983.
Reagan and Shultz snubbed the Grenadian government, rejecting its re-
quest for them to meet with Bishop while he was in the country.
Nonetheless, Bishop met briefly with White House officials to reaffirm
the PRG’s oft-stated desire for normal, peaceful relations with the U.S.
government. .. ...

Not long after Bishop’s return to Grenada, a six-day Central Commit-
tee meeting was held from July 13 to 19. Coard’s supporters were unable
to make much headway at this meeting. Coard was not satisfied with its
outcome and raised his displeasure with members of his faction. A one-
day Central Committee meeting, on August 26, thus opened with a re-
port by Coard supporter Leon Cornwall on “the concern expressed by a
senior party member” that “some conclusions of the [July meeting] are
not correct.” These “concerns” were immediately seconded by a couple
of more recent recruits to Coard’s clique — lan St. Bernard, who
explained what “he had picked up,” and Tan Bartholomew, who re-
ported on “what had reached him.”

Liam James then spoke, urging that another Central Committee
meeting be convened in September, since the “last assessment was
not deep enough.” Labeling the committee’s July decisions “oppor-
tunist,” Selwyn Strachan added that while the October 1982 meeting
had “held back the party from a social democratic path, the situation
is now qualitatively worse.” He too urged the rapid convening of
another meeting.

Speaking at the conclusion of the meeting, Bishop stated that it was
clear that the party was facing a serious internal situation and that
another Central Committee discussion was called for.-. . ..

T WAS at this September 1983 Central Committee meeting that the
Coard faction made its open move to displace Bishop from party leader-
ship. The meeting opened with an orchestrated challenge to the agenda
proposed by Bishop.33 One after another, Liam James, John Ventour,
Ewart Layne, Selwyn Strachan, and Phyllis Coard each raised objec-
tions. Bishop expressed willingness to alter the agenda, and the meeting
agreed to a counterproposal by Ventour. The proceedings then got under
way with a report by Layne on “the present state of the party and revo-
lution.”

Layne’s report was apocalyptic in its evaluations. The revolution
“now faces the greatest danger since 1979,” he said. The “party is
crumbling.” All the “mass organisations are to the ground.” The “organs
of people’s democracy are about to collapse.” The internal state of the
party “is very dread.” Members say that “democracy is dead in the
party.”

All these developments, Layne said, indicate that the Central Com-
mittee “has proven its inability to give leadership to the process.”
Openly rejecting Bishop’s view that the primary immediate tasks of the
party and government still remained anti-imperialist and democratic in
character, Layne said that the Central Committee had shown that it “can-
not determine the stage the revolution is at.”

The Central Committee, Layne said, “is on a path of right oppor-
tunism.” If not corrected, he concluded, these problems *“will lead to the
total disintegration of the party and the collapse of the revolution.” One
by one, other Coard supporters then took the floor to repeat Layne’s
charges.

The dire picture painted by the Coard faction was grossly overdrawn.
Grenadian workers and farmers certainly faced big problems. Grenada’s
centuries of colonial oppression had bequeathed a legacy of lopsided ag-
riculture, little industry, ramshackle transport and communications, and
poor living and working conditions. The U.S. government’s interna-
tional campaign to deny loans and aid to Grenada, and to cripple its
tourism, put a squeeze on national income. Washington kept escalating
its military pressure and aid to local counterrevolutionary forces.

Nonetheless, the PRG’s social and economic advances were winning
the revolution broadening support among workers and farmers on the is-
land. Grenada’s economic growth rate was among the highest in the
Caribbean, and joblessness had fallen sharply. The island’s first interna-



tional airport — the revolution’s largest single development project and
a source of great patriotic pride — was only a few months from comple-
tion. When completed, the airport would have represented a big step for-
ward in trade prospects, as well as tourism, and would have lessened
Grenada’s isolation from the rest of the Caribbean and the world. In mid-
1983 the PRG had set in motion the drafting of a new constitution to fur-
ther institutionalize the workers’ and farmers’ democratic gains and lay
the basis for island-wide elections.

Despite these big advances, there had been erosion in the organization
and mobilization of workers and farmers during the year prior to the Sep-
tember 1983 Central Committee meeting. And the NJM — too narrow to
reflect new popular forces being drawn to the revolution — clearly was
in crisis. On both counts, however, the bureaucratic practices and secret
factional activity of the Coard group bore heavy responsibility.

AT THE SEPTEMBER meeting, the exaggerations in Ewart Layne’s
opening report were challenged by George Louison and Maurice
Bishop. While acknowledging big difficulties, Louison contested the
claim by Coard’s supporters “that the ideological levels of the masses
have gone backwards.” He said that “sufficient weight has not been
given to the objective situation and problems in the economy.” Some
comrades, Louison concluded, “give a panicky impression in the way
they make their points.”

Bishop, too, pointed to many serious problems, but cautioned that
some of the proposed conclusions were *“a bit premature.” Bishop’s re-
marks reflected his conviction that problems facing the party could be
dealt with only as part of confronting the broader relationship between
the government, the mass organizations, and the workers and farmers.
Unlike Coard and his followers, Bishop saw party cadres as leaders, not
administrators, of the masses.

The Central Committee’s main problem, Bishop said, was that it was
“paying no significant attention to the views of the party and the mass-
es.” Due to this, he said, “we became bureaucratic and formalistic in our
approach.” He cited the fall-off in participation by NJM leaders in vil-
lage and neighborhood council meetings, visits to workplaces, and pub-
lic political activities. These problems, Bishop said, have “been com-
pounded by the weakness in the material base” of Grenadian society.

But the Coard faction did not back off. Liam James opened the next
agenda item (a “collective and individual analysis of the C[entral] C[om-
mittee]””) with the judgment that “this is the last chance for the C.C. to
pull the party out of this crisis and onto a firm M[arxist-] L{eninist]
path.” The “most fundamental problem,” James said, “is the quality of
leadership of the Central Committee and the party provided by Cde.
Maurice Bishop.”

James hypocritically praised Bishop’s “great strength, his ability to
inspire and develop” party members, his capacity “to raise the regional
and international respect for the party and revolution,” his “charisma to
build the confidence of the people.” Nonetheless, James said, Bishop
lacked the “qualities which are essential” for leadership of the party.
These qualities were: “A Leninist level of organization and discipline”;
“Great depth in ideological clarity”; and “Brilliance in strategy and tac-

According to the Central Committee minutes, Liam James proposed
“a model of joint leadership, marrying the strengths” of Bishop and
Coard. He defined the division of responsibilities as follows:

Cde. Maurice Bishop

(i) Direct work among the masses, focus on production and propaganda.

(i) Particular attention to the organs of popular democracy, working class,
youth masses, visits to urban and rural work places.

(iii) Militia mobilisation

(iv) Regional and International work

Cde. Bernard Coard

(i) Party organisation work Chairman of the O{rganising] C[ommittee]

(ii) Party organisational development and formation [education] of Cdes.

(iii) Strategy and tactics.......

Bishop said that he needed time to think about the political and organi-
zational ramifications of James’s proposal, and he too objected to trying
to settle the matter that day. The vote was rammed through, nonetheless.
The motion was adopted with Louison voting against and Bishop and
Whiteman abstaining. (Hudson Austin also abstained, explaining that he
had not been present for most of the meeting.)

Coard’s supporters then proposed that the Central Committee meeting
— originally scheduled to adjourn that evening — continue the follow-
ing day with Bernard Coard’s participation. Bishop said that he felt that
the Central Committee’s new leadership proposal was going to be
“counterproductive.” Given the situation, he said, he would not attend
another meeting the next day, since he needed time to consider the mat-
ter. Despite Bishop’s objections, however, the meeting was scheduled to
reconvene on September 17.

THE CENTRAL COMMITTEE remained in session throughout much
of the following week, with Coard now openly functioning as its leading
figure. Bishop did not attend. Neither did George Louison, who left for
Czechoslovakia and Hungary to prepare a visit scheduled for Bishop
later in the month to discuss important aid and trade arrangements......

Fidel Castro has aptly characterized Bernard Coard as an “alleged
theoretician of the revolution who had been a professor of Marxism in
Jamaica.” Coard sought to establish himself and his faction as “a kind of
a priesthood of the doctrine, guardian of the doctrine, theoretician of the
doctrine, philosopher of the doctrine,” Castro explained.

The Coard group “didn’t work with the masses; it worked among the
party members . . . and with the cadres of the army and the Ministry of
the Interior,” Castro said. Coard “was the scholar of politics, the profes-
sor of political science; while Bishop was the man who worked with the
masses, worked with the people, worked with the administration, and
was active internationally.” That was what established Maurice
‘Bishop as the central leader of the Grenada revolution and of the New
Jewel Movement.

The demagogic atmosphere of the September 25 general membership
meeting was set by Ewart Layne. In his opening report, Layne sought to
blackmail the membership with the following ultimatum: “He had spo-
ken to all C.C. members who voted for the Majority position,” and all of
them “agreed that if the road of opportunism is chosen, they would have
no alternative but to resign from the C.C. on the ground of principle.
The membership is then free to choose a new Central Committee.” The
issue before the meeting, Layne said, was

Are we going to build a petit bourgeois social democratic party with one man
above everyone, where people fulfill decisions they like and do not fulfill those
they do not like, where there is one discipline for some and a next set for others,
where some can be criticised and others are above criticism? . . . What faces us
is the road of opportunism or Leninist principles.®!

At the opening of the meeting, Bishop was not in attendance. After a
visit from a delegation elected by the meeting, however, he agreed to at-
tend and present his views. Bishop expressed serious reservations about
the way the Central Committee decision had been arrived at, its work-
ability, and its impact among the Grenadian people. During the discus-
sion, however, only Whiteman and Fitzroy Bain spoke in opposition to
“joint leadership.”

Under intense political and personal pressures, and wanting to hold
the party together and preserve the equilibrium of the leadership, Bishop
said at the conclusion of the meeting that “his desire now is to use the
criticism positively and march along with the entire party to build a
Marxist-Leninist Party that can lead the people to socialism and com-
munism.” He “pledged to the party that he would do everything to erode
his petit bourgeois traits.” Bishop repeated that “he had never had diffi-
culties in working with Cde. Coard,” and said that “joint leadership
would help push the party and revolution forward.”?2

N SEPTEMBER 26, Bishop and Whiteman left for Hungary and
Czechoslovakia on the aid and trade visit that Louison had gone there to
prepare the previous week. Three of Bishop’s aides traveled with him:
Don Rojas, press secretary; Shahiba Strong, chief of protocol; and
Cletus St. Paul, chief of security......

N THE WAY back from Eastern Europe, the Grenadian govern-
ment delegation spent a few days in Cuba for meetings with Fidel Castro
and other Cuban leaders.... ...

Bishop’s views of the situation shortly after his return to Grenada are
described in the letter by Vincent Noel:

We spoke first of all about his trip to Eastern Europe and then mj trip to
Jamaica. We also spoke about the local and regional Trade Union situation and
especially the upcoming C.C.L. [Caribbean Congress of Labour] Congress. Fi-
nally I introduced the discussion of the Party stating that I had picked up from
various comrades that he had not accepted the decision of the Party on Joint
Leadership. :

Maurice denied that he had any problems with Joint Leadership and went into
a long history of his acceptance of that principle dating back to the formation of
the Movement. He stated he himself had voted for Joint Leadership at the [Sep-
tember 25] meeting of full members of the Party, but at that time and at the meet-
ing of the Central Committee he had expressed certain reservations. These reser-
vatio;xss were reinforced during his trip and by certain developments since his re-
turn.

Bishop had already informed the Political Bureau of these reserva-
tions and asked that they be placed on the agenda of a meeting previ-
ously scheduled for October 12.__ ...

To this day, Coard and his supporters continue to seek to justify their
counterrevolutionary course in the name of “democratic centralism.”
This is a constant theme of Coard’s apologists such as Richard Hart
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(Bishop violated “a fundamental principle of the NJM — democratic
centralism”) and Trevor Munroe (Bishop’s error was his “reluctance to
accept collectivism, majority decision and democratic centralism”).!!3
And in an April 4, 1986, letter smuggled out of prison in Grenada,
Coard faction leader John Ventour insists that there “was no power-stug-
gle, no ideological split, within our Party. The issue which precipitated
the crisis was that. . . .the entire Party leadership and membership was
deeply concerned by the flouting by P{rime] M(inister] Bishop (pushed
by a tiny group of opportunists) of decisions taken at General Meetings
of the NJM in September, by the unanimous vote of all NJM mem-
bers.”116
True, the Coard faction had captured a majority in the NJM. But they
used this majority against the Grenadian people and their revolutionary
govemnment. “Democratic centralism” is nothing to the Coard faction
but a slogan (like “Marxism-Leninism”) invoked to justify their criminal
course.
But Lenin viewed the
relationship between
the masses and the dic-

tatorship by the ruling
party of revolutionary
theory very differently,
The
abolition of classes means, not merely ousting the land-
owners and the capitalists—that is something we accom-
plished with comparative ease; it also means abolishing
the small commodity producers, and they cannot be ousted,
or crushed; we must learn to live with them. They can (and
must) be transformed and re-educated only by means of
very prolonged, slow, and cautious organisational work,
They surround the proletariat on every side with a petty-
bourgeois atmosphere, which permeates and corrupts the
proletariat, and constantly causes among the proletariat
relapses into petty-bourgeois spinelessness, disunity, in-
dividualism, and alternating moods of exaltation and dejec-
tion. The strictest centralisation and discipline are
required within the political party of the proletariat in order
to counteract this, in order that the organisational role
of the proletariat (and that is its principal role) may be
exercised correctly, successfully and victoriously. The dic-
tatorship of the proletariat means a persistent struggle—
bloody and bloodless, violent and peaceful, wmilitary and
economic, educational and administrative—against the
forces and traditions of the old society. The force of habit
in millions and tens of millions is a most formidable force.
Without a party of iron that has been tempered in the
struggle, a party enjoying the confidence of all honest peo-
ple in the class in question, a party capable of watching
and influencing the mood of the masses, such a struggle
cannot be waged successfully, It is a thousand times easier
to vanquish the centralised big bourgeoisie than to “van-
gquish” the millions upon millions of petty proprietors;
however, through their ordinary, everyday, imperceptible,
elusive and demoralising activities, they produce the very
results which the bourgeoisie need and which tend to restore
the bourgeoisiec. Whoever brings about even the slightest
weakening of the iron discipline of the party of the prole-
tariat (especially during its dictatorship), is actually aiding
the bourgeoisie against the proletariat.
“LEFT-WING” COMMUNISM—AN INFANTILE DISORDER

Our Central Committee has grown into a strictly central-
ised and highly aiithoritative group, but the conditions
under which this group is working are not commensurate
with its authority. The reform I recommend should help
to remove this defect, and the members of the Central Con-
trol Comunission, whose duty it will be to attend all meet-
ings of the Political Bureau in a definite number, will have
to form a compact group which should not allow anybody’'s
authority without exception, neither that of the General
Secretary nor of any other member of the Central Commit-
‘tee, to prevent them from putting questions, verifying
documents, and, in general, from keeping themselves fully
informed of all things and from exercising the strictest
. control over the proper conduct of affairs.

January 1423
HOW WE SHOULD REOEGANISE WORKERS® & PEASANTS’ INSPECTION

I repeat that we, as the militant organ of a militant party,
in time of civil war, cannot work in any other way. If we
did, it would be only a half-measure, or a parliament, and
in the era of dictatorship questions cannot be settled, nor
can the Party, or the Soviet organisations, be directed by

parliamentary means. Comrades, now that we have taken
over the bourgeois printing-presses and papers the importance
of the Central Committee’s circular letters is not so great.
We send out in the form of circular letters only such instruc-
tions as cannot be published, for in our activities, which
were conducted publicly in spite of their vast dimensions,
underground work nevertheless remained, still remains,
and will remain. We were never afraid of being reproached
for our underground methods and secrecy, but on the con-
trary were proud of them. And when we found ourselves ina
situation in which, after overthrowing our bourgeoisie, we
were faced with the hostility of the European bourgeoisie,
secrecy remained a feature of our activities and underground
methods a feature of our work.
EIGHTH CONGRESS OF THE R.C.P.(B.) March (414

All the Mensheviks and
Socialist-Revolutionaries offer us an “alliance” on condition
that we make concessions to the capitalists and their leaders,
Kolchak and Denikin; as, for example, that we “renounce
terror” (when we are faced with the terror of the multi-
millionaires of the whole Entente, of the whole alliance of
the richest countries, that are engineering plots in Russia),
or that we open the way for freedom to trade in grain, and
so on. What these “conditions” of the Mensheviks and
Socialist-Revolutionaries boil down to is this: we, the Menshe-
viks and Socialist-Revolutionaries, are wavering towards
the capitalists, and we want a “united front” with the Bol-
sheviks, against whom the capitalists taking advantage of
every concession are fighting! No, my Menshevik and Social-
ist-Revolutionary gentlemen, look no more in Russia for
people capable of believing you. In Russia class-conscious
workers and peasants now realise that the Mensheviks and
Socialist-Revolutionaries are abettors of the whiteguards—
some deliberate and malicious, others unwitting and because
of their persistence in their old mistakes, but abettors of
the whiteguards nevertheless.

Fifth lesson. If Kolchak and his rule are to be destroyed
and not allowed to recur, all peasants must unhesitatingly
make their choice in favour of the workers’ state. Some
people (especially the Mensheviks and the Socialist-Revo-
lutionaries~—all of them, even the “Lefts” among them)
are trying to scare the peasants with the bogey of the
“dictatorship of one party”, the Party of Bolsheviks;
Communists,

The peasants have learned from the Kolchak regime not
to be afraid of this bogey. August \diq

LETTER APROPOS OF THE VICTORY OVER KOLCHAK

one-man mob-putsch.The
Trot Castroites show
their lofty disdain
for Grenada and their

But Castro's stooge
Trots are contemptuous
of the NJM!s attempts
to build a similar dis-

ciplined revolutionary
party dictatorship.
They casually descr-
ibe the infamous coun-
ter-revolutionary tre-
achery by Bishop (on his
arbitrary individual
authority) totally ig-
nore the catastrophic
consequences it led to,
and dismiss without a
word(in the most arro-
gant, academic,anti-
communist reactionary
way) the remarkable
proletarian revolutio-
nary reality that the
NJM majority quickly
had matters on Grenada
back under good order
and control again in
spite of the criminal
attempted damage done
to the socialist state
by Bishop's outrageous

interest only in pers-
onal sycophancy by ec-
hoing Castro's degene-
rate disinterest in the
fact that the NJM maj-
ority were already fi-
rmly in position for
important new revolut-
ionary developments on
Grenada,having quickly
overcome Bishop's ludi-
crous reactionary insu-
rrection,which would
have gone down in hist-
ory as merely a trivial
bizarre act of an ill-
advised conceited & un-
balanced individual,-
had the subsequent US
imperialist invasion (to
which it opened the
doorinot completely sh-
attered all sense &
perspective on the Gre-
nadan affairs.

Bishop then asked Rojas to lead a contingent to the central telephone
exchange and communicate several messages to the world. He asked
Rojas to call on Grenadians overseas and on trade unions and progres-
sive forces throughout the Caribbean to make known their support for
the mass outpouring that day. Bishop was concerned by efforts on the



part of pro-imperialist forces both inside and outside Grenada to exploit
the events there to spread anti-Cuban and anticommunist propaganda.
According to Rojas, Bishop “wanted the point made very clearly that
President Fidel Castro and the Cuban people had absolutely no involve-
ment in this crisis,” and that nothing that might happen in Grenada that

day should serve as a justification for U.S. military intervention.

But that is exactly
what Bishop's Havana-
inspired putsch-attempt
did lead to,-as this
guiltily-worded cover-
up paragraph is lamely
conscious of, once ag-
ain clearly far more
concerned with Castro's
"great reputation" than
with the actual tragic
consequences of Bishops
counter-revolutionary

123

ened the door to US im-
perialist blitzkrieg.

Calling Bishop's cri-
minal individualism a
"popular insurrection"
to restore "revolution-
ary government" cannot
save the Trots from haw
ing to admit the viole-
nce,arbitrariness,& la-
wlessness of these tre-
acherous moves against
the legitimate NJM-Revo-
lution majority.

indiscipline which op-
Bishop and the crowd that liberated him then marched to Fort Rupert,
the army headquarters. They appealed to the soldiers there to turn over
their weapons, and many did so. Bishop organized a small security
squad from members of the militia in the crowd. He dispatched a detach-
ment under the command of Peter Thomas, an immigration officer, to
the central telephone exchange with orders to “get the lines connected to
speak to Radio Grenada and to the rest of the World.”!2* Bishop wanted
to appeal to working people, including members of the armed forces, to
refuse to cooperate with the illegitimate Coard regime so that the revo-
lutionary government could be restored to power.'?®
Thomas succeeded in opening the lines at the telephone exchange and
returned to Fort Rupert with additional arms to defend Bishop and the
others.

Even the sketchy con-
tempt-filled resume of
Coards version of ev-
ents(which the SWP Tr-

Coard now portrays Bishop as a well-intentioned revolutionary, but a
weak and subjective individual who fell under the evil personal influ-
ence of those surrounding him. “On his own,” Coard said in his trial
statement, “there is no way Cde. Maurice Bishop would have taken such
a decision [to go to Fort Rupert on October 19]. It was completely out of
character, both for him personally and for the NJM.”!3!

Whispering in one ear, according to Coard, were the power-mad
George Louison and Kendrick Radix, who swayed Bishop to resist Cen-
tral Committee decisions. Whispering in Bishop’s other ear were CIA
agents who, having wormed their way into his confidences, lured him
into a provocation on October 19. These CIA agents, Coard charges,
were Don Rojas, Shahiba Strong, and Cletus St. Paul — Bishop’s press
secretary, chief protocol officer, and chief security guard.

“Some do it because of personal reasons — because they have an axe
to grind,” Coard says. “Others do it for bribes, others because they are
professional agents.” But whatever their motivations, this cabal “sur-
rounded him, they bombarded him. All but one were present on the trip
[to Eastern Europe] with him. They pushed plot and conspiracy lines at
him constantly.” As a result, Coard claims, these individuals were able
“to greatly aggravate the situation and turn it into a crisis of monumental
proportions, which it was not. .. ."13%

Bishop was under “tremendous stress and strain” as a result of his
son’s illness, according to Coard, as well as his concerns about “whether
the joint leadership proposal really represented a vote of no confidence.”
Given this personal situation, “one can understand that George Louison
and others had fertile ground to work on,” Coard says. Bishop was “at
his most vulnerable; in a period of the greatest self-doubt regarding his
capabilities, deeply worried about his son.”!33

Coard says he tried “to persuade Cde. Bishop against this conspiracy
obsession which was being pushed at him” and urged him to become part
of “the monumental task of the reorganization of the Party at all levels to
stave off Party disintegration, and invasion. . . . That was my aim.”!34

But Coard just couldn’t get Bishop’s ear, he says. As a result, Coard
claims, by October 18 he and his supporters were ready to give in to
Bishop's refusal to accept the party’s majority decision. “Better to have
a situation where the Revolution has a chance of survival, and that can
only be with Maurice Bishop leading the process, even if it means break-
ing all the rules and decisions of the Party. Because the Revolution must
come first.” Coard was even planning “to leave the country” in order “to
put to rest the tremendous propaganda campaign™ that he was trying to
grab power.13

But Louison, Rojas, and others intervened with Bishop on October 18
to block this peaceful solution, according to Coard.!3¢ They organized

ots give) reads better

than the Castroites
own miserable self-jus-

tification.

the demonstration on October 19 and convinced Bishop, once released,
to go to Fort Rupert. According to Coard, the crowd that poured into the
streets that day was composed of “three elements™: (1) “many decent,
law-abiding supporters of the revolution,” some of whom “got carried
away with excitement”; (2) those such as Vincent Noel who “were not
consciously acting as agents” of the CIA but were “acting as they saw
best for whatever their reasons”; and (3) the CIA agents “which the
United States had in place” and right-wing, pro-imperialist Grena-
dians.'¥’

“We have to examine closely the real possibility,” Coard states, “‘that
on October 19 the link between the Vincent Noel group in the demon-
stration and the ‘God Bless America’, ‘We love America’, C.I.A.
group, could be an individual working on the one hand for the C.I.A. —
Don Rojas — and ingratiating himself with the Party and Revolution. He
may very well be the chemistry that led to the attack and seizure of Fort
Rupert. It is worth careful study and investigation.”!38

“The only thing the U.S. government and its agents didn’t do on Oc-
tober 11399 was to pull the trigger,” Coard states. “They did everything
else.”

Coard and his supporters invoke the charge of CIA responsibility for
the October 19 events for a reason. They hope to gain a hearing among
radical-minded fighters around the world, who know that the CIA is the
deadly enemy of workers and farmers everywhere, and that it expends
vast resources to destabilize governments that refuse to do Washington’s
bidding.

But Coard’s new version of events is only a more subtle slander
against Bishop himself. It was Bishop’s “weaknesses” that caused him
to surround himself with CIA agents and other suspect types, Coard
suggests, thus opening the road to destruction of the revolution.

Another Castroite de-~
parture from Leninism
is on this very issue
of how crucial it is
for revolutionaries to
face up to their own
mistakes. The Trot Ca-
stroite stooges in the
SWP twist themselves in

50. Coard was a past master at the use of the Stalinist practice of individual
“criticism and self-criticism” to advance the goals of his secret faction within the
NJM leadership. To justify this practice, Coard supporter Ewart Layne cited the
following passage from Lenin at a September 1983 meeting of the NJM mem-
bership:

“A political party’s attitude towards its own mistakes is one of the most impor-
tant and surest ways of judging how eamest the party is and how it fulfills in
practice its obligations towards its class and the working people. Frankly ac-
knowledging a mistake, ascertaining the reason for it, analysing the conditions
that have led up to it, and thrashing out the means of its rectification — that is

... how it should perform its duties; and how it should educate and train its class
and then the masses.” {The quotation is from Lenin’s 1920 article, “ ‘Left Wing’
Communism — An Infantile Disorder,” in Lenin, Collected Works, vol. 31, p....
57) e nnns

The Bolshevik Party under Lenin’s leadership never had this kind of imstitu-
tion of personal “criticism and self-criticism.” The institutionalized practice of
confessional “criticism and self-criticism™ was begun under Stalin as one method
to purge those in the party who resisted his headlong flight from Lenin’s inter-
nationalist and communist course, and was further honed by Mao Zedong. It is
the method of a self-perpetuating leadership cut off from democratic account-
ability to the membership and to the masses of working people.

This kind of “criticism and self-criticism” was put to similar uses by Coard’s
faction in the New Jewel Movement. Coard’s Organising Committee and its sub-
committee, the Discipline Committee, chaired by Selwyn Strachan, oversaw
-this practice. Supporters of Coard’s faction sometimes acknowledged mild and
innocuous failings, occasionally being subjected to a slap on the wrist. Mean-
while, others in the membership and leadership were mercilessly “criticized,”
bullied into self-deprecation, and then meted out harsh penalties, including ex-
pulsion from party bodies.

Lenin saw things di-

knots trying to prove
that Coard's insistence
on higher standards for
party membership amoun-
ted to attempted excl-
usivism;and a conspir-
acy to 'get Bishop".
The Trots sneer:

fferently,as the quote
clearly shows when read
soberly,ignoring the
SWP's hysterical comm-
entary which completely
misses the point that
wrong policies influen-
cing a party have at
one stage inevitably
been the prime respons-
ibility of some leader

or other,or group of
leaders. It is admitt-
ing to mistakes at this
level that is precisely
the problem, (- as has
been tragically demons-
trated by Bishop's and
then Castro's part in
the Grenada tragedy).Le-
nin also added elsewh-
ere:

That great beginning, the “communist subbotniks”, must
also be utilised for another purpose, namely, to purge the
Party. In the carly period following the revolution, when
the mass of “honest” and philistine-minded people was par-
ticularly timorous, and when the hourgeois intellectuals



to a man, including, of course, the Mensheviks and Social-
ist-Revolutionaries, played the lackey to the bourgeoisie
and carried on sabotage, it was absolutely inevitable that
adventurers and other pernicious elements should hitch
themselves to the ruling party. There never has been, and
there never can be, a revolution without that. The whole
point is that the ruling party should be able, relying on a
sound and strong advanced class, to purge its ranks.

We started this work long ago. It must be continued
steadily and untiringly. The mobilisation of Communists for
the war helped us in this respect: the cowards and scoundrels
fled from the Party’s ranks. Good riddance! Suck a reduc-
tion in the Party’'s membership means an enormous increase
in its strength and weight. We must continue the purge, and
that new beginning, the “cominunist subbotniks”, must be
utilised for this purpose: members should be accepted into
the Party only after six months’, say, “trial”, or “probation”,
at “working in a revolutionary way”. A similar test should
be demanded of all members of the Party who joined after
October 25, 1917, and who have not proved by some special
work or service that they are absolutely reliable, loyal and
capable of being Communists.

The purging of the Party, through the steadily increasing
demands it makes in regard to working in a genuinely com-
munist way, will improve the state appgratus

A GREAT BEGINNING Jine {419

It is precisely the
dictatorship of the pr-
oletariat,exercised ba-
sically by the author-
itative party of revo-
lutionary theory,which
Trotskyism always hat-
ed about Leninism,and
fought against in the
crucial years of the
building of the Party
of revolutionary lead-
ership between 1903 &
1917,~-and which the
SWP Trots of today sn-
ivellingly cannot br-
ing themselves to dis-
cuss,-or even mention,-
in the dispute between
Coard's view of party
discipline,and Bishop's
anarchic dilettantism.

But by refusing to
discuss the dictator-
ship of the proletari-
at, the modern 'left!
swamp,~backed by the
revisionists in Moscow
& Havana,- abandons
Leninism completely.

In this way, the ig-
norant counter-revol-
utionaries of the Trot
sectarian middle-class
swamp are being given
a new lease of life by
the philistine inabil-
ity of the socialist
camp leaders to under-
stand Stalin's real
crime,- his revisionist
retreat from the under-
standing of the world
socialist revolution as

the only final solution

to the problem of imp-
erjalist warmongering.
The socialist camp's
exaggerated stress on
(Lenin's mere temporary
diplomatic tactic of)
peaceful coexistence as
a 'solution' to imperi-
alist warmongering (when
all Lenin intended by
it was to gain time for
the Soviet Union before

the next outbreak of
imperialist warmonger-
ing and to split the
imperialist forces aga-
inst each other to give
the USSR a better cha-
nce of survival),--leads
Moscow & Havana to fear
the spread of proletar-
ian dictatorship as
much as the Western Tr-
otskyite middle-class
do. Hence the disgust-
ing liaison between
Havana and the SWP Tr-
ots,the stooges of US
imperialist anti-
communism,

Hence this vicious
Pathfinder book singing
the praises of Castrots
Cuba (which the Trots
once denounced as 'Sta-
linist' as well),of Ma-
urice Bishop, of revis-
ionism in general in
the socialist camp,-and
spewing out hatred of
Bernard Coard{and many
other heroic revolutio-
naries not to the Trots
taste) as 'Stalinists',

"Coard demanded the
subservience of the st
ate to the party" these
opportunist Trot worms
go on. "Bishop wanted
the subservience of the
state to the working
people" continue these
sanctimonious hypocri-
tes,~ as if Trotskyism
had ever done anything
for working class power
anywhere in the world
other than try to stab
it in the back.

But apart from tend-
entiously exaggerating
Coard's position(see
above), the Trots also
have this wrong too,-as
the Lenin quotes
amply demonstrate

Within the system of the dictatorship of the proletariat,
the trade unions stand, if I may say so, between the Party
and the government. In the transition to socialism the
dictatorship of the proletariat is inevitable, but it is not
exercised by an organisation which takes in all industrial
workers. Why not? The answer is given in the theses of
the Second Congress of the Communist International on
the role of political parties in general. I will not go into
this here. What happens is that the Party, shall we say,
absorbs the vanguard of the proletariat, and this vanguard
exercises the dictatorship of the proletariat. The dictator-
ship cannot be exercised or the functions of government
performed without a foundation such as the trade unions.
These functions, however, have to be performed through
the medium of special institutions which are also of a new
type, namely, the Soviets. What are the practical conclu-
sions to be drawn from this peculiar situation? They are,
on the one hand, that the trade unions are a link between
the vanguard and the masses, and by their daily work
bring conviction to the masses, the masses of the class
which alone is capable of taking us from capitalism to
communism. On the other hand, the trade unions are a
“peservoir” of the state power. This is what the trade unions
are in the period of transition from capitalism to commu-
nism. In general, this transition cannot be achieved without
the leadership of that class which is the only class capital-
ism has trained for large-scale production and which alone
is divorced from the interests of the petty proprietor. But
the dictatorship of the proletariat cannot be exercised
through an organisation embracing the whole of that class,
because in all capitalist countries (and not only over here,
in one of the most backward) the proletariat is still so
divided, so degraded, and so corrupted in parts (by imperial-
ism in some countries) that an organisation taking in the
whole proletariat cannot directly exercise proletarian
dictatorship. It can be exercised only by a vanguard that
bas absorbed the revolutionary energy of the class. The
whole is like an arrangement of cogwheels. Such is the
basic mechanism of the dictatorship of the proletariat,
and of the essentials of transition from capitalism to commu-
nism From this alone it is evident that there is something
fundamentally wrong in principle when Comrade Trotsky
points, in his first thesis, to “ideological confusion”, and
speaks of a crisis as existing specifically and particularly
in the trade unions. If we are to speak of a crisis, we can
do so only after analysing the political situation. It is
Trotsky who is in “ideological confusion”, because in this
key question of the trade unions’ role, from the standpoint
of transition from capitalism to communism, he has lost
sight of the fact that we have here a complex arrangement
of cogwheels which cannot be a simple one; for the dictator-
ship of the proletariat cannot be exercised by a mass prole-
tarian organisation. It cannot work without a number of
“transmission belts” running from the vanguard to the
mass of the advanced class, and from the latter to the mass
of the working people... ...

Both Trotsky and Bukharin failed to think out this term
theoretically and ended up in confusion. “Industrial democ-
racy” suggests things well beyond the circle of ideas with
which they were carried away. They wanted to lay greater
emphasis and focus attention on .industry. It is one thing
to emphasise something in an article or speech; it is quite
another to frame it into a thesis and ask the Party to choose,
and so I say: cast your vote against it, because it is
confusion. Industry is indispensable, democracy is not. In-
dustrial democracy breeds some utterly false ideas. The idea
of one-man management was advocated only a little while
ago. We must not make a mess of things and confuse people:
how do you expect them to know when you want democracy,
when one-man management, and when dictatorship. But

After all, these oppo-
site terms can be combined either into a cacophony or
a symphony. Priority implies preference for one industry
out of a group of vital industries because of its greater
urgency. What does such preference entail? How great can
it be? This is a difficult question, and I must say that it



will take more than zeal to solve it; it may even take more
than a heroic effort on the part of a man who is possibly
endowed with many excellent qualities and who will do
wonders on the right job; this is a very peculiar matter and
calls for the correct approach. And so if we are to raise this
question of priority and equalisation we must first of all
give it some careful thought, but that is just what we fail
to find in Comrade Trotsky's work; the further he goes in
revising his original theses, the more mistakes he makes.
Here is what we find in his latest theses:

“The equalisation line should be pursued in the sphere of consump-
tion, that is, the conditions of the working people’s existence as
individuals. In the sphere of production, the principle of priority
will long remain decisive for us”... (thesis 41, p. 31 of Trotsky’'s
pamphba.

This is a real theoretical muddle. It is all wrong. Pri-
ority is preference, but it is nothing without preference
in consumption......

The fourth point is disciplinary courts. I hope Comrade
Bukharin will not take offence if I say that without disci-
plinary courts the role of the trade unions in industry,
“industrial democracy”, is a mere trifle, But the fact is
that there is nothing at all about this in your theses, “Great
griefl” is therefore the only thing that can be said about
Trotsky’'s theses and Bukharin’s attitude, from the stand-
point of principle, theory and practice......

The war weariness is terrible, and the needs
have increased, but production has increased insufficiently
or not at all. On the other hand, as I said in my report
to the Eighth Congress of Soviets, our application of coer-
cion was correct and successful whenever we had been
able to back it up from the start with persuasion. I must
say that Trotsky and Bukharin have entirely failed to
take account of this very important consideration.
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Was it all a windfall? No, it was all won
by the Party in decades of hard work. Everybody believes
the word of the Bolsheviks, who have had twenty years
of Party training.

To govern you need an army of steeled revolutionary
Communists. We have it, and it is called the Party. All
this syndicalist nonsense about mandatory nominations of
producers must go into the wastepaper basket. To proceed
on those lines would mean thrusting the Party aside and
making the dictatorship of the proletariat in Russia impos-
sible. This is the view I believe it to be my Party duty to
put to you. It is, in my opinion, enunciated in the form
of practical propositions in the platform called Draft
Decision of the Tenth Congress of the R.C.P. and signed by
Lenin, Zinoviev, Tomsky, Rudzutak, Kalinin, Kamenev,

Lozovsky, Petrovsky, Sergeyev and Stalin. Jecwaoy 1931

THE SECOND ALL-RUSSIA CONGRESS OF MINERS

Lenin
repeatedly stresses

that the proletariat,-
emerging ignorant from
Tsarist capitalist/
feudal backwardness,
would be in no position
for a long time to ass-
ume full authority in
the Soviet Union with-
out being guided & led
by the supreme power of
the Party dictatorship.
It is significant
that at the heart of
confusion in the Soviet
Union on this point sh-
ould be the anti-Lenin-
ist Trotsky (s leain quotes).
And on the real sit-
uation that Coard and
the NJM majority were
trying to deal with(as
opposed to the lies
spread by Castro & the
Trots),this SWP diatr-
ibe is even more wide
of the mark.On the sim~
ple matter of whether
Grenada could proceed
simply ignoring totally
the decisions of its
revolutionary party,it
is blatantly obvious
that only complete co-
unter-revolutionary
philistines(on that is-
sue,but not necessarily
on others such as the
taking of power in
Cuba) could support
Bishop's anarchic in-
discipline. There is
no room even for any

discussion on this
with serious-minded

workers, It is the ABC
of Leninism.

Much could be written
about the lying evasi-
ons about the actual
issues between the Co-
ard NJM majority and
Bishop (for which this
Trot character assass-
ination merely substit-
utes disgraceful innu-
endoes about Coard's

"ambition",etc,-but
never once,of course,
addressing the hard
facts about decisions
taken in the Central
Committee on real prob-
lems facing Grenada,-
all of which Bishop ar-
bitrarily flouted.)

In distorting the re-
cord to spin their wedb
of slimy innuendo &
falsehood, the Trots
cannot resist,of course
trying to justify their
own indisciplined & an-
archic counter-revolu-
tionary past-treachery
by lashing out at old
'enemies', Coard immed-
iately becomes a 'Sta-
linist!, but without
the slightest realist-
ic reference by the
Trots either to policy
disputes on Grenada,or
the actual revisionist
theoretical mistakes
made by Stalin.There is
only infantile polemics
on the level of "Stalin
was a brutal bad man,
So was Coard",etc,as
the following trivial
SWP summation of theo-
retical difficulties of
building world commun-
ism indicates:

"Coard shares the he-
ritage of Stalin, Mao,
Escalante, Pol Pot,Car-
pio, and the practitio-
ners of the 'Afghanis-
tan solution'. Maurice
Bishop's uncompromising
refusal to back off fr-
om a revolutionary cou-
rse made it inevitable
that Coard would not
stop short of house ar-
rest and murder.Those
are the methods that
Stalin,Mao, Pol Pot,and
Carpio have used. Had
Escalante's faction tr-
iumphed,he would have
employed such repress-

ive measures against
Fidel Castro and other
Cuban revolutionaries.
What was not inevitable
in Grenada,however,was
the outcome.Bishop and
his supporters were cor-
rect to lead a popular
insurrection on October
19. That was the only
chance to restore the
revolutionary governm-
ent to power",

It did nothing of the
sort of course.It unle-
ashed the counter-revo-
lutionary mob on Gren-
ada, and opened the door
to Havana's paralysis,
and to the US imperial-
ist invasion.

These criminal sland-
ers stand everything on
its head. Patiently for
three years, the major-
ity in the New Jewel
Revolutionary party,-
the vanguard of the
revolution on Grenada,-
had struggled to have
higher standards of
work, discipline,and
discussion of difficul-
ties accepted by the
ruling party. When fi-
nally insisting that
majority Central Comm-~
ittee decisions be ad-
hered to, Bishop repl-
ied by leading a count-
er-revolutionary petty-
bourgeois mob onto the
streets of St Georges,
coinciding neatly with
US imperialist prepara-
tions for invasion.
ILWP Books vol 6 out-
lines some of the iss-
ues dividing the Gren-
adan party. In an entire
book,the SWP Trots ref-
use to discuss most of
them,- reducing every-
thing to the above sty-
le of muck-raking about
"Coard's ambition",etc.

By these childish li-
ghts, Stalin was just a

"murderer", his titanic to stage an illegal &
achievements in defend- provocative occupation
ing the proletarian di- of the army's Fort Ru-
ctatorship against Tr- pert headquarters,aided
otsky's hoped-for liqu- & abetted by all kinds
idation of it convenie- of middle~class anti-
ntly forgotten. Mao was communist riff-raff wh-
just a "murderer", his ich the SWP Trots(and
historic leadership of Castro)choose to keep
the second greatest ev- silent about,and then

ent in human history,-
the Chinese communist
revolution,- totally

broadcasting a public
appeal for internatio-
nal intervention. It

obliterated. Ditto Cay- arrived just hours la-
etano Carpio,who contr- ter in the form of the

ibuted some brilliant

theoretical (not to men force.

US imperialist invasion
But it is Coard

tion practical) leader- & Co(who did nothing

ship to the defeat of
CP-induced revisionist
anti-revolutionism in
Western proletarian

movements:-Now just a

more than insist that
majority ruling-party
decisions be carried
out) who are branded as
"murderers", and the tr-

"murderer"., Coard's co- eacherous anarchic pu-
ntributions to the Gre- tschist Bishop who is

naden revolution all
now dismissed as non-
existent because the
NJM majority have be-
come so-called "murd-
erers".

And what did the re-
volution's leadership
do in Grenada? Merely
insist that its major-
ity Central Committee
decisions be carried
out. What else did the
NJM majority do? Put
up with three years
lackadaisical idleness
from Bishop's cronies
patiently before fin-
ally insisting that
Bishop no longer go
around deliberately

called a "Marxist" for
having betrayed Gren-
ada to imperialist co-~
unter~revolution.

The SWP Trots are na-
turally delighted with
their 'hero' Bishop.
Their counter-revolut-
ionary book lionises
him,

This is degenerate
company for Castro to
keep, who 18 let down
by his anti-theory ph-
1listinism, conceitedly
self-satisfied with
his own spontaneous
revolutionary achieve-
ments as to be unable,
even at this late stage,
-to critically analyse

frustrating Central Co-Moscow & Havana's ludi-

mmittee decisions.What
did Bishop then do? On
the SWP Trots' own ad-
mission(above),Bishop

"led a popular insurr-
ection". Some insurr-

ection. What was it in
reality? An outrageous
piece of petty mob vi-
olence, - seizing arms

crous backing for All-
ende's revisionist tr-
eachery in Chile which
delivered the working
class over to fascist
counter-revolution.(See
ILWP Books vol 6).
These revisionist Tr-
ots are like pigs in
muck in such an anti-
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Leninist milieu. How
they drool over the we-
aker aspects of the Sa-
ndinista regime in Nic-
aragua,refusing for so
long to suppress the
bourgeois disinformat-
ion press or arrest the
counter-revolutionary
plotters,and even now
in refusing to execute
the CIA's stooge-trait-
ors in the Nicaraguan
reactionary camp,--all
matters which oould im-
peril the survival of
the Sandinista revolut~
ion, - and matters on
which Managua has been
forced by real life to
act more firmly over in
some respects(such as
the eventual closure

of La Prensa - now re-
opened temporarily un-
der the attempted !pea-
ce! settlement,-which
Washington is bound to
undermine shortly).

And how the SWP Trots
are silent over Castro%
disastrous mistaken po-
licy towards Allendeism
€Jjust as he is catastr-
ophically wrong on the
Grenada question.)

Even more gruesome,
are the appalling signs
of a revisionist Trot
cover-up for some gross
revisionist nonsense by
the Havana leadership.
The Bulletin has always
challenged the credibi~
lity of Castro's asser-
tion that he 'lmew noth-
ing' of any differences
in the Grenadan revol-
utionary leadership un-
til they exploded in
disaster (in October
1983),when other evid-
ence indicates that
most leftist circles
in the Caribbean and
half of Latin America
had heard something ab-
out the Ccard-Bishop
divergences as long as
two years earlier. One
Caribbean comrade tes-
tifies to having heard
some rank-and-file co-
mmunists from South
America discussing in
Moscow as early as 1981
the contrasting perspe-
ctives in the NJM lea-
dership after a visit
to Grenada. So how come
the most powerful revo-
lutionary organisation
in the Western Hemisph-
ere,-the Havana regime,
with its acute interest
in every scrap of regi-
onal nastiness that the
CIA might get into to
exploit for its general
counter-revolutionary
purposes in the region,
--allegedly only "first
heard about any differ-
ences at all" on Octob-

tgeT 12 1983, the day that
Bishop was finally dis-

ciplined by the Central
Committee for disobey-
ing CC decisions,and
decided to launch his
putsch by way of reply?

How come that Bishop
~the! innocent victim',
allegedly,of such a su-
stained "vilification
campaign" by Coard & Co
(which is what this 100
-page farrago of lies
by the SWP Trots is all
about) could have met
Castro several times(&
other Cubans) in the
previous period,-most
recently just a few
days before in Havana
when he was wrestling
with the instruction to
accept joint leadership
of the Party with Coard
~-=but managed to dis-
cuss "for many hours
personally with Fidel"
the whole range of po-
litical matters, - but
not once mention the
desperate political cr-
isis he himself was in,
-80 desperate that he
launched a mob-putsch
Just days later? Either
Bishop was some weird
inhuman vegetablejor a
complete fascist dicta-
torial bastard who did
not give a damn for the
Grenadan revolution;or
else Havana is lying
through its teeth.

The intervention of
the SWP Trots to back
up the Havana-Bishop
version settles it.Ca-
stro is lying through
his teeth.

Immediately after si-
zing power in 1979, the
Coard revolutionary-
Leninist perspective
was at odds with Bish-
op!'s reformist outlook
on something as impor-
tant & fundamental as
the enforced closure
of 'Torchlight!, the
bourgeois counter-revo-
lutionary rabble-rouser
on Grenada,which Coard
carried through while
Bishop was leading a
diplomatic mission in
New York,-as the SWP
Trots fully record in
their scurrilous book.
Equally outstanding &
unconcealable differ-
ences in approach are
admitted by the SWP
Trots at every moment
of Grenada's 4-year
revolutionary history.
How could Cuba know
nothing of all this?

There were equally
prominent clashes be-
tween Coard & Bishop
over the pace of expr-
opriation of the Gren-
adan bourgeoisie(with
this Trot book present-
ing Coard as an "extr-
emist urging the revo-
lution to proceed fas-

ter than conditions wo- Spontaneous anti-theory Shop included,- and
and pride over success.) that disciplinary mea-

uld permit"etc)jon the
closure of the counter-
revolutionary 'Grenad-
ian Voice'; on the in-
flicting of proletarian-
dictatorship restrict-
ions on counter-revolu-
tionaries generally, -
all vitally important
and widely known-about
disputes over the whole
revolutionary progress
of Grenada which Castro
Just a few miles away
in the Caribbean would
have had to have been
a complete hermit to
‘have missed hearing
about,

And yet these Trot
apologists for Castro,
backing his "innocence
is bliss" daft posture,
are permitted to carry
Havana's torch in this
murky business while
simulatneously still
pouring out their own
Trot counter-revoluti-
onary slime about "hea-
vy blows to the world-
Wide struggle for nat-
ional liberation & soc-
ialism" such as hoary

So at 8 in the morn~
ing, - just for a cou-

sures would be taken
to ensure that party

ple of minutes, - Bish- directives were carr-

op just pops into the
Cuban embassy to let

ied out (see Lenin ab-
ove). Coard & the NJM

them know for the first Majority needed no

time about the existe-

coup d'etat. They only

nce of a raging politi- needed to act as a Len-

cal crisis which is
Just about to blow the
1id off the island,and
wreck the revolution.
A likely story.

inist communist party,
-which is exactly what
they did finally decide
to do.

No wonder US imperi-

The conjectured truth alism was so immediat-
of course, is that kno- €ly keen to impose fa-

wing that discipline

scist blitzkrieg on

was at last finally ab- them. No wonder every

out to be imposed by
the long-suffering NIM
majority, Bishop went

last petty-bourgeois
reptile on earth has
since been condemning

.scooting into the Cuban Coard and singing the

embassy to get his last-Praises of Maurice Bi-

-minute instructions
from Havana about how

shop. No wonder the
anti-communist Trots

he should play his car- 8re so keen to get in
ds in such an emergency.on the act of trying
The outrageous indis- to get the imperialist
ciplined putsch was the Tope drawn tightly ro-
result,- leading direc- und Coard's neck. The

tly to the disruption

of law-and-order on Gr-

enada briefly,-which
gave Washington the

great revisionist sca-
ndal (in a long tragic
line of such scandals)
is that Moscow(& Hav-

0ld Trot chestnuts like 'excuse' it was seeking 2na on this occasion)
"the postwar murders of to invade,-at which po- has again retreated

Vietnamese revolution-
aries" by Ho Chi Minh's
communist movement;and
"the Soviet governments:
invasion of Czechoslov-
akia in 1968"; and "the
brutal administrative
methods of the Peoples
Democratic Party of Af-
ghanistan(the communist
government)". With ap-
ologists like these,
Castro hardly needs

any detractors over his
wretched Grenadan dis-

aster.
The Trot counter-

revolutionaries declare
of this crucial October
12+th Wednesday,which
was to end with Bishop
finally disciplined to
do nothing more with-
out the approval of
the Central Committee:
"At 9.00 a.m, the Po-
litical Bureau met. Bi-
shop attended the meet-
ing. On his way there,
Bishop had stopped bri-
efly at the Cuban emba-
ssy to provide informa-
tion to the Cuban lead-
ership for the first
time about the divisi-
ons within the NJM."
The emphasised words
stick out like a sore
thumb but are obligat-
orily included to chime
in with the hopelessly
guilt-ridden & dubious
statements clumsily
rushed out by the Cuban
leadership in 1983 just
after the Grenada tra-
gedy,and never correct-
ed since (not surpris-
ingly,given Castro's

int Castro declared he
could wash his hands
of the Grenadan revol-
ution.

The whole rotten mess
stinks to high heaven.
If Bishop & Castro were
not in collusion for
their lunatic putsch-
venture based on their
egocentric contempt fox
Leninism,and worship of
spontaneity,plus their
revisionist defeatism's
(learned from Moscow)
doubts in the ability
of others to deepen the
revolutionary process
as the only real solut-
ion to US imperialist
pressure, - then they
are being made to look
mighty guilty by hiring
the SWP Trots as their
latest cover-up spokes-
-men.,

Again & again screams
this slanderous book's
anti-commmist middle-
class hysteria about
Coard & Co's "coup
d'etat" for finally
insisting that the ru-
ling party's majority
decisions at last be
upheld. Why on earth
would Coard & Co need
a coup d'etat? They
had the majority in the
NJM,-both in the mass
perty meetings and in
all the leading commi-
ttees. In these October
days, they finally pa-
ssed resolutions insis-
ting that no longer
were the Central Comm-
ittee decisions to be
flouted by anyone, Bi-

from revolutionary Jus-
tice,~on a par with
their embrace of Allen-
de's "peaceful road"
counter-revolutionary
nonsense; of the Popu-
lar Front counter-
revolutionary catastr-
ophe in Spain in 1936-
39; of the Greek CP's
defeatist tragedy in
failing to take power
in 1945; of the react-
ionary establishment of
the Zionist colonial
occupation of Palestine
in 1948; and of count-
less other degenerate
retreats from revolut-
ionary opposition to
imperialism at differ-
ent times & places.

But the Leninist tr-
uth about the correct
understanding of the
international balance
of class forces and the
crucial role of the
world socialist revol-
ution in finally rout-
ing imperizlist warmon-
gering reaction once &
for all cannot be dest~
royed. Trotskyism is
collapsing everywhere.
The revisionist CPs are
collapsing everywhere,
despite all the help
they get from Moscow
(and Havana). Only the
Leninist revolutionary

. struggle is taking man-

kind forward, - in Sou-~
th Africa, in the Phil-
ippines, in El Salvador
and other struggles.Re-
volutionary Leninism
will triumph. Spread
the ILWP Bulletin. -
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